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Preface

For more than two decades, I have been studying this man and the causes 
and logic underlying his actions, which upended or utterly destroyed mil-
lions upon millions of lives. This work has been stressful and emotionally 
draining, but it is my vocation. Lately, the paradoxical turns of recent Rus-
sian history, the large-scale poisoning of minds with myths of an “alterna-
tive” Stalin—one whose effective stewardship is held up as a model worthy 
of emulation—have given my research more than scholarly relevance.
	 The literature on Stalin and his era is impossibly vast. Even scholars of 
Stalinism freely admit to not having seen the half of it. Within this vast-
ness, serious, meticulously documented research coexists with slapdash 
pen-pushing carelessly cobbled together out of anecdotes, rumors, and 
fabrications. The two camps—historical scholarship and lowbrow (usually 
pro-Stalin) ramblings—rarely cross paths and have long since given up the 
idea of reconciling.
	 Scholarly biographies of Stalin have gone through the same stages as the 
historiography of the Soviet period overall. I have a high regard for some 
classics written at a time when Soviet archives were completely inaccessi-
ble. Two authors who stand out are Adam Ulam and Robert Tucker.1 Back 
in the 1970s, historians of the Stalin period resembled specialists in antiq-
uity: they tended to know the few available documents and memoirs inside 
out and had little ability to expand their number. This dearth of documen-
tation encouraged the painstaking study of these sources and elegant and 
thoughtful extrapolation. The situation was bound to change after the ar-
chival floodgates were opened in the early 1990s, and it took us some time 
to get our heads above water. The eventual appearance of new works in-
formed by archival materials—including scholarly biographies of Stalin, as 
well as other investigations of the man and the political system—signal that 
historians have begun to cope with the inundation.2

	 The opening of the archives gave rise to a new genre of Stalin biography 
that one might call “the archival exposé.” It’s trailblazers include Dmitri 
Volkogonov, a former party loyalist who became a driving force for pere-
stroika, and the Russian playwright Edvard Radzinsky. This genre favors 
personal accounts over “dry” statistics or administrative paper trails and 
page-turning narratives over painstaking research and historical contextu-
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alization. For many readers, the archival exposé has played an important 
role in shaping Stalin’s image.
	 One of the most successful Western authors working to feed appetites 
for newly available details about the Stalin era is Simon Sebag Monte-
fiore. A notable feature of his method is the citation of a broad spectrum of 
sources, not only from memoirs and interviews, but also from the archives. 
Montefiore struck a sort of middle ground, striving to instill some scholarly 
discipline into the “archival exposés” genre while producing readable his-
tory capable of attracting a wider audience than more scholarly texts.3

	 In today’s Russia, on the other hand, Stalin’s image is primarily being 
shaped by pseudo-scholarly apologias. An extremely diverse array of au-
thors, all with their own motivations, contributes to Stalinist mythology. 
Most of these authors blend a lack of the most elementary knowledge with 
a willingness to make bold assertions. Their apologias typically cite fab-
ricated sources or shamelessly misrepresent real ones. The impact of this 
powerful ideological assault on readers’ minds is intensified by the circum-
stances of Russian life, which include rampant corruption and outrageous 
social iniquities. When they reject the present, people are more likely to 
idealize the past.
	 Apologists for Stalin no longer try, as they once did, to deny the crimes of 
his regime. Instead they resort to more subtle rewritings of history. In their 
version of events, lower-level officials, such as secret police chiefs and the 
secretaries of regional party committees, supposedly hiding their actions 
from Stalin, instigated mass repression. The most cynical Stalinists take a 
different tack, claiming that the Terror was just and that the millions de-
stroyed on Stalin’s orders really were “enemies of the people.”
	 Many Russian Stalinists find it convenient to draw on theories developed 
by various Western historians: that the Terror developed spontaneously, 
that Stalin was not deeply involved in it, and that he was a far more “or-
dinary” political leader than usually thought. It is certainly not my inten-
tion to accuse my Western colleagues of fomenting re-Stalinization. They 
bear no more responsibility for Russia’s contemporary political battles than 
Marx did for the Bolshevik revolution. Still, we should be aware that our 
words can have bizarre reverberations.
	 One variety of apologia widely cultivated in Russia’s intellectual and po-
litical soil is the relatively moderate idea of “modernizing Stalinism.” While 
this ideology formally acknowledges the Terror’s countless victims and the 
high price paid for the “great leap” strategy, it sees Stalinism as an organic 
and unavoidable means of addressing the need to modernize and prepare 
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for war. Within these postulates we can detect prejudices deeply rooted in 
the Russian social consciousness: that the interests of the state take abso-
lute priority, that the individual is insignificant, that the flow of history is 
governed by higher-order laws. According to this paradigm, Stalin was the 
expression of an objective historical need. His methods were regrettable 
but necessary and effective. Furthermore, it is inevitable that the flywheel 
of history will become spattered with blood.
	 It would be wrong to deny that the “long waves” of Russian history helped 
shape the path toward Bolshevism and Stalinism. A strong state with au-
thoritarian traditions, feeble private property and civil society institutions, 
and the colossal reach of a colonizing power that enabled, among other 
things, the creation of the Gulag Archipelago, all paved the way toward the 
Stalinist system. But elevating these factors to some sort of “Russian des-
tiny” leads to the dead-end theory of “inevitable Stalinism.” Adherents of 
this theory have little interest in specific facts and prefer to recycle Stalin-
ist interpretations of Soviet history, sometimes with a fresh twist, more 
often without. They adamantly dismiss questions about the price paid for 
transformations and military victories, alternative development paths, and 
the role of the dictator. They close their eyes to the fact that Stalin him-
self, when he brought matters to a state of crisis and ruin, was occasionally 
forced to soften his policies, thereby demonstrating that even within the 
framework of Stalinism there were multiple paths toward industrialization. 
They do not even try to explain how the executions of seven hundred thou-
sand people in 1937–1938 alone, ordered by Stalin, served the goals of mod-
ernization. Overall, the theory of modernizing Stalinism makes no serious 
attempt to ascertain how effective the Stalinist system was or to evaluate 
Stalin’s own role in the development of the USSR from the 1920s to the early 
1950s.
	 Reducing history to historical imperative is the least creative way of pre-
senting the past. Historians are compelled to deal not with simple schemes 
and political conjecture but with concrete facts. Working with documents, 
they cannot avoid noticing the intricate dance between objective factors 
and personalities or between pattern and random occurrence. In a dicta-
torship, the role of the dictator’s personal predilections, prejudices, and 
obsessions is greatly magnified. What better medium than biography to 
unravel this complex tangle of problems?
	 Biography is a unique genre of research that can, at one extreme, be re-
duced to the minutia of historical context or, at the other, be bloated with 
novelistic details of human behavior. Context without soul and soul with-
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out context—these are the main pitfalls confronting the biographer. Nav-
igating them was a challenge for me. In the end, I understood that it was 
simply not possible to squeeze into this book even a passing reference to 
every significant episode or aspect of the Stalin period. I was compelled 
to choose which phenomena and tendencies most deserved inclusion, se-
lecting the facts and events that seemed to characterize Stalin, his time, 
and the system that bears his name with the greatest clarity and vividness. 
This selectivity was all the more necessary given the appearance, over the 
past twenty years, of so many new sources shedding light on Stalin and his 
period. These sources should be briefly identified.
	 First, because of the opening of the state archives after the collapse of the 
Soviet Union, historians now may consult original firsthand documents, 
whereas in the past they were forced to whittle layers of distortion from 
official publications. A good example is the works and speeches of Stalin 
himself. Most were published during the leader’s lifetime, but we now have 
the ability to work with the originals and compare what was actually said 
with edited versions. Furthermore, the body of Stalin’s published speeches 
can now be supplemented with those that did not appear in print. Among 
the most important documents are papers generated by governmental 
bodies that Stalin himself chaired, such as the protocols and stenographic 
records of Politburo meetings and wartime State Defense Committee de-
crees. These dry bureaucratic documents are tremendously important in 
understanding Stalin’s personality and life. They took up a huge portion of 
the dictator’s time and were the tools by which he exercised power. Many 
resolutions bear traces of his heavy editorial hand.
	 By themselves, of course, the orders issued under Stalin paint only a 
partial picture. Why were they adopted? What were the logic and motives 
behind his directives? Much more revealing is Stalin’s intermittent corre-
spondence with his Politburo colleagues, conducted primarily when he 
was away on vacation and requiring letters to steer the actions of his fel-
low leaders back in Moscow. This correspondence was most prolific in the 
1920s and the first half of the 1930s, before Russia had any reliable telephone 
service. It is a marvelous example of how sluggish technological progress 
can be a historian’s friend. After the war, telephone communication be-
came more reliable, and Stalin, now securely at the pinnacle of power, felt 
less need for detailed correspondence with subordinates. Curt directives 
sufficed. Despite their fragmentary nature, Stalin’s letters constitute an im-
portant documentary whole and make for fascinating reading. They repre-
sent the most candid testaments he has left to posterity.4
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	 Historians have been able to glean a great deal of important informa-
tion from the logs of visitors to Stalin’s Kremlin office.5 These logs recorded 
visitors’ names and the times they entered and left the office and thus 
shed light on how Stalin conducted business. Comparing them with other 
sources (such as memoirs or the protocols of Politburo meetings) offers 
important clues to the circumstances surrounding the adoption of various 
resolutions. Still, like his correspondence, these logs reflect only a portion 
of Stalin’s activity. In addition to his Kremlin office, he occasionally worked 
in his office at Central Committee headquarters on Staraia Square and re-
ceived visitors in his Kremlin apartment, as well as at his numerous da-
chas outside Moscow and in the south. Although we know that the service 
responsible for protecting Soviet leaders kept records of visits to Stalin’s 
Kremlin apartment, researchers have yet to be given access to this archive.6 
There appears to be no sign of analogous records for the Central Commit-
tee office or the dachas.
	 The visitor logs were kept by Stalin’s secretariat and security team. It 
seems likely that these services also kept, for their own purposes, records 
of Stalin’s movements, as well as accounts by security personnel of what 
happened during their shifts. It goes without saying that these materials 
would be of tremendous value to Stalin’s biographers. At this point, there is 
no solid evidence that such records exist.
	 Stalin’s correspondence and the log of visitors to his Kremlin office are 
both part of his personal archive, which was compiled under his direct su-
pervision and apparently with an eye toward history. Many documents in 
this collection feature the notations “my archive” or “personal archive.” An 
important addition to the personal archive is an assortment of materials 
about Stalin gathered from various repositories. This assortment, which in-
cludes books from Stalin’s library with notations by him, was concentrated 
in the Central Party Archive. Today both sets of materials have been brought 
together in the Stalin Collection of the Russian State Archive of Social and 
Political History (RGASPI, successor to the Central Party Archive, which 
comprises the bulk of its holdings),7 a key source of knowledge about Stalin 
now used extensively by historians.
	 Yet despite its importance, the Stalin Collection has serious deficiencies. 
It offers only limited insights into Stalin’s modi vivendi and operandi. Its 
primary shortcoming is the absence of much of the vast array of papers that 
made their way to Stalin’s desk on a daily basis. These include thousands 
upon thousands of letters, statistical compilations, diplomatic dispatches, 
and reports and memoranda from the various branches of state security. 
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The lack of access to these documents hinders historians in their effort to 
develop a thorough understanding of how well informed Stalin was, what 
he knew about a given question, and thus the logic of his actions. The doc-
uments that would enable such insights have not been lost. They reside in 
the Presidential Archive of the Russian Federation (APRF, the former Po-
litburo Archive), organized into “thematic” folders.8 While working on this 
book, I was able to examine a few of them. For the time being, the Presiden-
tial Archive does not accommodate systematic scholarly study. However, 
the very fact that these folders exist encourages hope. The history of Russia 
suggests that sooner or later the archive will open.
	 The most tempting sources for biographers are always diaries and mem-
oirs. These contain the sorts of three-dimensional treatments of people 
and events that are hard to extract from official paperwork. Such firsthand 
accounts permit biographers to fill their works with attention-grabbing de-
tails, but historians are well aware of these sources’ liabilities. Memoirists, 
even candid ones, are rarely disinterested, and they often muddle events 
and dates or simply lie. These perils are compounded in memoirs from 
the Soviet era. As far as we know, no member of Stalin’s inner circle kept 
a diary, depriving us of the kind of detailed source that Goebbels’s famous 
diaries provided to Hitler’s biographers. The situation with memoirs is not 
much better. Only two people close to Stalin left detailed reminiscences: 
Nikita Khrushchev and Anastas Mikoyan.9 While these memoirs represent 
major contributions, both men were silent on important topics (such as 
their participation in the mass repression), and there was much that they 
simply did not know. Within Stalin’s inner circle there was a strict rule: each 
man was privy only to information that he needed for the effective fulfill-
ment of his duties. In the case of Mikoyan, some elements of his memoirs 
were distorted by his son, who prepared the manuscript for publication. He 
arbitrarily and without the customary disclosures simply inserted his own 
additions and revisions into the dictated text, supposedly based on subse-
quent accounts shared by his father.10

	 We also have memoirs by Soviet and foreign officials and other promi-
nent figures who had some—usually extremely limited—interaction with 
Stalin. These works make a minor contribution to what we know about his 
life. In additional, many memoirs (for example by Red Army marshals) 
were published during the Soviet era and were therefore subjected to cen-
sorship (including self-censorship). After the fall of the USSR, many other 
people whose paths had crossed with Stalin’s spoke up. Freedom sparked 
a flood of memoirs from the children and relatives of Stalin-era leaders.11 
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This “children’s literature,” as the Russian historian Elena Zubkova so aptly 
labeled the genre, was mainly motivated by commerce and a passion for 
self-justification, and the results are indeed juvenile.12 Many relatives of 
Stalin and his comrades concocted fairy tales and cock-and-bull stories, 
blending personal impressions with fantasy. Naive pronouncements on 
politics serve to show that these offspring had only the faintest idea of 
what their fathers were up to. Third-hand information, rumors, and gos-
sip abound. The primary factor detracting from the potential value of this 
literature is that Stalin’s underlings were obsessed with maintaining strict 
secrecy. They lived with unrelenting secret police surveillance and the con-
stant fear of being provoked into a politically fatal slip of the tongue. It is 
difficult to imagine what could have compelled them to be candid within 
their own families. The price was too high.
	 In this book I have been restrained in my use of memoirs, even though 
many contain fascinating descriptions and anecdotes readers would cer-
tainly find of interest. Guided by the most basic rules of source verification, I  
have made every effort to compare memoir accounts with other materials, 
archival materials first and foremost. On one hand, memoirs that gener-
ally held up to scrutiny were given greater credence. On the other hand, 
numerous errors and flagrant fabrications were treated as clear signs of 
unreliability, even if some claims could not be proved false through other 
sources. Certain memoirs were put on my personal blacklist. While I do not 
condemn others for citing these works, I will never do so.
	 When all is said and done, however, a historian endeavoring to write a 
biography of Stalin is in a relatively good position. The abundance of archi-
val documents and evidence offers opportunities for prolonged, intensive, 
and (one can hope) fruitful work. Significant lacunae and the inaccessibil-
ity of many materials are frustrating impediments; nevertheless, it is now 
possible to write a genuinely new biography of Stalin insofar as newly ac-
cessible archival material has forced changes in our understanding of both 
the man and his era.
	 I would like to add a few final words about the size and structure of this 
biography. Restraints in the former have inspired innovations in the lat-
ter. Exhaustive details had to be forsaken. References and notes had to be 
kept to a minimum, so priority has been given to the attribution of quotes, 
numbers, and facts. By no means all of the worthy works of my colleagues 
have been mentioned, for which I offer them my apologies. Such econo-
mies leave me ambivalent. I regret the omission of many telling facts and 
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quotes, but I am glad for the reader. I know how it feels to gaze wistfully at 
stacks of fat tomes that will never be conquered.
	 Another aspect of the book that I hope will facilitate reading, in addition 
to its modest size, is its structure. A conventional chapter-section chronol-
ogy did not lend itself to presenting the two interdependent strata of Sta-
lin’s biography: the sequence of his life events and the most salient features 
of his personality and dictatorship. This difficulty gave rise to the idea of 
two alternating narratives, a sort of textual matryoshka or Russian nesting 
doll. One conceptual chain examines Stalin’s personality and system of 
rule against the backdrop of his final days. The other, more conventionally 
chronological, follows the main stages of his biography in sequence. As a 
result, the book can be read in two ways. Readers can trust my arrangement 
and follow the page order, or they can take one stratum at a time. I have 
tried to make both methods equally convenient.



1

The Seats of Stalin’s Power

The early morning hours of 1 March 1953 at the near dacha.  
The “Five’s” last supper. 
On Saturday, 28 February 1953, Josef Stalin invited four of his senior 
associates to the Kremlin: Georgy Malenkov, Lavrenty Beria, Nikita Khru
shchev, and Nikolai Bulganin.1 During the final six months of his life, Stalin 
and these four men constituted what was known as the “ruling group” or 
simply the “Five.” They met regularly in Stalin’s home. The leader’s other old 
friends—Vyacheslav Molotov, Anastas Mikoyan, and Kliment Voroshilov 
—were in disgrace, and he did not wish to see them.2 Assembling a small 
group of supporters to act as his right hand in ruling the country was a 
key element of Stalin’s modus operandi. He liked to name these groups 
according to the number of members: the Five (Piaterka), the Six (Shes-
terka), the Seven (Semerka), the Eight (Vos'merka), the Nine (Deviatka). 
These informal groups enjoyed supreme authority while formal party and 
state structures functioned as regular bureaucracies handling the day-to-
day running of the country. Dividing government into formal and infor-
mal institutions allowed the dictator to exploit the capabilities of a vast, 
all-encompassing bureaucratic machine while keeping a firm hold on the 
true levers of power. Stalin often changed the composition of the ruling 
group. He maintained daily, hands-on control over this central node of 
power, keeping its members at his constant beck and call for meetings and 
“friendly” gatherings. The dictator’s approach to exercising power through 
a combination of bureaucratic institutions and patrimonial power in-
spired Yoram Gorlizki to coin the phrase “neopatrimonial state.”3

	 Fear was the primary force behind the dictator’s patrimonial power 
over his top associates and other highly placed officials. With the Soviet 
state security system under his firm control, Stalin could arrest anyone 
at any moment and have the person summarily shot. He did so countless 
times. The entire patrimonial political enterprise rested on terror.
	 The most important decisions were always made through direct— 
ideally face-to-face—communication with the dictator. This was the fast-
est and most effective way for an official to achieve personal and admin-
istrative objectives. But communication required access to the seats of 
power, places that for countless Soviet officials and members of the top 
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leadership took on an almost sacred aura. Some were more sacred than 
others. There was an unspoken hierarchy in the various settings from 
which Stalin wielded power, and admission to some endowed greater sta-
tus than others. Stalin spent a significant portion of his life in these seats 
of power. Each reflected some aspect of his personality and dictatorship.
	 The primary and most official seat of power was Stalin’s Kremlin office. 
This commodious, oak-paneled study was divided into two zones: Stalin’s 
desk and a long conference table. Other furnishings included a grand
father clock (which Stalin used to monitor the promptness with which 
those summoned arrived) and a plaster death mask of Lenin encased 
in glass and displayed on a special stand. On the walls hung portraits of 
Lenin and Marx. During the war, they were joined by the tsarist-era mili-
tary heroes Aleksandr Suvorov and Mikhail Kutuzov. Otherwise the decor 
hardly changed over the many years he spent there. During the war, the 
bomb shelter built beneath the Kremlin contained a slightly smaller but 
otherwise almost exact replica of this office: the same furniture, the same 
pictures, the same curtains (despite the lack of windows).4

	 Over thirty years, approximately three thousand different people visited 
the Kremlin office.5 Stalin’s closest associates, of course, were there fre-
quently, but the visitors also included heads of government ministries and 
enterprises, academics, cultural figures, senior state security and military 
personnel, and foreign guests. The Kremlin office was the most accessible 
of the seats of Stalin’s power.
	 On the evening of 28 February 1953, Bulganin, Beria, Malenkov, and 
Khrushchev, who had been called to the Kremlin by Stalin, did not linger 
in this office. Stalin immediately took them to the Kremlin movie theater, 
a much more exclusive place. The theater was a 7.5-by-17-meter space 
with twenty seats, installed in 1934 where Russia’s tsars had once enjoyed 
a winter garden. Before it was built, Soviet leaders watched movies either 
outside the Kremlin, in the building of the cinematography directorate, or 
in a small Kremlin room that had been used for silent films.6 Stalin enjoyed 
watching movies with his comrades, and these viewing sessions gradually 
became obligatory. Thanks to detailed records kept by Boris Shumiatsky, 
who oversaw the Soviet film industry, we know quite a bit about how 
these evenings in the movie theater were spent during 1934–1936.7 Shumi-
atsky would bring the movies and listen to the comments of Stalin and his 
colleagues, as well as the decisions that were sometimes taken during a 
viewing. His notes provide a valuable window onto the rules of behavior 
within Stalin’s inner circle and the atmosphere of these gatherings.
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	 As a rule, the viewing sessions began late in the evening and extended 
into the early hours of the morning. Stalin sat in the front row, surrounded 
by members of the top leadership. There was always a great deal of dis-
cussion about the movies and newsreels, both while a film was rolling and 
afterward. Stalin always had the first word. He would issue instructions 
concerning the content of specific films, the Soviet film industry, and 
ideology in general. In the movie theater, he made on-the-spot decisions 
on everything from budgetary issues to the publication of policy-setting 
articles in the Soviet press to personnel matters. Filmmakers would 
occasionally be invited to viewings of their films. Such an invitation was 
a great honor. Stalin would congratulate them on their work and offer 
“guidance” on improving it. Shumiatsky’s records make it clear that these 
get-togethers in the Kremlin movie theater were not merely relaxation for 
the Soviet leadership. They were informal meetings of the top level of gov-
ernment at which questions of ideology and cultural policy were decided. 
Most likely, Stalin and his colleagues also discussed other affairs of state 
before and after the viewings.
	 Shumiatsky’s records end abruptly in early 1937. This was undoubtedly 
tied to the intensification of repression in the country. Shumiatsky himself 
was arrested in early 1938 and shot soon after. Stalin’s movie viewing con-
tinued, but we know almost nothing about later sessions. It appears that 
toward the end of his life, only his closest associates were admitted to the 
Kremlin movie theater. The 28 February meeting of the Five was Stalin’s 
last movie-theater get-together.
	 When the movie was over, Stalin, as he often did, invited the others to 
dine with him at his dacha near the Moscow suburb of Volynskoe. The 
dacha was just a few minutes away, earning it the nickname of “the near 
[dacha]” (blizhniaia). Occasionally the seat of power would shift to one or 
another of the houses or dachas around Moscow or in the south, where 
Stalin spent lengthy annual vacations. But the “near” dacha held a special 
place in his heart. It was an important epicenter of his life and rule.
	 The first house on the site of the near dacha was built in 1933. The move 
there was associated with upheavals in Stalin’s personal and political life. 
The terrible famine that swept the land in the early 1930s as a result of 
Stalin’s policies coincided with family tragedy. In November 1932 his wife, 
Nadezhda Allilueva, died by her own hand.8 Stalin started a new life in a 
new place.
	 Stalin personally oversaw the near dacha’s many expansions and reno-
vations. The huge house that resulted was an odd blend of the institutional 
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and the pretentious.9 All the rooms resembled one another and were, in 
the words of Stalin’s daughter Svetlana, “impersonal.”10 The second floor, 
for which an elevator had been installed, was rarely used. Stalin’s favorite 
room toward the end of his life was the so-called “small dining room” on 
the first floor. This roomy space contained a rectangular table three meters 
long, a couch, a cupboard, an easy chair, a small telephone table, and a 
fireplace. A pair of binoculars, hanging from a hook, and a hunting rifle 
were kept next to the fireplace. A large carpet covered the floor. The room 
led to a glassed-in veranda and a terrace. According to Svetlana, Stalin 
both slept and worked in this room. The large table was always piled with 
papers and books. Unless he had company, he ate at one of the table’s cor-
ners. He kept his medicines in the cupboard. Stalin enjoyed sitting by the 
fire, where he would sometimes order shashlik to be roasted. He liked to 
receive his visitors here. It is also where he suffered the stroke that ended 
his life.
	 The dacha was surrounded by a fifty-acre park. Stalin personally 
oversaw the landscaping and farming that took place on the grounds. 
He designed a greenhouse for citrus plants, supervised the installation 
of a vineyard, grew his own watermelons, and kept a pond stocked with 
fish. He sometimes had a portion of his watermelon crop sent to Moscow 
stores. There were also horses, cows, chickens, ducks, and a small apiary. 
His bodyguards testified that Stalin devoted a great deal of time to the 
running of this agricultural enterprise and kept track of even the smallest 
details. Hundreds of orders from Stalin to the man in charge of running 
the estate, Lieutenant Colonel P. V. Lozgachev, have been preserved:

7 April 1950: a) Start planting watermelons and melons in raised beds 
on 10 May; b) In mid-July, trim the watermelon and melon vines. . . .

20 April: . . . Line the path from the kitchen to the pond with fir trees.  
. . . Plant corn every half meter next to the main house and between 
apple trees by the pond, toward the gazebo. Plant beans there too. . . .  
Plant eggplant, corn, and tomatoes along the edge of the garden.

Lozgachev reported that he received such instructions almost every day.11 
In essence, Stalin was the master of a small estate that he preferred to run 
himself, not leaving important details in the hands of subordinates. The 
patriarchal way in which he ran his dacha estate is consistent with his 
approach to running his much larger “estate,” the Soviet Union. He kept 
track of state resources and reserves and took charge of their allocation, 
jotting down important pieces of information in a special notebook.12 He 
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immersed himself in the details of film scripts, architectural plans, and the 
design of military hardware. His interest in landscaping extended beyond 
his personal domain to the streets of Moscow: “People say that the square 
on the Arbat . . . has not yet been covered with paving blocks (or asphalt). 
This is shameful! . . . Put pressure on them and make them finish up the 
square.”13

	 One result of Stalin’s desire to shape the spaces around him was 
the creation of a room that served as the dacha’s social nexus: a 
155-square-meter hall. The room’s centerpiece was a 7-meter-long table 
that stood on a 6-by-12-meter rug. (The area of this rug, incidentally, 
equaled the average living space of sixteen Soviet city dwellers in 1953: 4.5 
square meters per person.) Easy chairs and couches lined the walls. Oc-
casionally Stalin worked at the table in this large room or on the couch or 
easy chairs. For the most part, however, the room was reserved for meet-
ings and festive gatherings.
	 A number of participants in these gatherings, which were held regu-
larly, have left descriptions. The food was simply placed on the table, and 
guests helped themselves to whatever they wanted and took their plates to 
any free seat. Dinner stretched for many hours, ending long after midnight 
or even at daybreak. These meals were an opportunity to discuss and 
decide various matters of state. But that was not all. For Stalin, they were 
a way of keeping an eye on his associates and gleaning information. As 
one of the few forms of entertainment available to him, they also filled an 
important social need: they eased his sense of isolation. As Khrushchev 
wrote, “He felt so alone he didn’t know what to do with himself.”14

	 Plenty of drinking went on around this table. As he aged, Stalin mod-
erated his own consumption of spirits, but he liked to spur others to 
overdo it and then watch their behavior. He had several ways of forcing 
his guests to drink more heavily than they might have wished. Toasts were 
proposed in rapid succession, and failing to empty one’s glass was unac-
ceptable. “If someone didn’t participate when a toast was made, he was 
‘fined’ by having to drink another glassful and perhaps several glasses.”15 
The Yugoslav politician and writer Milovan Djilas later recalled a drinking 
game he witnessed at Stalin’s dacha during a visit in January 1948: “Every-
one guessed how many degrees below zero it was outside and then, as a 
penalty, downed . . . a glass for each degree he was off. . . . I remember that 
Beria missed by three and claimed that he had done so on purpose to get 
more vodka.”16

	 The alcohol loosened inhibitions. “The atmosphere at these dinners 
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was unconstrained, and jokes, many of them obscene, evoked raucous 
laughter.”17 In addition, there were other, more “cultured” amusements. 
Sometimes they sang revolutionary and folk songs in which, the wife  
of Andrei Zhdanov recalled, Stalin would join with a quiet tenor.18 
Zhdanov entertained his comrades with lewd ditties.19 “Such songs could 
be sung only at Stalin’s. You couldn’t possibly repeat them anywhere,” 
Khrushchev recalled.20 For a while a piano stood in the large room. Some 
remembered Zhdanov playing it, although there is no clear record of 
what he played or how well. After Zhdanov’s death in 1948, Stalin ordered 
the piano moved to an adjacent room. More often, music was provided 
by a radiogram (a combination radio and phonograph), on which Stalin 
played records, both Russian folk songs and classical music. Sometimes 
he enjoyed listening to his impressive collection of some 2,700 albums, 
on his own or with guests. Occasionally there was dancing. According to 
Khrushchev, Mikoyan was considered the best dancer. Everyone did the 
best he could. Even Stalin “would move his feet around and stretch out his 
arms.”21

	 There probably was no dancing during those early hours of 1 March. 
This was a quiet get-together, limited to Stalin’s most trusted associates. 
“We would go to Stalin’s place quite often, almost every evening,” Khrush-
chev recalled of that period. These dinner gatherings with the aging and 
unbalanced Stalin were not easy on his guests. In Khrushchev’s words, 
“We were supposed to work at our jobs and the posts to which we had 
been elected and, besides that, attend Stalin’s dinners like some sort of 
characters in a play and entertain him. That was a difficult and painful 
time for us.”22 But Stalin’s comrades were not about to complain, and they 
assiduously fulfilled their dinner duties as a condition of their inclusion 
in the ruling circle. As usual, the gathering adjourned toward morning 
(Khrushchev places its conclusion around five or six a.m.). They parted 
on a good note. As Khrushchev described it, “Stalin was a bit tipsy and 
seemed very well disposed toward everyone.” He led his guests into the 
vestibule, “joked a lot, waved his hands around, and as I recall he poked 
me in the stomach with his finger and called me Mikita. When he was in a 
good mood, he always used the Ukrainian form of my name—Mikita. . . .  
We too were in a good mood when we left because nothing unpleasant 
had happened at the dinner, and not all these dinners ended that well.”23 
We have no reason to doubt Khrushchev’s account. Dmitri Volkogonov 
claimed that Stalin was irritable and threatened his guests, but he does 
not cite any specific sources.24
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	 Stalin was equally capable of rewarding his underlings with his amia-
bility and menacing them with threats. For almost two decades he used 
both the carrot and the stick (in Russian, the knout and the ginger cookie, 
with a good deal more of the former) to keep not only his close associates 
in hand, but also the many millions who lived in the USSR and, later, the 
entire “socialist camp.”
	 Over his seventy-four-year life, the Soviet dictator fought through a 
stormy historical landscape to become an important factor in events not 
only in Russia, but also the world. Among scholars, there is more agree-
ment than controversy on the historical and ideational antecedents that 
shaped him, including traditional Russian authoritarianism and imperial-
ism, European revolutionary traditions, and Leninist Bolshevism.25 These 
influences, of course, do not diminish his major personal contribution to 
the formation of a uniquely Soviet totalitarian system and ideology. Ide-
ological doctrines and prejudices were often decisive in Stalin’s life and 
actions, but instead of receiving them passively, he adapted them to the 
interests of his own dictatorship and emerging superpower. His personal-
ity also played no small role in the political course he forged. He was cruel 
by temperament and devoid of compassion. Of all the available methods 
for resolving political, social, and economic conflict, he favored terror and 
saw no reason to moderate its use. Like other dictators, he was stubborn 
and inflexible. Concession and compromise were seen as a threat to the 
inviolability of his power. He made limited and half-hearted reforms only 
when socioeconomic crises were reaching the breaking point and the 
stability of the system was imperiled. His theoretical dogmatism lay at the 
root of the violence that defined his regime.
	 Underpinning Stalin’s worldview was an extreme anti-capitalism. His 
hostility toward this system was unequivocal, and he rejected even the 
limited concessions that Lenin made in instituting the New Economic 
Policy (NEP). Stalin grudgingly allowed a few capitalist economic vehicles 
within the Soviet system, such as money, limited market relations, and 
personal property. After millions had died during the famine of 1932–1933, 
he agreed to allow peasants limited freedom to produce and sell outside 
the collective and state farm system. But to the end he believed that the 
concessions that had been forced on him by hard circumstances would 
soon be reversed and the socialist economy would be transformed into 
a money-free powerhouse where people would work as ordered by the 
state and receive in exchange the natural goods that the state decided they 
needed.
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	 In Stalin’s worldview, the state the Bolsheviks created was an absolute. 
All existence was completely and unconditionally subordinate to the 
state, and its highest personification was the party and its leader. Personal 
interests were recognized only to the extent that they served the state, 
which had the unquestioned right to demand from people any sacrifice, 
including their lives. The state was unrestricted in its actions and could 
never be wrong, as it represented the ultimate truth of historical progress. 
Any action by the regime could be justified by the greatness of its mission. 
Mistakes and crimes by the state did not exist; there was only historical 
necessity and inevitability or, in some cases, the growing pains of building 
a new society.
	 The primary tool used to compel submission to the state and suppress 
the individual and the social was the so-called “class war” against foreign 
and domestic “enemies.” In this war, Stalin was the foremost theoretician 
and a ruthless tactician. With the successful advance of socialism, he 
asserted, the class war would only intensify. This idea was a cornerstone 
of his dictatorship. As a means of interpreting reality, the class war theory 
was also a powerful propaganda tool. Inadequate political and economic 
outcomes, the hardships endured by the populace, and military failures 
could all be explained by the underhanded scheming of “enemies.” As 
a method of state repression, class war gave the Terror the breadth and 
brutality of an actual war. The Soviet dictator has earned the distinction of 
being the organizer and director of one of the most powerful and merci-
less terror machines known to history.
	 Stalin had no trouble reconciling Marxist and Bolshevik-Leninist 
dogma with great-power imperialism. In November 1937, he told his asso-
ciates the following: “The Russian tsars did many bad things. They plun-
dered and enslaved the people. They waged wars and grabbed territory 
in the interests of the landowners. But they did do one good thing—they 
created a huge state that stretches all the way to Kamchatka. We have 
inherited that state. And for the first time we, the Bolsheviks, have brought 
together and consolidated this state as a single, indivisible state . . . for 
the benefit of the workers.”26 These candid words are all the more telling 
as they were spoken at a dinner celebrating the twentieth anniversary of 
the October Revolution, the country’s main revolutionary holiday. In the 
international arena, Stalin’s expansion of the empire makes him a worthy 
heir to the Russian tsars. Only the ideological façade was different. At the 
Berlin train station on the eve of the Potsdam Conference in 1945, U.S. 
Ambassador to the Soviet Union Averell Harriman asked Stalin how it felt 
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to arrive in the capital of a defeated enemy as a victor. Stalin replied, “Tsar 
Alexander made it all the way to Paris.”27 Yet Stalin arguably outdid the 
tsars. The Soviet empire expanded its sphere of influence to encompass 
huge swaths of Europe and Asia and transformed itself into one of the 
world’s two superpowers.

Did Stalin look back on his triumphs after parting with his guests for the 
last time in his life on 28 February? Did his thoughts take him to earlier 
times—his childhood, youth, the revolution? Like the lives of his fellow 
revolutionaries, Stalin’s life was cleanly divided into two parts: before and 
after the revolution. Conceptually and chronologically, these two periods 
were approximate halves of his life. The first thirty-eight of his seventy- 
four years were lived before the revolution, and twenty of them were spent 
actively working toward it.
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1	Before the Revolution
According to his official Soviet biography, Stalin was born in 1879. In fact 
Ioseb Jughashvili (his birth name) was born one year earlier. Stalin knew, of 
course, when and where he was born: in the small Georgian town of Gori, in 
a far corner of the vast Russian Empire. A Gori church register (part of Sta-
lin’s personal archive) provides the exact date: 6 December 1878. This date 
can also be found in other documents, such as his graduation certificate 
from the Gori Theological School. In a form filled out in 1920, his year of 
birth is again given as 1878. But the year 1879 began to appear in paperwork 
completed by his various helpers, and that date was used in all encyclo-
pedias and reference materials. After he had consolidated power, a grand 
celebration was held in honor of his fiftieth birthday on 21 December 1929.  
There was confusion over not only the year of his birth, but also the day, given 
as 9 December (Old Style) instead of 6 December. This inaccuracy came to  
the attention of historians only in 1990.1 The reason for it has yet to be deter-
mined. One thing is clear: in the 1920s, Stalin decided to become one year 
younger. And he did.
	 Legends surround Stalin’s parentage. Sensation seekers proclaimed 
Ioseb (who later became Iosif once his interactions began to be primarily 
in Russian) to have been the illegitimate son of a prosperous merchant, a 
factory owner, a prince, and even Emperor Alexander III, who supposedly 
was attended to by Ioseb’s mother while the emperor was visiting Tiflis. The 
historical record suggests more prosaic origins. Ioseb was born into a hum-
ble Georgian family. His mother, Ekaterine or Keke (Yekaterina in Russian) 
Geladze, the daughter of serfs, was born in 1856. In 1864, after the abolition 
of serfdom, her family moved to Gori, where, at the age of eighteen, she was 
given in marriage to the cobbler Besarion or Beso (Vissarion in Russian) 
Jughashvili, six years her senior. Their first two children died in infancy; 
Ioseb (Soso) was the third.2

	 Few pieces of documentary evidence survive from Stalin’s youth. The 
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primary source of our knowledge is memoirs written after he had already 
attained the pinnacle of power. Even an uncritical reader will notice that 
these memoirists are writing about the childhood and youth of a future 
dictator, not the early years of Ioseb Jughashvili. This aberration magnifies 
the tendency, common to biographies generally, toward selective exagger-
ation and exclusion. Depending on the situation and the writer’s politics, 
emphasis is placed on either Ioseb’s virtues and leadership qualities or his 
innate cruelty and psychological abnormalities. But as Ronald Grigor Suny 
has shown, attempts to find the future dictator in the child Ioseb Jughash-
vili are highly suspect.
	 It is commonly believed that Ioseb had a difficult childhood. Abuse and 
beatings by his drunkard father, as well as material deprivation, supposedly 
embittered the boy and made him ruthless and vindictive. But there is plenty 
of evidence to support a very different picture. By many measures, Stalin’s 
childhood was ordinary or even comfortable. A number of accounts attest 
that his father was not only a skilled cobbler, but also that he was able to read 
Georgian and converse in several languages, including Russian. His mother 
had received some home schooling and could also read and write in Geor-
gian. Given the low literacy rate in Georgia at the time, this would have given 
the family an advantage. During Ioseb’s early years, Besarion Jughashvili  
apparently was quite successful and his family was well provided for.3

	 Later, after Besarion began to drink heavily and then abandoned his wife 
and child, responsibility for Ioseb’s upbringing fell on his mother’s shoul-
ders. Ekaterine was a woman of strong character and a hard worker, and, 
starting with odd jobs, she managed to learn the craft of dressmaking. As 
an only child (a circumstance that would prove significant), Soso, unlike 
many of his peers, did not have to work and could therefore attend school. 
In a letter written in 1950, requesting a meeting for old times’ sake, one 
of Stalin’s childhood friends commented, “In 1894, when you graduated 
from the theological school, I graduated from the Gori Municipal School. 
You were accepted that same year into the Tbilisi Theological Seminary, but  
I wasn’t able to continue my studies since my father had 8 children, so we were 
poor and we helped him.”4 Ioseb’s mother, dreaming that her son would climb 
the social ladder to become a priest, doggedly worked to make this dream a 
reality and did everything she could to facilitate his education. Such strivings 
are hard to reconcile with the idea of a bleak, impoverished childhood.
	 Certainly there was discord in the family, and the drunken Besarion  
let loose with his fists. Soso was apparently beaten by both parents. But as 
Suny rightly observes, the evidence we have is insufficient either to judge 
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whether violence within the Jughashvili family was unusual for that place 
and time or to assess its impact on Soso’s perception of the world.5 Sta-
lin’s childhood and adolescence seem to have been utterly typical of the 
environment from which he came—the world of poor, but not destitute, 
craftsmen and shopkeepers in a small town at the outskirts of the empire. 
This was a world where coarse mores coexisted with traditions of neighbor 
helping neighbor and periods of relative well-being alternated with hard 
times. Children were exposed to severity and cruelty as well as to affection 
and indulgence. Soso Jughashvili experienced the good and the bad—his 
father’s harshness and his mother’s limitless affection—in relatively bal-
anced proportion. The family’s financial difficulties, which came when 
Soso was in school, were eased by the help of friends and relatives. While 
at the local theological school and later at the seminary in Tiflis, Ioseb re-
ceived assistance from the state and benefited from the intercession of 
sympathetic protectors. Despite their modest means, mother and son were 
fully accepted into their small community.
	 During an interview many years later, Stalin said, “My parents were un-
educated, but they did not treat me badly by any means.”6 It is possible he 
was not being candid or was suppressing unpleasant childhood memories. 
There is little evidence regarding Stalin’s feelings toward his father, who died 
young. To all appearances, however, he felt genuine affection for his mother. 
His letters to her in her later years contain lines such as the following: “Hello 
Mama dear! How are you getting on, how are you feeling? I haven’t had any 
letters from you in a long time—you must be upset with me, but what can 
I do? I’m really very busy,” and “Greetings dear mother! I’m sending you a 
shawl, a jacket, and medicines. Show the medicines to your doctor before 
taking them because a doctor has to set the dose.”7 Despite her son’s mete-
oric rise, Keke remained in Georgia, living in a position of respect and com-
fort. Stalin did not attend her funeral in 1937. Throughout that year, the height 
of the Great Terror, he did not set foot outside of Moscow. The dedication he 
wrote for a memorial wreath in both Georgian and Russian still survives: “To 
my dear and beloved mother from her son Ioseb Jughashvili (from Stalin).”8

	 Stalin owed her a true debt of gratitude. She worked hard to protect 
her son from want and to enable him to get an education, and she nursed 
him through numerous illnesses, including smallpox, which pockmarked 
his face for the rest of his life. Soso also suffered a childhood mishap, ex-
acerbated by poor medical treatment, that rendered his left arm severely 
disabled. The joints remained atrophied for the rest of his life, and the 
arm never functioned properly. Another physical defect was congenital: 
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two toes on his left foot were joined. It seems unlikely that these defects 
remained unremarked in the often heartless company of boys. Yet Soso 
was not an outcast. He remained on an equal footing with his peers and 
took part in all of their games. He had an excellent memory, always a re-
spected quality. It does not appear that a difficult childhood sowed in Ioseb 
Jughashvili the cruelty that emerged in Joseph Stalin. There is also no obvi-
ous sign of what in his childhood might have turned him into a rebel.

n	 the Failed Seminarian
	 Ioseb’s mother, whose efforts were inspired by the hope that her 
son would successfully overcome the social circumstances of his birth, 
was not the only one who noticed his intellectual abilities. When the time 
came to send the boy to school, Keke was able to solicit the support of 
well-wishers who felt strongly that the boy could profit from an education. 
Her aspiration that Ioseb would become a priest seemed entirely fitting. 
The well-wishers were the family of a priest named Khristofor Charkviani, 
in whose home the Jughashvilis rented a room. They helped Soso gain 
admission to the Gori Theological School. The Charkviani children also 
taught him Russian, the language of instruction. These language lessons 
enabled Soso to immediately enter the school’s highest preparatory class—
undoubtedly a significant moment in the future leader’s life. Ten-year-old 
Soso was making an important step into the Russophone world.
	 He spent almost six years, from 1888 to 1894, at the Gori Theological 
School, a period that saw dramatic changes in the Jughashvili family. After 
much domestic strife, Besarion left Gori, depriving his wife and son of 
their means of support and imperiling Soso’s continued attendance at the 
school. Keke was able to find help, a task undoubtedly made easier by So-
so’s academic success. He was a model student and was even granted a sti-
pend. The mother took care that her son would in no way feel inferior to his 
classmates and always ensured that he was dressed well and appropriately 
for the weather. According to numerous reminiscences, Soso distinguished 
himself at school by his diligence and hard work. He was reputed to be a 
fine reader of prayers and singer in the church choir, and he got along well 
with the teachers. The Russian teacher, whom the children called “the gen-
darme” behind his back, made Soso his assistant in charge of distributing 
books.9 Many decades later, in 1949, another former teacher at the school, 
S. V. Malinovsky, took the bold step of contacting his former pupil. “In my 
old age,” he wrote, “I am proud that my humble efforts contributed to your 
education.” Malinovsky requested that he be awarded a personal pension, 
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“so that in the twilight of my days my basic needs can be met and I can die 
in the happy awareness that my Great Pupil did not leave me in poverty.”10 
While there is evidence that this letter was placed before Stalin, the record 
is unclear on whether assistance was granted.
	 Ioseb graduated in May 1894. The certificate issued to him lists the 
courses he took and the grades he received. He earned a grade of “excel-
lent” for behavior, as well as for Sacred History, Orthodox Catechism, Li-
turgical Exegesis and Ecclesiastical Typikon, Russian and Church Slavonic, 
Georgian, geography, penmanship, and liturgical chant. In Greek and 
arithmetic, his weakest subjects, he managed a grade of “very good.” His 
academic success yielded a recommendation for entry into a theological 
seminary.11 Despite the narrow curriculum, Soso acquired a great deal of 
skill and knowledge at the school in Gori and developed a passion for read-
ing. More significant, he developed a mastery of Russian. Recollections of 
his time at the school paint a picture of an active child with pretentions 
toward leadership, pretentions undoubtedly affirmed by his standing as a 
top student. He seems to have had pleasant recollections of these years. 
Many decades later he remembered his school friends and even tried to 
help them. In notes dated May 1944, when he was sixty-five, Stalin wrote: 
“1) To my friend Petya—40,000, 2) 30,000 rubles to Grisha, 3) 30,000 rubles 
to Dzeradze,” and “Grisha! Accept this small gift from me. . . . Yours, Soso.”12 
Written in Georgian, these documents hint at bursts of nostalgia felt by an 
old man reflecting fondly on his adolescence.
	 There are vague and inconsistent accounts by memoirists claiming that 
Ioseb Jughashvili’s rebellious behavior and break with religion dated to 
his days in Gori. Leon (Lev) Trotsky, one of Stalin’s first biographers (and 
hardly an impartial one), convincingly argues that Stalin’s former class-
mates are confusing the Gori period with events that took place later, in 
Tiflis.13 The best proof of the schoolboy Soso’s exemplary behavior and 
law-abiding attitude is the glowing assessment on his graduation certifi-
cate and the recommendation that he enroll in a seminary.
	 In September 1894, having successfully passed the entry examination, 
young Jughashvili enrolled in the Tiflis Theological Seminary. Ekaterine 
and her son enjoyed good fortune here as well. The seminary was more 
eager to have students born into the clerical estate, and others were re-
quired to pay tuition. But Ioseb’s abilities, along with the intercession of 
friends and relatives, earned him a free room and meals in the seminary 
cafeteria. He was required to pay only for his courses and clothing.14 Did the 
ambitious boy perceive this as a demeaning handout to a “poor relative”? 
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Perhaps. But it is equally possible that this grant-in-aid was viewed as a 
recognition of past achievements.
	 Stalin spent more than four and a half years in the Tiflis seminary, from 
the autumn of 1894 to May 1899. The move to a large city undoubtedly 
brought a degree of stress. However, Ioseb had not come alone but with 
a group of friends and acquaintances from the Gori Theological School. 
Furthermore, he seems to have found the course work relatively easy. He 
ranked eighth in his class in his first year and fifth the next year. His behav-
ior was assessed as “excellent.”15

	 Yet behind this promising façade lurked a growing dissatisfaction and insub-
ordination. While there is no moment that stands out as marking his departure 
from the path of the law-abiding and well-adjusted student, we do have two 
well-known pieces of evidence attesting to the unbearable living conditions at 
the seminary. The first such testimony belongs to Stalin himself. In 1931, in an 
interview with German writer Emil Ludwig, he described the seminary’s role 
in pushing him toward insurrection: “In protest against the outrageous regime 
and the Jesuitical methods prevalent at the seminary, I was ready to become, 
and actually did become, a revolutionary, a believer in Marxism as a really 
revolutionary teaching. . . . For instance, the spying in the hostel. At nine 
o’clock the bell rings for morning tea, we go to the dining-room, and when 
we return to our rooms we find that meantime a search has been made and 
all our chests have been ransacked.”16 This account is supplemented by a 
widely cited description by one of Stalin’s classmates:

We were brought to a four-story building and put in huge dormitory 
rooms with 20–30 people each. . . . Life in the theological seminary was 
repetitious and monotonous. We arose at seven in the morning. First, 
we were forced to pray, then we had tea, and after the bell we went to 
class. . . . Classes continued, with breaks, until two o’clock. At three we 
had supper. At five there was roll call, after which we were not allowed to 
leave the building. We felt as if we were in prison. We were again taken 
to vespers, and at eight we had tea, and then each class went to its own 
room to do assignments, and at ten it was lights out, sleep.17

	 Having only Sundays free of this regimentation probably did not much 
brighten the seminarians’ lives, especially as the day was partially taken 
up by mandatory church services. It was a regime of constant surveillance, 
searches, denunciations, and punishments. Although the range of disciplines 
was somewhat broader than in Gori—in addition to scripture, church sing-
ing, Russian philology, and the Greek and Georgian languages, the curric-
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ulum included biblical and secular history and mathematics—intellectual 
life was constrained by dogmatism. The reading of secular literature was 
harshly punished and Russification was crudely enforced, insulting the na-
tional pride of Georgian seminarians. The strong undercurrent of resent-
ment and rebellion among the students was hardly surprising. A strike had 
erupted the year before Ioseb enrolled. The seminarians stopped attending 
their classes and demanded an end to arbitrariness by the teachers and the 
firing of some of them. In response, the authorities closed down the insti-
tution and expelled a large number of students.
	 The firm suppression of unrest doubtless helps account for the lack of 
open protest during Ioseb’s years at the seminary. Any individual or group 
dissent was kept underground. At first the future dictator found an outlet 
in romantic literary heroes exemplifying the struggle for justice, especially 
those from Georgian literature. One of his first models came from The Pat-
ricide, a novel by Alexandre Kazbegi. This was a tale of the fearless and 
noble avenger Koba, scourge of Russian oppressors and the Georgian ar-
istocracy.18 Koba became the future leader’s first pseudonym, one he trea-
sured and allowed his closest comrades to use for him throughout his life.
	 His fascination with romantic rebellion flavored with Georgian national-
ism predictably led young Stalin to try his hand at verse. After completing his 
first year at the seminary, he brought a sample of his poetry to the editorial of-
fice of a Georgian newspaper, which published five poems between June and 
October 1895. Another poem appeared in a different newspaper the following 
summer. The poems, written in Georgian, extolled service to the motherland 
and the people. During Stalin’s leadership of the Soviet Union, his poetry was 
translated into Russian, but these translations were not included among his 
collected works. He undoubtedly understood that his undistinguished and 
naive verse belied the image of the single-minded revolutionary:

A lark in the high clouds
Sang ever so sonorously.
And a joyous nightingale said this:
“Blossom, lovely land,
Exult, country of Georgians.
And you, Georgian,
Gladden your motherland with learning.”19

	 Although such lines do nothing to soften the image of Stalin the dicta-
tor, they do attest to the pure intentions of Jughashvili the seminarian, who 
found inspiration in the ideas of service to the motherland and the people.  
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During his third year at the seminary, these vague, half-formed strivings 
did lead to one concrete step. Ioseb joined an illegal discussion group of 
seminarians and apparently assumed a leadership role within it. The books 
read by the group were perfectly legal but forbidden by the seminary. En-
tries in the journal used to keep track of the seminarians’ conduct record 
violations by Jughashvili involving the reading of forbidden books, includ-
ing novels by Victor Hugo, in late 1896 and early 1897.20 Beginning in his 
third year, Ioseb’s grades began to decline, and he was caught violating 
rules with increasing frequency.
	 Ioseb Jughashvili was growing increasingly radicalized. He stopped 
writing verse and developed an ardent interest in politics. Participating in 
the discussion group was no longer enough. He longed to get involved in 
something “real,” a desire that led him to the Social Democrats, an interest 
in Marxism, and attendance at illegal meetings of railway workers. Accord-
ing to his official biography, in August 1898, while still enrolled in the semi-
nary, Ioseb joined a Social Democratic organization and began working as 
a propagandist for small groups of workers. At this point, his knowledge of 
Marxism must have been fairly superficial, but his fascination with it was 
consuming. For the young seminarian, the all-encompassing nature of 
Marxism, almost religious in its universality, was tremendously appealing. 
It filled the gap in his worldview created by his disillusionment with reli-
gion. The belief that human history was governed by a set of laws and that 
humanity was inexorably advancing toward the higher stages of socialism 
endowed the revolutionary struggle with special meaning. But this fasci-
nation with Marxism hardly set young Jughashvili apart. Belief in Marxism 
was a veritable epidemic.
	 One influence on Ioseb was the older fellow revolutionaries and rebels 
who came to Tiflis from other regions of Georgia. The figure most often 
mentioned in this context is Lado Ketskhoveli. Though still a young man, he 
had already advanced along the path on which young Stalin was just em-
barking. After being expelled from the Tiflis seminary, Ketskhoveli enrolled 
in the Kiev Theological Seminary, where he was arrested by the authorities 
for possessing illegal literature. Only a general amnesty occasioned by the 
coronation of Tsar Nicholas II saved him from punishment. After returning 
to Tiflis and then moving to Baku, this committed revolutionary immersed 
himself in subversive work and organized an underground printing press. 
In 1903 he was shot by a prison guard. Legend has it that he was killed for 
shouting revolutionary slogans. This was the sort of man of action Ioseb 
looked up to.21
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	 Ioseb’s behavior during his final academic year at the seminary (1898–
1899), when he was increasingly involved in the Social Democratic move-
ment, clearly shows an intention to break with the past. All the indignation  
that had festered during his first years in Tiflis came to the surface. The sem-
inary’s conduct journal serves as a chronicle of his rebellion. In September 
he was caught reading excerpts from banned books to his comrades. In 
October he was confined to a punishment cell three times for failing to at-
tend prayers, bad behavior during liturgy, and returning late after a school 
recess. Over the following months, periods of confinement alternated with 
reprimands for a variety of offenses.22

	 In January 1899, a serious conflict with the seminary’s administration re-
sulted in Ioseb’s being prohibited from leaving the seminary for a month. 
Historian Aleksandr Ostrovskii attributes this punishment to an incident 
described in the memoirs of one of Ioseb’s classmates, published in 1939.23 
According to this account, a seminary inspector searched Jughashvili’s 
room and found forbidden books. At this point, a seminarian by the name 
of Kelbakiani pounced on the inspector and knocked the books out of his 
grasp. Helped by Jughashvili, Kelbakiani then gathered up the books and 
fled.24 Among the sources that cast doubt on this account is the seminary’s 
conduct journal for 1899, which describes Kelbakiani’s infraction quite dif-
ferently.25 A search of Kelbakiani’s own possessions turned up a notebook 
into which excerpts from prohibited literature had been copied. When the 
inspector refused Kelbakiani’s request that the notebook be returned, the 
seminarian grabbed it and threw it into the toilet. The seminary rector was 
immediately informed of this incident and Kelbakiani was placed in a pun-
ishment cell for several hours.
	 According to the conduct journal, “Kelbakiani displayed strong re-
morse.” He admitted his guilt and asked for indulgence. There is no mention 
of Jughashvili’s involvement in this incident. All that is known for certain is 
that in January 1899 Jughashvili was deprived of the right to leave the semi-
nary premises for one month, and Kelbakiani was expelled.26 The difference 
in punishments may indicate that Ioseb was penalized for some other infrac-
tion or that he played only a minor role in the destruction of the notebook.
	 In June 1951, Kelbakiani wrote the following to his former classmate:

Comrade Soso! If you knew how impoverished I was at the present time, 
I am certain you would not leave me without attention. I have grown old 
and have no income and I am in a state of need. . . . Comrade Soso, in 
some way you are in my debt: you probably remember how I grabbed 
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from the seminary inspector . . . illegal literature that was taken during 
a search of your drawer, for which I was expelled from the seminary. . . .  
I am not proud of this and am not boasting, of course. . . . Poverty has 
forced me to remember this. Help me, Comrade Soso.27

This letter was placed before Stalin. There is no record to show whether 
Kelbakiani was given any assistance, but his letter does shed light on the 
1899 incident. Kelbakiani was undoubtedly familiar with the account pub-
lished in 1939 describing the future Stalin’s “heroic deed,” and he gener-
ally adheres to its details. The confiscated notebook is identified as “illegal 
literature” and is found among Jughashvili’s possessions rather than Kel-
bakiani’s. It is, however, noteworthy that Kelbakiani unequivocally states 
that he himself, without help from “Comrade Soso,” was the one to grab the 
confiscated notebook from the inspector. He is just as unequivocal on the 
subject of Soso’s involvement in the incident and in suggesting that he, 
Kelbakiani, performed a favor for the future leader. Overall, it would ap-
pear that Ioseb really was involved. We can surmise, for example, that the 
notebook Kelbakiani destroyed belonged to Jughashvili. This may not have 
been reported in the conduct journal because it was not known at the time. 
It seems almost certain that Ioseb did not help Kelbakiani save the mate-
rials. This was among the more harmless of the legends that took shape to 
foster the cult of the leader.
	 The notebook incident aside, Jughashvili committed more than enough 
sins in the eyes of the seminary leadership to render him persona non grata. 
In May 1899 he was expelled, the formal cause being “for failing to appear at 
examinations for unknown reasons.” One odd detail is that the certificate 
he was given upon expulsion, stating he had completed four years at the 
seminary, gives him excellent grades for behavior.28 Stalin’s biographers 
have long commented on the confusion surrounding the circumstances 
of his departure. He himself preferred to say that he was “kicked out” “for 
Marxist propaganda.” In one interview, Ekaterine claims that she took her 
son out of the seminary because of his poor health.29 There may be some 
truth to all these accounts—both the official formulation and the statements 
by Jughashvili and his mother. The seminary leadership may have been eager 
to rid itself of a rebel while avoiding scandal. Ioseb may have withdrawn “by 
mutual consent” with a commendatory certificate on the completion of four 
years. If so, Ekaterine and her complaints of her son’s worsening health 
probably played a major role. In the end, Ioseb really was “kicked out,” but 
quietly, leaving the door open for him to mend his ways.
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n	 Underground, Prison, and Exile
	 The certificate issued to Ioseb Jughashvili by the seminary would 
have enabled him to work in the area of religion or teach elementary 
school.30 But a return to ordinary life did not interest him. In late 1899 Ioseb 
was hired, with the help of friends, to work at the Tiflis Meteorological Sta-
tion. His job involved constant recording of instrument readings and there-
fore required him to live on the premises, taking care of his need for both 
money and housing.
	 Continuing to work with revolutionary groups, he soon aligned himself 
with the radical wing of the Tiflis Social Democratic organization, which re-
jected agitation through legal propaganda and instead favored fomenting 
strikes and demonstrations. Given the twenty-two-year-old rebel’s record 
at the seminary and his friendship with such revolutionaries as Lado Ketsk-
hoveli, his turn toward radicalism is hardly surprising.
	 The years 1900 and 1901 saw a wave of strikes in Tiflis, followed by crack-
downs. Under threat of arrest, Jughashvili left the weather station and went 
underground. There was no turning back; he had become a professional 
revolutionary.
	 Whatever their backgrounds, Russian revolutionaries tended to have 
one thing in common. Their break with ordinary life and move under-
ground took place in a moment of hatred and decisiveness: hatred for the 
existing order and a decision to combat it. In the Russian Empire, there was 
no shortage of either emotion. An authoritarian regime and social injus-
tices created a breeding ground for rebels. The persecution to which rad-
icals were subjected radicalized them still more. The hatred felt by Ioseb 
Jughashvili, aroused by the arbitrariness and obscurantism that prevailed 
at the seminary, was further inspired by the propaganda and actions of his 
more experienced comrades, those who had chosen the path of revolution 
before him. His decisiveness was both a feature of his character and a prod-
uct of the milieu into which he was born. Anyone with social origins like his 
had little to lose.
	 In exploring the sources of Stalin’s rebelliousness and ruthlessness, 
many historians have pointed to the atmosphere that reigned in the out-
lying regions of the Russian Empire. Alfred Rieber has called him a “man 
of the borderlands.”31 The Caucasus, a roiling cauldron of social and ethnic 
conflict where industrial enclaves emerged amid tribal traditions, would 
inevitably have played a role in shaping Stalin’s character. Jörg Baberowski 
has written that Stalin and his comrades-in-arms “brought into the party, 
both at the center and edges of the empire, the culture of violence of the 
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Caucasian periphery, the blood feud and archaic conceptions of honor.”32 
Such opinions are supported by Boris Nicolaevsky, a Social Democrat who 
later became a well-known historian. Before the revolution, Nicolaevsky 
had spent time in Transcaucasia and had even met with Jughashvili. He de-
scribed the future dictator as “exceptionally vicious and vindictive” and ca-
pable of applying “the most extreme measures” in his struggle to dominate 
the party. Yet many of Jughashvili’s opponents within the Social Demo-
cratic movement were no different. Nicolaevsky said he was told that these 
traits resulted from “the injection of Caucasian mores into the intraparty 
struggle.”33

	 It is not unreasonable to take into account the mentality forged by the 
hardships and tragic history of the Russian borderlands. Yet the entire Rus-
sian Empire was one vast borderland: between Asia and Europe, between 
the promises of modernization and the deteriorating traditional ways of 
life, between the city and the country, between authoritarianism and dem-
ocratic strivings, between the obscurantism of the regime and the blood-
thirstiness of many revolutionaries. Whatever features may be particular 
to the Caucasus must be seen within the context of the Russian culture of 
extremism and violence, which merely provided an outlet for the impulse. 
Such a context does not, of course, relieve young Jughashvili of personal 
responsibility for his choices.
	 Revolutionaries are not all cut from the same cloth. Many throw them-
selves into the fight under the influence of youth, ardor, and thrill seeking. 
These factors were probably not what led Stalin onto this path, though they 
should not be discounted entirely. The future dictator could be described 
as a calculating revolutionary, the sort who doggedly and methodically—
even cautiously—moved the revolution forward and later, when success 
came, had the best chance of solidifying power. He had just the right bal-
ance of decisiveness and caution, obsession and cynicism, to emerge un-
scathed through the revolution’s countless dangers.
	 An overview of the activities of the Tiflis Social Democratic organization 
found in the files of the local gendarme administration describes Ioseb 
Jughashvili as “conducting himself with complete caution and constantly 
looking over his shoulder as he walks.”34 He managed to avoid arrest for 
some time, giving him a significant advantage, since many members of the 
Social Democratic Party were in prison, and facilitating his rise within the 
Tiflis party leadership. Apparently to evade arrest, he moved from Tiflis to 
Batum, a major center of the empire’s petroleum industry. A propaganda 
campaign by him and his associates evidently had an effect, as Batum 
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workers staged a spate of strikes and demonstrations. The government 
response was severe. On 9 March 1902, when workers stormed a prison 
where many of their comrades were being held, troops opened fire. At least 
thirteen people were killed and dozens were wounded. News of violence in 
Batum spread, and Jughashvili, one of the organizers of the demonstration, 
was arrested.
	 In an effort to avoid punishment, Jughashvili denied his guilt, assert-
ing that he had been nowhere near Batum during the period leading up 
to the attack. In notes sent from prison, he asked his mother, friends, and 
relatives to give him an alibi by falsely testifying that he had arrived in Gori 
before mid-March.35 One such note fell into the hands of the police. The 
police in Batum still could not prove that Jughashvili was directly involved 
in organizing the storming of the prison, but in probing his background, 
they brought to light his activities in Tiflis. The investigation inched along. 
Languishing in prison, Ioseb did what he could to improve the outcome 
of his case. In October and November 1902, seven and eight months after 
his arrest, he sent two petitions to the offices of the administrator-in-chief 
for the Caucasus. Citing a “worsening asphyxiating cough and the helpless 
situation of my aged mother, who has been abandoned by her husband for 
12 years now and sees me as the only person she can count on in life,” he 
asked to be released under police supervision. “I beseech the office of the 
Administrator-in-Chief not to neglect me and to respond to my request.” In 
January 1903 Ekaterine also submitted a request to the authorities that her 
son be freed. Her petition, written in Russian but signed in Georgian, stated 
that her son, “as the breadwinner for himself and his mother, has neither 
the time nor the occasion to participate in conspiracies or disturbances.”36

	 These entreaties proved ineffective. Ioseb remained in prison for sev-
eral more months, suffering deprivation and harassment. Not until the 
fall of 1903, one and a half years after his arrest, was he finally sent into 
exile in eastern Siberia. Soon, in early 1904, he escaped from his place of 
banishment. Such an escape was not at all unusual. Lax security enabled 
many revolutionaries to flee their places of exile, although such escapes 
demanded careful preparation, courage, and physical endurance. Jughash-
vili learned from his first stint in exile and later had several opportunities to 
put that experience to use.
	 There is evidence to suggest that during the first months after his return 
to Transcaucasia, Jughashvili was suspected of being a double agent.37 So-
cial Democrats were being arrested throughout the region. Although these 
arrests cast a pall of suspicion over him, the lack of personnel began to fa-
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cilitate his ascent within the underground movement. He rose through the 
ranks to the governing committee of the Transcaucasian Social Democratic 
organization. Other factors in his success were his active efforts in the un-
derground and his ability to generate fiery prose. Rumors that he was col-
laborating with the police remained just that.
	 During the two years that Jughashvili spent in prison and exile, Russia’s 
Social Democratic Party had undergone major changes. While formally a 
single party, in actuality it was divided between the adherents of Lenin—
Bolsheviks—and the more moderate Mensheviks. Lenin advocated the cre-
ation of a militant and cohesive underground party that would serve as an 
instrument of revolution. It was Lenin’s belief that the workers, who were to 
be the main force in the revolution, were not capable of developing proper 
revolutionary thinking on their own. They had to be taught by professional 
revolutionaries. Lenin’s teachings were aimed at hastening revolution and 
speeding up “historical time.” The Mensheviks felt that the party should be 
less rigid and accept among its ranks sympathizers as well as activists. The 
Mensheviks had greater respect for the workers and placed less emphasis 
on their own role as teachers. This approach was a natural byproduct of 
their core belief that the revolutionary process would move gradually and 
organically forward as the objective preconditions for socialism reached 
fruition. Jughashvili was temperamentally inclined to accept Lenin’s view-
point and to embrace his radicalism and calls to action. Furthermore, as a 
member of the party intelligentsia, Jughashvili welcomed the idea that pro-
fessional revolutionaries must lead the workers’ movement.38 To be lead-
ers, to show the masses the way forward—surely this was the intelligentsia’s 
proper place within the revolution? Many of his articles were devoted to 
promoting Lenin’s ideas.
	 The first Russian Revolution, in 1905, initially intensified discord be-
tween the Bolsheviks and Mensheviks but ultimately brought the two sides 
closer together. Both groups faced a common enemy—the government and 
its supporters—and both sides increasingly resorted to violence and bru-
tality. In Transcaucasia, roiled by social and ethnic animosities, the situa-
tion was particularly dire. As usual, the government did not hesitate to use 
arms. In response, the revolutionaries murdered figures associated with 
the autocratic regime and committed arson against industrial enterprises. 
Ethnic pogroms fed the rush of carnage. Violence and bloodshed became 
commonplace. Mensheviks and Bolsheviks organized their own armed de-
tachments and made generous use of terrorist methods.39 Jughashvili took 
an active part in these events, traveling across Georgia, helping to organize 



before the rev olution 25

strikes and demonstrations, writing leaflets and articles, and helping set up 
an underground printing press and militant groups. He gradually reached 
the forefront of the Bolshevik leadership in Transcaucasia.
	 In October 1905, unrest compelled the tsar to make concessions. Rus-
sia was given its first parliament, the State Duma. Political freedoms were 
proclaimed: freedom of conscience, free speech and assembly, and the in-
violability of the person. The revolution nonetheless continued to build, 
and it forced maneuvering by the Social Democrats as well as the tsar. 
Under pressure from the ranks, the Bolsheviks and Mensheviks agreed to 
a reconciliation, restoring a superficial party unity. This newfound unity, 
however, did not advance the interests of the Bolsheviks in Transcaucasia, 
Jughashvili in particular, because it put the Mensheviks in charge of the re-
gion’s revolutionary organizations. The election of delegates to the party’s 
April 1906 “Unity Congress” in Stockholm put the Bolsheviks’ demeaning 
position on full display: the future dictator was the only Transcaucasian 
Bolshevik delegate elected. The next congress, in London the following 
May, was even more humiliating. At first, only Mensheviks were elected. 
The Bolsheviks had to arrange by-elections so they could send at least one 
representative. Again, they sent Jughashvili.
	 Jughashvili’s trips to these congresses undoubtedly expanded his sense 
of the world and the party, as well as his circle of contacts. There is evidence 
that in 1907, while traveling to London, he met with Lenin in Berlin.40 Re-
turning from London, he spent several days in Paris, where he stayed with 
fellow Georgian Grigory Chochia, a student there. He returned to Russia 
using the passport of a friend of Chochia’s who had died. This arrangement 
enabled him to evade police surveillance and improved his personal safety. 
Forty years later, in May 1947, Chochia, then living in Leningrad, reminded 
Stalin of this: “In mid-1907, after you stayed with me for several days, I es-
corted you to the St. Lazare train station in Paris. You were so kind as to say 
to me, ‘I will never forget your help’ (you were referring to my giving you the 
international passport). Right now, I am greatly in need of your attention. 
I ask to be granted a 5–10 minute meeting with you.”41 The letter was filed 
away. Stalin rarely recalled his foreign travel. We do not know what he saw 
in Europe and how he perceived it. Did he bring any gifts to his young wife, 
Yekaterina Svanidze, whom he married in July 1906, or his son, Yakov, born 
in March 1907 (right before Ioseb left for Western Europe)? Undoubtedly, 
Jughashvili’s mind was on the revolution.
	 Immediately after he returned from the West, on 13 June 1907, a group 
of Transcaucasian Bolsheviks staged an armed robbery of money being 
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transported to a bank in Tiflis; the robbery has become a part of the his-
tory of the Russian revolutionary movement. At the cost of several lives, it 
yielded a huge sum for Bolshevik coffers: 250,000 rubles. The ringleader 
of this “expropriation” was Jughashvili’s good friend Simon Ter-Petrosian, 
nicknamed Kamo. The obvious link between the two men has led some to 
suggest that Stalin was involved in organizing the heist and perhaps even 
took part in it, but there is no hard evidence.42 Boris Nicolaevsky, who com-
pleted a thorough study of the case in the course of chronicling the Social 
Democratic movement, concluded that Jughashvili was informed of the 
activities of Kamo’s group and “helped conceal them from the local party 
organization.” But “he was in no regard a ringleader.” Nicolaevsky found 
a document showing that Kamo was working directly with the Bolshevik 
center abroad, specifically an agreement between Kamo and Lenin’s Bol-
shevik center on the details of the robbery.43 It was Kamo, not Jughashvili, 
who signed this agreement.
	 Except for the amount stolen, the Tiflis holdup was nothing out of the 
ordinary. The robbery of government institutions and private individuals 
was widely practiced at the time, by the Bolsheviks as well as other groups. 
Although such actions generated income, they undermined the morals of 
the revolutionaries and damaged their reputation with the public. From 
time to time, ordinary criminals would join forces with the revolutionaries 
for personal gain. In fact, ideologically motivated thieves stealing to fur-
ther the revolution, even if they did not take a kopeck for themselves, were 
sometimes hard to distinguish from the ordinary criminals. This state of af-
fairs must have been deeply disturbing for the leaders of the Social Demo-
cratic Party. At the 1907 congress in London the Mensheviks passed a reso-
lution prohibiting Social Democrats from conducting such robberies. This 
resolution did not stop Lenin and his followers. The Tiflis operation was al-
ready being planned, and they did not cancel it. That this robbery was car- 
ried out so soon after the party congress made it look particularly cynical. 
Controversy spread through the ranks of the Social Democrats. Not for the 
first time and knowing his association with Kamo, the Tiflis Mensheviks 
showed Jughashvili how displeased they were with him. He was forced to 
leave Tiflis for Baku.
	 In Baku, where the Mensheviks also dominated the party, Jughashvili 
could still rely on a stalwart group of Leninists. This major industrial center 
was ripe with opportunity for both agitation among the working class and 
combat against political opponents. Jughashvili managed to drive a wedge 
through the Baku organization, and the Bolsheviks took over the party 
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leadership. But the joy of victory was overshadowed by personal tragedy. 
In Baku, Ioseb’s wife Yekaterina died. The couple’s infant son was taken in 
by the mother’s relatives. His father had no time for him.
	 The unrest surrounding the 1905 revolution frightened the ruling classes 
and awakened the tsarist government to the need for concessions. Russia 
became a freer country. Serious agrarian reform was introduced that had 
fundamental significance for a country in which the peasantry represented 
an overwhelming—and explosive—majority. Historians still argue over 
where these reforms might ultimately have led. One thing is clear: Russia 
was not allowed to follow the course of reform long enough to yield re-
sults. Furthermore, alongside the reforms and concessions, the authorities 
began to “restore order” and more decisively and brutally combat the rev-
olutionary underground. One victim of this post-revolutionary crackdown 
was Jughashvili. In March 1908 he was arrested. As before, he denied any 
wrongdoing, claiming that he did not belong to any revolutionary party 
and had spent a long time abroad.44 These ploys did not work. After seven 
months in prison, he was sent into exile in Vologda Province, where he spent 
four months before fleeing. In the summer of 1909, he returned to Baku.
	 By this time, the Social Democratic organization in Baku had been in-
filtrated by undercover police. Failed operations and arrests aroused mu-
tual suspicion and rising tempers among the revolutionaries. Jughashvili 
again came under scrutiny: new rumors emerged that he was working for 
the police. This idea has continued to be promoted, although most histori-
ans have never given credence to theories that he was a double agent. The 
opening of the archives has confirmed their skepticism. A key document 
used to bolster these accusations against Stalin has been definitively ex-
posed as a forgery, produced within émigré circles after the revolution.45

	 Jughashvili spent more time in prison and exile than one would expect 
for a double agent. In the spring of 1910 he was again arrested and this time 
threatened with serious punishment. The police demanded that he be sent 
for five years to “the most remote reaches of Siberia.” He resorted to a tried-
and-true method: pleas for leniency, citing his poor health and the absence 
of serious evidence. In an attempt to demonstrate good intentions, he re-
quested that he be allowed to marry a woman he had met while in exile and 
with whom he was living.46 It is hard to assess what effect these “humble 
pleas” had, but in October 1910, instead of the five-year sentence in Siberia 
initially sought, Jughashvili was returned to Vologda Province to complete 
his previous sentence. This was a mild punishment. His term concluded in 
July 1911.
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	 The year-and-a-half between his release from this term of exile and 
his final arrest, in February 1913, was the peak of his career in the under-
ground. He advanced into the ranks of the Bolshevik leadership, becoming 
a member of the Leninist party’s Central Committee in 1912. This eleva-
tion had at least two consequences. First, he now zigzagged across Russia 
and often spent extended periods in the two capitals, St. Petersburg and 
Moscow, rather than working full time in Transcaucasia. Second, he was 
the target of much more intense police surveillance. He engaged in un-
derground work in Russia, assisted in the publication of Bolshevik news-
papers, wrote articles, and strategized with Bolshevik representatives in 
the State Duma. He also became one of Lenin’s closest associates. The 
Bolshevik leader was still in hiding outside the country and needed loyal 
helpers in Russia. Several times, Jughashvili traveled to meet with Lenin 
abroad. Detained by circumstances in Vienna for several weeks in 1913, he 
began work on an article addressing the party’s approach to ethnic minori-
ties. This work was of particular interest to Lenin. In lockstep with Lenin’s 
views, Jughashvili advocated a unified Russian Social Democratic Party 
and argued against the fragmentation of revolutionary forces based on  
ethnicity.
	 Jughashvili exemplified this sort of inter-ethnic cooperation. He consid-
ered himself an actor on the Russian imperial—not just the Georgian—stage. 
Putting his youthful nationalism and Transcaucasian Social Democratic past 
behind him, he consciously transformed himself into Stalin. He began to 
use this Russian-sounding pseudonym, which symbolized his affinity with 
the revolutionary movement, around the time he moved into the Bolshevik 
party leadership.
	 Stalin undoubtedly deserved his standing and reputation as a prominent 
Bolshevik. His organizational and writing abilities, daring, decisiveness, 
cool head, simple tastes, adaptability, and devotion to Lenin all contrib-
uted to his elevation to the top ranks. He stuck with the party even during 
the crisis in the Social Democratic movement that followed the crushing of 
the first revolution, a crisis characterized by mass arrests of underground 
operators, infiltration of the organization by police agents, and a severe 
shortage of funds. In March 1913, an agent who had penetrated the Baku So-
cial Democratic organization reported that “The committee is currently not 
undertaking any activities.”47 Meanwhile, in February, in far-off Petersburg, 
Stalin was arrested. He had been betrayed by fellow Bolshevik leader and 
Lenin favorite Roman Malinovsky, who had been working for the police for 
several years.48
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n	 four Years in Siberia
	 In June 1913, Ioseb Jughashvili was sentenced to a four-year term of 
exile in Siberia’s Turukhansky Krai. From the start, this last period of exile 
was marked by particular hardship. Turukhansky Krai was an extremely in-
hospitable region. Stalin’s letters during the first months were filled with 
pleas for help and complaints that he lacked funds and was in poor health:49

It seems that I have never been in such a terrible situation. My money 
is gone, the intensifying cold (37 below) has brought on a suspicious 
cough, and I’m in a general state of ill health, have no supply of bread, 
sugar, meat, or kerosene (all my money has gone toward day-to-day ex-
penses, clothing, and footwear). . . . I understand that none of you, you 
in particular, have time for this, but, damn it, I don’t have anyone else to 
turn to. And I don’t want . . . to croak here. This has to be taken care of 
today and money sent by telegraph because waiting any longer means 
starving, and I’m already malnourished and sick.50

My hardship grows by the hour, I’m in a desperate situation, and on top 
of it all I’ve fallen ill and some suspicious cough has set in. I need milk, 
but . . . money, I have no money. My dear, if you get some money, send it 
to me immediately via telegram. I can’t stand it any longer.51

At first there was a lingering hope of freedom. The party leadership adopted 
a resolution to arrange an escape for Stalin and his comrade in exile, Yakov 
Sverdlov. An escape would require money, but there were delays in sending 
it. Furthermore, the traitor Malinovsky informed the police of the escape 
plans. In March 1914, on orders from St. Petersburg, Stalin and Sverdlov 
were sent to the even more remote village of Kureika, not far from the Arc-
tic Circle, and placed under the charge of personal wardens. Escape was 
almost impossible.
	 Stalin took this transfer as a severe blow. In late March 1914 he sent an 
angry letter to St. Petersburg rebuking his party comrades for their long 
silence and demanding to know: would there be money for an escape or 
not?52 Several weeks later he changed his plans. In April he wrote to Ma-
linovsky: “The new governor has relocated me to the far north and confis-
cated the money sent to me (60 r. total). We’re still living, brother. . . . Some-
one, it turns out, has been spreading rumors that I’m not going to remain in 
exile for the rest of my term. Nonsense! I’m telling you and swear on the life 
of my dog that I will serve out my term (until 1917). At one point I thought of 
leaving, but now I’ve abandoned that idea, abandoned it for good.”53
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	 This letter raises questions. Was Stalin’s firm assertion that he did not 
plan to escape intended for the eyes of the police? Or was he expressing his 
dissatisfaction with party comrades who had failed to help him? Perhaps 
he recognized the fruitlessness of any hope of escape and had made a gen-
uine decision to remain in exile. Given that the subject of escape did not 
arise again, it appears that he really did reconcile himself to his fate.
	 Stalin’s life in Kureika was shaped by events that occurred during his 
first months there. First, he had a falling out with Sverdlov. Upon arriving 
in Kureika, the two set up house together, but this arrangement did not last 
long. In his letters, Sverdlov only hinted at conflict with his roommate: “I’m 
living with the Georgian Jughashvili. . . . He’s a fine fellow but too much of 
an individualist in practical matters. I am an adherent of some minimal 
order. This is a source of agitation for me at times.”54 The picture is filled 
in by other sources. According to the reminiscences of Anna Allilueva, the 
sister of Stalin’s second wife, Stalin later admitted that he found various 
pretexts for shirking his household duties—cleaning, keeping the stove 
going, etc. Sverdlov wound up stuck with all the chores.55 Khrushchev of-
fered further information:

Stalin told the following story: “We would make dinner for ourselves. . . .  
The main thing we did in the way of earning a livelihood was to fish for 
white salmon. That didn’t take any great skill. We also went hunting. 
I had a dog and called him Yashka. Of course for Sverdlov that wasn’t 
pleasant; he was Yashka and the dog was Yashka, and so then Sverdlov 
used to wash the dishes and spoons after dinner, but I never did. I would 
eat and put the dishes on the dirt floor and the dog would lick everything 
clean. But that fellow had a passion for cleanliness.”56

These differences over hygiene were bound to provoke discord, but there 
may have been other sources of conflict. The animosity that developed 
between Sverdlov and Stalin was so strong that they not only moved into 
separate houses, but also broke off contact altogether. Sverdlov wrote to 
his wife some time later: “After all, you know, dear one, what abominable 
conditions I endured in Kureika. On a personal level, the comrade I lived 
with there turned out to be the sort that we did not talk to one another or 
get together.”57

	 Soon after his falling out with Sverdlov, Stalin moved into the home 
of the Pereprygin family—five brothers and two sisters, all orphans. Sta-
lin, who was thirty-five, entered into an intimate relationship with the 
fourteen-year-old Lidiia Pereprygina. This apparently provoked an ar-
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gument between Stalin and the man in charge of guarding him, which 
escalated into a fistfight. The local police took Stalin’s side. One circum-
stance that may have worked in Stalin’s favor was that the police chief in 
Turukhansky Krai was I. I. Kibirov, an ethnic Ossetian who, like Stalin, was 
from Georgia. It is possible that Stalin and Kibirov came to an agreement 
that he would be given a degree of liberty in exchange for a promise that 
he would not attempt to flee. Stalin not only was not charged for his trans-
gression with a minor, but he was also given a new guard, M. A. Merzlia-
kov, who treated him exceptionally well.58 In 1930, when he was persecuted 
under the Soviet regime for having served in the tsarist police, Merzliakov 
turned to Stalin for help. “I am asking Com. Stalin,” he wrote, “to inform 
our village soviet that I truly did have a friendly relationship with you while 
serving in Turukhansky and did not act against you.” Stalin responded with 
a glowing recommendation: “Mikh. Merzliakov had a formal attitude to-
ward his police duties, without the usual police zeal; he did not spy on me, 
did not badger me, did not pick on me, and turned a blind eye to my fre-
quent absences.”59

	 Taking advantage of this obliging attitude, Stalin managed to arrange a 
relatively pleasant life for himself, to the extent such a thing is possible in 
the Arctic. He continued to live with Lidiia Pereprygina. There were rumors 
—though muddled and contradictory—that the two had a child together.60 
Stalin devoted his copious free time to fishing, hunting, visiting fellow exiles 
in neighboring settlements, receiving guests, and taking part in local mer-
rymaking. His financial situation stabilized enough to support his modest 
lifestyle. Most important is that his health improved. “I’m living as before. 
I feel fine. I’m completely healthy—I must have gotten used to the nature 
around here. And nature here is harsh: three weeks ago the temperature 
went to 45 below,” he cheerfully reported in a letter written in late 1915.61

	 This unusual period in Stalin’s life reveals some interesting aspects of his 
character. He was completely unfazed by the absence of creature comforts 
in this harsh environment. In Kureika, with a total of eight houses and six-
ty-seven residents, he seems to have suffered an utter absence of suitable 
conversation partners. Yet he endured this lack of intellectual stimulation 
with equanimity. Apparently he was perfectly capable of living without the 
revolution and felt no need to exercise his intellect. His opponents have long 
accused him of wasting the time spent in Turukhansky Krai. Trotsky, for ex-
ample, wrote that “Any attempt to find traces of his spiritual life during this 
period of solitude and leisure would be in vain.”62 Indeed, Stalin’s collected 
works feature not a single article written between early 1913 and early 1917.
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	 Stalin’s correspondence from this period, however, paints a more com-
plicated picture. During the first year of exile, either because he still hoped 
to escape or simply out of habit, he did try to work. He wrote a new article 
on nationalities problems and sent them to a journal. He asked his com-
rades to send him books, journals, and newspapers. In subsequent years as 
well, his correspondence from exile contained references to work on arti-
cles and his need for new books.63 But his enthusiasm was waning. In 1914, 
Malinovsky was exposed as a double agent. This was a crushing blow to the 
entire Bolshevik party, but for Stalin, who was friendly with Malinovsky and 
had turned to him for help, the revelation was especially painful. And there 
were other discouraging developments. An article that Stalin submitted to 
a journal was not published, his comrades failed to send him new journal 
issues, and he lacked the money for subscriptions. In November 1915, after 
two years in Turukhansky Krai, he explained his situation in a rare letter to 
Lenin: “My life is not great. I’m hardly doing anything. And what is there to 
do when you have no or almost no serious books? . . . I have lots of ques-
tions and topics in my head, but as for material—nothing. I’m itching to do 
something, but there’s nothing to do.”64 Stalin’s communication with the 
party leadership in emigration gradually dropped off, and he occasionally 
complained in letters that they had forgotten him. Indeed, Lenin’s requests 
in 1915 to be reminded of Stalin’s last name became well known: “Do you 
remember Koba’s last name?”; “I have a big favor: find out . . . ‘Koba’s’ last 
name (Iosef J. . . ?? We’ve forgotten).”65

	 Stalin’s situation reflected the general state of affairs in the Bolshe-
vik party. Its leadership was languishing either in forced internal exile or 
self-imposed exile abroad. Periods of hope, dreams, and failed attempts to 
activate the movement alternated with quarrels, both internally and with 
opponents from other parties. On both the personal and political front, the 
future looked gloomy for the revolutionaries. How thirty-eight-year-old 
Stalin imagined his future at this point is hard to know. Perhaps he tried 
not to think about it.
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The Bulwarks of Stalin’s Power

The day and evening of 1 March 1953 at the near dacha.  
Consternation among the bodyguards.
After his guests departed in the early morning hours of 1 March, Stalin 
most likely went to bed. He may not have felt well.1 He was aged and 
sickly. He remained in his rooms and did not, as he usually did, summon 
any guards or servants toward suppertime. As of early 1952, Stalin’s apart-
ment and dacha were protected by a staff of 335 security personnel.2 An-
other 73 attended to his non-security needs. All told, 408 people, working 
in shifts at various sites, were devoted to taking care of Stalin. Stalin spent 
a significant portion of his time in these people’s company. They walked 
behind him, stood guard under his windows, cooked, cleaned, and, if 
needed, entertained him. At the near dacha, a long corridor separated 
the staff quarters from the part of the house where Stalin lived. His rooms 
were equipped with buttons to summon staff members.
	 The deviation from Stalin’s routine on 1 March alarmed his security 
team. The guards reported to their superiors that there was no “move-
ment” within the leader’s residence. Evening approached with no signs 
of life. The sense of alarm escalated, but if they were not summoned, 
nobody wanted to check on the boss. Finally, sometime after six o’clock, 
the guards were relieved to see a light turn on in Stalin’s rooms. Everyone 
prepared for a call. None came. Anxiety again began to mount. The guards 
argued over who should go check on Stalin. Nobody volunteered.
	 Their hesitation was understandable. Of course, they had grown 
accustomed to Stalin, just as the lonely leader, for whom the hired help 
often served as a surrogate family, had grown accustomed to them. From 
time to time, Stalin and the dacha staff worked together in the garden 
or roasted shashlik in the fireplace. Sometimes he would come into the 
kitchen and lie down on the Russian brick oven to ease the pain in his 
back. But the distance that separated Stalin and his guards was much 
greater than the length of the corridor that separated their quarters from 
his. He was strict with his staff, and they knew better than to relax the fear 
they felt toward him.
	 The guards who protected Stalin and other members of the top leader-
ship belonged to a special department within the Soviet security system, 
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the Main Guard Directorate. In the early days of the regime, when the 
egalitarian romance of the revolution still lingered, Soviet leaders often 
mixed with the public. In the 1920s, Stalin’s wife could still ride streetcars, 
and he himself walked the streets of Moscow or rode in cars with no par-
ticular precautions, though always accompanied by bodyguards. In July 
1930, while vacationing in Sochi, Stalin and his wife were involved in a car 
crash. He was slightly injured when his head hit the windshield.3

	 Two months after the car crash, amid growing hysteria in the struggle 
against “enemies,” the Politburo adopted a resolution “to oblige Com. 
Stalin to immediately desist from walking through the city on foot.”4 Stalin 
did not submit to this restriction. On 16 November 1931, while walking 
down the street, accompanied by bodyguards, from the Central Commit-
tee building to the Kremlin, he happened to run into an armed agent of an 
anti-Bolshevik organization who had come from abroad. The agent was 
so surprised that he did not have time to pull out his gun before he was 
arrested. A report on the incident by the Joint State Political Directorate, 
the OGPU (the Soviet secret police of the time), was sent to Stalin and the 
other members of the Politburo. Molotov made a notation on the report: 
“To PB members. Com. Stalin’s walking around Moscow on foot must be 
stopped.”5 It is not known whether Stalin submitted to this demand. It is 
also unclear whether the encounter could have been orchestrated.
	 On his 1933 vacation in the south, several incidents appeared to place 
Stalin in danger.6 In August, his car was hit by a truck in Sochi. The truck’s 
driver was drunk, and Stalin was unharmed. Another incident took place 
on the Black Sea coast in September when a motorboat on which Stalin 
was riding came under rifle fire from the shore. The bullets landed in the 
water, and no one on the boat was injured. An investigation determined 
that rifles had been fired by border guards who had not been warned that 
a boat would be entering the protected zone.
	 The murder of Sergei Kirov on 1 December 1934 was a watershed 
moment in attitudes toward the safety of Soviet leaders.7 Using it as an 
excuse, Stalin undertook a series of reprisals against former members of 
the party opposition, who were accused of orchestrating Kirov’s murder 
and plotting other terrorist acts against the Soviet leadership. In 1936–1938, 
when terror ravaged the country, engulfing hundreds of thousands of 
lives, Stalin eliminated everyone suspected of disloyalty. The security 
apparatus was one important target of the purges, and those in charge of 
guarding the leaders also fell victim. In April 1937, Stalin’s chief of security 
was arrested and swiftly executed. Of his two successors in 1937–1938, one 
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shot himself and the other was executed. Finally, in late 1938, the unedu-
cated but efficient Nikolai Vlasik was appointed to the post.8 Stalin took a 
liking to him and kept him in the job for more than thirteen years.
	 Vlasik’s career even survived an incident that took place in Moscow on 
6 November 1942. An official car carrying Anastas Mikoyan, one of Stalin’s 
closest associates, came under rifle fire that day as it exited the Kremlin. 
No one was injured, and after a brief struggle the shooter was taken into 
custody. It turned out that he was a soldier from a Moscow air defense 
unit who was likely suffering from mental health problems.9 This incident 
was a terrible blow to the protection service under Vlasik’s command: 
an unbalanced and armed soldier had been standing in plain sight at the 
Kremlin gates for some time, waiting for an official car to come out, with-
out being questioned or apprehended. Vlasik was demoted, but the leader 
gave him a second chance. He continued to oversee Stalin’s security.10

	 Vlasik seemed to enjoy Stalin’s full confidence. He followed the leader 
everywhere, often sat down at the same table with him to eat, and was 
granted the right to photograph him. Under Vlasik, the Main Guard Di-
rectorate became a powerful and influential government agency. In early 
1952 it comprised 14,300 people and had an enormous budget of 672 mil-
lion rubles. Vlasik’s directorate was responsible not only for protection, 
but also for the maintenance of the apartments and dachas of top-level 
Soviet leaders, keeping Central Committee members supplied with con-
sumer goods, handling the transportation and lodging of foreign guests, 
and overseeing the construction of new government buildings. In 1951 
approximately 80 million rubles of the directorate’s budget went toward 
maintaining the dachas and apartments of the fourteen highest-ranking 
Soviet leaders (including expenses for protection and servants). Stalin 
was, of course, the most expensive of the fourteen. A total of 26.3 million 
rubles were spent on his apartment and dacha in 1951. This sum probably 
did not include such expenses as automobile transport.
	 Serving in the Guard Directorate was both prestigious and lucrative. 
In 1951 the average compensation for members of Stalin’s security team 
(including uniforms, housing, etc.) was 5,300 rubles per month, at a time 
when the average monthly wage throughout the Soviet Union was 660 
rubles and the average per capita income for collective farm workers was 
approximately 90 rubles per month.11 In addition to material benefits, 
Vlasik’s relationship with the leader gave him significant political influ-
ence, leading to his increasing involvement—with Stalin’s encouragement 
—in the political intrigues that roiled around the vozhd (leader). Having a 
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powerful patron and sense of impunity was intoxicating. Vlasik drank and 
enjoyed a promiscuous love life, and so did his subordinates.
	 Stalin generally tolerated such “weaknesses” as a pledge of obedience 
and devotion. Yet he was known to put his subordinates in their place, 
especially if they took too many liberties. During the summer of 1947 one 
of the waitresses at the near dacha informed Stalin that while he had been 
away, the dacha commandant and his deputy threw a party with drinking 
and prostitutes, for which they stole refreshments from the official sup-
ply. Furthermore, the deputy commandant and his female companions 
looked through papers on Stalin’s desk. On Stalin’s orders, the deputy 
commandant was arrested, interrogated at length, beaten, and shot.12 This 
incident should have served as a warning to Vlasik, but it did not. Stalin 
continued to show a fairly relaxed attitude toward his chief bodyguard’s 
morals. In 1950, on Vlasik’s own admission, Stalin reprimanded him for 
“graft” and “relationships with women,” yet he remained in favor.13

	 Vlasik’s star waned only when the aging Stalin decided it was time for 
another general purge of state security. On 19 May 1952, the Politburo 
approved a resolution criticizing Vlasik and the entire leadership of the 
Ministry of State Security’s Main Guard Directorate for “criminal dissipa-
tion and the uncontrolled expenditure of resources.” Significant cutbacks 
to the directorate’s personnel, functions, and budget followed. Some of its 
members were charged with crimes. Vlasik was expelled from the party 
and demoted to deputy head of a labor camp in the Urals,14 and in Decem-
ber 1952 he was arrested. Running the Guard Directorate fell to the USSR 
minister for state security, Semen Ignatiev.15

	 The arrests, personnel cutbacks, and reorganization of the Guard 
Directorate undoubtedly set its members on edge. None of them, fearing 
for their jobs and their lives, wanted to face the consequences that could 
come with taking initiative. For these reasons Stalin’s bodyguards were 
very reluctant to check on him on 1 March 1953, even though something 
out of the ordinary was clearly taking place.
	 The branches of state security, including the branch in charge of Sta-
lin’s personal safety, were one very important set of controls regulating 
the huge machine that historians call the Stalinist party-state. The frame-
work that held this machine together was the Bolshevik party, bequeathed 
by Lenin, but repeatedly modified to fit the needs of Stalin’s dictatorship. 
Under Stalin, the party was a rigidly centralized organization whose power 
rested on its unquestioned right to hire, fire, and reassign personnel. Over 
many years, lists of positions were compiled (“the nomenklatura”). Each 
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position came under the purview of a particular party committee, from 
the raikom (district committee) to the TsK (the party’s Central Commit-
tee). The career and fate of every official in the country depended on one 
of these party committees, and nobody, including the party functionaries 
themselves, could evade the system. Key government leaders were ap-
proved within the TsK apparat in Moscow. 
	 The nomenklatura of TsK positions was constantly growing, a reflection 
of the center’s pursuit of ever-greater control. In September 1952, half a 
year before Stalin’s death, it comprised approximately 53,000 positions. 
Those who filled these positions were the “cream” of Soviet society, 
including high-level party and state officials, top military leaders, and 
the heads of the “creative unions” such as the Writers’ Union. One step 
lower were officials in charge of important regional bodies: those holding 
nomenklatura positions within obkoms (oblast or provincial committees), 
kraikoms (krai or territorial committees), and the central committees of 
the Communist parties of the various republics that made up the Soviet 
Union. This list was also constantly growing. As of 1 July 1952 it totaled 
350,000 positions.16

	 These hundreds of thousands of functionaries were the backbone of the 
apparat and the pillar of the dictatorship. Of course Stalin never had direct 
contact with the vast majority of them. Furthermore, the party-state appa-
rat had a life of its own and was relatively free of interference from the top 
leadership. In the struggle to survive, prosper, and rise through the ranks, 
officials sought ways to get around the strict rules aimed at centralization. 
They could generally act as convenience dictated so long as the paper trail 
they left reflected adherence to the rules. Abuses of power were common. 
A number of historians, exaggerating the significance of these processes, 
have argued that the Stalinist dictatorship was unstable, and many have 
attempted to explain the worst features of Stalinism—mass repression 
especially—as arising spontaneously from below.
	 The documentary evidence offers no support for the idea of a “weak 
dictator.” We do not know of a single decision of major consequence taken 
by anyone other than Stalin. We do not know of even a brief period when 
he did not exercise dictatorial control. The dictatorship developed ex-
tremely effective methods of manipulating and pressuring society and the 
apparat, and thus Stalin had a firm grip on power and the implementation 
of key decisions. Ongoing repression and purges of personnel kept society 
and the apparat in a state of mobilized tension. The archives have allowed 
historians to assess, in fairly precise numbers, the scale of the violence 
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necessary to achieve such control. Official records show that approxi-
mately eight hundred thousand people were shot between 1930 and 1952.17 
The number who perished as a result of the regime’s actions, however, 
was much higher, insofar as Stalin’s security apparat made frequent use 
of fatal torture techniques and the conditions prevailing in labor camps 
at times made them indistinguishable from death camps. Between 1930 
and 1952, some 20 million people were sentenced to incarceration in labor 
camps, penal colonies, or prisons. During that same period no fewer than 
6 million, primarily “kulaks” and members of “repressed peoples,” were 
subjected to “administrative exile”: forced resettlement to a remote area 
of the USSR. On average, over the more than twenty-year span of Stalin’s 
rule, 1 million people were shot, incarcerated, or deported to barely habit-
able areas of the Soviet Union every year.
	 Those who were shot or sent to the camps included a fair number  
of ordinary criminals. But the exceptional severity of laws and the crim-
inalization of all spheres of socioeconomic and political life meant that 
ordinary citizens who committed minor infractions or were swept up in 
various political campaigns were often classified as criminals. Further-
more, in addition to the 26 million who were shot, imprisoned, or sub-
jected to internal exile, tens of millions were forced to labor on difficult 
and dangerous projects, arrested, subjected to lengthy imprisonment 
without charges, or fired from their jobs and evicted from their homes for 
being relatives of “enemies of the people.” Overall, the Stalinist dictator-
ship subjected at least 60 million people to some sort of “hard” or “soft” 
repression and discrimination.
	 To this figure we must add the victims of periodic famines or starvation, 
which during 1932–1933 alone took the lives of between 5 and 7 million 
people. The Stalinist famine was largely the result of political decisions. In 
its campaign to break peasant opposition to collectivization, the Stalinist 
government used famine as a means of “punishing” the countryside. All 
opportunities to relieve the situation—such as purchasing grain abroad—
were rejected. Starving villages had their last stores of food expropriated.
	 We can conclude from this horrific summation that a significant pro-
portion of Soviet citizens suffered some form of repression or discrimina-
tion during the Stalin period.18 It would not be an exaggeration to say that 
an absolute majority were brutally suppressed by a privileged minority—
except that many in that minority were also swept up in the terror.
	 To achieve its goals, including the implementation of mass repression 
and the extraction of grain from the starving countryside, the regime 
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did not need its apparat to run with clocklike precision. The inability to 
achieve perfect centralization in such a vast country was compensated 
for by the widespread use of campaigns, which mostly followed a similar 
template. Campaigns were the cornerstone of Stalinist political practice. 
They all began with a set of goals and the assignment of specific tasks 
that originated with the center, usually Stalin himself. These steps were 
followed by the mobilization of the apparat to carry out the assigned 
tasks, using extraordinary methods and the total suspension of any sort of 
legality. As a result, a campaign took on the aura of a crisis, culminating 
at a point where retreat became necessary. This retreat took the form of a 
counter-campaign that eliminated some of those who had carried out the 
original campaign while solidifying its results and stabilizing the situation. 
This swinging pendulum led to the destruction of vast material resources 
and countless human lives. But within the context of the Stalinist system, 
the campaigns were an effective method of mobilizing a vast country 
toward a central goal.
	 Stalin himself did not need to exercise tight control over all party and 
government bodies in order to retain dictatorial power. It was sufficient 
to hold the main levers of power, the most important being control of the 
secret police. He understood, sooner than other Soviet leaders, that state 
security could be a valuable weapon in intraparty warfare. This was a key 
reason for his success. Once he attained control of the Soviet Union’s “pu-
nitive structures,” he never let it slip from his hands. He continued to use 
state security as an instrument of power until the day he died.
	 As we will see, Stalin devoted much time to the hands-on management 
of state security, and during certain periods—most notably during the 
Terror of 1937–1938—the majority of his time. He personally initiated all 
the main repressive campaigns, devised plans for carrying them out, and 
painstakingly monitored their implementation. He guided the fabrication 
of evidence for numerous political trials and in several instances wrote 
detailed scripts for how trials should play out. He had a passion for read-
ing the cascade of arrestee interrogation protocols that came before him, 
and the notations he made on these documents show that he read them 
thoughtfully and attentively. He often wrote commentaries and issued 
orders for additional arrests or for the use of torture to “get to the truth.” 
He personally sanctioned the shooting of many people. Some he knew 
personally; others he had never met.
	 In addition to the many “ordinary” functions that the chekists per-
formed for Stalin, they also dealt with special, “delicate” matters.19



the bulwarks of stalin’s  power40

	 On 5 May 1940, on Stalin’s orders, a special state security group ab-
ducted Kira Kulik-Simonich, the wife of the deputy people’s commissar 
for defense, Marshal Grigory Kulik, as she was leaving her house.20 She 
was secretly transported to prison, interrogated at length, and then quietly 
shot. Kulik-Simonich was the descendant of a highly placed tsarist official. 
Many of her relatives had been shot, and some had managed to escape 
abroad. She had been married before and had spent time in exile with 
a previous husband charged with illegal activities involving hard cur-
rency. The chekists who reported all this to Stalin embellished the story 
with many more transgressions, including Kulik-Simonich’s affairs with 
foreigners. Stalin advised Kulik to divorce his wife, but when the marshal 
balked, Stalin ordered that Simonich be quietly done away with. When 
Kulik discovered his wife’s disappearance, he telephoned state security 
chief Lavrenty Beria, who denied that his agency was involved. Kulik did 
not believe him and began to dig for the truth. He was summoned to the 
Central Committee, where he underwent a three-hour interrogation and 
was ordered not to “slander” state security. Furthermore, he was told, his 
wife was probably a spy who had fled under threat of exposure.21 Kulik 
relented.
	 Cases like this one, where Stalin, for political reasons, felt it was not ex-
pedient to arrest and charge people openly, were no rarity. A year before 
Marshal Kulik’s wife was murdered, in July 1939, the Soviet ambassador to 
China was killed along with his wife. Specially selected chekists beat their 
heads with hammers and then staged a car crash.22 In early 1948, the Jew-
ish civic leader and stage director Solomon Mikhoels, a popular and well-
known figure in the USSR and the West, was similarly done away with.23 
Chekists crashed into Mikhoels with a truck and presented the incident as 
an accident. The evidence leaves no doubt that this murder was also car-
ried out on Stalin’s direct orders.24 It is one of numerous acts of individual 
terror committed by Stalin.25 Such targeted killings were also perpetrated 
overseas. The most famous is the 1940 murder of Trotsky in Mexico.
	 The archives contain a huge number of documents confirming that 
Stalin routinely used the secret police to carry out arbitrary and brutal 
actions based solely on his own assumptions of guilt. They leave a clear 
impression that Stalin personally organized acts of terror that went far 
beyond any reasonable sense of “official necessity.” This homicidal aspect 
of his dictatorship obviously held special appeal for him. Immersion in a 
world of violence, provocation, and murder fed and intensified his patho-
logical suspicion. Driven by fears and a certainty that he was surrounded 
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by enemies, he felt no compunction about using violence on the grandest 
scale. These personal qualities were an important factor in the brutalities 
committed by the Soviet government from the 1920s through the 1950s.
	 Although Stalin relied heavily on state security, he never became 
beholden to it. In assigning the secret police the dirtiest work, he did not 
harbor illusions about the loyalty of his “sword of revolution” but instead 
kept his chekists in rein through periodic shake-ups and purges of their 
ranks. In a moment of candor, he confided to State Security Minister 
Ignatiev that “A chekist has only two paths—advancement or prison.”26 He 
remained true to this principle. From the 1930s through the 1950s, chekist 
organizations were subjected to waves of brutal repression. The new exe-
cutioners destroyed the old, only to later wind up in the torture chamber 
themselves.
	 For many decades historians have been arguing over the antecedents 
and causes of Stalin’s exceptional brutality. Many trace the source back to 
the 1917 Bolshevik Revolution, an event that, for Stalin, opened the door to 
power.
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2	In Lenin’s Shadow
Historians debate the extent to which the unrest in Petrograd in late Feb-
ruary 1917 was spontaneous. Some claim the demonstrations were orga-
nized by professional revolutionaries, but nobody can say with certainty 
that this was so. The revolution erupted without warning, as a result of the 
social destabilization caused by almost four years of war, and the tsar and 
his advisers did not immediately grasp the gravity of the situation. Lenin, 
in Switzerland, learned of the revolution by reading about it in Western 
newspapers. The news was also slow in reaching Stalin in Siberian exile, 
as the local authorities, apparently hoping the upheavals would blow over, 
banned their local papers from carrying reports from Petrograd.
	 The tsar’s abdication sparked widespread jubilation. His brother, Grand 
Duke Mikhail, had been named Nicholas’s successor, but he also relin-
quished the throne, thus formally ending the monarchy. Shortly thereafter, 
in early March 1917, a town meeting was held in Achinsk, where Stalin was 
exiled at the time. For some reason he was not present, but his close com-
rade Lev Kamenev played a major role in it. A telegram praising the grand 
duke’s decision was sent on behalf of those gathered.1 In 1925, when Stalin 
and Kamenev wound up on different sides in the struggle for power, Sta-
lin reminded his old friend of this warm gesture toward a member of the 
royal family, a gesture that now looked like a serious political blunder.2 It 
is unlikely, however, that Stalin felt this way in 1917. The telegram reflected 
the prevailing intoxication with hope and freedom. In this mood, Stalin, 
Kamenev, and other freed revolutionaries streamed toward Petrograd.
	 It took some time before Stalin and his fellow Bolsheviks found their 
bearings when they first were able to emerge from the underground and 
play a legitimate role in the new system. In the capital, they discovered di-
vided political power. Russia’s parliament, the State Duma, had formed a 
provisional government, composed primarily of members of liberal par-
ties that favored the creation of a Western-style parliamentary republic. Yet 
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at the same time, the Petrograd Soviet of Workers’ and Soldiers’ Deputies, 
a revolutionary body whose authority came from the support of rebelling 
workers and, most important, soldiers of the Petrograd garrison, exercised 
a significant share of actual power. The soviet was run by members of so-
cialist parties: Menshevik Social Democrats and Socialist Revolutionaries 
(SRs). These two parties were the most influential forces within the revo-
lutionary camp, and they had so far outmaneuvered the other parties, in-
cluding the Bolsheviks. The SRs and Mensheviks were the ones setting the 
revolution’s short- and long-term objectives. They considered the events 
of February a bourgeois revolution that would introduce a prolonged pe-
riod of bourgeois-democratic development. They therefore believed that 
at the initial stage, a liberal bourgeois party should hold power and that 
it was for the Constituent Assembly to determine the shape of the new 
Russia. The attainment of socialism was a distant goal. Other, more devel-
oped capitalist countries—not Russia—would lead the way toward world  
socialism.
	 At the same time, the Russian socialists had no intention of renounc-
ing the power that had fallen into their laps. They were not obtuse dog-
matists, incapable of deviating from doctrine, but realists and pragmatists, 
albeit lacking in political sophistication and decisiveness. They were well 
aware of the dangers confronting the country. Foremost among them was 
civil war and the spread of a bloody rebellion that could wreak havoc and 
take Russia to the brink of catastrophe and collapse, not for the first time 
in its history. The most eloquent symbols of this danger were the millions 
of war-weary and embittered armed men returning from the front. In 1917, 
the only responsible position a politician could take was that civil war must 
be avoided at all costs. Maintaining civil peace was the only way to prevent 
massive casualties and pave the way toward a better future. The socialists 
leading the soviet saw it as their duty to suppress revolutionary excesses 
and work with the liberals and the Provisional Government. Cooperating 
from a position of strength, they made reasonable use of their power and 
placed the highest priority on maintaining peace. The official formulation 
of this policy of compromise was: support for the Provisional Government 
so long as it advanced the cause of revolution.
	 Many Bolsheviks, usually described as “moderate” or “rightist,” en-
dorsed essentially the same approach.3 Kamenev was one of this faction’s 
leaders. He and Stalin shared a bond of long-standing friendship and party 
collaboration. In December 1912 Stalin wrote him, “Greetings friend! I rub 
your nose in an Eskimo kiss. Dammit. I miss the hell out of you. I miss 
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you—I swear on my dog! There’s nobody, nobody to have a heart-to-heart 
talk with, devil take you.”4 
	 There is nothing surprising in the fact that early on, Stalin and Kame-
nev held similar political positions. While Lenin and many other promi-
nent Bolsheviks remained in Switzerland, Kamenev and Stalin played an 
important role in leading the party in Russia. After arriving in Petrograd, 
they essentially took control of the Bolshevik newspaper Pravda and used 
it to promote a moderate agenda, based on the belief that the ascent of the 
liberal bourgeoisie to power was in accordance with the dictates of history 
and that socialism was a long-term prospect. The newspaper proclaimed 
conditional support for the Provisional Government. As members of the 
Petrograd soviet leadership, Kamenev and Stalin interacted closely with 
other socialists. The Bolsheviks were beginning negotiations to explore 
joining forces with the Menshevik left wing.
	 From the start, Kamenev and Stalin were forced to defend their stances. 
Lenin, dissatisfied with the political line being promoted by Pravda, de-
manded different slogans. Writing from emigration, he argued for a radi-
cal course, declaring war on the Provisional Government and advocating 
socialist revolution. Kamenev and Stalin worked together to parry these 
attacks. They heavily edited an article sent by Lenin before publishing it in 
Pravda.5 Most likely, they truly did not understand Lenin’s intentions and 
assumed his radicalism was simply a function of being out of touch with 
what was actually happening in the country.
	 Lenin’s position, however, was based on meticulous political calcula-
tions. Kamenev’s and Stalin’s moderate positions opened the door to co-
operation among the main socialist parties, but the cooperation never ma-
terialized. From the standpoint of the country’s well-being, cooperation in 
a joint effort to keep radicalism at bay was the only correct course. From 
the standpoint of the ultimate goal of a Bolshevik takeover of sole power, it 
was ruinous. Taking part in a coalition, even as oppositionists, would tie the 
Bolsheviks’ hands and deprive them of support from radical segments of 
the population. This was not what Lenin had in mind, and his disapproval 
ultimately sealed the fate of “rightist” Bolshevism.
	 When news of revolution in Russia reached Lenin, he was ready with 
a plan of action, carefully worked out in light of past political struggles. 
Lenin was gambling on being able to grab power before the revolutionary 
situation stabilized. His historical moment would be the period of revolu-
tionary radicalization, a period he knew well based on the experience of 
other revolutions. Even at the early, relatively moderate stage of the revo-
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lution, Lenin advanced an extreme program for which the revolution was 
not quite ready. To put it another way, knowing that a tendency toward 
radicalization would come, he was playing a waiting game. This strategy 
had obvious advantages for a party whose ultimate goal was to seize power. 
The advancement of radical goals that many saw as reckless put the party 
in a class all its own. That nobody wanted to enter a coalition with it al-
lowed it a certain freedom. A radical program also served as a means of 
crushing moderate forces within the party and mobilizing its more decisive 
elements. Finally, such a program, despite being initially rejected by the 
masses, would eventually gain wider acceptance as mounting despair and 
impatience fostered a greater acceptance of extremism.
	 Once he heard about the revolution, Lenin hastily prepared to leave 
Switzerland for Russia. Eager to enter the fray, he negotiated an agreement 
with the German authorities allowing him to travel to Russia across enemy 
territory. In so doing, he was taking a serious risk and opening himself up 
to accusations of collusion with the enemy or even espionage. But the ends 
justified the means: he needed to get to Petrograd. As soon as he stepped 
off the train, he publicly announced his plan of action.6

	 Lenin proclaimed that the Bolsheviks must refuse to support the Pro-
visional Government and fight for socialist revolution and the transfer of 
power “into the hands of the proletariat and the poorest segments of the 
peasantry”—in other words, into the hands of the Bolshevik party. The 
fledgling democracy that had come about after the February Revolution 
was never given a chance to establish itself, but for Lenin, it had already 
outlived its usefulness. The parliamentary republic had to be replaced with 
a soviet republic that, under Bolshevik leadership, would introduce social-
ist changes. For now, Lenin mentioned just a few of the most important 
changes: the nationalization of land, the transformation of large estates 
into model farms under the control of the soviets, and the nationalization 
of banks or even their merger into a single national bank. In accordance 
with these new objectives and to clearly distinguish the Bolshevik party 
from other socialist parties, Lenin proposed changing its name from the 
Social Democratic Party to the Communist Party.
	 This platform met with serious opposition, both from outside the party 
and within. Lenin was, in essence, proposing a vaguely articulated pro-
gram for the seizure of power. How would that power be used if his plan 
succeeded? What would socialism mean under Russian conditions? What 
guarantee was there that revolution in Russia would be followed by revolu-
tion in more developed countries (without which Russia would find itself 
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isolated)? Instead of answers, these questions were met with brazen dema-
goguery. For now it was clear that the Leninist course was kindling civil war.
	 According to contemporary memoirs, during one of Lenin’s speeches 
after his arrival in Petrograd, a party comrade who had once been close to 
him cried out from his seat, “That’s nonsense, the ravings of a madman!”7 
Lenin’s Bolshevik associates could not abide such an outcry, even if they 
more or less agreed with it. Yet in early April, at meetings of the leading Bol-
shevik organizations, Lenin’s ideas were voted down by the majority. Not 
only did Kamenev continue to publicly oppose Lenin’s ideas, but so too did 
Stalin.
	 The sharp reaction of political opponents outside the party apparently 
suited Lenin’s purpose. He was intentionally setting up a confrontation 
that would distance the Bolsheviks from the country’s other political forces. 
Within the party, however, he would have to calm the discord. It was not 
possible to do so by the methods Stalin would employ later. The Bolshe-
viks were not yet that party. The situation in the country—buffeted by the 
turmoil of revolution and fledgling democracy—was also different. And 
Lenin was a different sort of leader. He used a combination of hard-line 
intransigence and conciliation. A particularly important maneuver was 
the recruiting of “rightist” Bolsheviks, especially Stalin and Kamenev, to 
his side. Lenin moved cautiously, always allowing his opponents to save 
face. Instead of driving them into a corner, he promoted them to top party 
positions. In Stalin’s case, this approach worked. Whatever may have been 
going on in Stalin’s head, he quickly threw his support behind Lenin.
	 The endorsement that Lenin gave Stalin during Central Committee elec-
tions at the April 1917 party conference clearly reflects their close working 
relationship: “We have known Com. Koba for very many years. . . . He han-
dles any responsible job well.”8 This recommendation earned Stalin a spot 
on the Central Committee, yielding him more votes than anyone except 
Zinoviev and Lenin himself.9 Stalin saw, very directly, Lenin’s huge influ-
ence within the party. After some wavering, he made a firm decision to 
align himself with strength.
	 Was Stalin merely advancing his own career, or did he actually under-
stand and accept what Lenin stood for? Identifying the source of Stalin’s 
initial inclination toward “moderate” Bolshevism is of fundamental impor-
tance for anyone seeking to understand the workings of his mind. Clearly, 
the flexibility he exhibited in March–April 1917 does not fit the image of an 
uncompromising, power-hungry radical. Was his apparent moderation 
due to Kamenev’s influence? Or was he swayed by the other socialists in the 
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Petrograd soviet, where many of the Mensheviks were fellow Georgians? 
Perhaps he had not yet developed the confidence to act as an indepen-
dent political figure and felt he needed someone to follow. In that case, why 
did he not immediately fall in line behind Lenin after receiving his letter 
from Switzerland? Perhaps Stalin was genuinely “moderate” in early 1917 
but, like many others, changed under the force of circumstances. Historical 
sources offer no clear-cut answers to these questions. What we do know is 
that Stalin was not always a radical Bolshevik. His “moderation” and “right-
ism” would emerge again after Lenin’s death, when the party leaders were 
choosing the path toward socialism, down which they would lead their vast 
and isolated country.

n	 Stalin in Lenin’s Revolution
	 The escalation of Russia’s February Revolution followed a typical 
pattern. The moderate revolutionaries who found themselves in power after 
the tsar’s overthrow sought mainly to avoid civil war. But while these mod-
erates vacillated, stumbled, and missed opportunities to consolidate their 
position, the increasingly impatient masses began looking to those who 
promised radical and immediate change. In this environment, Bolshevik 
propaganda found fertile ground. Calls for immediate withdrawal from 
the war, immediate expropriation of large estates and the turning over of 
land to the peasants, and immediate worker control of industry had broad 
appeal. As often happens in times of revolution, few demanded that the 
Bolsheviks spell out just how their program would be put into practice. The 
masses were inspired by a new faith. Among the Bolshevik rank and file, 
fewer and fewer were asking their leader the difficult question: What would 
come next? Lenin led the party with amazing energy, promising that so-
cialism would somehow solve all problems. The banners of the Leninist 
party—“Most important—engage the enemy”; “We’ll see what happens”; 
and “Things couldn’t be any worse”—sum up the folk wisdom that guided 
millions to put their faith in Bolshevik promises.
	 Stalin was among the Bolshevik leaders who supported Lenin without 
demanding detailed explanations. Having cast off doubts about the suit-
ability of socialism for a predominantly agrarian country, Stalin now pro-
claimed that “It is entirely possible that Russia will prove to be the country 
that paves the way toward socialism. . . . We must reject the obsolete notion 
that only Europe can show us the way. There is dogmatic Marxism and cre-
ative Marxism. I stand on the ground of the latter.”10 The ground of “cre-
ative Marxism” proved so accommodating to Stalin’s political needs that 
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he settled there permanently. In 1917, having cast aside the apprehensions 
of “rightist” Bolshevism, Stalin set out on Lenin’s radical course toward the 
seizure of power and the introduction of socialism. He never wavered in 
this decision. The occasional inconsistencies that scholars have noted be-
tween Lenin’s and Stalin’s pronouncements are quite superficial and prob-
ably show only that Stalin had trouble keeping up with Lenin’s frequent 
tactical twists and turns. Lenin himself had trouble keeping up with them.
	 Having set his sights on seizing power, Lenin faced a changeable and 
complicated situation that made it hard to choose the right moment to 
strike. The Bolsheviks’ strategy was to maintain revolutionary momentum 
while awaiting the right moment to cross the line of legality. Overt action 
against the Provisional Government and the soviets would undoubtedly 
trigger a confrontation. The time for action had to be chosen carefully, but 
holding back also had its risks. The only way to gauge the opposing side’s 
strength was to probe its weaknesses. Furthermore, the Bolsheviks needed 
to demonstrate to the radical workers and soldiers on whom they were 
counting that they were capable of action, not just words. Bolshevik forces 
had to maintain a constant state of combat readiness through “war games,” 
one of which would turn into a real battle.
	 In early July 1917, armed soldiers, sailors, and workers took to the streets, 
marching under Bolshevik banners calling for the overthrow of the Provi-
sional Government. Blood was spilled. The Bolsheviks did not overtly take 
charge of the rebels, but few were fooled. It was crystal clear to virtually 
everyone that they were working behind the scenes to overthrow the gov-
ernment. The only question—and historians continue to debate it—was 
the extent of their involvement in planning the demonstrations. The Provi-
sional Government was able to crush these disturbances, but its efforts at 
counterstrikes proved haphazard and ineffective. The authorities launched 
an investigation into allegations that Lenin was a spy being financed by 
Germany to foment revolution. Charges that the Bolsheviks had organized 
the riots provided grounds for certain actions against them. The Bolshevik 
newspaper offices and headquarters were laid waste and shut down, and 
a few activists were arrested. The “moderate” Kamenev was among those 
arrested, while Lenin and Zinoviev remained free and went underground.
	 Stalin, less well known to the government, was not on the list of targeted 
revolutionaries. He felt so secure that he even proposed that Lenin hide 
out where Stalin was living at the time, in the apartment of his old friends, 
the Alliluevs. Stalin’s friendship with the Alliluevs was long-standing and 
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strong. In 1919 he married their daughter Nadezhda, still a teenager at the 
time.
	 Stalin accompanied Lenin and Zinoviev as they traveled from Petrograd 
to the suburban town of Razliv, where the two fugitives were concealed by 
the family of a worker, Nikolai Yemelianov, a Bolshevik sympathizer. They 
lived in a loft above Yemelianov’s shed. Later, disguised as farm workers, 
they made their way to a more sparsely populated area where they took 
shelter in a hut. In August, Lenin moved to Finland, and from July to Octo-
ber Stalin did not meet with him. Nevertheless, during Stalin’s dictatorship 
several assertions appeared claiming that he had met with Lenin not once 
but twice during this period. The main witness of these supposed meetings 
was Yemelianov.
	 Like many other revolutionaries, Yemelianov met a tragic fate. He and 
three of his sons were arrested in the 1930s. Two sons were shot, and one 
was released after Stalin’s death. The elder Yemelianov was sent into exile 
in Siberia. In June 1945, apparently grasping that offering an appropriately 
hagiographic episode for Stalin’s biography represented his best chance for 
leniency, he appealed to Stalin for permission to return to his village: “In 
1917 you saved the life of Vladimir Ilyich Lenin by arranging for me to hide 
him in a hut.”11 The appeal was shown to Stalin, and soon afterward Ye-
melianov was permitted to return to Razliv and even to work in the Lenin 
Museum established there. There is no doubt that his release was decided 
by Stalin personally. Yemelianov’s “recollection” that Stalin twice visited 
Lenin became part of Stalin’s official biography.12

	 While Lenin was in hiding in Finland, Stalin and other Bolshevik lead-
ers continued to strengthen the party ranks. In late July 1917 they convened 
the Sixth Party Congress, at which Stalin delivered speeches and generally 
played a prominent role. The political winds were starting to favor the Bol-
sheviks. Having fully recovered from the Provisional Government’s ineffec-
tive efforts at suppression, they began to strengthen their position, helped 
by Prime Minister Aleksandr Kerensky’s frequent missteps. In August, Ker-
ensky provoked a confrontation with the commander in chief of the Rus-
sian Army, General Lavr Kornilov. With Kerensky’s consent, Kornilov had 
sent some of his most reliable units to Petrograd to help secure the city after 
the unrest in July. Soon, however, Kerensky began to doubt Kornilov’s loy-
alty to the Provisional Government. In a pivotal moment of anti-Bolshevik 
dysfunction, he proclaimed Kornilov to be a mutineer. This conflict dis-
tracted attention from the Bolshevik threat. When the Bolsheviks sided 
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with Kerensky against Kornilov, they obtained the release of several of their 
activists from prison. Lenin remained in hiding.
	 In September and October, the Provisional Government’s hold on power 
was clearly weakening, as was the influence of the Menshevik and Socialist 
Revolutionary soviets that supported it. The Bolsheviks, meanwhile, grew 
increasingly active. Lenin believed that the time to revolt and seize power 
had come. Again he encountered opposition within the party to his call for 
armed insurrection, most prominently from Kamenev and Zinoviev. Most 
of the other party leaders, including Stalin, supported him. Understanding 
that his presence would help assuage doubts about the use of force, Lenin 
snuck into Petrograd. The final vote on the uprising was held at a Central 
Committee meeting on 10 October 1917. Kamenev and Zinoviev found 
themselves in the minority but did not back down. The following day they 
wrote a letter to a wider circle of members.
	 They had a strong case to make. They enumerated the weaknesses of 
Lenin’s arguments, disputing the assumption that the majority of Rus-
sians supported the Bolsheviks. They reminded their comrades of the huge 
difference between chanting popular slogans and putting them into effect. 
Furthermore, Germany was apparently prepared to reject the Bolsheviks’ 
peace terms, and Russian soldiers were clearly in no mood for a “revolu-
tionary war.” “The soldierly masses will leave us in droves.” Kamenev and 
Zinoviev rejected Lenin’s references to imminent revolutions in the West 
as hypothetical. They hoped to avoid a civil war, but such avoidance re-
quired that the Bolsheviks coexist with other political forces. Now that they 
had majority support in many soviets, the Bolsheviks needed to gain seats 
within the Constituent Assembly since “only in the Soviets will the Constit-
uent Assembly be able to find support for its revolutionary work. The Con-
stituent Assembly plus the Soviets—this is the combined type of state insti-
tution toward which we are moving.” The way events were developing, the 
Bolsheviks were guaranteed significant or even overwhelming influence  
in these legal governmental bodies. On the other hand, if they launched an 
insurrection and it failed, the consequences would be much worse than 
the aftermath of the July riots.13

	 A strategy of achieving dominance through legal and peaceful means 
was neither utopian nor farfetched, but it did not appeal to Lenin. It is hard 
to know whether he truly believed that the Bolsheviks would be crushed 
in a counterrevolution if they failed to act first, but it is certain that Lenin 
did not want his party to join a coalition or take part, even as a dominant 
force, in the legal political process. The armed seizure of power was the best 
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or perhaps the only means of avoiding a coalition with Mensheviks and  
SRs and getting rid of the Constituent Assembly, which was due to hold 
elections in a few weeks. Zinoviev and Kamenev’s proposal that the Bol-
sheviks launch a serious campaign for seats in the Constituent Assembly 
reflected the general recognition within the country of the importance of 
Russia’s new parliament. Officially, the Bolsheviks also recognized it. Sta-
lin was among the party leaders running for a seat. It is telling that on 18 
October 1917, amid heated preparations to seize power, he did not forget to 
send the Caucasus District Electoral Commission a telegram confirming 
his candidacy.14

	 Clearly concealing his true thinking and offering eloquent editorializing 
and slogans in place of practical planning, Lenin stubbornly repeated his 
call to action: it was necessary and possible to seize power by force, and 
the time had come. What would happen after the revolution? This question 
seemed to worry everyone but Lenin, whose implacable obstinacy was the 
only real argument in favor of insurrection. For a party that was not mono-
lithic but was strongly oriented toward its leader, a party that was tired of 
uncertainty and contention, Lenin’s stubbornness was decisive. Most his-
torians agree that without Lenin the October Revolution would probably 
never have happened.
	 Convinced that they were right (and not without justification, as it turned 
out), Zinoviev and Kamenev made a desperate move. Having been blocked 
from publishing in the Bolshevik press, Kamenev submitted an article to 
a small non-party newspaper spelling out the opposition’s views. Lenin 
was furious and demanded that Kamenev and Zinoviev be expelled from 
the party. Stalin was among those opposing this measure. He responded 
to Lenin by using his position as editor of Pravda to publish a letter from 
Zinoviev, along with a conciliatory editorial characterizing the incident as 
having “run its course” and stating that “overall, we remain like-minded.”15 
This is one of the few times he openly opposed Lenin on a matter of sub-
stance. What explains this mini-revolt? Was Stalin not yet free of “rightist 
illusions”? It is possible that while appearing to follow Lenin, in his heart he 
shared Kamenev’s and Zinoviev’s concerns. Other factors were probably at 
play as well, including Trotsky.
	 Lev (Leon) Trotsky had always played a prominent role within the Rus-
sian Social Democratic movement, but his ambitions were not limited to 
prominence within the party. Before the revolution, he was often at log-
gerheads with Lenin, and their mutual attacks often turned ugly. But as 
much as Lenin and Trotsky may have argued, they were also drawn to one 
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another. Both were preoccupied with the idea of socialist revolution and 
fervently believed that it would soon be possible. Both were decisive and 
fearless of risk. Like Lenin, Trotsky learned of the revolution when he was 
out of the country, in the United States. He did not manage to return to 
Russia until May 1917, but once there he immediately entered the fray. His 
talents as an orator and organizer, along with his revolutionary credentials 
(he had been one of the leaders of the soviets during the 1905 revolution), 
earned him instant recognition. Upon arriving in Petrograd in 1917, Trotsky 
immediately understood that he and Lenin were natural allies. Their alle-
giance fell into place naturally, without any negotiations. Trotsky joined 
the Bolsheviks and Lenin immediately recognized him as a strong partner, 
ready to use word and deed in an unwavering battle for power. Trotsky 
quickly found himself at the center of events. By September he was head of 
the Petrograd soviet, playing a key role in plotting the insurrection.
	 Even as they recognized Trotsky’s value to the party, Lenin’s long-
standing comrades could not have been happy about his meteoric ascent. 
To them he was an ambitious interloper. Stalin would surely have felt a cer-
tain sting of envy, if only because this rising Bolshevik star was everything 
he was not. During the fevered lead-up to revolution, when oratorical gifts 
were in demand, Trotsky could keep a crowd of thousands spellbound, 
while Stalin was a lackluster speaker. Trotsky was a brilliant and compel-
ling writer, while Stalin lacked the talent for inspiring slogans or mobilizing 
catchphrases.
	 Trotsky’s ascent prompted Lenin’s long-term comrades-in-arms to close 
ranks, a realignment complicated by Kamenev’s and Zinoviev’s dimin-
ished standing. It was during these tumultuous months that the seeds of 
the anti-Trotsky alliance were sown; they would sprout shortly after Lenin’s 
demise. Lenin must have understood the clashes taking place around him 
in 1917, but what he cared about most was party unity and, undoubtedly, a 
distribution of counterpoising power within the party leadership. He put 
up with the internal divisions. Kamenev and Zinoviev kept their posts, 
and events soon overtook intraparty strife. In the early hours of 26 October 
1917, the Bolsheviks arrested members of the Provisional Government and  
formed their own Council (or Soviet) of People’s Commissars, with Lenin 
as its chairman. Stalin was named people’s commissar for nationalities.
	 After Stalin achieved power, official Soviet propaganda proclaimed him 
and Lenin the leaders of the revolution. His political opponents, Trotsky es-
pecially, argued that his role had actually been insignificant. The truth lies 
somewhere between these highly politicized interpretations. Stalin did not 
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lead the revolution, but as a senior Bolshevik, member of the party’s Cen-
tral Committee, and editor of its main newspaper, he filled an important 
role. His choice to follow Lenin determined his place within the revolution.
	 What lessons did Stalin draw from his first experience in fighting to at-
tain power? He seems to have been greatly impressed by Lenin’s decisive-
ness, his stubborn and relentless insistence on his own program of action. 
Years later, when Stalin carried out his “revolution from above,” one of 
many crises in the history of long-suffering Russia, he fully demonstrated 
his own talent for decisive action. Borrowing from Lenin a dogged and 
unscrupulous political modus operandi, he strove to seize and maintain 
power without worrying about what effect his actions would have on oth-
ers. This principle allowed him to act with maximal ruthlessness and little 
constraint. Pushing his own revolution in the 1920s, Stalin, like Lenin, bet 
on a strategy of unrestrained radicalism.

n	 the Militarization of the Party
	 One aspect of Lenin’s ruthlessness that put him in a particularly 
strong position was his utter lack of reluctance to provoke a civil war, which 
he saw as a natural element of the transition to socialism. There was no 
reason to expect that all of Russia, to say nothing of its allies, would com-
pliantly accept the supremacy of radical Bolshevism. The unexpectedness 
of their uprising and the fatigue of the masses initially bought the Bolshe-
viks some time, but the situation soon changed. The illegitimacy of the new 
government, its crude and cynical actions, and social experiments that 
turned the existing order on its head inevitably met with mass resistance. 
The Provisional Government was toppled and replaced by a Bolshevik 
Council of People’s Commissars. In January 1918, the Constituent Assem-
bly disbanded. In March 1918, a humiliating and predatory separate peace 
with Germany was concluded. All these events paved the way toward a civil 
war that soon engulfed the country. Aligned against the Bolsheviks were 
members of the upper and middle classes (“the White movement”), per-
secuted socialists, and peasants angry over the confiscation of their crops. 
The peace with Germany also brought Russia’s former allies into the Civil 
War. War furthermore presented opportunities for ultra-radical elements 
and ordinary criminals. Peasants rose up against both the Bolsheviks and 
the Whites, and soon innumerable groups were fighting one another. The 
new wave of bloodletting unleashed by the Bolsheviks grew with amaz-
ing speed and continued more or less unabated for three years, from 1918 
through 1920.
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	 In scale and loss of life, the Civil War greatly exceeded Russian casualties 
during World War I and the February Revolution. Of the 16 million people 
within the Russian Empire and Soviet Russia who demographers estimate 
died of wounds, hunger, or disease during 1914–1922, at least half (8 million) 
perished during the three years of the Civil War. Another 2 million fled the 
country. The horrific famine of 1921–1922, largely a by-product of the Civil 
War, took some 5 million lives. By comparison, “only” slightly more than 2 
million Russians were killed in World War I (1914–1917).16 These gruesome 
statistics set Russia apart from the other countries ravaged by World War 
I. War, famine, epidemics, and civil strife persisted there twice as long and 
took a much greater toll.
	 Even these awful numbers do not fully reflect the Civil War’s horrors. 
Statistics cannot capture the pervasive misery, the numbing of human feel-
ings, and the destruction of any sense of right and wrong. Savage murders 
and mass terror became commonplace. The epidemic of savagery inevita-
bly engulfed the Bolsheviks themselves. The Civil War shaped the new state 
and largely determined its trajectory.
	 Stalin was a typical product of his time. As he did before the revolution, 
he continued to follow Lenin. Part of an exclusive group of influential So-
viet functionaries, Stalin was a member of the government, a member of 
the party’s Central Committee, and a member of the top leadership. He 
spoke with Lenin almost daily. In 1919 he was elected to the Politburo, the 
body that remained at the center of power in Soviet Russia and the USSR for 
the next seventy years, until the collapse of the Communist system. Stalin 
had his own area of expertise: smoothing relations between the Bolshevik 
center and the outlying ethnic entities that comprised the Russian Empire 
and then the Soviet Union. But as with all Bolshevik leaders, his “portfolio” 
would remain subordinate to the primary imperative of retaining power. He 
spent his time from 1918 to 1920 on various fronts. He was away from Mos-
cow so often that of the fifty-one Politburo meetings held in 1919, he took 
part in only fourteen; in 1920 he attended thirty-three out of seventy-five.17

	 His first mission on behalf of the Soviet government came in June 1918. As 
hunger swept central Russia, Stalin was sent to Tsaritsyn (later Stalingrad, 
now Volgograd) to acquire grain from southern Russia for the country’s 
starving center. This economic mission quickly turned into a military one. 
Tsaritsyn was under attack by forces hostile to the Bolsheviks. Railway lines 
connecting the cities of central Russia with agricultural areas were con-
stantly being cut. Bolshevik armed forces in Tsaritsyn were organized on 
a model that became widespread during the early stages of the Civil War, a 
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model that relied primarily on poorly disciplined and unprofessional par-
tisan detachments. Aware that no successful war could be waged without 
a regular army, the Bolshevik leaders in Moscow—primarily Trotsky, who 
was in charge of the Red Army—decided to use officers from the former 
tsarist army and place them under the control of party commissars. This 
policy met with serious resistance. Newly appointed revolutionary com-
manders had little desire to subordinate themselves to former officers, 
whom they did not trust. The feeling was mutual. Indignities and mistreat-
ment drove many officers to defect to the other side. Gradually, military 
necessity and pressure from Moscow forced the army to become more pro-
fessional and tolerant of former officers.
	 Largely thanks to Stalin, Tsaritsyn became a model of revolutionary 
guerrilla warfare. He wielded his authority as a member of the government 
and Central Committee and enjoyed unimpeded control not only over the 
civilian government, but also over the forces of the North Caucasus Military 
District, headquartered in Tsaritsyn. He found a loyal and obedient helper 
in Kliment Voroshilov, commander of Red Army detachments retreating to 
Tsaritsyn from Ukraine, which had been captured by the Germans. The two 
men shared a mutual hostility and mistrust toward trained military profes-
sionals or “specialists.” This theme often came up in Stalin’s telegrams to 
Moscow:
	 Specialists are lifeless pen-pushers, completely ill-suited to civil war.18

If our military “specialists” (cobblers!) weren’t sleeping and loafing, the 
[railway] line would not have been cut, and if the line is restored, it won’t 
be because of the military men, but despite them.19

They, as “headquarters” workers, capable only of “drafting plans” and 
submitting plans for reorganization, are absolutely indifferent to opera-
tional actions, to the matter of supplies, to the control of different army 
commanders and generally feel like outsiders, like guests.20

Our new army is being built thanks to the fact that side-by-side with 
new soldiers, new revolutionary commanders are being born. Imposing 
known traitors on them [Stalin goes on to list a number of military pro-
fessionals] disrupts the entire front.21

These comments (there are many more examples) accurately reflect Stalin’s 
philosophy of how the Soviet military should be developed. His words were 
matched by actions. Stalin dismissed the experienced officers and took op-
erational command into his own hands. His dispatches to the capital were 
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filled with glowing reports of the results brought about by this decision. It is 
difficult to imagine, however, that Stalin, who had no military experience, 
had never served in the army, and was relying on dilettantes like himself for 
guidance, was able to quickly acquire the complicated skills needed to run 
an effective military force. Common sense and revolutionary fervor could 
have taken him only so far. Indeed, the Stalin-Voroshilov partisan army was 
not able to withstand attacks by the enemy’s regular units.
	 In August 1918, after two months under his command, Tsaritsyn was on 
the verge of falling. Stalin responded to the threat of defeat with a maneu-
ver that would later become his political signature: a hunt for “counter-
revolutionary plots.” A wave of arrests in Tsaritsyn swept up former tsarist 
officers (including those currently serving in the Red Army), former tsarist 
officials, businessmen, and ordinary citizens unfortunate enough to find 
themselves in the path of the purge. A “plot” headed by an employee of the 
People’s Commissariat for Railroads, N. P. Alekseev, was alleged to be at 
the center of the counterrevolutionary movement. Alekseev was a “bour-
geois specialist,” a former nobleman and officer working for the Soviet gov-
ernment who had been sent to Tsaritsyn from Moscow on commissariat 
business. In short, he perfectly fit the preconceived profile of someone who 
would mastermind a counterrevolutionary conspiracy. The accusations 
leveled against the “conspirators” were boilerplate and not terribly persua-
sive. A case was thrown together in a matter of days, culminating in execu-
tions and an announcement in the local newspaper.
	 This incident might have been just another chapter in the annals of the 
“Red Terror” had Alekseev not been accompanied on his trip to Tsaritsyn 
by Konstantin Makhrovsky, a senior official from the Supreme Economic 
Council and a long-standing member of the Bolshevik party. In the heat 
of the moment, Makhrovsky was also arrested and imprisoned for several 
months. He was not shot, however, and eventually was released under pres-
sure from Moscow. This left an unwanted witness eager to relate what he 
had observed. The indignant Makhrovsky wrote a long report chronicling 
how things were being done in Tsaritsyn. He made it clear that the Alek-
seev case had been fabricated by members of the secret police “obsessed,” 
he wrote, “with hunting down counterrevolution.” Makhrovsky’s portrait of 
life in Tsaritsyn probably shocked some senior officials in Moscow who had 
been following the war from their offices:

Here is the picture I saw: . . . N. P. Alekseev, whose face was totally cov-
ered by a mask of blood. . . . One eye was completely closed, and you 
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could not tell if it had been beaten out of him or was just covered by 
swelling. . . . They were beating Alekseev with the butt of a revolver and 
their fists, and, after he collapsed, they trampled him with their feet. . . .
	 Returning to the gallery of types, in regard to those arrested and de-
tained by the Cheka whom I happened to see, I must make the following 
comment: most of them were arrested by chance, shot, and some time 
later notices appeared in the local paper listing those who had been shot 
as all sorts of criminals. . . .
	 Two arrestees were brought into my cell who had been held on a 
barge. One of them told me about the barge on the Volga holding 400 
people. Using a barge as a prison started during the evacuation of Tsari
tsyn. When the [anti-Bolshevik] Cossacks attacked, they put arrestees 
from prisons on one, and the assortment of arrestees was extremely di-
verse. There were 30 from a labor camp, 70 former officers, 40 members 
of the bourgeoisie, and the rest were arrested for a wide variety of rea-
sons, mostly workers and peasants. The barge packed with all these peo-
ple had only one latrine, and people had to stand in line for four hours 
and fainted. The prisoners were not given anything to eat.22

Makhrovsky accused not only the Cheka of abuses, but also Tsaritsyn’s 
political leaders, including Stalin. He provided examples of people being 
arrested for merely arguing with Stalin.23 Several months later, Voroshilov 
confirmed Stalin’s leading role in organizing the terror. “These ‘gentle-
men,’” Voroshilov said of the former officers, “were arrested [by me] and 
Comrade Stalin.”24 Having developed a taste for the Tsaritsyn approach, 
Stalin requested that it be applied in surrounding areas. On 31 August 1918 
he asked Lenin to authorize a “group of reliable people” from Tsaritsyn to 
“purge” the city of Voronezh of “counterrevolutionary elements.” The re-
quest was granted.25

	 Stalin apparently sent his request to Lenin before he heard that the pre-
vious day, 30 August, the Bolshevik leader had been wounded by an act of 
terrorism attributed to the SRs. The assassination attempt opened up new 
prospects for Stalin and the Bolshevik party overall: the Red Terror became 
official policy. In early September Stalin sent a report to Moscow on behalf 
of the leadership of the North Caucasus District outlining plans to organize 
“open, mass, systematic terror against the bourgeoisie and its agents.” In 
September and October, the Tsaritsyn Cheka, according to some sources, 
executed 102 people, of whom 52 were former tsarist army officers or for-
mer members of the tsarist security police.26
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	 Whether the scale of the terror was due to the panic triggered by military 
defeat or whether it was premeditated, the threat of terror made it easier to 
keep the unruly Red Army in line. Furthermore, the discovery of “plots” of-
fered convenient excuses for military failures and opportunities to demon-
strate decisiveness and efficiency to the top leadership. Stalin used the 
threat of growing counterrevolution to demand special powers and justify 
his refusal to subordinate himself to the military authorities in his district.
	 It is not known through what channels and in what form informa-
tion about the Tsaritsyn atrocities reached Moscow or how widely the 
Makhrovsky report and other firsthand accounts were circulated. There 
is evidence that the top leadership knew about Stalin’s initiatives. Several 
months later, in March 1919, Lenin said at the Eighth Party Congress, “When 
Stalin was shooting people in Tsaritsyn, I thought this was a mistake; I 
thought that they were shooting incorrectly.” (He did not, apparently, ob-
ject to the executions in principle, only that they were being carried out in a 
disorderly manner.) Lenin even claimed he sent a telegram to Stalin asking 
him to be careful, although no such telegram has been discovered. Another 
speaker mentioned the “famous” barge in Tsaritsyn “that did so much to 
prevent military specialists from being assimilated.”27 Apparently, Stalin’s 
executions were no secret, but he suffered no serious consequences as a 
result. The Bolshevik leaders took a relaxed attitude toward excesses com-
mitted in defense of the revolution. During the same speech to the Eighth 
Congress, Lenin even said that in the end the Tsaritsyners were right. Why 
condemn comrades over a few “holdovers of the bourgeoisie”?
	 While mass shootings did not much trouble Lenin, military setbacks 
did. As head of the Red Army, Trotsky took an implacable position toward 
the Tsaritsyn events. His feelings were influenced both by a strong personal 
dislike for Stalin and by pragmatic concerns. In his eyes, the measures 
taken in Tsaritsyn were a dangerous example of unconstrained action that 
would hinder the professionalization of the army through the institution of 
strict discipline and the recruitment of military professionals. He made his 
position clear to Lenin in a telegram dated 4 October 1918:

I categorically insist that Stalin be recalled. Things are not going well on 
the Tsaritsyn front, despite an abundance of forces. Voroshilov can com-
mand a regiment, but not an army of fifty thousand soldiers. . . . Tsaritsyn 
must either submit [to its ranking commanders] or get out of the way. 
We are seeing success in all armies except the Southern one, especially 
in Tsaritsyn, where we have a colossal superiority of forces but total an-
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archy at the top. We could get this under control in 24 hours with your 
firm and decisive support; in any event, this is the only way forward I see 
for myself.28

	 Stalin began to campaign against Trotsky. In telegrams to Lenin, he and 
Voroshilov accused Trotsky of making a mess of the front and behaving 
disrespectfully toward “prominent members of the party to please traitors 
from among military specialists.”29 He traveled to Moscow, hoping to talk to 
Lenin personally and tip the scales in his favor, but his trip was in vain. The 
leadership supported Trotsky’s efforts to consolidate the army. In October 
1918 Stalin was forced to leave Tsaritsyn. Soon thereafter, Voroshilov and 
other Stalin allies were also removed. From that point forward, Stalin took 
every opportunity to scheme against Trotsky and advance the careers of his 
Tsaritsyn comrades.
	 The experience acquired in Tsaritsyn seems to have guided Stalin 
throughout the remaining years of the Civil War. Although he was com-
pelled to recognize the party policy of recruiting military professionals, 
Stalin apparently remained hostile toward it. He had little respect for pro-
fessional military men, whom he considered politically suspect, and pre-
ferred the enthusiasm and “common sense” of true revolutionaries. In a 16 
June 1919 telegram to Lenin from the Petrograd front, he wrote with slightly 
comical bravado and arrogance: “Naval experts assert that the capture of 
Krasnaya Gorka [a Petrograd fort] from the sea runs counter to naval sci-
ence. I can only deplore such so-called science. The swift capture of Gorka 
was due to the grossest interference in the operations by me and civilians 
generally, even to the point of countermanding orders on land and sea and 
imposing our own. I consider it my duty to declare that I shall continue to 
act in this way in future, despite all my reverence for science.”30 Lenin, who 
knew that the fort had not, despite Stalin’s claim, fallen from a naval attack, 
seems to have been amused by Stalin’s swagger. He left a notation on the 
telegram: “??? Krasnaya Gorka was taken by land.”31

	 Stalin’s bravado stayed with him through the war’s concluding stages. In 
the spring and summer of 1920 he was on the Southwestern Front, where 
the Soviet-Polish War was raging and Soviet forces were facing General Petr 
Wrangel, the commander of what was left of the White Army who had moved 
beyond his main stronghold in Crimea. At first the Polish forces dealt the 
Red Army crushing defeats, but the situation soon changed. The Red Army 
went on the offensive, made its way to Warsaw, and prepared to take it. Bol-
shevik leaders were euphoric. They anticipated that revolution would not 
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only prevail in Poland, but (finally!) would also spread to other European 
countries. “Through Warsaw to Berlin!” was the watchword. On 13 July 1920, 
in response to Lenin’s question about the advisability of concluding a truce 
with Poland, Stalin wrote: “The Polish armies are completely falling apart; 
the Poles have lost communication lines and management; Polish orders, 
instead of reaching their recipient, are increasingly falling into our hands. 
In a word, the Poles are experiencing a breakdown from which they won’t 
soon recover. . . . I don’t think that imperialism has ever been as weak as it 
is now, at the moment of Poland’s defeat, and we have never been as strong 
as we are now, so the more resolutely we behave ourselves, the better it will 
be for Russia and for international revolution.”32

	 Stalin’s writings from this period are permeated with the hope that Red 
Army bayonets would coax along world revolution. On 24 July, in a tele-
gram to Lenin that treated victory over Poland as a foregone conclusion, he 
proposed “raising the question of organizing an insurrection in Italy and 
in such still precarious states as Hungary and Czechoslovakia (Romania 
will have to be crushed).”33 Stalin backed up his words with actions. On 
the Southwestern Front that had been entrusted to him, he was especially 
anxious to capture the important city of Lvov. He pressed the leaders of 
the First Cavalry, urging them to make a decisive charge, but in vain: Lvov 
evaded his grasp. The Soviet military effort was not going well in another 
sector of the Southwestern Front, Crimea. Units of Wrangel’s army were 
entrenched there, and with the Red Army busy on the Polish front, Wran-
gel undertook successful attacks beyond the peninsula. Stalin, as one of 
the main officials responsible for the failures outside Lvov and in Crimea, 
sent reports to Moscow citing objective difficulties and blaming the inac-
tion of the Red Army’s central command. He clearly felt uncomfortable as 
a military commander incapable of achieving decisive success. This failure 
was particularly mortifying given the rapid advance on Warsaw by the Red 
Army that was taking place on the neighboring Western Front.
	 But the situation soon took another sharp turn. The invasion of Poland 
bogged down, the Red Army suffered heavy casualties, and the Poles ended 
up imposing humiliating peace terms on the Bolsheviks. Defeat on the Pol-
ish front had a number of causes, one of which can be traced directly to 
Stalin. It has been suggested the Red Army spread itself too thin by carrying 
out offensive actions in too many areas at once. For example, the First Cav-
alry Army, an important force, was trying to take Lvov instead of supporting 
the troops marching on Warsaw. Not long before the Red Army’s defeat, a 
decision was made to move the First Cavalry Army west from Lvov, but it 
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was never implemented. Stalin played a part in this failure. On 13 August 
1920 he sent the Red Army Main Command a telegram asserting that the 
redeployment of the cavalry would be harmful, in that it had already begun 
a new offensive against Lvov. The redeployment should have been ordered 
earlier, he maintained, when the army was still in reserve. “I refuse to sign 
the order,” he wrote.34

	 Stalin’s refusal was probably not a major factor in the Polish debacle. In 
1920, when the reasons for the Red Army’s defeat were dissected, most of 
the blame was laid on the commanders of the Western Front in charge of 
the invasion of Warsaw. But Stalin’s willful behavior may be why he was re-
called from the front just a few days after the incident with the First Cavalry 
Army. He left for Moscow and never returned to military action. The laurels 
for victory over Wrangel that soon followed were placed on other heads.
	 The return to the capital was hardly triumphant. On top of his failure to 
achieve a decisive victory either in Lvov or against Wrangel, Stalin’s refusal 
to carry out an order could be seen as a major factor in the Warsaw defeat. 
It may have been fear that he would be cast as a scapegoat, together with 
hurt feelings, that led him to launch a characteristic preemptive attack. On 
25 August 1920, when events in Poland were clearly turning catastrophic for 
the Red Army, he submitted a memorandum to the Politburo calling for the 
creation of military reserves. On the surface, this memorandum—calling 
for a troop increase, expanded military production, and the formation of 
new units—was fully in keeping with the priorities that had dominated Bol-
shevik policy throughout the Civil War. But its real importance lies in one 
sentence: “The latest successes of the Poles have disclosed a fundamental 
defect of our armies, namely, the lack of effective fighting reserves.”35 This 
was Stalin’s attempt to place responsibility for the defeat on the shoulders 
of the army’s main leadership. He attributed great significance to this mem-
orandum and insisted on a response. On 29 August 1920 he again wrote to 
his Politburo colleagues: “I am drawing the attention of the Central Com-
mittee to the urgency of the matter of the republic’s military reserves that I 
raised . . . and which as of now (29 August) has yet to be dealt with.”36

	 Trotsky ultimately provided a condescending explanation of the situ-
ation and proposed creating a procurement council, on which he invited 
Stalin to serve. It was a clever move to invite Stalin to take on the thankless 
job of keeping the army of their impoverished country well supplied, and 
Stalin seems to have been enraged by Trotsky’s response. On 30 August he 
sent three memoranda to the Politburo, all aimed at Trotsky. In one, he 
characterized Trotsky’s response to his previous memorandum as a “run-
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around” and demanded that the Central Committee keep a closer watch 
over the military—in other words, over Trotsky.37 In a second brief but cat-
egorical note, he responded to Trotsky’s proposal that he join the procure-
ment council: “I hereby state that I cannot and, consequently, will not work 
on Trotsky’s planned procurement council.”38 To top off these hostile pro-
nouncements, he made a risky move. He proposed creating a commission 
“to investigate the circumstances of our July offensive and August retreat 
on the Western Front.”39 Given the context of his accusations of negligence 
in regard to reserves, this was a clear declaration of war against Trotsky. 
Was Stalin aware that he was indirectly attacking Lenin as well since Lenin 
had been at the forefront of those urging the Polish adventure? If, in the 
heat of emotion, he did not immediately realize this, he certainly was in-
formed of it soon enough.
	 The next day, on 1 September, a decisive showdown took place at a Po-
litburo meeting. The main parties to the conflict—Stalin, Trotsky, and their 
arbitrator, Lenin—were all present. The mood was somber. Much of the 
meeting was spent discussing the humiliating peace with Poland. Stalin’s 
military reserves proposal was taken up toward the end and essentially 
rejected. The resolution adopted recognized “Trotsky’s statement that the 
military is taking measures in the spirit of Stalin’s proposals.”40 In other 
words, steps were being taken and Stalin’s advice on the matter was no 
longer required. A special council on supplying the army was chaired by 
Trotsky and did not include Stalin, whose refusal to serve was taken with 
infuriating literalness. Equally insulting was the rejection of Stalin’s call for 
an investigation into the reasons for defeat in Poland. Lenin adamantly op-
posed this idea.
	 To the great regret of historians, no detailed stenographic record was 
kept of this Politburo meeting (or of many other important meetings). 
The only documentation is a laconic record of resolutions, a poor indica-
tor of the passions that no doubt flared, either openly or within the hearts 
of the participants. Stalin resigned his military duties. His resignation was 
accepted, depriving him of his membership in the Military Revolution-
ary Council. Trotsky’s authority and rights were confirmed, and he was 
assigned to inspect the Western Front.41 Lenin clearly took Trotsky’s side. 
On 20 September a Central Committee plenum adopted a decision to send 
Stalin “on long-term assignment to the Caucasus.” He was given the job 
of “settling relations with highlanders” and “bringing order . . . to policy 
in the Caucasus and East [Soviet Asia].”42 Perhaps this was an honorable 
exile, or perhaps it was a new and important assignment. In any case, sev-
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eral days later, at the ninth conference of the Russian Communist Party, a 
public confrontation took place between Stalin on one side and Lenin and 
Trotsky on the other. The recriminations over the Polish war that had been 
roiling in the Politburo erupted into public view.
	 At the conference, Lenin and Trotsky both spoke out against the charges 
Stalin had leveled against the commanders of the Western Front and, es-
sentially, the entire Red Army command. Lenin took personal responsibil-
ity for a large share of the strategic miscalculations and rejected Stalin’s 
call for an investigation. Trotsky made snide references to Stalin’s optimis-
tic anticipation of victory in Poland and his assurances that he would take 
Lvov.43 On 23 September, a deeply offended Stalin submitted a statement 
to the conference’s presidium. He categorically denied Trotsky’s and Le-
nin’s accusations. He reiterated his charge that the commanders of the 
Western Front were responsible for the defeat in Poland (a jab at Trotsky) 
and claimed that he, Stalin, had always advocated prudence and caution. 
“Comrade Lenin evidently is being merciful toward the command, but I 
think what is needed is mercy for the cause, not the command,” he con-
cluded caustically.44 With the benefit of currently available documents, we 
can state with certainty that Stalin was lying about his past advocacy of cau-
tion. Lenin nevertheless did not challenge him, probably because Stalin’s 
calls for decisiveness and world revolution suited his interests. Ultimately, 
all their fates hung on the success of their common endeavor, so they pre-
ferred to put this unpleasant chapter of defeat behind them as quickly as 
possible. In his call for an investigation into mistakes, Stalin looked like a 
dissident. Furthermore, everyone knew that he was as guilty as anyone. 
But as in the past, he escaped this episode generally unscathed. He left for 
the Caucasus, but several weeks later, in late November 1920, he returned 
to Moscow. Stalin’s conflicts with his colleagues during these years were 
turning into a habit. It was not a new habit, but it was becoming more pro-
nounced and deeply rooted. His behavior reflected the objective fact that 
the party was plagued by conflict spawned by principled differences and 
personal ambitions. This circumstance inevitably led to the formation of 
cliques. Stalin’s was comprised of veterans of Tsaritsyn, members of the 
First Cavalry Army, and Transcaucasians who enjoyed Stalin’s patronage 
and support. Other Soviet leaders were also assembling followers. The 
seeds of future clashes and power struggles were being sown.
	 The Bolsheviks’ first experience running the country came in a time of 
war. This factor shaped both their practical approach to governing and their 
philosophy. Experiences acquired in Tsaritsyn and Petrograd reinforced 
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Stalin’s intuitive mistrust of “bourgeois specialists” and his fear of conspir-
acies. Grain requisitions in the south and the organization of a labor army 
in Ukraine gave him experience using strong-arm tactics to steer the econ-
omy.45 The Civil War accustomed the Bolsheviks to blood and ruthlessness. 
Atrocities lost their horror.

n	 General Secretary
	 The Bolsheviks emerged from the Civil War as winners. But ex-
plaining to the exhausted country, or even to themselves, what they had 
been fighting for was no simple matter. The dream of world revolution ap-
peared to be just that, and Lenin’s idea that socialism would be immedi-
ately introduced in Russia proved catastrophically utopian, just as his op-
ponents had warned. Attempts to abolish the market system and replace it 
with direct exchange under total governmental control only furthered eco-
nomic collapse. Famine and devastation sparked massive anti-government 
protests. Huge areas were engulfed by peasant revolts. The unrest spread to 
cities, including such Bolshevik strongholds as Moscow and Petrograd. The 
rebellion by sailors of the Kronstadt garrison outside Petrograd became 
a symbol of the failures of the Bolshevik policy of militarized socialism. 
When this bastion of the 1917 revolution took up arms, “Kronstadt” became 
a highly fraught political watchword.
	 Under these circumstances, Lenin, who had a well-developed instinct 
for political self-preservation, allowed his steadfast principles a generous 
bend. In 1921–1922, Leninist socialism was replaced by the Leninist NEP 
(New Economic Policy). Many aspects of the Soviet economy reverted to 
their state before the Bolshevik revolution. The lion’s share of the economy 
remained under state control, but certain market activities were allowed. 
The use of money was restored. Peasants were allowed to sell their produce 
after paying taxes to the state. Private small industry and trade were re-
turned to private ownership (the entrepreneurs who ran small businesses 
were called “Nepmen”). Despised capitalism came to the Bolsheviks’ res-
cue, saving their country and their hold on power. Thanks to the NEP, the 
USSR came back from the brink of disaster in just a few years. But before the 
recovery could be felt, the horrific famine of 1921–1922, a direct outcome of  
the Civil War, took millions of lives.
	 Such was the backdrop to Stalin’s life during the lead-up to the death of his 
teacher, Lenin. The historical record does not offer evidence of any active in-
volvement by Stalin in discussing or deciding key problems in the transition 
to the NEP. He followed the political course set by Lenin and was a loyal and 
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true comrade. Lenin undoubtedly valued this loyalty. But after the Civil War, 
Stalin’s political prominence was hardly guaranteed. Simply being a mem-
ber of the Politburo assured him a certain degree of power. But in the Soviet 
party-political system, the degree of power a leader actually exercised was 
directly tied to the influence of the government agency he headed. From this 
standpoint, Stalin was in danger of becoming a second-tier functionary.
	 The conclusion of the war found Stalin running two agencies: the nation-
alities commissariat and the Workers’ and Peasants’ Inspectorate. Neither 
had meaningful levers of power or more than limited lobbying potential. 
At a closed meeting, Stalin himself characterized the nationalities commis-
sariat as serving a purely “agitation” purpose without any “administrative 
rights.”46 He spent very little time at this agency. In November 1921 he sub-
mitted his resignation from it to the Politburo, but it was not accepted.47 He 
did everything he could to abolish the commissariat, and in 1923 he finally 
succeeded. Even earlier, in 1922, he had managed to shed his duties with 
the Workers’ and Peasants’ Inspectorate. He exchanged these undesirable 
posts for one that was much more appealing: running the Central Com-
mittee apparat. This position moved him into the upper echelons of the 
leadership.
	 What brought about this turning point in Stalin’s political career was not 
only his talents and energy, but also a heated battle within the Soviet lead-
ership. The central conflict was between Lenin and Trotsky, but smaller 
clashes reverberated all around them. Trotsky was the only top Bolshevik 
who could rightfully claim to be a leader in his own right, not just a follower 
of Lenin. His role was more that of a partner and ally in revolution, and he 
behaved accordingly, earning himself a following within the party. At the 
end of 1920, Lenin realized that a significant portion of party functionaries, 
including some within the Central Committee apparat, supported Trotsky. 
Lenin had to respond to this challenge to his primacy. At the Tenth Party 
Congress in early 1921, after intense maneuvering and considerable use 
of his authority, Lenin made sure that his followers received a majority of 
votes. This outcome determined who would be chosen to run the top party 
organizations, and many Trotsky followers were removed from their posts. 
Stalin was one of Lenin’s key allies in this struggle. Given Lenin’s declining 
health, such cooperation took on new importance. Beginning in mid-1921, 
he was increasingly plagued by symptoms of severe cerebral arterioscle-
rosis. Headaches, fatigue, episodes of paralysis, and impaired speech and 
cognition forced him to take extended vacations.
	 Lenin’s illness and clash with Trotsky, along with the reshuffling of party 
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personnel, all helped Stalin play an increasingly important role in party 
affairs. In early 1922, this role was formalized when Stalin was appointed 
to the newly created post of general secretary of the Central Committee of 
the Russian Communist Party (of Bolsheviks)—TsK RKP(b). The job of the 
general secretary included overseeing the Central Committee apparat and 
its “leading structures”—the bureaucratic machine that carried out the will 
of the party. Two duties deserve particular mention: setting the agenda for 
Politburo meetings and deciding personnel matters. Countless mid-level 
functionaries now depended on Stalin for their careers.
	 For Stalin, the running of the party apparat was not a burden. His previ-
ous party experience and his personality made him well suited for this po-
sition. Later, even as dictator, Stalin seemed to enjoy routine bureaucratic 
work. Upon taking up the post of general secretary, he began to reorganize 
the work of the Politburo. On 31 August 1922 he announced at a Politburo 
meeting that certain institutions were tardy in submitting materials for 
consideration. A resolution was adopted to “not place any matter before 
the Politburo unless materials are submitted by four o’clock the previous 
day.”48 A few weeks later, the rule became even stricter: the deadline was 
pushed back to noon.49 Through these petty decisions Stalin was gradually, 
and with increasing confidence, shaping how the party apparat was run.
	 Some interesting accounts survive of how this tendency was perceived 
within the apparat. Stalin’s assistant, Amaiak Nazaretian, regularly corre-
sponded with Sergo Ordzhonikidze, Stalin’s old friend who was working 
in Transcaucasia in the early 1920s.50 This correspondence has been pre-
served in Ordzhonikidze’s archive. In the letters written during the summer 
of 1922, Nazaretian described his work under Stalin:

Am I happy with my job? Yes and no. On one hand, I’m getting quite an 
education here, I know what’s going on in international and Russian life, 
and I’m being schooled in discipline, developing precision in my job. . . .  
On the other, this work is purely paper pushing, painstaking, not very 
satisfying from a subjective standpoint; it’s menial work that takes such 
tremendous amounts of time that you can’t sneeze or squirm, especially 
under Koba’s firm hand. Do we get along? We do. . . . You can learn a lot 
from him. Now that I’ve gotten to know him, I have extraordinary respect 
for him. . . . Under his stern demeanor is an attentiveness to those he 
works with. We’re creating order in the TsK.

Koba has really got me trained. . . . He’s really cunning. Hard as a nut, 
it takes a while to understand what he’s up to. . . . Despite his well-rea-
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soned savagery of temperament, if I can put it that way, he is soft, he has 
a heart, and he knows how to appreciate people’s dignity. . . . Now, the 
work of the TsK has really changed. What we found here was indescrib-
ably awful. Now we’ve shaken things up.51

Nazaretian felt Stalin was tremendously significant: “Ilyich has fully recovered. 
. . . Yesterday, Koba went to see him. He has to keep a watchful eye over 
Ilyich and all of Mother Russia”; “Ilyich undoubtedly has a trusty Cerberus 
in him, fearlessly standing guard at the gates of the TsK RKP.”52 Nazaretian’s 
letters provide important details on how Stalin was perceived within the 
Bolshevik bureaucratic community. In Moscow, according to Nazaretian, an 
expression came into fashion: “to be going under Stalin.” This referred to offi-
cials who had been summoned to Moscow from their previous posts but had 
not yet been assigned new jobs and were “hanging, so to speak, in the air.”53

	 Such was Stalin as he appeared to his assistant early in his tenure as 
general secretary. Obviously, these descriptions carry an element of exag-
geration, the admiration of a loyal secretary toward his boss. But the intel-
ligent and observant Nazaretian was conveying a certain mood within the 
apparat. Many members of the bureaucracy began to perceive Stalin as an 
experienced and confident bureaucrat who held secure positions within 
the hierarchy. He was coolheaded, but he could be stern and unbending 
in standing up for his interests and opinions. At a time when the world of 
the Bolshevik bureaucracy was increasingly fracturing into patron-client 
cliques, these qualities drew him quite a few supporters.
	 In Nazaretian’s letters, Stalin is perceived within the party as Lenin’s 
loyal comrade, his pillar in times of political strife. And this view was largely 
accurate. Long years of collaboration, marred by only a few instances of 
discord, had created a strong bond between Lenin and Stalin. One Bolshe-
vik left behind an eloquent memoir of a meeting between Lenin and Stalin 
in September 1921 in the latter’s apartment. A difficult squabble among top 
officials in Petrograd was being settled. Lenin tried to reconcile the feuding 
parties while Stalin paced the room smoking his pipe. At one point, Lenin 
looked at Stalin and said, “That’s an Asian for you—all he does is suck on 
his pipe!” Stalin knocked the pipe right out of his own mouth.54 This playful 
manner went beyond the boundaries of the boss-subordinate relationship. 
For Lenin, Stalin was a comrade-in-arms with whom relations were warm 
enough to allow for teasing. It is difficult to imagine that he would take such 
liberties with Trotsky, with whom he maintained a stiff, official manner, 
using the polite pronoun vy for “you” rather than the familiar ty.
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	 On 30 May 1922, an incident occurred that further attests to the close 
relationship between Lenin and Stalin. Lenin, who was ill and facing the 
prospect of paralysis, summoned Stalin to Gorki, his residence outside 
Moscow. He asked Stalin to procure poison so that he could have the op-
tion of taking his own life when the time came. Stalin immediately told 
Lenin’s sister, Maria Ilinichna Ulianova, and Nikolai Bukharin, who then 
happened to be staying at Gorki, about this request.55 According to Maria 
Ulianova’s memoirs, they decided together to try to boost Lenin’s spirits. Sta-
lin went back to him and told him that the time to carry out his intention had 
not yet come, and the doctors were promising he would get better. Lenin, 
in Ulianova’s account, “became noticeably more cheerful and consented, 
although he asked Stalin, ‘Are you being deceitful?’ ‘When have you ever 
seen me be deceitful?’ Stalin replied.”56

	 Lenin showed his concern for Stalin in several ways. While seriously ill 
in Gorki in June 1922, Lenin sent a recommendation to Moscow: “Require 
Com. Stalin, through the Politburo, to spend one day per week, beside Sun-
day, entirely at his dacha outside town.” The Politburo adopted the resolu-
tion.57 In August, after Lenin’s health improved, Stalin visited him regularly 
in Gorki. According to Maria Ulianova’s memoirs, “Ilyich greeted him in a 
friendly manner, with jokes and laughter, and urged me to be hospitable 
to Stalin and bring him wine, etc.”58 Later, when he himself was in power, 
Stalin adopted Lenin’s manner of showing concern for his subordinates.
	 Harmony between Lenin and Stalin lasted until the fall of 1922.

n	 Quarrels with the Teacher
	 Lenin’s illness had tremendous political ramifications. The party, 
which was structured around a single leader, was vulnerable. The Politburo 
was forced to begin thinking about Lenin’s successor. The “troika” of Zino-
viev, Kamenev, and Stalin was growing in influence in its contest with its 
main opponent, Trotsky. This face-off was actually an outcome of Lenin’s 
tactic of isolating Trotsky, but with Lenin’s illness, Trotsky’s isolation served 
to strengthen the troika, a dangerous prospect in Lenin’s eyes. Hoping for 
a recovery from illness, Lenin attempted to shift the balance of power, and 
Stalin was the easiest target.
	 A conflict over the program for uniting the Soviet republics can be seen 
as the starting point of Lenin’s efforts. The Civil War had created a unified 
state, but in the second half of 1922 it was decided to make this union offi-
cial by publicly announcing the principles on which the new state would 
be built. For the most part, the Bolshevik leadership saw eye to eye on this 
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issue. Nobody entertained thoughts of breaking up what had been the Rus-
sian Empire or granting real autonomy to any areas under Moscow’s con-
trol. There were arguments over the form the new union would take and 
the degree of independence various Bolshevik entities would enjoy, but all 
parties to the decision were expected to submit to the discipline of a uni-
fied party.
	 Stalin was open about his position. He proposed that the real state of 
affairs and Moscow’s true intentions be codified in the constitution with-
out undue ceremony or diplomacy. He favored bringing all the major re-
publics (Ukraine, Belarus, Georgia, Azerbaijan, and Armenia) and the 
smaller ethnic entities into the Russian Federation with certain rights of 
autonomy. Overall, this proposal was in full accord with the party line and 
was supported by most party officials, in both Moscow and the ethnic re-
publics. Stalin was probably surprised when Lenin opposed his proposal 
and advanced his own plan to proclaim a union of “independent” Soviet 
republics—even though the Bolshevik leader had no intention of granting 
genuine independence. The motives for Lenin’s position are difficult to 
pinpoint. Perhaps he was responding to dissatisfaction with Stalin’s pro-
gram among Georgian and some Ukrainian party leaders. Perhaps, with 
his illness receding, he simply saw this as a good opportunity to reenter the 
political fray.
	 In September 1922 Lenin began promoting his program. He criticized 
Stalin for being too hasty, an assessment that must have stung. Stalin re-
sisted and made a fighting retreat, accusing Lenin of “national liberalism.”59 
His feelings are easy to understand: he had been put in a humiliating po-
sition and was forced to change a stance that he had put a lot of energy 
into advocating. But he chose not to do serious battle with Lenin. On 28 
September, an interesting exchange of notes took place between Kamenev 
and Stalin during a Politburo meeting:

Kamenev: Ilyich is ready to go to war to defend independence. . . .
Stalin: I think we need to stand up to Ilyich. . . .
Kamenev: I think so long as Vladimir Ilyich is insistent, we’d be worse 

off resisting.
Stalin: I don’t know. Let him do as he sees fit.60

Stalin relented. He knew Lenin well and appreciated how powerful he still 
was.
	 In October–December 1922 a conflict surrounding the question of mo-
nopolizing foreign trade followed a similar script. At a plenum on 6 Octo-
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ber, a majority within the Central Committee voted to somewhat loosen the 
monopoly. Lenin, who was away from Moscow, took a stand against the 
liberalization. Stalin, who supported the 6 October decision, was slow to 
relent and expressed reservations. Lenin undoubtedly was not pleased.
	 This dispute ended with a move by Lenin that Stalin must have found 
extremely upsetting. On the issue of monopolizing foreign trade, Lenin de-
monstratively brought Trotsky out of disfavor and recruited him as an ally. 
Lenin had often resorted to this sort of maneuver—exploiting the conflicts 
ever-present at the upper echelons of the party. Now, however, the circum-
stances were different. Lenin was seriously ill, and the jockeying for power 
and influence was greatly intensified. To the alarm of Stalin, Kamenev, and 
Zinoviev, whose influence had been growing, Lenin proposed that Trotsky 
continue to work with him. On 21 December 1922, immediately after a Cen-
tral Committee plenum voted to uphold his opposition to liberalization, 
Lenin dictated a note to Trotsky, employing his wife, Nadezhda Krupskaia, 
as stenographer: “It seems that we’ve captured the position without firing 
a single shot, using a simple maneuver. I propose that we not stop here 
and continue the offensive.” Lenin advised Trotsky to raise the question of 
foreign trade at the upcoming party congress and also to speak at the Con-
gress of Soviets.61 Such a move would discredit Lenin’s opponents, includ-
ing Stalin, before a large assembly of party functionaries.
	 Trotsky immediately got to work and telephoned Kamenev, who told 
Stalin about the call. Stalin refused to carry out Lenin’s instructions to 
put Trotsky’s speech on the schedule of the Congress of Soviets. He also 
called Krupskaia and reprimanded her for taking down and sending the 
letter to Trotsky. Apparently the reprimand was rather indelicate, or at least 
it seemed so to the overburdened and high-strung Krupskaia. In theory, 
Stalin had a legitimate grievance against Krupskaia. Just a few days previ-
ously, on 18 December, the Central Committee plenum had voted to limit 
contact with Lenin, who had suffered another health setback. “Personal re-
sponsibility shall be placed on Com. Stalin to isolate Vladimir Ilyich both 
in regard to face-to-face dealings with officials and correspondence.”62 
Krupskaia had violated this directive. But Stalin had also crossed the line 
with his emotional outburst. The troika saw Lenin’s appeal to Trotsky as 
dangerous and provocative.
	 Realizing his mistake, Stalin apologized to Krupskaia. Judging by Maria 
Ulianova’s memoirs, he also made an attempt to reconcile with Lenin. He 
met with Ulianova and told her how upset he was about being estranged 
from him:
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I couldn’t sleep at all last night. . . . What does Ilyich think of me, how 
does he feel about me! As if I were some sort of traitor. I love him with all 
my heart. Find a way to tell him that.

But Lenin was implacable. Ulianova offers the following description:

Ilyich called me in to see him for something, and I told him, among 
other things, that his comrades send their respects. . . . “And Stalin asked 
me to send you his heartfelt regards and asked me to say that he truly 
loves you.” Ilyich grinned and remained silent. “So should I send him 
your regards?” I asked. “You can send them,” Ilyich replied rather coldly. 
“But Volodia,” I continued. “He is, after all, very smart, Stalin.” “He’s not 
smart at all,” Ilyich replied firmly, wincing.63

Ulianova does not say exactly when this conversation with her brother took 
place, but it was almost certainly in late 1922 or early 1923, when relations be-
tween Lenin and Stalin were deteriorating and threatened to rupture com-
pletely. On 24 December Lenin dictated a document to his secretary—the 
well-known “Letter to the Congress”—in which he expressed apprehension 
about divisions within the party’s top leadership. Regarding Stalin, this docu-
ment states, “Com. Stalin, now that he is general secretary, has concentrated 
immense power in his hands, and I am not sure whether he will always be 
capable of exercising this power with sufficient caution.”64 In another letter, 
dictated on 4 January, Lenin was even more categorical. He proposed remov-
ing Stalin from the post of general secretary because he was “too rude.”65

	 Lenin’s growing irritation was the backdrop against which the “Geor-
gian Affair” unfolded. This episode involved a dispute between a group of 
Georgian Bolsheviks and the leadership of the Transcaucasian Federation, 
which comprised Georgia, Armenia, and Azerbaijan. The conflict was not 
with the entire federation leadership but with its head, Ordzhonikidze. 
The friendship between Stalin and Ordzhonikidze would certainly have 
influenced the general secretary’s stance on the matter. The Georgian Bol-
sheviks, with variable success, were inundating Moscow with complaints 
about Ordzhonikidze’s heavy hand. In late 1922 Ordzhonikidze gave his 
opponents more ammunition against him: in a fit of anger, he struck one 
of his adversaries. A commission headed by Feliks Dzerzhinsky was sent 
from Moscow to investigate.66 Lenin took a great interest, and when the 
commission turned in a report favorable toward Ordzhonikidze, he was 
not pleased. He believed that Dzerzhinsky and Stalin were covering for Or-
dzhonikidze and being unfair to his beleaguered accusers.
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	 If it had not been for the clash between an ailing Lenin and his increas-
ingly powerful followers, the Georgian Affair would have remained a bu-
reaucratic squabble of the sort that was commonplace within the Bolshevik 
party, especially early on, when their government had yet to achieve a sta-
ble footing. In Transcaucasia, infighting among competing groups contin-
ued for many years. It was Lenin who elevated this incident—artificially, 
one could argue—to the level of fundamental political principles since it 
gave him a pretext for attacking his ambitious associates. Though ill, Lenin 
was still prepared to fight for control of the party and was obviously looking 
for a way to quell the dissent that threatened to undermine his power. He 
saw Stalin as the symbol of that dissent.
	 All the evidence suggests that Lenin spent the winter of 1923 preparing 
to launch an attack against Stalin at the Twelfth Party Congress, scheduled 
for March. On 5 March 1923, having assembled the necessary materials, he 
again approached Trotsky with a proposal that they collaborate: “Dear Com. 
Trotsky! I would like to ask you to take on the defense of the Georgian Affair 
within the party’s TsK. This matter is currently being ‘pursued’ by Stalin 
and Dzerzhinsky, and I cannot rely on their impartiality. Quite the con-
trary. If you agreed to defend it, I could rest assured.”67 That same day, 5 
March, Lenin dictated a note addressed to Stalin in regard to an old matter 
—the reprimand Stalin had made against Krupskaia in December 1922. The 
note was curt. Lenin threatened to sever their relationship: “Dear Com. 
Stalin! You were so ill-mannered as to call my wife to the telephone and 
scold her. . . . I have no intention of so easily forgetting what has been done 
against me, and it goes without saying that what has been done against my 
wife is also done against me. I therefore ask you to weigh whether you are 
amenable to taking back what was said and apologize or you prefer to break 
off relations with me.”68

	 The appearance of this letter, written two and a half months after Stalin’s 
reprimand, has generated many hypotheses among historians. Perhaps 
Lenin had only just learned of Stalin’s telephone call to Krupskaia. It ap-
pears more likely, however, that Lenin saw the incident as an excuse for 
removing Stalin from the post of general secretary, a possibility proposed 
by Robert Tucker.69 All of Lenin’s objections to Stalin emphasized the same 
point: he was too rude. Such a charge was much more persuasive and 
clear-cut than any of the other possible complaints he might have lodged. 
Rudeness toward party comrades was completely inappropriate for some-
one holding the post of general secretary.
	 The following day, 6 March, Lenin again wrote about Stalin’s abrasive 
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manner. He dictated several lines to the beleaguered Georgian Bolsheviks, 
instructing that copies of the note be sent to Trotsky and Kamenev. Kame-
nev was scheduled to travel to Georgia and was asked to deliver the note 
personally. “Dear Comrades!” Lenin wrote. “With all my heart I am follow-
ing your case. I am outraged by Ordzhonikidze’s rudeness and the conniv-
ances of Stalin and Dzerzhinsky. I am drafting a memorandum and speech 
for you.”70

	 To the Politburo, the meaning of Lenin’s actions was clear: he had de-
clared war on Stalin. Shortly before leaving for Georgia, Kamenev wrote to 
Zinoviev that Lenin wanted not only reconciliation in Transcaucasia, “but 
also certain organizational expulsions at the top”—Soviet administrative 
jargon for firings.71 Stalin could sense the approaching storm. On 7 March 
he received Lenin’s ultimatum threatening to sever relations. He immedi-
ately responded with a half-hearted apology: “Although if you feel that to 
maintain ‘relations’ I have to ‘take back’ the words that I said . . . I can take 
them back, but I really can’t understand what the point is, where my ‘guilt’ 
lies, and just what it is they want from me.”72 That same day Stalin sent a 
strictly confidential letter to Ordzhonikidze. He warned him that Lenin had 
sent a letter of support to Ordzhonikidze’s opponents. Stalin urged cau-
tion: “Reach a compromise . . . that is natural, voluntary.”73 This letter to 
Ordzhonikidze clearly shows that Stalin appreciated the seriousness of the 
situation and was maneuvering to deprive Lenin of ammunition.
	 Until this decade, the authenticity of Lenin’s dictated correspondence 
and accounts of the actions he took against Stalin have never been called 
into question. Recently, however, there have been attempts to demonstrate 
that evidence of a rupture between the two men was fabricated.74 With no 
real evidence beyond an assumption of Stalin’s infallibility, some revision-
ists have proposed that evidence of Lenin’s doubts about Stalin were man-
ufactured and placed in Lenin’s archives by followers of Trotsky!
	 The strongest evidence of the authenticity of Lenin’s dictated correspon-
dence from this period is that nobody among Lenin’s comrades-in-arms, 
including Stalin himself, had any doubts about it. Stalin certainly had both 
the cunning and wherewithal, given his control over the apparat and in-
fluence within Lenin’s inner circle, to avoid falling victim to a forgery. He 
understood the danger of Lenin’s “testament” and went to great pains to 
neutralize any evidence that he did not enjoy Lenin’s full confidence.
	 There is no question that Lenin took steps against Stalin during the final 
weeks of his active life. The reasons are another matter. We must consider 
not only the intentions and motives of a masterful politician, but also the 
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role played by his sense of imminent death. “Lenin’s last struggle,” as Moshe 
Lewin has called it, is a clear manifestation of his single-minded will toward 
political domination and power—his primary personality trait.75 Illness did 
not break this will but, if anything, intensified it. One can only marvel at 
the persistence of Lenin, racked by agonizing physical and emotional suf-
fering, as his dogged ascent to power was interrupted by forced intervals 
in the background. The struggle for power sustained him, energized him, 
and gave purpose to his battle against affliction. This was not the first time 
he had taken up a challenge from a comrade-in-arms, but the gravity of his 
illness in 1922–1923 lent any such challenge a new and urgent significance.
	 From the standpoint of “the technology of power,” Lenin’s maneuvers 
in late 1922 and early 1923 relied on the same sources of strength that had 
carried him through earlier clashes: his unquestionable authority among 
party functionaries and rivalries among party leaders (primarily between 
Trotsky and the troika). That Stalin bore the brunt of Lenin’s manipulations 
appears to be largely a matter of chance. The positions he took in regard to 
the organization of the USSR and the Georgian Affair represented political 
miscalculations and turned out to be poorly timed. Finally, he insulted the 
wife of the ailing leader, exhibiting behavior unbecoming a Bolshevik. Sta-
lin had stepped under the sword himself and so provided Lenin a perfect 
opportunity to reassert his political authority and subdue other Bolshe-
vik leaders. Lenin probably had no intention of removing Stalin from the 
party’s upper echelons. Such a move would have thrown a wrench in the 
mechanism he used to maintain power. Within that mechanism, Stalin was 
the perfect counterbalance to the ambitions of other Bolshevik leaders, as 
well as an irreplaceable administrator. Lenin’s actions were part of a rebal-
ancing that required a dialing back of Stalin’s power.
	 This context is important in understanding Stalin’s reactions to the 
disfavor being shown him by his teacher. Stalin had every reason to feel 
genuinely hurt. When all was said and done, his sins were no worse than 
those he and other Soviet leaders had committed in the past. All Bolshevik 
leaders contradicted and argued with Lenin, and like Stalin, they all even-
tually relented. Sometimes Lenin punished these transgressions by remov-
ing their perpetrators from the center of power, but he later brought them 
back into the fold. Lenin usually punished his subordinates out of public 
view to avoid wounded pride. What was different now? What was behind 
such a provocative and demonstrative move against a man who had served 
Lenin so loyally? Stalin apparently found the most convenient explanation 
for this lashing out, both psychologically and politically, in Lenin’s illness.
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	 As it turned out, the letter to the Georgian Bolsheviks was the last doc-
ument Lenin dictated. Several days later, his health took a sharp turn for 
the worse. He did not speak at the party congress; the Politburo swept the 
Georgian Affair under the carpet and later abandoned the idea of removing 
Stalin as general secretary. These decisions were not charity on the part 
of Stalin’s “friends.” They were the outcome of a fierce power struggle that 
began during Lenin’s final months and continued into 1924.

n	 Trying Out Collective Leadership
	 Although he managed to avoid the more serious dangers posed 
for him by the political game Lenin was playing during his final months of 
leadership, Stalin found himself somewhat weakened and thus more de-
pendent on his Politburo colleagues. It is a commonly held view that the 
Bolshevik oligarchs who inherited power after Lenin’s demise underesti-
mated Stalin and believed him to be harmless and mediocre. This is not 
true. The members of the Politburo fully appreciated Lenin’s concerns 
about Stalin and the power he held as general secretary, and they tried to 
limit this power. But political happenstance and, to no small degree, Sta-
lin’s skillful maneuvering undermined the plans of his rivals and enemies.
	 The first serious conflict that we know of within the Politburo’s tightly knit 
opposition to Trotsky occurred during the summer of 1923. After the party 
congress, the successful neutralization of Lenin’s attack, and the country’s 
return to relative stability after the horrific famine, Politburo members re-
gained enough peace of mind to take a vacation. In July 1923, while resting 
in the North Caucasus resort town of Kislovodsk, Grigory Zinoviev came 
up with a scheme to shift the balance of power within the Politburo to limit 
Stalin’s influence. In a 30 July letter to Kamenev, who was in Moscow, he 
launched into a tirade against Stalin: “If the party is destined to go through 
a stretch (probably a very short one) of Stalin’s sole power—so be it. But I, 
for one, have no intention of covering up this swinishness. . . . In reality, 
there is no troika, there is only Stalin’s dictatorship. Ilyich was a thousand 
times right. Either a serious way out has to be found, or a long stretch of 
struggle is inevitable.”76

	 Although the letter contained no detailed plan, it charged that Stalin was 
manipulating the Politburo and essentially making unilateral decisions. It 
is important to note the line “Ilyich was a thousand times right”: Zinoviev 
was using Lenin’s letters as ammunition against Stalin. In Kislovodsk, he 
discussed joint action with Bukharin, who was also upset by some of Sta-
lin’s moves, and with other prominent party figures who were vacationing 
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in the south. No specific proposals were entrusted to paper, but Stalin was 
sent a “spoken letter” (Ordzhonikidze, who was leaving for Moscow, was 
supposed to convey a message). Because this communication was oral, we 
do not know in detail what was proposed. From statements made in sub-
sequent years, it appears that the plan involved reorganizing the Central 
Committee secretariat. Stalin would remain a member, but Zinoviev and 
Trotsky would also be included. This reorganization would have created a 
new balance of power in Stalin’s fiefdom: the Central Committee apparat.
	 Stalin, not surprisingly, was indignant, perhaps even furious. He re-
sponded to the grievances of his “friends” with a show of hurt feelings and 
accusations of their undermining unity. On 3 August 1923, immediately 
after meeting with Ordzhonikidze, he wrote to Zinoviev and Bukharin: 
“Evidently you’re not hesitant to make ready for a break, as if it were 
inescapable. . . . Do as you wish—there must be some people in Russia who 
will see that for what it is and condemn the guilty. . . . But what fortunate 
people you are: you’re able to dream up all sorts of fairy tales at your leisure 
. . . while I’m stuck here like a chained dog and turn out to be ‘guilty’ to boot. 
You can tell anyone you want. All that soft living has gone to your heads, my 
friends.”77

	 This half-angry, half-friendly letter attests to Stalin’s relatively limited op-
tions in opposing his colleagues. For their part, Zinoviev’s and Bukharin’s 
proposals signaled that they still felt they could limit Stalin’s influence. 
They were not impressed by Stalin’s expression of injury. Calmly but firmly 
they let him know that the matter was not settled. Soon they would be able 
to meet face to face in the south, where Stalin was planning to vacation in 
mid-August.
	 Stalin could not have relished this prospect. His opponents held all the 
cards. Their proposal to reorganize the secretariat so as to promote unity 
and cohesion seemed perfectly reasonable. Stalin’s objections would ap-
pear to confirm Lenin’s warnings that he did not want to work as part of a 
team. Zinoviev’s accusation that Stalin was violating the principle of col-
lective leadership also put him in an awkward position. And another idea 
advanced by Zinoviev and Bukharin could prove particularly dangerous—
that Stalin’s position on events in Germany was “incorrect.”
	 The political crises that had shaken Germany since early 1923 had re-
awakened Moscow’s dream of salvation through European revolution. For 
the Bolsheviks, who still had trouble imagining a future for the USSR if it 
remained the only socialist bastion, socialism in Germany would be a great 
relief. But they took warning from the European revolutionary movements’ 



in lenin’s  shadow 77

recent defeats. Stalin was among the Bolshevik leaders who urged restraint, 
while Zinoviev and Bukharin were eager to do battle, as was Trotsky, for 
whom world revolution remained a precondition for the victory of social-
ism in Russia. Realizing that his cautious approach was becoming politi-
cally dangerous and gave his rivals ammunition against him, Stalin made 
an effective political move. On 9 August 1923, amid frantic letter writing 
with Zinoviev and Bukharin, he placed a resolution before the Politburo 
summoning Zinoviev, Trotsky, and Bukharin back to Moscow to discuss 
the prospects for revolution in Germany. Naturally, all three agreed. The 
meeting was set for 21 August.
	 This change of plans gave Stalin important advantages. He deflected 
charges that he was not sufficiently attentive to revolutionary develop-
ments in Germany. Also, the question of reorganizing the secretariat and 
the collective leadership was pushed off the agenda by the more urgent 
German problem. Stalin had managed to disrupt Zinoviev’s and Bukharin’s 
offensive and had forced them to follow a new script. After gathering in 
Moscow on 21 August, the Politburo heatedly and enthusiastically dis-
cussed the impending German revolution, the assistance the USSR would 
provide, and the possible responses by European powers. Everyone agreed 
that war was imminent. Supporting his colleagues’ optimism, Stalin stated: 
“If we really want to help the Germans, and we do want that and must help, 
we have to prepare for war seriously and thoroughly, since in the end it will 
be a matter of the existence of the Soviet Federation and of the fate of world 
revolution in the near future. . . . Either the revolution in Germany will col-
lapse and they will beat us, or revolution will succeed there and everything 
will go well, and our situation will be assured. There is no other option.”78

	 Here we see that Stalin and other Bolshevik leaders still shared the opin-
ion that the USSR’s fate was tied to the fate of world revolution, although the 
extent of this interdependence was not discussed in detail. What exactly did 
Stalin mean by “they will beat us” or “our situation will be assured”? What 
would this “beating” entail, and just what kind of assurance did he expect? 
These appear to be empty phrases, a nod to Marxist orthodoxy. When it 
came to tactical questions, he still sounded cautious and skeptical. He re-
fused to support Trotsky and Zinoviev’s proposal to set an exact date for  
the German revolution, believing it was better to make preparations and 
await the right moment. He also warned against hasty “leftism”: “Concern-
ing the [German Communist] leftists. They are the most dangerous people 
for us. A premature takeover of factories, etc., would hold great dangers 
for us.”79 On the question of setting an exact timetable for revolution, he 
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wound up in the same camp as Bukharin and Aleksei Rykov.80 The latter 
was the most consistent adherent of caution: “It is completely clear that 
everything is being bet on this one card. We are absolutely not ready. . . . 
We have to back off.”81

	 With war supposedly looming, the reorganization of the secretariat 
must have seemed inconsequential. We do not know how and when this 
issue, which just two weeks earlier had seemed vitally important, was fi-
nally resolved—probably some agreement was reached in the corridors 
during breaks between meetings devoted to Germany. As a result, in Sep-
tember 1923 a rather pointless decision was made: Zinoviev and Trotsky 
were made members of the Central Committee’s Organizational Bureau 
rather than the secretariat. This move would do nothing to solve the orig-
inal problem—Stalin’s excessive control over decision making, to which 
Zinoviev and Bukharin had so hotly objected in July and August.
	 An event of great political significance took place at a plenary session 
of the Central Committee in September. The plenum adopted a decision 
to place Stalin and Voroshilov on the governing bodies of the military—
Trotsky’s domain. Trotsky was being surrounded by his political opponents 
on his own turf. He stormed out of the plenum in indignation.82

	 Historians still lack information on how this highly provocative attack 
against Trotsky was staged. It must have emerged from behind-the-scenes 
collusion between (at least) Stalin, Zinoviev, and Kamenev. They may have 
rationalized their actions with the following logic: events in Europe were 
coming to a head. The role of the Red Army and the military would be cru-
cial, as it had been during the Civil War, and the influence of the Red Army’s 
recognized leader would grow. The military therefore had to be brought 
under the control of Politburo members other than Trotsky before he be-
came too powerful. It is unclear who initiated the ejection of Trotsky from 
the army’s leadership. What is clear is that Stalin benefited significantly 
from this sharp escalation in the power struggle among the party’s top 
leadership.
	 Aggrieved and isolated, in October 1923 Trotsky launched a counterat-
tack. He submitted a letter to the membership of the party’s Central Com-
mittee and Central Control Commission charging that the majority of Po-
litburo members were conducting a misguided and unsound policy. He 
became a magnet for dissatisfied members. A fierce struggle broke out in 
which Zinoviev and other Politburo members, even those who felt that Sta-
lin was already too powerful, were forced to join forces with him. In the 
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coming two years this polarization—the Trotsky camp versus the Stalin 
camp—would serve Stalin well.
	 Discussion of Lenin’s last dictated texts, about the need to remove Stalin 
from the post of general secretary, was shaped by this battle. Lenin died in 
January 1924. In May came the next party congress. During the congress, 
party leaders decided to disclose Lenin’s “testament.” By general consen-
sus this was done in such a way as to minimize the sting to Stalin. Lenin’s 
final dictated words were not read at a general session of the congress but 
at the meetings of separate delegations.83 This procedure made it inevita-
ble: Stalin was reelected as general secretary. Trotsky did not speak out, 
but it was not his silence that helped Stalin. Trotsky’s very presence was 
enough.
	 Despite his masterful handling of this situation, Stalin found himself in a 
vulnerable position. His virtues and shortcomings were a matter of public 
discussion. The very fact that such conversations could take place and that 
verdicts were being reached, however favorable, threatened to diminish his 
political authority. Rather than feeling gratitude toward those colleagues 
who had defended him before the congress’s delegates, he seemed to re-
spond with festering resentment. Their sympathy was demeaning; it looked 
too much like condescension, and their support felt like a favor that would 
have to be returned in kind. Stalin had no intention of paying off any po-
litical debts or allowing himself to be turned into a junior partner. Several 
weeks after the end of the congress he started biting the hands that fed him. 
In June 1924, Pravda published a speech by Stalin in which he found fault 
with some rather innocuous statements by Kamenev and Zinoviev.
	 This outrageous breach of the anti-Trotsky leadership’s united front 
caused consternation among top party ranks. Historians have uncovered 
no documents to shed light on what prompted Stalin’s public scolding of 
Kamenev and Zinoviev, but it appears that this incident was discussed 
among a close circle of party leaders during the Central Committee plenum 
of August 1924, and Stalin found himself outnumbered. It is hard to find 
another explanation for Stalin’s 19 August 1924 letter of resignation, a copy 
of which is preserved in his archive. In this remarkable document, Stalin 
stated that his collaboration with Kamenev and Zinoviev in the Politburo 
after Lenin’s retirement had yielded deplorable results, demonstrating the 
“impossibility of an honest and sincere political collaboration with these 
comrades within the framework of a single, close collegium.” In light of this, 
he submitted his resignation from the Politburo and, accordingly, from the 
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post of general secretary. He requested a two-month medical leave, after 
which he asked to be “assigned to some minor post either in Turukhansky 
Krai, Yakutsk Oblast, or abroad.”84

	 This manipulative passive-aggressive outburst could hardly have been 
taken seriously. Nobody would have believed that Stalin actually intended 
to endure another Siberian exile, this time as a low-level paper-pusher! The 
full membership of the Central Committee, to whom the letter of resigna-
tion was addressed, never saw it. The matter was dealt with by a close-knit 
group of “friends” and allies, probably on 19 August, the day the letter ap-
peared, or the following day. One can only assume that the establishment 
of an informal majority within the Central Committee took place in con-
junction with the discussion of Stalin’s letter. Later testimony by Zinoviev 
suggests that this all occurred between sessions of the Central Committee 
plenum, which concluded on 20 August. The majority faction, made up 
of the most influential anti-Trotsky members of the Central Committee, 
elected a semerka, a group of seven, to serve as its governing body. The 
Seven included the chairman of the Central Control Commission and all 
the members of the Politburo except for Trotsky and functioned as a sort 
of shadow Politburo.85 Historians most often describe the establishment of 
this Central Committee majority faction and the Seven as an anti-Trotsky 
effort. This is partially true, but as Stalin’s letter of resignation shows, the 
new unofficial body’s primary task was to work behind the scenes to con-
solidate a majority within the Politburo and overcome internal disagree-
ments. The Seven replaced the troika, which had not succeeded in this role.
	 This pivotal episode in the party’s internal struggles reflects the balance 
of power in the Politburo during the summer of 1924. Stalin was apparently 
intentionally inciting conflict with Kamenev and Zinoviev, even though 
he could not yet be certain that other Politburo members, who were con-
cerned with unity, would take his side. The letter of resignation was not 
only an obvious test of his own strength, but also a sign that he was still 
relatively weak. This incident was an important step toward Stalin’s break 
with Kamenev and Zinoviev and his gradual alliance with Bukharin and 
Rykov. Having freed himself from the confines of the troika and now having 
the Seven to work with, he gained maneuverability.
	 Whatever personal intentions and calculations were at play in form-
ing the anti-Trotsky coalition in 1924–1925, it gave rise to a curious system 
of collective leadership that has been little studied as a force shaping the 
system of government that developed after Lenin’s death. This collective 
leadership involved the interaction of politically equal Soviet leaders and 
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the relatively autonomous government agencies they headed. It featured 
a rather well-developed division of functions between party and govern-
mental apparats. Government policy, shaped by compromises among the 
competing interests represented by these leaders and agencies, became 
flexible and well balanced.
	 The period of collective leadership was a time of productive decision 
making and the flourishing of the NEP. The Seven overcame the crises the 
NEP was designed to address and adjusted the country’s economic course 
while avoiding measures that would have caused systemic damage. Oligar-
chic government lent itself to relatively moderate political and economic 
policies. But collective leadership began to disintegrate when the govern-
ment turned to a more hard-line, radical course. As historians have long be-
lieved and as recent archival research has confirmed, the seeds of conflict 
that put an end to collective leadership were intentionally sown by Stalin.

n	 the Crushing of Trotsky and Zinoviev
	 Ultimately, the viability of the collective leadership depended on 
its top leaders’ willingness to adhere to the rules of their unique system 
of government. This system, which faced no threats beyond the personal 
ambitions of individual Politburo members, had marked advantages over 
an individual dictatorship. Whether it would survive after Lenin’s demise 
had everything to do with the personal qualities of the three Bolshevik oli-
garchs: Trotsky, Zinoviev, and Stalin (in theory, these names could be given 
in any order—their standing was supposed to be equal). These personal 
qualities, however, undermined collective leadership, and intrigues among 
these three figures inevitably drew other highly placed Bolsheviks into the 
fray, destabilizing the entire collective decision-making process.
	 Lacking a system for resolving personal conflicts, the collective leader-
ship resorted to rather boorish methods to isolate Trotsky and exclude him 
from power. In so doing, it launched a process that destroyed the last shreds 
of relative democracy within the Bolshevik party. In January 1925, Trotsky 
was removed from his post as people’s commissar for military and naval 
affairs, ending his hold on any real power. Zinoviev proposed that he also 
be removed from the Politburo. This proposal made perfect sense since 
Trotsky had already been excluded from the Politburo’s work (as well as the 
unofficial deliberations of the Seven). But most members of the Politburo 
and Central Committee did not relish such changes, which always carried 
unpredictable consequences, and stood firmly under the banner of “unity.” 
Zinoviev’s proposal seemed a bit bloodthirsty. The jokester Bukharin even 
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made up an aphorism inspired by Zinoviev’s anti-Trotsky zeal: “If you see 
that the name Othello has been replaced with ‘Grigory’ [Zinoviev’s first 
name], believe your eyes.”86

	 Stalin was well aware of these moods, and along with the rest of the 
Seven, he opposed Zinoviev’s proposal, cunningly presenting himself as a 
supporter of unity and collective leadership. “We plan to take all measures 
that preserve the unity of the Seven come what may,” he wrote to Ordzhon-
ikidze in February 1925.87 In actuality, the situation was coming to a head. 
New jabs were being exchanged between the Seven majority, on the one 
hand, and Zinoviev and Kamenev on the other, and Stalin’s skilled hand 
could be seen in these intrigues. By late 1925 Zinoviev and Kamenev had 
formed a faction that threw down a gauntlet before Stalin, Bukharin, Rykov, 
and their followers.
	 At first the struggle for control centered on procedural matters—how and 
by whom the Politburo’s agenda should be set, as well as how the matter of 
Trotsky should be handled. These seemingly innocuous questions actually 
expressed a heated struggle for dominance within the collective leadership, 
but in order for this struggle to be taken beyond the bounds of the Seven, it 
needed a program. One could not gain the support of party functionaries, as 
Zinoviev and Kamenev counted on doing, with talk of winning control of the 
Politburo. Zinoviev, Kamenev, and their supporters chose a more respect-
able theme: the struggle against the “rightist” threat of allowing the NEP—
which supposedly would strengthen “capitalist elements” and prosperous 
peasants (kulaks)—to become entrenched. Coming from the “moderate” 
Kamenev and Zinoviev, who were opposing the “leftist” Trotsky, or from 
Lenin’s widow Krupskaia (who, out of long-standing friendship, supported 
Zinoviev and Kamenev over Stalin), this program looked out of place, even 
absurd. But they had no other choice. The Politburo majority was following 
a “rightist” course, so in order to oppose it, they were forced to move left-
ward. Probably Zinoviev and Kamenev also counted on recruiting to their  
cause the rather sizable subset of party functionaries who were inclined 
against the NEP.
	 They miscalculated. Even those party leaders who may have felt op-
posed to the NEP knew on which side their bread was buttered: all power 
flowed downstream from the Politburo. Everything was decided by this 
supreme body and transmitted to the local level through the top leaders’ 
client networks. During the Fourteenth Party Congress in December 1925, 
when Zinoviev and Kamenev launched a determined attack against the Po-
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litburo majority in general and Stalin in particular, they were able to count 
on only the Leningrad delegation, which had been handpicked by Zino-
viev, the region’s party boss. This backing was not enough: they suffered a 
crushing defeat. Furthermore, the move cost Zinoviev his Leningrad fief-
dom. Immediately after the congress a large group of Central Committee 
members was sent to Leningrad to make sure that Stalin’s protégé, Sergei 
Mironovich Kirov, became Leningrad’s new boss. Kirov’s letters indicate 
that this takeover did not go particularly smoothly:

The situation is heated. There’s a lot of work to be done, and even more 
yelling.

Here, you get nothing without a battle. And what battles! Yesterday we 
were at Triangle [a reference to the party organization of the Triangle 
rubber factory], a collective of 2,200 people. The fighting was incredible. 
I haven’t seen a meeting like that since the days of October, and I never 
even imagined that there could be such a meeting of party members. At 
times, it even came to fistfights in some corners of the meeting!88

	 Zinoviev’s loyal party followers in Leningrad and the local party apparat 
were dealt with ruthlessly—although by the standards of the time, “ruth-
less” did not extend beyond large-scale firings and transfers to remote re-
gions of the country. This heavy-handed purge escalated the conflict be-
tween the opposition and the majority, which continued through 1926 and 
1927. After a period of relative calm, in the spring of 1926 the majority found 
itself confronted with a newly unified opposition headed by Trotsky, Zino-
viev, and Kamenev. This “marriage of convenience” (though no more so 
than the other alliances within the top leadership) was doomed to failure, 
but it made life difficult for the majority. The united opposition provided a 
rallying point for the dissatisfied, of whom there was no shortage. Keeping 
the opposition at bay demanded time, effort, and resourcefulness. Some-
one had to make this struggle his primary focus. By position and tempera-
ment, the best man for the job was Stalin.
	 The full range of intrigues perpetrated by both camps deserves a thor-
ough study, which remains to be undertaken. Particularly worthy of atten-
tion is one basic and potent ingredient in this toxic brew: the use of state 
security to suppress the opposition. Gradually, with increasing frequency, 
the party opposition was branded the “enemy,” a label the Bolsheviks had 
previously reserved for outsiders such as the bourgeoisie, Mensheviks, or 
SRs. The historical record allows us to trace the origins of this practice to 
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Stalin, who employed it not just in the mid-1930s, when the fight against the 
opposition reached its bloody apogee, but also much earlier.
	 On 6 June 1926, approximately seventy Moscow Bolsheviks with oppo-
sitionist sympathies gathered in a dacha community outside the capital. 
They chose this setting because they had been banned from holding meet-
ings and needed to gather out of sight of the authorities. The gathering 
was addressed by a supporter of Zinoviev, Mikhail Lashevich, a longtime 
Bolshevik who had managed to keep his post as deputy head of the mili-
tary commissariat. As might have been expected, an undercover agent was 
present at the meeting, possibly a specially infiltrated agent of the OGPU. 
The matter was placed in the hands of the party’s investigative commission, 
which, try as it might, was not able to prove that the opposition’s leaders 
had helped organize the meeting. This did not stop Stalin. In a 25 June 1926 
letter to the Politburo, written while on vacation, he proposed using the 
“Lashevich Affair” as a pretext for destroying the Zinoviev group and ex-
pelling Zinoviev himself from the Politburo.89 The ideological justification 
for this cynical move rested on the idea that the opposition was breaking 
the party apart. An exceptionally stormy Central Committee plenum in 
July 1926, during which the opposition attempted to make a decisive stand, 
ended in accordance with Stalin’s script. The plenum passed a resolution 
asserting that “the opposition had decided to cross the line from legally ad-
vocating its views to creating an all-union illegal organization.”90 The next 
step—casting this “all-union illegal organization” as an “all-union counter-
revolutionary and terrorist organization”—would take Stalin another ten 
years, by which time his hold on power would be firm and his opponents 
executed.
	 Stalin’s plan to expel only Zinoviev from the Politburo was a diversion, an 
attempt to divide the opposition and demonstrate objectivity. Just months 
later, in October 1926, Trotsky and Kamenev were also removed. Yet the 
oppositionists did not lay down their arms: they used every opportunity 
to do battle, denouncing the Politburo majority and its policies. The mu-
tual animosity finally reached its pinnacle when, with no other options left 
to them, the oppositionists resorted to an underground propaganda cam- 
paign, to which the Politburo responded with a sting operation. In Septem-
ber 1927 the OGPU sent an agent posing as a former officer from Wran-
gel’s army to a printing press that, despite the official prohibition, was still 
publishing opposition materials. Fabricated materials were used to charge 
the oppositionists with belonging to a “counterrevolutionary organization” 
that was supposedly plotting a military coup. The OGPU carried out the ar-
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rests. This police operation was organized by Stalin. While other Politburo 
members were vacationing in the south, he remained in Moscow and kept 
the others informed.91

	 In October 1927, Zinoviev and Trotsky were removed from the Central 
Committee in a particularly ugly plenary session. When Trotsky attempted 
to address the plenum with a question, he had a book and a glass thrown 
at him and was forcibly pushed from the podium as shouting erupted in 
the hall. On 7 November, the tenth anniversary of the October Revolution, 
the oppositionists attempted to hold their own demonstrations in parallel 
with the official ones but were forcibly dispersed. These demonstrations 
served as an excuse for new reprisals: many opposition members were ar-
rested and sent into exile. In December, the crushing of the opposition was 
officially sanctioned at the Fifteenth Party Congress. Some publicly capit-
ulated, but Trotsky and his closest associates did not back down. Trotsky 
was sent to Kazakhstan and later expelled from the USSR. The majority of 
oppositionists, both those who had relented and those who had not, were 
killed during the second half of the 1930s. In 1940, on Stalin’s orders, Trotsky 
was killed by a Soviet agent in Mexico.
	 The repression of the late 1920s, though relatively mild, still made a 
gloomy impression on the party’s old guard and marked an important 
turning point in the party’s development. As had happened during the 
French Revolution—whose history the Bolsheviks knew well—the Russian 
Revolution had begun to eat its own children. The similarities provoked a 
sense of dejection and unease. On 1 January 1928, soon after the opposition 
had been definitively crushed, Valerian Osinsky, one of the Old Bolsheviks, 
wrote an anxious letter to Stalin reflecting the sense that an injustice had 
been committed.92

	 Dear Comrade Stalin,
	 Yesterday I learned that V. M. Smirnov93 is being sent somewhere in 
the Urals (evidently to Cherdyn District), and today, when I met Sap-
ronov94 on the street, I heard that he is heading for Arkhangelsk Prov-
ince for the same term. Furthermore, they have to leave by Tuesday,  
and Smirnov only just had half his teeth removed so they can be re-
placed with false teeth, and now he’ll have to leave for the Ural north 
toothless.
	 In his day, Lenin kicked Martov95 out of the country in comfort, first 
making sure that he had a warm coat and galoshes. This is because 
Martov was once a revolutionary. Our former party comrades who are 
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being sent away are deeply mistaken politically, but they are still revo-
lutionaries—there’s no denying this. . . . The question therefore arises: 
is it really necessary to drive them all up north and essentially pursue a 
policy of their spiritual and physical destruction. I don’t think so. And I 
don’t understand why we can’t (1) send them abroad the way Lenin did  
with Martov or (2) settle them within the country in places with a warm 
climate. . . .
	 These sorts of banishments only create unnecessary bitterness. . . . 
They intensify whisperings about similarities between our current re-
gime and the old police state.96

On 3 January Stalin sent a curt response: “Com. Osinsky! If you think about 
it you’ll probably understand that you have no grounds, either moral or any 
other kind, for putting down the party or taking up the role of some sort 
of arbiter between the party and opposition. I’m returning your letter as 
insulting to the party. As for concern for Smirnov and other oppositionists, 
you have no grounds for doubting that the party is doing everything possi-
ble and necessary in this regard.”
	 Was Stalin’s promise to do “everything necessary” for the oppositionists 
a kind of black humor, a hint at the coming moral and physical destruction 
of his opponents? There is no evidence that in 1928 Stalin was planning the 
purges or terror of the late 1930s. How are we to interpret the apparently 
genuine anger with which he responded to Osinsky? Was it merely that he 
was sick of talking about the opposition, worn out from years of tense strug-
gle during which he had to watch every step, exercise unrelenting caution, 
make no false moves, hide his intentions, and conceal his actions? At the 
time he corresponded with Osinsky, Stalin was evidently making a critical 
decision that no opposition would be tolerated and no collective leader-
ship was needed. Perhaps he was curt with Osinsky because he was anx-
ious. Or perhaps he was confident and felt no hesitation in making it clear 
to Osinsky that they were no longer on the same level and “heart to heart” 
talks between them were no longer appropriate.

n	 the Choice
	 Stalin’s alliance with Rykov, Bukharin, and other Politburo mem-
bers, first against Trotsky and later against Zinoviev, was a tactical move 
in a struggle for power and influence. It is probably safe to say that the pri-
mary forces driving this struggle were the personal ambitions of Lenin’s 
heirs, their confrontational characters and outsized political ambitions, 
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their nasty revolutionary habit of fighting for the sake of fighting, and a pro-
pensity to see enemies at every turn. That said, in their constant skirmishes 
the Bolshevik leaders were also guided by certain political ideas.
	 The Politburo majority, including Stalin, adhered to the so-called “right-
ist course.” This was a logical continuation of the NEP of 1921–1922. Once 
they saw that it would be impossible to immediately introduce a socialism 
free of money and markets, the Bolshevik leaders, with Lenin at their fore-
front, took a step backward. Keeping political power and heavy industry 
in the hands of the government, they allowed small industry and business 
owners (peasants first and foremost) relative freedom. Markets and money 
were rehabilitated. Nobody knew how or in what directions they should 
be moving. Only the general principles were clear: there would be a mixed 
economy combining market mechanisms, a strong state, and a monopoly 
on political power. There was also general agreement on the timetable: all 
shared Lenin’s vision of the NEP as a long-term policy lasting through the 
1920s.
	 The issue of the NEP was bound to become entangled in intraparty 
squabbles. Trotsky, later joined by Zinoviev and Kamenev, criticized the 
NEP strategy that had been devised by the Politburo majority. While not 
urging a total abandonment of the NEP, the oppositionists felt too many 
concessions had been made to the peasants and the urban bourgeoisie, 
and they called for greater emphasis on the development of major indus-
tries. This criticism was typical of the opposition movement in its struggle 
to undermine the power of those in charge and gain more for themselves: 
it exploited popular desires for greater equality and nostalgia for a “heroic 
epoch.” Most important, it was short on details. Had they achieved power, 
the “leftist” leaders, who were fundamentally pragmatic, would most likely 
have shifted imperceptibly onto the “rightist” path, abandoning their radi-
calism under the force of the objective need to develop the economy. This 
assumption is supported by the past behavior of “leftist” leaders. During 
the Civil War, did not the ultra-revolutionary Trotsky use the tsarist officer 
corps as a foundation for the Red Army? Did not all the Bolshevik leaders 
originally support the NEP? While a member of the government, Kamenev, 
one of the leaders of the left opposition, always gravitated toward modera-
tion and followed a perfectly “rightist” course. Grigory Sokolnikov, another 
member of the opposition, was a brilliant finance commissar under whose 
leadership the country stabilized its currency.97 Often it was not principled 
programmatic differences that spawned conflict but ties of friendship, sore 
feelings, or ambition.
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	 The consequences of this battle of political wills were devastating. The 
Bolshevik party endured irreparable losses of personnel. The disinclination 
to show mercy or compromise and the desire to decimate opponents not 
only took time and energy away from real problems, but it also undermined 
the collective leadership’s will to conduct needed reforms and adjust social 
and economic policies. Every decision was examined under a magnifying 
glass, not only with an eye toward viability, but also to detect the slightest 
ideological vulnerabilities. Such an approach deprived the country’s lead-
ership of the flexibility and initiative it needed.
	 Many of the decisions made in 1926–1927, a time of fierce struggle against 
the opposition, were politically motivated and destructive for the economy. 
Measures against “capitalist elements” were primarily targeted at relatively 
prosperous peasants and small-scale traders. Reckless and misguided eco-
nomic decisions undermined stability. Yet these measures were not cata-
strophic or irreversible. The NEP, like any economic strategy, demanded 
constant adjustments, the elimination of mistakes, and an agile response 
to disparities as they arose. Lacking were the political preconditions for 
effective decision making. And the party infighting was only making the 
atmosphere worse.
	 One sign of the unhealthy political situation was the noisy campaign 
waged under the banner of fighting foreign threats. In 1927, a series of in-
ternational crises was used to pump up war hysteria: a note from Britain’s 
foreign secretary, Austen Chamberlain, objecting to Soviet anti-British 
propaganda in February; a raid on the Soviet embassy in Beijing in April; 
the breaking off of diplomatic relations with Great Britain in May; the June 
murder of the Soviet ambassador to Poland, Petr Voikov, who had helped 
organize the 1918 execution of Russia’s royal family; and repression against 
Communists in China. Calls for vigilance and military readiness spawned 
rumors and panic buying of manufactured goods and food supplies “in 
case of war.” The government’s fanning of martial passions was largely an 
attempt to counter criticism from the left, which was using foreign policy 
difficulties as fodder for attacks against the majority.
	 All of the Bolshevik leaders, both those still in power and those who had 
been expelled from office, took part in fanning militaristic passions. Stalin 
was no exception. News of Voikov’s murder found Stalin vacationing in the 
south. In an 8 June coded telegram to Moscow he offered his take on the sit-
uation: “Received about murder of Voikov by monarchist. Sense England’s 
hand here. They want to provoke conflict with Poland. They want to repeat 
Sarajevo.” By comparing Voikov’s murder with the event generally seen as 
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the trigger for World War I, Stalin showed that he felt war was imminent.98 
In the coded message he urged “maximal caution” in regard to Poland but 
recommended conducting ruthless reprisals and purges within the USSR:

Without delay, all prominent monarchists in our prisons or labor camps 
should be proclaimed hostages. We should immediately shoot five or ten 
monarchists and announce that with every assassination attempt, new 
groups of monarchists will be shot. We should give the OGPU a directive 
about house-to-house searches and arrests of monarchists and any sort 
of White Guardists throughout the entire USSR in order to completely 
liquidate them using all measures. Voikov’s murder gives us grounds to 
take revolutionary measures to completely crush monarchist and White 
Guard cells in all parts of the USSR. The task of fortifying our own rear 
demands this.99

These statements foreshadow some of the hallmarks of Stalin’s policies in 
the coming years. Relative prudence in foreign policy (“maximal caution”) 
always went hand-in-hand with exceptional ruthlessness at home. The idea 
of “fortifying our own rear” through repression would be a cornerstone of 
Stalin’s policy in the 1930s.
	 The Politburo members who had remained in Moscow adopted Sta-
lin’s recommendation. A wave of repressions swept the country. On 10 
June 1927, Pravda reported that twenty former members of the nobility— 
“hostages”—had been shot. The barbaric executions of innocent people 
severely damaged the Soviet government’s reputation. The bloodthirsty 
behavior of the collective leadership suggested that all the top Bolsheviks 
were cut from the same cloth, but this is true only up to a point. On many 
key issues, Politburo members were capable of independent judgment. 
That the members of this body did not think in lockstep offered a kernel 
of hope that the Bolshevik authorities could govern with a degree of ratio-
nality.
	 One of the last glimmers of true collective leadership could be seen in 
the summer of 1927. This was a time of escalating crisis, and the Politburo 
reached its decisions on important political matters through genuine de-
bate. A series of short letters from Molotov to Stalin, who spent that June 
and July vacationing in the south, offer a window onto these debates. The 
main points of conflict were the nation’s policies toward China and Great 
Britain and the question of expelling Trotsky and Zinoviev from the Central 
Committee. Politburo members were still conducting themselves rather in-
dependently and forming surprising (in light of subsequent events) tactical 
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coalitions. For example, Ordzhonikidze, Voroshilov, Rykov, and Rudzutak100 
were critical of the policy toward China, where Moscow insisted, without 
success, on cooperation between the Kuomintang and the Communists. 
(Voroshilov “has reached the point of groundless name-calling toward ‘your 
leadership over the past few years,’” Molotov complained in a letter to Sta-
lin dated 4 July 1927.) Molotov and Bukharin, who enjoyed Stalin’s support, 
defended the correctness of the policy.101 Opinions were evenly split on the 
fates of Trotsky and Zinoviev. Kalinin,102 Rykov, Ordzhonikidze, and Voro-
shilov believed that their expulsion from the Central Committee should 
be delayed until the party congress that fall. In telegrams from the south, 
Stalin unsuccessfully objected. Only after he demanded that his vote be  
counted in absentia and Kalinin joined those in favor of immediate expul-
sion did the Politburo resolve in late June to advance the timetable.103 Nev-
ertheless, the implementation of this decision was delayed. The opposition 
leaders were not expelled during the Central Committee plenum in late 
July–August but in October. Molotov, fresh from a contentious Politburo 
meeting on 4 July 1927, sent Stalin an anxious letter:

The most unpleasant thing is the situation within the Seven.104 In terms 
of questions concerning the opposition, China, and the ARK [Anglo- 
Russian Unity Committee], you can already see more or less distinct di-
visions, and over and over we’re split down the middle with one decid-
ing vote. . . . I’m increasingly wondering whether you’ll need to come 
to Moscow earlier than scheduled. As undesirable as that might be in 
health terms, judge for yourself what the situation is. . . . The symptoms 
are bad; you can’t count on stability. I haven’t talked to anyone about 
this, but I feel the situation isn’t good.105

How justified were Molotov’s expressions of alarm? Judging from the cor-
respondence, Stalin took these reports in stride: “I am not afraid of the situ-
ation in the group. Why—I’ll explain when I come.”106 He had every reason 
for optimism. The clashes in the Politburo did not pose a serious threat to 
any of the Bolshevik oligarchs, including him. A stable balance of power 
was taking hold within the collective leadership. The summertime disputes 
Molotov described showed that the conflict within the Politburo was not 
among combating groups bent on crushing one another. As Stalin’s fol-
lower, Molotov acted in conjunction with Bukharin. Rykov, who was close 
to Bukharin, was acting in coordination with Stalin’s old friend Voroshilov. 
Kalinin, who had no strong alliances, moved from camp to camp. This sort 
of debate and formation of blocs was usual and helpful to the Politburo’s 
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functioning. The future of the collective leadership depended on the extent 
to which Bolshevik leaders were prepared to follow the rules of the oligar-
chy. Stalin was the weakest link in this chain.
	 Once the very ambitious Trotsky and Zinoviev were removed, only one 
power-hungry member remained in the Politburo: Stalin. The others, for 
a variety of reasons, were not capable of pretending to supreme power. In 
the pivotal post of general secretary, Stalin used the battle against the left 
opposition to strengthen his position. The schism within the party permit-
ted him to play the role of preserver of Lenin’s legacy and strengthened his 
control over the party apparat and state security. These advantages did not 
assure him victory, but they shifted the odds in his favor.
	 In December 1927, during the first plenary session of the Central Com-
mittee elected at the Fifteenth Party Congress, Stalin made a carefully 
calculated move: he submitted his resignation and refused to run for re-
election to the post of general secretary. Now that the opposition had been 
crushed, he announced, it was a good time to fulfill Lenin’s “testament.” 
Earlier, he modestly explained, a “tough” man had been needed as general 
secretary to wage a “tough” battle against the opposition. “Now, it is no lon-
ger necessary to have tough people in such a prominent post.”107

	 As Stalin had surely expected, the plenum refused to accept his resigna-
tion. This move earned him important political dividends. First, once again, 
it diminished the relevance of Lenin’s proposal that Stalin be removed as 
general secretary. Second, he presented himself to top party functionaries 
as the driving force behind the victory over the opposition: a “tough” leader 
capable of “tough” measures. This toughness undoubtedly enhanced his 
credentials in the eyes of those who favored a “firm hand.” Third, his show 
of loyalty, his stated readiness to retire, must have mollified those con-
cerned about the breakdown of collective leadership and the emergence of 
a “gravedigger of the revolution” (as Trotsky had labeled him). Stalin had 
sought and found an important formal affirmation of his status. It is hard 
to believe that he took this risk for the sake of intraparty democracy. What 
came next—his famous voyage to Siberia and attacks against rightists— 
attests that he was acting with careful deliberation at the December ple-
num. This may well have been when he reached the fateful conclusion that 
he was destined to rule as dictator.
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A World of Reading and Contemplation

Late evening of 1 March 1953. The near dacha. The mail arrives.
Only as night approached did Stalin’s bodyguards, after many hours of 
anxious waiting, decide to enter his quarters. They were thankful to have a 
pretext: the mail had arrived. A bodyguard took the packet and set out for 
Stalin’s private rooms.
	 We do not know the contents of this last mail delivery, but normally 
Stalin received a huge number of papers. Lists of items sent to him from 
Moscow while he was vacationing in the south give us an idea of the types 
of documents the vozhd dealt with on a regular basis. During a vacation 
extending from September through December 1946, he received an aver-
age of just under fifty letters, reports, and other materials per day. During 
his final southern vacation, August through December 1951, the average 
dropped to thirty-five documents—not a small number.1 For obvious 
reasons, Stalin was regularly sent orders and draft orders by the highest 
governmental bodies—not all, but the most important ones. Reports from 
the foreign and military ministries and state security and intelligence 
bodies regularly crossed his desk. He saw summaries of the foreign press 
prepared by TASS, the Soviet news agency. Some of these summaries, with 
his notations, have been preserved in the archives. He was also brought 
summaries of reports by foreign correspondents in Moscow. In keeping 
with a habit he had developed before the war, he regularly received daily 
reports on the production of planes and aircraft engines. Top aviation 
industry officials often wrote him on specific issues. The vozhd had always 
taken a special interest in aviation, but he also received reports on the 
production of other military hardware. After the Korean War started in 
1950, he received daily summaries of military actions and reactions to the 
war by the foreign press. He was also regularly informed about national 
stockpiles. On top of all this, the volume of correspondence between 
Stalin and China’s leaders was growing. Finally, his mail included many 
letters from his top associates on various topics, requests from govern-
ment agencies, and personnel proposals. Just reading all these letters and 
reports must have taken an enormous amount of time, and many of them 
required him to make decisions and compose some sort of response.
	 In addition to these official papers, Stalin found time to keep up with 
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Soviet magazines, books, and newspapers, particularly Pravda, which 
he studied attentively. The inventory of materials sent to him during 
his southern vacation in 1926 lists a large number of Soviet and émigré 
newspapers and journals, including Menshevik and White Guard publica-
tions.2 In later years, periodicals disappeared from the list—probably not 
because Stalin ceased reading them but because they were delivered to  
him so routinely that listing them was a waste of time.
	 According to some memoiristic sources, Stalin claimed to read an av-
erage of four to five hundred pages a day.3 It is difficult to imagine how he 
could keep up such a fantastic pace. Some days he may really have read 
that much or, more likely, scanned texts, focusing on the most interesting 
passages. In addition to the time he had to spend at his desk dealing with 
official papers, his workday was filled with hours-long conferences and 
meetings in his office. The dinners he hosted could extend for hours, as 
did his regular movie screenings. And he spent quite a bit of time writing. 
From what we know of his schedule, it appears that Stalin had little time 
to sit at his desk contemplating the steady stream of papers with which he 
was daily confronted.
	 He liked books. Reading played a major role in shaping his ideas. In 
the revolutionary milieu to which Stalin had been drawn as a youth, the 
value placed on intellectual pursuits and theorizing was tremendous, 
but these explorations were ideologically one-sided. This one-sidedness 
left a permanent mark on Stalin. He read “socially significant” books and 
studied Marx and Lenin. A literary scholar who made a thorough analysis 
of Stalin’s writings and speeches noted the narrow scope of his erudition 
in literary fiction. He was well versed in literature from the Soviet period 
but had a poor knowledge of Russian or foreign classics.4 Observations 
regarding the political and ideological blinders that limited Stalin’s read-
ing are supported by the lists of books and journals in his library, or rather 
those in which he made notations.5 In total his archive holds 397 items. 
Of course his reading was not limited to these books, but his marginal 
comments and underscorings suggest that they are the ones that most 
captured his attention.
	 The lion’s share of this collection is comprised of books and journals 
containing works by Lenin—seventy-two items in all. Stalin was an atten-
tive student of Lenin, and some of his own works represent a recasting or 
popularization of Lenin’s thinking. Not surprisingly, he constantly cited 
Lenin in his public speeches. But he also relied on Lenin’s work as a sort 
of bible or instruction manual when dealing with affairs of state within his 
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close circle of associates. “Whenever I was at Stalin’s, either at a large or 
small meeting or talk,” one of Stalin’s commissars related, “I’d notice the 
following habit. If somebody made a proposal that may have been prac-
tical but a bit out of the ordinary, he’d walk up to the shelf with Lenin’s 
books, think a moment, and pull out a little volume. Sometimes he’d say, 
‘Let’s have a look at what Vladimir Ilyich has to say on the matter.’ Some-
times he’d read something aloud; sometimes he’d just paraphrase.”6 Marx 
and Engels are much less evident in Stalin’s articles. The archival collec-
tion of his library includes only thirteen of their works. Although Marxism 
was official doctrine and portraits of the bearded wise men were ubiqui-
tous features of the Soviet landscape, Stalin occasionally allowed himself 
certain liberties in regard to these classics. In 1934, in memoranda to 
Politburo members and the ideological overseers of various party organi-
zations, he criticized a number of Engels’s works: “Only idiots can harbor 
any doubts that Engels was and remains our teacher. But this by no means 
implies we must paper over Engels’s mistakes, that we must conceal them 
and—especially—pass them off as incontestable truths.”7

	 One noteworthy portion of the collection consists of works—thirty 
in all—by Russian and foreign theoreticians of the Social Democratic 
movement, as well as prominent Bolsheviks: Aleksandr Bogdanov, Georgy 
Plekhanov, Bukharin, Karl Kautsky, and Trotsky, among others. Stalin also 
appears to have closely studied the nineteen issues of the prerevolution-
ary underground Bolshevik theoretical journal Prosveshchenie (Enlighten-
ment) kept in his library. The rest of the items in which he made notations 
largely consisted of propagandistic and educational literature written 
while he was in power, twenty-five of which he wrote himself. Overall, the 
classics of Marxism-Leninism (including his own works) and works by 
their propagandists comprise the vast majority of the nearly four hundred 
books in which Stalin made notations.
	 Among the remaining books, one category that deserves mention is 
historical works, including several courses on Russian history published 
before the revolution. Stalin loved history and constantly used historical 
examples and analogies in his articles, speeches, and conversation. He 
arranged for new history textbooks to be written and encouraged the 
production of numerous historical books and films. As is well known, he 
felt a particular affinity for two Russian tsars: Peter the Great and Ivan 
the Terrible. They consolidated and enlarged Russia, built up its military 
might, and fought mercilessly against internal enemies. For Stalin, history 
was a means of legitimizing his own policies. He was not particularly in-
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terested in scholarly discussions and actual historical evidence, choosing 
instead to adapt the facts to his preferred narrative. Ivan the Terrible was 
proclaimed a stalwart defender against the forces pulling Russia apart, 
saving it from a second Tatar yoke. His brutal repression, as Stalin saw it, 
was necessary, and if anything, it did not go far enough: “It should have 
been done even more decisively.” During the Cold War, Stalin praised Tsar 
Ivan for adopting “a national perspective and not allowing foreigners into 
his country, shielding the country from the intrusion of foreign influence.” 
He condemned his otherwise beloved Peter the Great for taking a liberal 
attitude toward foreigners.8 Even more, he molded Soviet history to justify 
his own policies. The falsification and rewriting of the party’s history 
culminated in the creation of an ideological bible of the regime produced 
with Stalin’s active participation, the History of the All-Union Communist 
Party (Bolsheviks): Short Course. Appearing in 1938, at the height of the 
Great Terror, this work proclaimed Stalin to be equal to Lenin as a leader 
of Bolshevism and the revolution. Utter fictions were inserted into many 
episodes of Bolshevik history; other episodes were distorted beyond 
recognition. The opposition leaders, who had by then been killed, were 
portrayed as inveterate enemies.
	 Military problems particularly attracted Stalin’s interest. In addition to 
books of military regulations, he made notations in several books on the 
history and theory of war, such as works by the Prussian military theorist 
Carl von Clausewitz and the Russian theorist Aleksandr Svechin.
	 The few books of non-Marxist philosophy contained in the collection 
include Plato and a philosophical treatise by Anatole France, The Last 
Pages: Dialogues under the Rose. The small number of books on econom-
ics is dominated by Soviet works on political economics. As for literary 
fiction, the collection contains only a few literary journals and works by 
Lev Tolstoy (the novel Resurrection), Mikhail Saltykov-Shchedrin, Maxim 
Gorky, and a few Soviet writers.9

	 Of course this particular collection does not tell the whole story. We 
know from other sources that Stalin often read literature by contemporary 
Soviet authors. He offered advice on plays and screenplays and made de-
cisions about the awarding of prizes. He had his likes and dislikes, and the 
latter, however talented, were often targeted for repression. Even Soviet 
literary lions faced ideological tongue-lashings. All were made aware of 
their vulnerability and utter dependence on the government’s favor. Yet 
despite his politically slanted tastes, Stalin did have a certain ability to 
distinguish good writing from bad. Perhaps this is why he tolerated and 
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even protected certain talented writers who were not helpful or were even 
harmful to the regime, such as Mikhail Bulgakov.10 Still, the censors kept 
such writers on meager rations, just barely surviving and under constant 
threat of arrest. Literature and dramaturgy interested the dictator primar-
ily as ideological tools, a means of social manipulation and brainwashing. 
Officially permitted writers were part of the state’s vast propaganda appa-
ratus. Amalgamated into state corporations, writers, artists, and compos-
ers were completely dependent on the state. Like state-run factories, these 
corporations were not very effective. They encouraged bureaucratization 
and mediocrity and suffocated talent. “The time is long overdue for us to 
focus attention on . . . the irresponsible activities of the three thousand 
people brought together by the Writers’ Union, out of which two thou-
sand—at least—hardly belong in literature,” Maxim Gorky, Stalin’s choice 
to lead Soviet writers, lamented in a 1936 letter.11

	 Stalin knew of Gorky’s feelings (he kept this letter in his personal files), 
but he was hardly troubled by literary mediocrity. He lived and breathed 
political power, so works of art and literature were to be judged accord-
ing to their ideological and propagandistic usefulness. “Simplicity” and 
“accessibility” were key literary virtues. He welcomed readability and 
straightforward political edification free of highbrow devices. The “cre-
ative intelligentsia” was called on to depict a reality that was idealized 
(“correct,” “socialist”) rather than objective. It was to bring to the masses 
not that which was but that which should be, while distracting them from 
hardships and extolling the virtue of placing the party and the state above 
self-interest.
	 The record of conversations that took place during screenings in the 
Kremlin movie theater offers an interesting window onto Stalin’s taste.12 
He critiqued the films shown exclusively from the standpoint of politi-
cal utility, which, he believed, called for the production of edifying and 
entertaining films “that are exciting, cheerful, and fun.” “Just don’t drive 
everyone into depression, into a labyrinth of psychology. There’s no need 
for people to engage in pointless philosophizing,” he said during one 
screening. He fully approved of the rollicking musical Jolly Fellows, the 
Soviet answer to Hollywood comedies. The film was not profound and po-
litically pointed, but, as Stalin put it, it gave people “interesting and engag-
ing relaxation.” His running commentaries treated what was happening 
on screen as if it were real life. A few favorites were viewed over and over. 
Chapaev, about the Civil War hero of that name, for example, was viewed 
thirty-eight times between late 1934 and early 1936.
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	 Stalin’s taste in theater and music were equally conservative. He con-
demned the stage director Vsevolod Meyerhold, known for provocative 
experimentation, for “clownishness” and “gimcrackery.”13 The vozhd him-
self initiated a campaign against new musical forms, such as those being 
created by the great composer Dmitry Shostakovich.14 Such innovations 
were given the derogatory term “formalism.” A regular theatergoer, Stalin 
preferred classical drama, opera, and ballet. Countless official receptions 
at the Kremlin were accompanied by concerts featuring a strictly tradi-
tional repertoire.15

	 There may have been a relationship between Stalin’s literary tastes and 
his manner of writing. It has often been noted that he was not a gifted 
orator, a judgment that can easily be confirmed by listening to recordings 
of his speeches. But his written texts are much more coherent than his im-
promptu speeches. As a writer, he strove for a clarity and conciseness that 
bordered on oversimplification. He liked to drive a point home through 
numerous repetitions, as if he were hammering an idea into his audi-
ence’s heads. Lacking the gift (possessed by many other Bolsheviks and 
writers) for brilliant public speaking, Stalin simply ignored this art. His 
texts are dull but easily understood. He was a master of slogans and cli-
chés. In a society where education was achieving breadth but not depth, 
especially in the humanities, such a public speaking style was rather  
effective.
	 As a child, Stalin used only Georgian, the language in which he com-
posed verse and revolutionary articles in his youth. He occasionally used 
Georgian later in life as well. At the age of eight or nine, the future dictator 
began to study Russian and was able to achieve a high level of proficiency, 
almost to the point of making it a second native language. But until the 
end of his life, he spoke with a strong accent. This “accent” can also be 
felt in his written texts. Stalin’s writing in Russian is grammatically correct 
and expressive, but he occasionally let slip jarring stylistic infelicities and 
mangled idioms. Students of Stalin’s language have been able to assemble 
quite a few examples from his published works.16 Such examples are also 
found in his day-to-day writings not intended for publication. As general 
secretary of the Central Committee, Stalin reviewed Politburo resolutions 
before they were finalized and often made changes to them. In a number 
of cases, the fact that he was not a native Russian speaker led to errors and 
ambiguities.17

	 There is scant information concerning Stalin’s knowledge of other 
languages. He traveled abroad several times before the revolution (to 
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Berlin, Stockholm, London, Vienna, and Krakow), but it is unlikely that 
he had either the time or the need for serious study of the languages 
spoken in those cities. These trips were made on party business, and his 
time was spent mainly with party comrades. His 1913 work on the nation-
alities question, which made use of sources in German, was written in 
Vienna with the help of someone who knew that language. While in exile 
in Turukhansky Krai in 1913–1917, he demonstrated a desire to improve his 
knowledge of languages. He asked to be sent books by German authors 
(although it is not clear whether he was asking for the originals or transla-
tions). In February 1914 he wrote to a society in Paris that assisted Russian 
exiles, requesting a French-Russian dictionary and some English news
papers. A May 1914 letter that he wrote to Zinoviev urged him to send 
“some sort of (civic) English journal (old, new, it doesn’t matter—for read-
ing, since here there’s nothing in English and I’m afraid that without prac-
tice I’ll lose what English I’ve learned).” In November 1915 he again wrote 
to his comrades: “I don’t suppose you could send something interesting 
in French or English?”18 In 1930, while vacationing in the south, he asked 
his wife to send him a textbook for learning English.19 How serious was 
Stalin’s intention to study languages? How far did he advance? We cannot 
answer these questions. As far as we know, he never tried to demonstrate 
a knowledge of languages during any of his countless meetings with  
foreigners.
	 In the end, Stalin’s self-education, political experience, and character 
formed a mind that was in many ways repellant but ideally suited to hold-
ing onto power. His oversimplification of reality, in which phenomena 
were explained in terms of a historic standoff—between classes, between 
capitalism and socialism—outlived his system. Whatever the sources 
of this simplistic worldview—his religious education, his adherence to 
Lenin’s version of Marxism—its unidimensionality simplified the dic-
tator’s life. A model of the world based on the principle of class struggle 
permitted him to ignore complexity and despise his victims. It allowed the 
regime’s most heinous crimes to be seen as a natural expression of histor-
ical laws and innocent mistakes to be seen as crimes. It allowed criminal 
intentions and actions to be attributed to people who intended and com-
mitted no crimes. In a relatively uneducated country, simplification was 
an excellent tool of social manipulation.
	 Stalin’s theoretical model of the world was in fact tottering and unreli-
able. Excessively simple and ineffective, it gave rise to abundant contra-
dictions and failures. Yet he saw any adjustments to the ideological system 
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that might have benefited the country as threatening to the stability of 
his regime. So he responded to life’s demands with rigid ideological and 
political dogmatism and agreed to limited changes only as a last resort, 
when crises reached a breaking point. Shielding himself from reality, he 
retreated—and tried to bring others with him—to the thickets of ideologi-
cal scholasticism. The contents of his personal archive, which reflect what 
he thought was worthy of being kept close at hand, are almost completely 
devoid of documents that represent any sort of outside, expert perspec-
tive. Meanwhile, a huge country was engaged in the earnest study of 
Stalin’s “expert” opinions on fields as diverse as linguistics and political 
economy. It followed his dictates in crushing “formalists” and “cosmo-
politans.” Fearing change and the pernicious influence of the West, Stalin 
rejected a number of scientific advances, such as genetics.20 He believed 
only in what “you could touch with your hands,” what he understood and 
felt to be politically safe.
	 This dogmatism and rejection of the complex posed serious impedi-
ments to the country’s development. Yet even as his life came to an end, 
Stalin had no intention of changing the political system that had brought 
him power, a system that he methodically forged throughout the 1930s.
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3	His Revolution
By the end of 1928, the crushing of the “left opposition” had been trans-
formed into Stalin’s personal victory. Cohesion among the Politburo ma-
jority, which had been easy to maintain during the fight against Trotsky 
and Zinoviev, began to deteriorate. The growing socioeconomic crisis was 
paralleled by a crisis at the upper echelons of power, a volatile mix that put 
the system of government in peril. This political kindling was finally ignited 
by the state’s failure to collect sufficient grain supplies in 1927, one of many 
signals that the NEP was not working.
	 The NEP model of development was doomed by a range of factors. Al-
lowing market forces to govern the relationship between the peasants and 
the state violated fundamental Bolshevik doctrine. Despite the tragic ex-
periences of War Communism, the ruling party continued to preach radi-
cal socialism and punish private economic initiative. Furthermore, Soviet 
agriculture was simply incapable of immediately producing the resources 
the government needed to support industrialization. Every camp within 
the ruling party—rightists, leftists, and everyone in between—was aware 
of the need to adjust the NEP and spur industrialization. The problem was 
finding how to best modify the system. The fierce battle for power severely 
limited the available options. The economy was once again falling victim to 
political conflict and the need to adhere to dogma, and no one was more 
guilty of putting political expediency before the needs of the economy than 
Stalin.
	 The reasons for the crisis of late 1927 were perfectly familiar to the coun-
try’s leadership. Pricing policy errors and a disproportionate investment 
in industry, among other factors, had undermined peasant incentives to 
sell grain to the state and disrupted the overall economic balance. In pre-
vious years, the leaders had found successful recipes for overcoming sim-
ilar crises. Such a recipe was needed again. At first the Politburo searched 
for solutions as a unified collective. Although they considered economic 
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stimuli, on this occasion members decided to try intensifying pressure on 
the peasants through “administrative” means. This meant a campaign to 
expropriate grain by force, and a key component was visits by the country’s 
leaders to grain-producing regions to inspire greater effort on the part of 
local officials. Molotov, who was sent to Ukraine, reported to Stalin on the 
first day of 1928:

Dear Koba! I’m in my 4th day here in Ukraine—and people say I’m 
doing some good. I’ve pumped up the lazy khokhols [derogatory term 
for Ukrainians]. . . . I managed to get Ukraine’s “chiefs” and “centers” to 
travel around to local sites and to promise to work hard. Now I’m hang-
ing around Melitopol (a gold mine!) and also arranged a pogrom here 
with all the usual swearing that goes with grain collection. . . . Lots of 
new impressions; I’m really glad to be able to touch earth. I’ll tell you all 
about it when I get back. Regards to all.1

The tone of Molotov’s letter—more lighthearted than hard-line—partially 
reflected the relatively peaceable mood that still prevailed in the Politburo. 
Molotov was not yet “unmasking opportunists” or branding “kulaks” and 
“wreckers.” He asked Stalin to give Ukraine a bonus out of its grain collec-
tions to enable the purchase of farm machinery abroad: “This is urgently 
needed for encouragement (plus to push production) and is expedient in 
all regards.”
	 Stalin was not so jovial: he was spending his time thinking up ways to 
institute extreme policies. What prompted Stalin to take a sharp turn that 
placed him far to the left of Trotsky and Zinoviev? What drove his sudden 
opposition to the NEP: a belief that an ultra-leftist course was truly inevi-
table or self-serving political calculations? The evidence suggests a com-
plex of motives. Some of the NEP’s contradictions were indeed gradually 
drawing the entire top leadership leftward and leading to a restructuring 
of the NEP that favored more rapid industrialization. Stalin was among 
those who were most eager for this new direction. His political and man-
agerial temperament inclined him toward violent measures. Furthermore, 
he had no expertise whatsoever when it came to dealing with the econ-
omy and probably sincerely believed it could be forced into whatever mold 
politics dictated. The extreme economic measures he mandated served 
obvious political purposes. In staking his wager on a radical course, Stalin 
was intentionally destroying the system of collective leadership. The battle 
within the Politburo that ensued permitted him to create a new majority 
faction that was unambiguously his to control.
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	 In essence, Stalin was adopting Lenin’s revolutionary strategy, which 
called for maximally spurring leftist excesses, undercutting “moderates,” 
and mobilizing radicals with extremist policies. To launch his revolution-
ary push, Lenin had had to come to Petrograd from emigration in April 1917. 
Stalin set out for Siberia in early 1928 with a similar purpose: to turn this 
distant and enormous region into a proving ground for new upheavals. The 
trip seems to reflect some scheming on his part. The plan had been for the 
Politburo’s top troika—Stalin, Rykov, and Bukharin—to remain in Moscow 
to watch over the government, but Stalin took advantage of Ordzhonikidze’s 
ill health to take his place on the trip to Siberia. He probably assigned Si-
beria to Ordzhonikidze in the first place realizing that he would not be able 
to go, given his poor health in late 1927. The very fact that Stalin—who did 
not like to travel—made such a long trip shows the seriousness of his in-
tentions. After 1928 his official trips were few. He made some stops on the 
way to his southern vacations; in July 1933 he visited the White Sea–Baltic 
Canal; and he made one trip to the front during World War II and three to 
meet with Roosevelt and Churchill in Tehran, Yalta, and Potsdam. Clearly, 
he had his reasons for going to Siberia in 1928.
	 It took three days to reach Novosibirsk by train. The general secretary 
spent a total of three weeks in Siberia during the latter half of January and 
the first days of February. Most of this time was spent in meetings with 
the aktiv (local bosses and party stalwarts). Stalin extracted from them a 
pledge to fulfill an ambitious plan to supply the country with Siberian grain. 
He told the Siberian officials just how they would achieve this challenging 
objective, rolling out his plan to bring down the full force of the police state 
on the kulaks and charge them with the crime of “speculation.”2 In essence, 
this plan represented a return to War Communism. Many Siberian lead-
ers objected. The change of course was so sudden that some even permit-
ted themselves to argue with him. On 19 January the head of the Siberian 
branch of the agricultural bank, Sergei Zagumenny, wrote to Stalin to voice 
his concerns, saying he doubted the effectiveness of treating peasants like 
criminals for refusing to sell grain to the state. Peasants would see this as 
a return to the policy of mandatory sales of surplus grain to the state prac-
ticed during the early years of Soviet rule. It could make matters worse. “It 
seems to me that we are making too sharp a turn,” he wrote. Stalin’s many 
notations on Zagumenny’s letter (underscorings and derisive comments) 
attest to his irritation.3

	 Stalin continued to pressure the Siberian officials and insisted that re-
pression would be effective. At the same time, he maintained a certain re-
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straint in his interactions. In talking about the failures of grain procurement, 
he stopped short of making threats and combined confident and decisive 
authority with displays of comradery. At a meeting in Novosibirsk, in re-
sponse to a statement that he had caught krai officials making mistakes, Sta-
lin answered with a conciliatory “No, I wasn’t trying to catch anyone.” Even 
the criticism leveled against Zagumenny was fairly gentle.4 This combina-
tion of ruthlessness toward “enemies”—in this case grain-hiding kulaks—
and amiability toward his party comrades is one aspect of the strategy that 
helped him climb to the top of the political hierarchy. It undoubtedly made 
a favorable impression on local party officials and was an effective way for 
Stalin to reassure anyone who might have doubted the changing nature of 
the party under his leadership.
	 Through pressure and persuasion, Stalin got what he wanted. Dressed 
in a new sheepskin coat made for him in a local workshop, he spent several 
weeks crisscrossing the vast expanses of Siberia. Everywhere he demanded 
the same thing: give us grain. As he put it in a telegram to Moscow, he “got 
everyone good and worked up.”5 In a subsequent telegram sent on 2 Feb-
ruary, the eve of his return to Moscow, he triumphantly reported that “A 
turnaround in grain deliveries is beginning. During 26–30 January, 2.9 mil-
lion poods [approximately 52,400 tons] of grain was procured, instead of 
the norm of 1.2 million. This is a major turning point.”6 Stalin also expressed 
hope that the pace of grain collection would continue to grow. In a sin-
gle month, Siberia had supposedly fulfilled more than a third of its annual 
grain quota.
	 Behind these figures was escalating brutality in Siberian villages. Bands 
of agents empowered to use an iron fist in demanding the turnover of grain 
swept through the countryside. Disdaining even to pay lip service to legality, 
these agents followed a principle openly expressed by one of them: “What 
kind of bureaucratism is that? Comrade Stalin gave us our motto—press, 
beat, squeeze.”7 The countryside was gripped by searches and arrests. Such 
large quantities of grain were confiscated that peasant families were ru-
ined. Under Stalin’s influence, Siberia received more unsparing treatment 
than the country’s other grain-producing regions, although probably not by 
much. Pressure from Moscow and the active involvement of highly placed 
emissaries subjected villages everywhere to violence and lawlessness. But 
the precedent for extremism set in Siberia had special significance. Com-
ing straight from the general secretary, the order to wage war against the 
kulaks was seen as a universal license.
	 As political theater, Stalin’s Siberian trip had a complex subtext. The first 
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thing it did was change the ideological framework of the crisis. Ignoring 
the official line that the government had made mistakes (a point reiterated 
in numerous Politburo directives), Stalin shifted the emphasis onto expos-
ing the hostile actions of kulaks and anti-Soviet forces, thus opening the 
door to the broad use of repressive measures. At his suggestion (his cre-
ative contribution to the 1928 grain requisitions), confiscation was not, as 
previously, conducted on an extraordinary basis but as part of an ongoing 
effort to enforce the criminal code. “Speculators” were handed over to the 
courts for refusing to sell grain that they themselves had planted, tended, 
and harvested. Such actions made a mockery of justice, but they gave ex-
traordinary measures a legal footing and made them routine and perma-
nent. In essence, Stalin was proposing to jettison the principles that, under 
the NEP, had governed interactions between the state and the countryside. 
Finally, Stalin’s trip across Siberia confronted the government’s economic 
apparat—and Rykov, as premier, personally—with a serious challenge. The 
party, embodied by Stalin, was taking charge of the country’s most import-
ant political and economic problem and thus asserting its primacy.
	 Stalin knew that some of his colleagues would raise objections to the 
strong-armed measures he instigated in Siberia. He was provoking con-
flict with careful calculation. The Siberian trip allowed him to confront his 
fellow leaders from a position of strength, as an energetic leader who had 
succeeded by applying revolutionary methods to pressing problems. The 
results cast moderation in an unflattering light and made radicalism look 
more effective. Fissures in the Politburo started to show immediately after 
he returned to Moscow in February 1928. But he was apparently not quite 
ready for all-out war. To an outside observer it might seem that by failing 
to force a showdown, he was letting an exceptional opportunity slip by, but 
Stalin probably did not see it that way. At the time, there was no clear evi-
dence that he would emerge victorious. This was a pivotal moment in his 
campaign for sole power, and he turned it into a guerrilla operation, using 
deceit, patience, and subversion.

n	 A Shift to the Far Left
	 Circumstances prevented Stalin from quickly and openly asserting 
primacy over his Politburo colleagues—and preventing them, in turn, from 
calling him to account for his recklessness. From the standpoint of his polit-
ical interests, the leadership could be divided into two groups. The first con-
sisted of potential adversaries, leaders who enjoyed a degree of indepen-
dent power and influence and would oppose his rise to power. This group 
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included Aleksei Rykov, chairman of the Council of People’s Commissars 
(the country’s premier); Nikolai Bukharin, the party’s chief ideologue and 
editor of Pravda; Mikhail Tomsky, the leader of Soviet trade unions; Nikolai 
Uglanov, Moscow party secretary; and Mikhail Kalinin, chairman of the Su-
preme Soviet, the country’s parliament.8 These leaders, proponents of col-
lective leadership and a gradual transformation of the NEP, were not happy 
about Stalin’s ambitions or his extreme policies. The second group—only 
a minority of the Politburo—had close personal ties to Stalin: Vyacheslav 
Molotov, Central Committee secretary; Kliment Voroshilov, chief of the 
military commissariat; Grigory Ordzhonikidze, head of the party’s Central 
Control Commission; and Anastas Mikoyan, head of the trade commissar-
iat. They had looked up to Stalin and followed his lead since the revolution 
and Civil War. Even his friends, however, were not likely to unquestioningly 
support his efforts to break down the party’s collective leadership and pro-
claim himself sole leader. In early 1928 the “Stalin faction” could be rallied 
and counted on only in time of war.
	 Waging such a war would be complicated and risky. The fevered four-
year standoff with the opposition had created a deep desire for unity. 
The oppositionists had been castigated as schismatics who had put their 
personal political ambitions before the interests of the party. Any leader 
who openly threatened the party’s newfound unity would find himself in 
an unpopular position. How could Stalin fight for dominance without un-
dermining unity? There was only one solution: to surreptitiously provoke a 
split and then cast himself as an injured adherent of unity and his enemies 
as schismatics. That is the script Stalin followed.
	 Another concern was that the radical measures Stalin was proposing, 
measures close to the hearts of party leftists, had huge destructive potential. 
Two dangers were immediately evident. First, the peasants, knowing that 
their harvest would be confiscated, might simply plant less. Second, there 
were worrisome signals coming from the Red Army. Letters from relatives 
back home complaining of mistreatment were stoking anti-government 
sentiment in the barracks. Young peasant recruits underwent military 
training at bases not far from home, and emissaries streamed from the vil-
lages to the bases pleading for help.
	 Lacking sufficient political strength to simply sweep such realities under 
the rug, Stalin was forced to bide his time. Evidence from the period after 
his return from Siberia shows him ready for compromise. Resolutions ad-
opted around that time, while expressing approval for the extreme mea-
sures already taken, condemned “distortions and excesses.” Stalin’s han-
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dling of objections to tactics used in Siberia foreshadowed the brand of 
political warfare he would favor in subsequent years, before he achieved 
complete victory. In essence, his approach was to “agree and ignore.” Wish-
ing to avoid a showdown, he put his faith in stealthy manipulation of the 
bureaucratic machine and a strategic reshuffling of personnel.
	 Everything depended on the alignment of forces within the Politburo. 
In 1928, with help from political intrigues, Stalin managed to weaken 
the Rykov-Bukharin group and strengthen unity among his friends. He 
also benefited from the foolish mistakes of his opponents—especially 
Bukharin—and likely from the use of blackmail. He may have made use of 
recently discovered compromising evidence against Mikhail Kalinin and 
Yan Rudzutak, unearthed in prerevolutionary police records in 1928 but 
never brought to light. A transcript of a February 1900 police interrogation 
has Kalinin stating: “Having been called in for interrogation as a result of a 
request I submitted, I wish to give frank testimony on my criminal activi-
ties.” The transcript shows that Kalinin gave the police detailed information 
about the operations of his underground organization. Police records also 
showed that Rudzutak, who was sentenced to ten years’ hard labor in 1909, 
apparently gave interrogators the names and addresses of members of his 
organization. The police then conducted searches and seized weapons and 
propagandistic literature.9 Similar compromising materials Stalin could 
have used against other members of the top leadership may remain to be 
found.
	 Although there is no hard evidence to show that Stalin used these dis-
coveries in his quest for loyal supporters, his relationship with the secret 
police was such that he would almost certainly have been informed about 
them, and his using the crude but powerful tool of blackmail would have 
been entirely in character. Even his friends on the Politburo understood the 
reasons for the split within its ranks. Stalin’s pontification on the “rightist 
threat” did not mask his intention of achieving dominance within the Po-
litburo. The war he was waging was starkly personal. In an attempt to rec-
oncile the sides, Stalin’s old friend and loyal follower Ordzhonikidze wrote 
a frank letter to Rykov amid clashes in the fall of 1928:

Any more fighting within the party is bound to lead to unbelieva-
bly bitter upheavals. That has to be our starting point. I am absolutely 
convinced that we’ll get over this. In terms of grain and other such is-
sues, we can argue and decide, but it shouldn’t lead to fighting. . . . There 
are no fundamental disagreements, and that’s the most important thing. 
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. . . It seems that the relationship between Stalin and Bukharin has really 
deteriorated, but we need to do everything possible to reconcile them. 
It can be done.10

It is unlikely that Ordzhonikidze was attempting to deceive Rykov in order 
to help Stalin. He was merely describing the moods and views then held 
by the majority, including many of Stalin’s supporters. The Politburo’s 
collective leadership was still a viable and functional institution. Even as 
authoritarian a Bolshevik as Ordzhonikidze understood that it was better 
to “argue and decide” than to engage in political name calling. All Soviet 
leaders recognized the need to revise economic policy in favor of accelerat-
ing industrialization. Only the details were in dispute. There was no reason 
friction within the Politburo had to lead to a complete rupture—so long as 
no member of the collective leadership harbored ambitions of achieving 
sole power.
	 Attuned to the prevailing mood, Stalin paid lip service to unity while 
using others to undermine his opponents. In 1928 he organized rebellions 
within Tomsky’s trade union apparat and Uglanov’s Moscow party orga-
nization. By orchestrating upheavals within these organizations, Stalin 
managed to deprive both leaders of their “patrimonies.” Furthermore, his 
opponents were weakened by a fatal political misstep by Bukharin, who 
in July 1928 secretly met with the disgraced Kamenev and gave him a can-
did account of conflicts roiling the Politburo. Kamenev’s written account of 
this conversation was stolen and sent to followers of Trotsky, who, despis-
ing both Stalin and Bukharin, were only too glad to print it up on leaflets 
and distribute them publicly. The true story is still not entirely clear, but 
even if Stalin and the secret police, which was already under his control, 
had nothing to do with the theft of the notes, there is no doubt that he did 
everything he could to ensure that the leaflets were broadly disseminated.11 
Bukharin and his supporters were hopelessly compromised.
	 While branding Bukharin a schismatic who fraternized with the crushed 
opposition behind the backs of his Politburo colleagues, Stalin prepared his 
heavy artillery. In mid-1928, engineers from a Donetsk coal mine were sub-
jected to a show trial based on fabricated charges—the so-called Shakhty 
Affair. They were charged with sabotage, and their trial was accompanied 
by a powerful propaganda campaign. Meanwhile, as the 1928 grain collec-
tions were again turned into a war against the kulaks, Stalin proclaimed 
a new theory (which he made sure was borne out): the farther socialist 
construction progressed, the more heated the class war would become as 
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the enemies of socialism intensified their resistance. They would also, he 
warned ominously, exert influence over the party. Persistently and me-
thodically, he introduced into party documents and propaganda the idea 
of “danger from the right” and from agents of hostile influence within the 
party. Keeping constant pressure on “the enemy,” destroying him and his 
“rightist” allies within the party—that was how the victory of socialism and 
the long-awaited overcoming of difficulties and conflicts would finally be 
achieved. These sinister theories may have appealed to poorly educated 
party functionaries, but they are not consistent with what was happening 
in the country.
	 Once he had isolated the Bukharin-Rykov group, Stalin cast his final 
blow by blaming the two men for the “right deviation” within party ranks. 
In an atmosphere of political hysteria and growing radicalism, the more 
moderate forces within the party were compelled to remain silent. When 
forced to take sides, most Politburo members—each for his own reasons—
chose to support Stalin. The entire Politburo became a sort of Stalin faction. 
One after another in 1929 and 1930, Bukharin, Tomsky, Uglanov, and Rykov 
were expelled from the Politburo and relegated to the status of second-tier 
functionaries. None survived the Terror.
	 Stalin’s victory in the Politburo was due to political intrigues and errors 
by his opponents. The general secretary made good use of the vast experi-
ence building and wielding power and influence he had acquired during 
the years of struggle against Trotsky, Zinoviev, and Kamenev. Of no small 
importance was Stalin’s power, as general secretary, to influence appoint-
ments. He knew how to manipulate people, how to wait for the right mo-
ment and strike with just the right amount of force to avoid scaring off 
potential supporters or waverers. Masking his true intentions, he presented 
himself as a reasonable politician and loyal member of the party commu-
nity, implacable only toward enemies. In a few short years, everything would 
be completely different. Many who supported Stalin bitterly repented their 
choice once their turn for destruction came. This was Stalin’s genius: to en-
sure that his victims developed regrets only after it was too late.
	 One result of the Stalin faction’s victory was the approval and imple-
mentation of the Great Leap policy. Largely due to Stalin’s influence, “class 
warfare” and “revolutionary spirit” were introduced into the economic 
sphere. Socioeconomic constraints were discarded as so much rubbish. No 
objective limits were placed on industrial plans or on capital investments 
in manufacturing—whatever industry needed, it would get. A tremendous 
wager was placed on large-scale purchases of Western equipment and even 
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entire factories in the hope that these resources would be quickly up and 
running, producing an abundance of goods. The historical circumstances 
were propitious. With their economies languishing from the Great Depres-
sion, Western countries were more inclined to cooperate with the USSR 
than they might have been in times of plenty.
	 The ambitious five-year economic growth targets adopted in April 1929 
were almost immediately rejected as too modest. Targets were increased 
by 50 percent, then doubled and tripled. The Five-Year Plan was changed 
to a Four- and even Three-Year Plan. Trying to outdo one another in this 
frenzy, party and economic functionaries pulled ever higher numbers out 
of the air. “In ten years at most,” Stalin exhorted, “we must make good the 
distance that separates us from the advanced capitalist countries. . . . Some 
claim that it is hard to master technology. That is not true! There are no for-
tresses that Bolsheviks cannot capture.”12

	 Treating the economy as a fortress to be captured plunged the country 
back into the War Communism of the Civil War period. Political campaigns, 
an enthusiastic minority, and the compulsion of the majority almost com-
pletely took the place of economic incentives and proven practices of 
manufacturing and labor management. A disordered financial and com-
mercial system and skyrocketing inflation were explained away as predict-
able obstacles on the path toward socialism, toward the withering away of 
commodity-money relations and the introduction of product exchange be-
tween cities and the countryside. As foreseen by the more moderate party 
leaders, this mad race to industrialize left no place for the tracking of basic 
economic indicators. In December 1930 the new chief of Soviet industry, 
Grigory Ordzhonikidze, reported that even such key industrial sites as the 
Magnitogorsk and Kuznetsk Metallurgical Works, the Nizhny Novgorod Au-
tomotive Plant, and the Bobrikov Chemical Works were being built without 
finalized blueprints. In many cases, he wrote in a memorandum, “money 
is being spent without any budget. . . . Accounting is exceptionally weak 
and muddled. No one has yet been able to say how much construction of 
the Stalingrad Tractor Factory has cost.” Stalin read this memorandum; 
his perfunctory notations demonstrate no desire to change the way things 
were being done.13 Such an extravagant pumping up of industry needed 
material resources and workers. Both were taken from the countryside.

n	 the War on the Peasants
	 Stalin’s costly leap forward was paid for by a sharp reduction in the 
entire population’s standard of living, but the pain inflicted on rural pop-
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ulations was particularly severe.14 The countryside was treated like a con-
quered colony to be exploited rather than the country’s mainstay. At first 
no one doubted that in a primarily agrarian country, the peasantry would 
have to foot the bill for industrialization. The only disagreements had to do 
with the size of the bill and how payment would be exacted. The Bolsheviks 
did not like the peasantry—they considered it a dying class—but during 
the NEP, cognizant of the economic importance of agriculture, the govern-
ment tried to maintain reasonable relations with the countryside, even if 
that meant turning a blind eye to such politically unsavory phenomena as 
the expanded use of private plots. In the late 1920s, however, the govern-
ment abandoned such liberalism. The increase in capital investment in 
industry—a policy the entire collective leadership supported—required 
changing the relationship between the state and the peasantry. In late 1927 
and early 1928, the still unified Politburo continued its leftward drift, mixing 
repression and strong-armed tactics with the economic incentives that had 
already been put in place to encourage agriculture. How well this mixed 
approach might have worked will never be known since Stalin took the ini-
tiative and turned the leftward drift into a sudden leap. The radical expro-
priation of grain began to look very much like the confiscations carried out 
under War Communism.
	 As Stalin’s opponents had warned, these measures yielded immediate 
but unsustainable results. The confiscations took away the peasants’ eco-
nomic incentive and led to a drop in production. Each harvest was worse 
than the one before, leading the grain collectors to resort to increasingly 
ruthless methods. This vicious cycle of extraordinary measures was fraught 
with political crises, including mass unrest among peasants that spilled 
over into the army. Those dealing with these problems on the ground 
looked to Stalin, who had by then taken a leading position within the Polit-
buro, for a way out of this cycle.
	 Stalin’s options were limited, however, by the various ultra-leftist poli-
cies he had advocated during his political battles against the rightists. He 
chose what for him personally was the simplest and safest path, however 
ruinous it might be for the country. The fight against kulaks and the expro-
priation of peasant property were taken to their logical conclusion: lands 
were confiscated and the peasants were transformed into workers in agrar-
ian enterprises managed by the state. The method by which these changes 
were achieved, labeled “collectivization,” involved the large-scale forcible 
movement of peasants to collective farms—kolkhozes. Nullifying the par-
ty’s previous decision to make such a transition gradually, in November 
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1929 Stalin proclaimed that collectivization would be universal and imme-
diate. In December came his call to destroy the kulaks as a class.
	 In essence, the victorious vozhd was intentionally provoking a new 
and deadly wave of revolution in the countryside. By brandishing slogans 
about the urgent need to crush the kulaks, he gave local stalwarts a free 
hand. A fevered and violent collectivization effort gripped the countryside 
even before the new kolkhoz project could receive serious discussion or 
be embodied in specific directives. In a signature Stalinist move, the party 
was confronted with a fait accompli. Collectivization supposedly began 
“from below,” leaving no alternative but to support and expand the kolkhoz 
movement, whatever monstrous forms it might be taking. Many party ca-
reerists and radicals, sensing Stalin’s strength and decisiveness, responded 
enthusiastically to his call. Reports of collectivization’s successes poured 
into Moscow.
	 A finalized plan for collectivization was adopted in early 1930, during 
a special meeting of Central Committee commissions established to work 
out the details. Commission members—functionaries fully obedient to 
Stalin—at first expressed a certain hesitance. While they were in principle 
ready to support Stalin’s push for wholesale collectivization, they urged 
that it take place over several years. Despite the atmosphere of class-war 
hysteria in the country, the commissioners tried to ease the fate of millions 
of kulaks, believing that while they were, of course, enemies of the entire 
kolkhoz system, they should not be driven into a corner. Repression should 
be reserved for those who actively resisted. The rest should be accepted 
into kolkhozes, albeit with certain restrictions. Taking this relatively mod-
erate approach, the commission members made important organizational 
suggestions—for example, that instead of the total confiscation of property, 
peasants should be allowed to keep small plots for their own use.15

	 The proposals made by the Central Committee commissions were of 
great practical importance and probably the best that could be achieved 
given the political realities of 1930. They somewhat appeased party extrem-
ists while conceding something meaningful to the peasants. As the sub-
sequent history of the Soviet Union has shown, allowing kolkhoz workers 
to keep their own personal plots saved the system, the peasants, and the 
entire country. In essence, the arrangement returned peasants to the sta-
tus of serfs in pre-emancipation Russia, paying feudal homage to the state 
through their work on collective farms but able to retain some land for per-
sonal use. It allowed them to feed themselves—and much of the country—
despite the poor performance of the kolkhozes.



his rev olution112

	 Stalin preferred a different model: his idea was to turn the peasants into 
slaves of the state, fully dependent on their state jobs. He favored the total 
expropriation of peasant property and the incorporation of villages into 
a state economy where market forces would be allowed no influence. He 
subjected the commissions’ conclusions to harsh criticism and undertook 
to correct their many errors.16 By the time he was done, the collectivization 
plan resembled a military campaign against the traditional peasant way of 
life. First, Stalin drastically cut the timeline for carrying out collectivization. 
In several of the most important agricultural regions, the task was to be 
completed by the fall of 1930, and the tone of his directives made it clear to 
local functionaries that there was not a moment to lose. Second, he put a 
quick stop to all talk of integrating kulaks into kolkhozes. Such a step was 
categorically forbidden. Kulaks and their families were to be exiled to re-
mote areas of the USSR, arrested, placed in camps, or shot. Finally, he put 
an end to all proposals that kolkhozes coexist with private peasant plots. 
Provisions for peasants to keep any land whatsoever were adamantly de-
leted from the draft directives. Ultimately, “communes”—agricultural and 
social utopias, the brainchild of socialist fanatics—were proclaimed to be 
the ideal form and goal of collectivization. In the Soviet embodiment of this 
ideal, peasant property became the property of the community, right down 
to family chickens and personal items.
	 These insane and inevitably bloody plans fully reflected Stalin’s ideas 
and intentions. By pushing the pace of collectivization and annihilating the 
most prosperous and influential segment of the peasantry, Stalin was pur-
suing several goals at once. Kulak property would provide land and equip-
ment for the collective farms, and the kolkhozes themselves would serve as 
conduits through which resources could be rapidly and efficiently pumped 
out of the countryside and into industry. One factor in Stalin’s calculations 
was his belief (shared by many party functionaries) that a moneyless form 
of socialism based on the exchange of goods was right around the corner. 
Under forced industrialization, money would cease to be an economic reg-
ulator—good riddance, thought the party leftists.
	 Stalin was emboldened to wage this perilous war against the peasantry 
partly because he believed this population segment, despite being the 
country’s largest, lacked the strength to pose any serious threat to the state. 
This assumption was only partly borne out. The peasantry really was no 
match for the totalitarian state, but it did offer serious resistance to collec-
tivization and caused Stalin a good deal of trouble.
	 In order to fulfill Stalin’s vision of a massive system of kolkhozes, the 
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party leadership mobilized and empowered tens of thousands of people 
dispatched from cities, as well as local stalwarts. Spurring competition 
among the regions, party newspapers (Pravda first and foremost) voiced 
one demand: as quickly as possible and by whatever means necessary, 
drive the peasants into kolkhozes. Despite official optimism, the leadership 
was under no illusions that collectivization could be achieved voluntarily. 
One of the main instruments propelling it forward was the arrest and exile 
of kulaks. Fearing the fate of their repressed fellow villagers, peasants grit-
ted their teeth and joined the despised kolkhozes.
	 Brandishing the threat of “dekulakization” and arrest, the authorities 
quickly achieved stunning collectivization results—at least on paper. While 
7.5 percent of the country’s peasant households belonged to kolkhozes as 
of 1 October 1929, by 20 February 1930 that percentage had reached 52.7.17 
Underlying this statistic was a horrific and tragic reality. People sent from 
the city or mobilized from the local population to carry out collectiviza-
tion behaved like conquering hordes toward a defeated enemy. Anyone 
who refused to enter the kolkhoz was arrested and beaten. The plunder-
ing of “dekulakized” property and the raping of women were standard. 
Churches were closed and clergy members arrested. “Fervent” members 
of the Komsomol—the Communist Youth League—desecrated churches 
and pranced about in church vestments.
	 This abuse and humiliation drove the usually docile countryside to 
rebellion. A wave of peasant militancy swept across the country. In all of 
1926–1927, the authorities identified just 63 incidents of large-scale anti- 
government unrest in rural areas. In 1929 there were more than 1,300 such 
incidents, involving 244,000 participants. In January–February 1930 alone, 
there were approximately 1,500 incidents with 324,000 participants.18 Sta-
lin, though undoubtedly informed of the growing unrest, did not immedi-
ately respond. He was probably confident that the wave of rebellion was 
simply the inevitable resistance of an “obsolete class.” By late February, 
however, he began to think again.19 First came a report on 26 February 
from Kharkov, then the capital of Ukraine, containing news of unrest in 
the Shepetovka District, near the border with Poland. Crowds of peasants 
were demanding the reopening of churches and the abolition of the kolk-
hozes. Party activists were beaten. Other reports reaching Moscow around 
the same time described similar incidents in Kazakhstan, Voronezh, and 
even near the capital. Unrest broke out on 21 February in the Pitelinsky area 
of Riazan District outside Moscow. Peasants removed their livestock and 
family stores from kolkhozes and returned property to kulaks. Church bells 
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were rung and delegations sent to neighboring villages to rally others to the 
cause. Peasants armed with stakes tried to prevent the arrests of kulaks. A 
policeman was killed and eight activists were wounded. OGPU agents re-
sponded with firearms, as a result of which three peasants were wounded 
and six killed, according to official reports.20

	 The escalating disturbances and the threat that the spring sowing could 
be disrupted forced the authorities to pull back. On 28 February 1930 the 
Politburo adopted a resolution calling on Stalin to address collectiviza-
tion in the press.21 The famous article “Dizzy with Success” was published 
on 2 March. It contained an optimistic assessment of the “huge strides” 
made in collectivization and proclaimed “the countryside’s radical turn 
toward socialism.” At the same time, Stalin condemned individual “anti- 
Leninist inclinations”—the spread of communes; the expropriation of all 
peasant property for communal use; violations of “the principle of volun-
tarism and accounting for local circumstances”; and the removal of church 
bells—placing the blame for these excesses at the feet of local officials. On 
10 March, secret Central Committee directives were sent out demanding the 
return of some expropriated property to peasants (poultry, livestock, the 
lands immediately adjacent to their homes), the correction of “mistakes” 
made during dekulakization, and a halt to the creation of communes and 
the closing of churches.22 This was a temporary retreat intended to calm the 
peasants and allow them to plant their crops.
	 Stalin’s article and the Central Committee directives did little to calm 
tempers. Both failed to provide what was most sought: an explanation of 
what would be done with the kolkhozes that already existed. The peasants 
took this problem into their own hands. They forcibly destroyed the collec-
tive farms, took away confiscated property and seeds, and restored abol-
ished property lines. The contradictory signals from Moscow only fanned 
the flames of anti-kolkhoz sentiment and provoked further disturbances 
by peasants, leaving local activists unsure of how to proceed. March 1930 
marked the apex of the war in the countryside: there were more than 6,500 
instances of mass unrest, almost half the total for the entire year. In all, 
approximately 3.4 million peasants took part in acts of rebellion in 1930.23 
Based on that number, it can be presumed that 1.5–2 million revolted in 
March. The higher figure is more likely since the political police had an in-
centive to underestimate participation in anti-government unrest. Some 
incidents were well organized; the peasants formed detachments and took 
over significant territory.
	 Uprisings were especially widespread in Ukraine, the site of almost half 
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of the March disturbances. The authorities were particularly alarmed by 
rebellions in border regions. As of 16 March, fifteen out of Tulchin District’s 
seventeen administrative areas were in a state of revolt. Representatives of 
the Soviet government were driven out of fifty villages and replaced with 
starostas, traditional village elders. Kolkhozes were abolished in most of 
the district’s villages. Rebels beat members of the Communist Party and 
Komsomol and banished them from villages. In some places, armed rebels 
engaged in gun battles with OGPU punitive detachments.
	 For Moscow, the unrest along Ukraine’s western border raised the spec-
ter of Polish intervention. On 19 March, Stalin gave Ukrainian State Politi-
cal Directorate (GPU) chief Vsevolod Balitsky a dressing down, demanding 
that he stop “making speeches and act more decisively.” The wounded Bal-
itsky replied that he was personally traveling to “the sectors under threat” 
and was not just overseeing the fight “from a train car.”24 But he did carry 
out Stalin’s orders. Ordzhonikidze, who traveled to Ukraine for an inspec-
tion, wrote that the disorders in border areas were being put down with 
“armed forces using machine guns and in some places cannons. There are 
100 killed and shot and a few hundred wounded.”25

	 Having very little weaponry, the peasants could not withstand well-
armed OGPU detachments and mobilized Communists. Their isolated 
attempts to join forces—by sending messengers and delegations to neigh-
boring villages or sounding the alarm using church bells—were ineffective. 
The uprisings remained fractured and uncoordinated. Such weaknesses 
made the task of mobile punitive detachments easier and permitted them 
to control large areas at once. Mass arrests of the uprisings’ ringleaders, ku-
laks, and the rural intelligentsia, along with the demonstrative brutality of 
government forces, undermined the resistance. Furthermore, the peasants’ 
behavior was much more civilized than the government’s. They generally 
did not kill their tormentors but merely drove them out of their villages. As 
a result, the government forces suffered few casualties, partly due to false 
promises. Another important factor in the diminishing disturbances was 
the spring sowing. The peasants had little time for rebellion when there 
were crops to be planted. The fall harvest—on which life itself depended—
would not come unless they dropped what they were doing and headed to 
the fields. By the time the 1930 harvest came, ruthless collectivization had 
resumed, and the majority of peasants had been forced into kolkhozes.
	 Collectivization was the cornerstone of Stalin’s dictatorship, and all the 
other features of the Stalinist system can be seen as deriving from it. Whole-
sale violence against the country’s largest class required a large apparatus 
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of oppression, complete with a system of camps and places of exile. Beyond 
making it clear that terror was the primary instrument of government, col-
lectivization completely and almost instantly severed countless traditional 
social connections, accelerated the atomization of society, and made ideo-
logical manipulation much easier. The rampant and merciless pumping of 
material and human resources out of the countryside enabled the pursuit 
of insanely ambitious economic goals.
	 Forced collectivization and ineffective industrialization dealt the coun-
try a blow from which it never fully recovered. In 1930–1932, hundreds of 
thousands of “wreckers” and “kulaks” were shot or imprisoned in camps, 
and more than 2 million kulaks and their family members were sent into 
exile.26 Many of those exiled were just as doomed as those who were shot. 
Kulak families were sent to live in barracks not suitable for habitation and 
sometimes simply dropped off in open fields. Terrible living conditions, 
backbreaking labor, and hunger brought on mass fatalities, especially 
among children.27

	 The situation for peasants who were not arrested or exiled was hardly 
better. The Soviet village, ravaged by collectivization, was seriously de-
graded. Agricultural production plummeted, and the livestock sector was 
hit hard. Between 1928 and 1933 the number of horses dropped from 32 mil-
lion to 17 million, heads of cattle fell from 60 million to 33 million and pigs 
from 22 million to 10 million.28 Despite such declining productivity, the state 
pumped an ever-growing share of its yield out of the countryside. And yet 
throughout the Soviet period, the kolkhozes were unable to adequately 
feed the country. Most Soviet citizens survived on meager rations. Many 
periods were marked by famine. One of the worst was the famine of 1931–
1933, the predictable result of Stalin’s Great Leap.

■	 Famine
	 When the time arrived to announce the results of the First Five-
Year Plan, Stalin had to be creative. Exercising the privilege of power, he 
did not cite a single actual figure but simply proclaimed that the emperor 
was indeed wearing clothes. The Five-Year Plan, he said, had been fulfilled 
ahead of schedule!29 Of course the investment of vast resources and tons of 
equipment purchased from the West did yield results. Many modern fac-
tories were built, and industrial production did increase significantly. But 
there was no miracle. The unachievable five-year targets were, predictably, 
not achieved. The actual production figures were not even close: 6.2 mil-
lion metric tons of cast iron in 1932 instead of the desired 17 million; 21.4 
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million tons of petroleum instead of 45 million; 48,900 tractors instead of 
170,000; 23,900 automobiles instead of 200,000.30 The state of consumer 
goods manufacturing was particularly lamentable.
	 But the main problem with the First Five-Year Plan was that it estab-
lished a ruinously inefficient approach to industrialization. Vast sums and 
resources were poured into undertaking construction that was never com-
pleted; into equipment for which no use was ever found, purchased from 
abroad out of Soviet gold reserves; into wasteful redesigns, the inevitable 
result of excessive haste; and into goods so poorly produced as to be un-
usable. The task of arriving at an approximation of these losses rests with 
historians. Much better known are the statistics from another tragic result 
of the Great Leap—the toll taken by the Great Famine.
	 This famine, which reached its peak over the winter of 1932–1933, took 
the lives of between 5 million and 7 million people.31 Millions more were 
permanently disabled. In a time of peace and relatively normal weather, 
agriculturally rich regions were ruined and desolated. Although the famine 
was a complex phenomenon, posterity has every right to call it the Stalin 
Famine. The Stalinist policy of the Great Leap was its primary cause; more-
over, it was Stalin’s decisions in 1932 and 1933 that, instead of easing the 
tragedy, made it worse.
	 The famine was the inevitable result of industrialization and collectiviza-
tion. From a productivity standpoint, the kolkhozes were a poor substitute 
for the destroyed farms of those who had been branded “kulaks.” The only 
advantage of the kolkhozes was that they gave the state a convenient means 
of channeling resources out of the countryside. The exceptional exploita-
tion of peasants had two effects: agricultural workers were physically weak-
ened by hunger, and they were deprived of any incentive to work, leading to 
despondency and apathy. They knew in advance that everything they grew 
would be taken by the state, dooming them, at best, to semi-starvation. 
Several years of this policy led to a gradual decline in output. In 1932 the 
crops did not grow well and were also poorly harvested.
	 The state’s interests and those of the peasants were diametrically op-
posed. The state was extremely aggressive in taking from the countryside as 
many resources as possible. The peasants, like famine victims all over the 
world, used “the weapons of the weak.”32 They sabotaged the fulfillment of 
their obligations to the state and tried to stash away stores to feed them-
selves. Stalin was well aware of the hostility of the forcibly collectivized 
countryside, but he placed the blame fully on the peasants’ shoulders. They 
had declared war, he proclaimed, against the Soviet government.
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	 The looming crisis was obvious to everyone, including Stalin, long be-
fore the famine entered its most critical phase. There were obvious steps 
that, if they did not prevent the famine altogether, could at least have di-
minished its impact. The first would have been to establish set norms for 
grain deliveries to the state—in other words, a move from a system of con-
fiscation to a system of taxes. This step would have given the peasants an 
incentive to boost production. Stalin, however, rejected this approach.33 
He preferred to take as much as possible from the countryside without any 
constraints. Another step to alleviate the famine might have been to reduce 
grain exports or even buy grain abroad. Such purchases were made on a 
limited basis during the spring of 1932, so they were in principle possible.34 
But Stalin refused to make further purchases. Any concessions that hinted 
at the misguidedness of the Great Leap were contrary to his nature and po-
litically dangerous to his dictatorship. To alleviate the pressure on the peas-
ants there would have to be a reduction in the pace of industrial growth. 
Reluctantly, Stalin did agree to such a reduction in 1933, but his slowness to 
take action cost millions of lives.
	 By the autumn of 1932, critical delays, stubbornness, and cruelty had 
led Stalin himself into a dead end. No good options remained. The har-
vest produced by the devastated countryside in 1932 was even worse than 
the poor harvest of 1931. Meanwhile, industrialization continued apace, 
and the Soviet Union’s foreign debt for purchases of equipment and raw 
materials reached new heights. Given these circumstances, there was only 
a little room to maneuver. The government could mobilize all available 
resources, or dip into reserves, or appeal for international aid, as the Bol-
sheviks had done during the famine of 1921–1922.35 These measures came 
with economic and political costs, but they were possible. Stalin probably 
did not even consider them. Instead, the state intensified pressure on the 
countryside.
	 Documents discovered in recent years paint a horrific picture. All food 
supplies were taken away from the starving peasants—not only grain, but 
also vegetables, meat, and dairy products. Teams of marauders, made up of 
local officials and activists from the cities, hunted down hidden supplies—
so-called yamas (holes in the ground), where peasants, in accordance with 
age-old tradition, kept grain as a sort of insurance against famine. Hungry 
peasants were tortured to reveal these yamas and other food stores, their 
families’ only safeguard against death. They were beaten, forced out into 
sub-freezing temperatures without clothing, arrested, or exiled to Siberia. 
Attempts by peasants dying of hunger to flee to better-off regions were ruth-
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lessly suppressed. Refugees were forced to return to their villages, doomed 
to slowly perish, or be arrested. By mid-1933 some 2.5 million people were 
in labor camps, prisons, or exile.36 Many of them fared better than those 
who starved to death “in freedom.”
	 At its peak in late 1932 and early 1933, the famine afflicted an area pop-
ulated by more than 70 million people: Ukraine, the North Caucasus, Ka-
zakhstan, and some Russian provinces. This does not mean that the remain-
ing Soviet population of 160 million was eating normally. Many in regions 
not officially in a state of famine lived on the edge of starvation. The entire 
country was hit by epidemics, primarily typhus. Millions suffered serious 
illnesses, were left disabled, or died several years after the famine from the 
damage it had inflicted on their bodies. And no statistics can measure the 
moral degradation it caused. Secret OGPU and party summaries (svodkas), 
especially during the early months of 1933, are filled with accounts of wide-
spread cannibalism. Mothers murdered their children, and deranged ac-
tivists robbed and tormented the population.
	 While the entire country suffered from famine and mass repression, 
Ukraine and the North Caucasus were the most affected.37 It was in these 
two important regions of the USSR where the policy of punishing grain 
requisitions and terror were most brutally applied. Two interrelated rea-
sons explain Stalin’s focus on these areas. The first could be described as 
economic. Ukraine and the North Caucasus supplied as much as half of 
all grain collected by the state. But in 1932–1933 they turned over 40 per-
cent less than the previous year. While this decline was partially compen-
sated by Russian grain-producing areas, which despite going hungry had 
significantly overfulfilled their plans, they could not completely make up 
the shortfall. In 1932 the state collected almost 20 percent less grain than in 
1931.38 These figures partially explain the demands Stalin placed on Ukraine 
and the North Caucasus. He wanted “his” grain and was infuriated that 
they were not providing it.
	 Second, Stalin saw the crisis of 1932 as the continuation of the war against 
the peasantry and as a means of consolidating the results of collectiviza-
tion, and he had a point. In a letter to the Soviet writer Mikhail Sholok-
hov on 6 May 1933, he wrote: “The esteemed grain growers were in essence  
waging a ‘quiet’ war against Soviet power. A war by starvation.”39 He un-
doubtedly considered the peasantry of Ukraine and the North Caucasus 
to be at the forefront of this peasant army battling the Soviet government. 
These regions had always been hotbeds of anti-Soviet sentiment, and 
Ukraine had been at the forefront of the anti-kolkhoz movement in 1930. 
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Repeated incidents of unrest flared up in both Ukraine and the North Cau-
casus in 1931–1932. A further cause for concern was Ukraine’s border with 
Poland. Stalin feared that Poland, in its hostility toward the USSR, could ex-
ploit the Ukrainian crisis.40 Overall, as Hiroaki Kuromiya points out, Stalin 
was suspicious of all peasants, but “Ukrainian peasants were doubly sus-
pect both for being peasants and for being Ukrainian.”41

	 By proclaiming grain collection to be a war, Stalin was untying his own 
hands and the hands of those carrying out his orders. The ideological basis 
for this war was the Stalinist myth that “food difficulties” resulted from acts 
of sabotage by “enemies” and “kulaks.” Any suggestion of a link between 
the crisis and government policy was categorically rejected. By blaming all 
food shortages on “enemies” and on the peasants themselves while also 
promoting the idea that the scale of the famine was being maliciously ex-
aggerated, Stalin relieved himself and the central government of any obli-
gation to help the hungry. A statement by the general secretary in February 
1933 at a congress of kolkhoz shock workers shows the depth of his cyni-
cism: “One of our achievements is that the vast masses of the poor peas-
ants, who formerly lived in semi-starvation, have now, in the collective 
farms, become middle peasants, have attained material security. . . . It is 
an achievement such as has never been known in the world before, such as 
no other state in the world has yet made.”42 This statement came at a time 
when thousands were dying every day.
	 Stalin could not deceive everyone. In May 1933, as the famine raged, he 
met with Colonel Raymond Robins, an American progressive who sympa-
thized with Soviet Russia. Robins was famous for his meetings with Lenin 
as a member of the Red Cross mission to Russia in 1917–18. Counting on 
Robins’s help in strengthening relations with the United States, Stalin was 
friendly toward the American and adopted a tone of sincerity and candor. 
He knew that Robins was well informed about Soviet realities and did not 
dare deny that his country was afflicted by famine. In response to a direct 
question about the poor harvest of 1932, Stalin, after some lengthy equivo-
cation, did admit that “some peasants are currently starving.” The reasons 
he gave for the famine exhibited impressive inventiveness and imagination. 
Parasitically inclined peasants, he argued, who had joined the kolkhozes 
late and were not earning anything through them, were the ones starving. 
Independent peasant farmers who did not work on their own plots but 
lived by stealing grain from kolkhozes were also “going terribly hungry.” 
They supposedly were left with nothing to eat after the introduction of 
harsh penalties for theft.43 To top off these lies, Stalin assured Robins that 
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the state was helping the victims of famine, even though the kolkhoz mem-
bers themselves were against such aid: “The kolkhozniks are really mad at 
us—you shouldn’t help idlers, let them die. That’s how they are.”44 Robins 
was probably not convinced, but as a true diplomat, he did not press Stalin.
	 While it is difficult to know how much Stalin believed of his own expla-
nations, his conversations with Robins tell us something about his think-
ing. First, he apparently knew about the famine and recognized it as an ac-
tual fact, not a fiction made up by “enemies.” Second, he does not appear 
to put much store in his own accounts of underhanded plotting by enemies 
and wreckers. He does not mention this “problem” once in his talks with 
Robins, which may suggest an awareness of the true causes of the famine 
and its ties to collectivization. It is doubtful, however, that he ever admitted 
any mistakes, even to his closest associates. Only mythic explanations of 
reality served his purpose. Claims about enemies, sabotage by peasants, or 
mistakes by local bosses permitted him to deflect guilt and doom millions 
without wavering.
	 Stalin’s comments do not reveal exactly what he knew about the famine. 
What did he have in mind when he admitted to Robins that some peas-
ants were “going terribly hungry”? Did he see in his mind’s eye images of 
walking skeletons; desperate people foraging through buried animal re-
mains; mothers, mad from hunger, murdering their own children? Probably 
not. He only encountered ordinary people at orchestrated events, and Mos-
cow, which he regularly saw from his car window, was the relatively well-
fed façade of Soviet power. OGPU reports that have recently come to light 
offer a detailed description of the famine, of cannibalism, and spreading 
anti-Soviet sentiments among the populace.45 But we do not know whether 
Stalin read these reports. One compelling document we do know he read 
is Mikhail Sholokhov’s letter of 4 April 1933.46 In horrific detail, the appalled 
writer described what was taking place near his home in Veshenskaya, in 
the Northern Caucasus:

I saw things that I will remember until I die. . . . During the night—with 
a fierce wind, with freezing temperatures, when even the dogs hide  
from the cold—families thrown out of their homes [for failure to fulfill 
their grain quotas] set up bonfires in the lanes and sat near the flames. 
They wrapped the children in rags and placed them on ground that had 
been thawed by the fire. The unceasing crying of children filled the lanes.  
. . . At the Bazkovsky kolkhoz they expelled a woman with a baby. She 
spent the night wandering through the village and asking that she and 
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the baby be allowed inside to get warm. No one let her in [there were 
severe penalties for aiding “saboteurs”]. By morning the child had frozen 
to death in the mother’s arms.

Sholokhov’s letter describes how suspected hoarders were coerced into 
handing over their grain: mass beatings, the staging of mock executions, 
branding with hot irons, and hanging by the neck to induce partial asphyx-
iation during interrogations, among other methods. The writer did not at-
tempt to whitewash the fact that the criminal abuses being perpetrated in 
the Veshensky District were part of a purposeful campaign by the regional 
authorities—not “deviations” by local zealots. But for obvious reasons, he 
did not press this point.
	 Stalin took the news in stride. He ordered that the Veshensky District be 
given additional grain assistance and that an investigation be conducted 
into the abuses Sholokhov described. Overall, however, he supported the 
local authorities. In a response to Sholokhov he accused the writer of tak-
ing a one-sided view and of covering his eyes to sabotage by peasants. The 
local leadership, some of whom were at first condemned to harsh punish-
ment for abuses, were ultimately acquitted. On Stalin’s orders they were 
simply removed from their posts and given reprimands. They were not 
even expelled from the party.47 Stalin had no intention of retreating from 
his war against the peasants, however many innocent lives were taken in 
the process.

■	 the “Moderate”
	 The victory over the peasants had all the hallmarks of defeat. De-
spite the campaign’s extreme ruthlessness, the grain procurement plan 
was not fulfilled. And the 20 percent decline in grain collections between 
the meager harvest of 1931 and the disastrous one of 1932, bad as this was, 
paled in comparison to the decimation of the livestock sector. If ruthless 
measures could not squeeze food out of the countryside, what should be 
done next? Continuing a policy of confiscation—prodrazverstka—would 
only kill off the population. Furthermore, the policy of forced industrializa-
tion was proving untenable. The mad surge of capital investment in heavy 
industry had reached its limit. Trotsky’s call to make 1933 “a year of capital 
repair” resonated with Stalin’s opponents, who called on him to reduce the 
pace of growth.48

	 Even the relentless terror machine was beginning to falter. By 1933 the 
large network of camps and prisons could not handle the growing flood of 
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arrestees. The government took urgent steps to create remote settlements 
capable of accommodating 2 million internal deportees, but this program 
failed because of a lack of resources. In the end, only about 270,000 peo-
ple were sent into internal exile.49 The seemingly limitless capacity for de-
stroying and isolating “enemies” apparently had its limits. And while the 
execution, arrest, and deportation of vast numbers helped the government 
maintain control, even Stalin could see that these tactics were doing as 
much to undermine the smooth running of the system as to bolster it.
	 All this dysfunction weakened the USSR at a time of escalating interna-
tional tension. One of the first signs of looming war was Japan’s occupation 
of Manchuria in late 1931. “The Japanese are certainly (certainly!) preparing 
for war against the USSR, and we have to be ready (we must!) for anything,” 
Stalin wrote to Ordzhonikidze in June 1932.50 An urgent buildup of military 
forces was begun in the Soviet Far East. But trouble was also brewing in 
Europe. In January 1933, while the Soviet Union was in the throes of fam-
ine, the Nazis came to power in Germany. The Bolsheviks’ European strat-
egy, which was centered on building relations with Weimar Germany, had 
to be immediately revamped. Faced with growing threats from east and 
west, Stalin was forced to seek alliances with Western democracies. On 19 
December 1933 the Politburo adopted a top secret resolution concerning 
the USSR’s possible entry into the League of Nations and conclusion of a 
regional mutual defense pact against Germany with a number of Western 
countries, including France and Poland.51 Stalin understood that this new 
foreign policy would not be possible unless he sent clear signals that the 
Stalinist USSR was a “normal” country and not simply a convenient enemy 
of fascism. The Soviet regime would need to improve its reputation. Soviet 
leaders did not have to exchange their military service jackets for tailcoats, 
but they at least needed to button up.
	 Stalin had led the Bolsheviks into a dead end. The resources that had 
made the First Five-Year Plan possible had been used up. Too late for count-
less victims of his policies, he agreed to measures that could and should 
have been taken years before.
	 First among them were some minor but critical concessions to the peas-
antry. Although the Stalinist state continued to rely primarily on compul-
sion in the countryside, there were important changes. Essentially recog-
nizing the tremendous harm done by limitless confiscations, in January 
1933 the government introduced set quotas for grain deliveries (a food tax 
or prodnalog, in official Soviet parlance). The peasants were promised that 
predictable quotas would be set for the amount of produce to be taken and 
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that they would have the right to sell the surplus. The resolution mandating 
this change was never put into practice, but it was a milestone in the tran
sition from the Stalin-era War Communism of the First Five-Year Plan to 
the Stalin-era NEP of the Second. It was within the framework of this tran-
sition that other, more practical and effective, decisions were adopted.
	 Stalin grudgingly allowed peasants to have small private plots that they 
were allowed to cultivate for their own benefit, a concession of great impor-
tance to the survival of the countryside and the country overall. At the first 
congress of “kolkhoznik-udarniks” (collective farm shock workers) in Feb-
ruary 1933, he promised that the state would help each kolkhoz household 
acquire a cow over the coming two years.52 Laws guaranteeing ownership 
of farm plots were gradually put into place. This expansion of private ag-
riculture was critically important, paving the way toward a new compro-
mise between the state and the peasants. The peasants, who earned almost 
nothing working on collective farms, would now be able to make ends meet 
by farming their private plots. Despite being subject to exorbitant taxes, 
these plots were exceptionally productive. Although private agriculture 
took up a miniscule amount of land compared with the kolkhozes, official 
statistics from 1937 show that it provided 38 percent of the country’s vegeta-
bles and potatoes and 68 percent of its meat and dairy products.53 When yet 
another famine hit after the poor harvest of 1936, it was private agriculture 
that helped the country survive, once again underscoring how flawed the 
original collectivization plan had been. If the mad rush toward total col-
lectivization had been adjusted to allow private plots, peasants (and Soviet 
agriculture) would not have been utterly ruined overnight.
	 Also long overdue and unavoidable were changes to industrial policy. 
The first limited signs that the state was being compelled to pull back from 
the destructive policy of forced industrialization and repression against 
those running the Soviet economy came in 1931–1932. During the Central 
Committee plenum of January 1933, Stalin provided a new set of slogans 
to go with the new policies. While proclaiming new class battles ahead, he 
nevertheless promised that the pace of industrial construction during the 
Second Five-Year Plan would be significantly reduced. Unlike many other 
slogans, this one did not prove empty. Alongside reduced growth for cap-
ital investment in industry, in 1934–1936 various experiments and reforms 
were introduced aimed at enhancing enterprises’ economic independence 
and reviving financial incentives for labor. By this time, the idea of an econ-
omy based on the exchange of goods had been definitively rejected as “left-
ist,” “money” and “commerce” were no longer dirty words, and the need to 
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strengthen the ruble was a hot topic. That Stalin was reorienting the eco-
nomic signposts became apparent in his remarks during a discussion on 
abolishing the ration system at the November 1934 plenum:

Why are we abolishing the ration system? First and foremost it is because 
we want to strengthen the cash economy. . . . The cash economy is one of 
the few bourgeois economic apparatuses that we, socialists, must make 
full use of. . . . It is very flexible; we need it. . . . To expand commercial ex-
change, to expand Soviet commerce, to strengthen the cash economy—
these are the main reasons we are undertaking this reform. . . . Money 
will start to circulate, money will come into fashion, which hasn’t been 
the case for some time; the cash economy will be strengthened.54

Underlying this liberalization was a recognition of the importance of per-
sonal interests and material incentives. The sermons on asceticism, calls 
for sacrifice, and hostility toward high salaries that had characterized the 
First Five-Year Plan were replaced by a focus on “culture and a prosper-
ous life.” Instead of the mythic images of a future of abundant socialism 
that had been promoted with the First Five-Year Plan, the Soviet people, 
especially the urban population, were now offered the prospect of tangi-
ble creature comforts: a private room, furniture, clothing, a tolerable diet, 
and expanded leisure. The possibility of an improved standard of living was 
being deliberately used to motivate the workforce.
	 The improved quality of life after the successful harvest of 1933 was, of 
course, remarkable only in contrast with the previous years’ mass famine. 
The full store shelves seen in major cities came as some rural areas con-
tinued to starve. But compared to 1932–1933, these pockets of hunger were 
“nothing,” just as the ongoing arrests and deportations could be seen as 
“nothing” compared with previous years. For a while, state terror contin-
ued at a low and predictable pace. The pullback began with a special di-
rective Stalin signed in May 1933 calling for the release of some of those 
arrested for “minor crimes” from overcrowded prisons and prohibiting the 
secret police from conducting mass arrests and deportations.55

	 Stalin continued to demonstrate adherence to “socialist legality.” It was 
on his instigation that in February 1934 the Politburo voted to abolish the 
odious OGPU and place the political police under the newly formed Peo-
ple’s Commissariat for Internal Affairs (NKVD), blending it with the more 
innocuous branches of law enforcement and public safety. On paper, peo-
ple’s rights in the regular judicial system were expanded, and the power of 
extrajudicial bodies—the instruments of mass terror—was reduced.56 The 
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handling of certain legal matters in which Stalin clearly had a hand was es-
pecially significant. Within the Soviet political system, it was these signals 
from the vozhd that showed the way forward for government officials.
	 One of the first such signals had to do with the conviction of Aleksei Se-
liavkin. During the witch hunt of the early 1930s Seliavkin, a senior heavy-
industry official and decorated Civil War veteran, had been sentenced to 
ten years for selling classified military documents. In a petition sent from 
labor camp, Seliavkin stated that his interrogators had dictated a false con-
fession and forced him to sign it under threat of being shot.57 This petition 
came at an opportune time. Stalin (without whose consent Seliavkin would 
never have been arrested in the first place) now signaled leniency. Not sur-
prisingly, an investigation showed that the secret police had fabricated the 
evidence. On 5 June 1934 the Politburo annulled Seliavkin’s sentence and 
demanded “attention to serious deficiencies in the handling of the case by 
OGPU investigators.”58

	 The annulment of Seliavkin’s sentence was just the start. In September 
1934 Stalin ordered the Politburo to establish a commission to investigate 
several other cases that had been brought against “wreckers” and “spies.” 
He called on the commission to free the innocent, purge the OGPU of per-
petrators of certain “investigative techniques,” and punish them “without 
favoritism.” “In my opinion,” he wrote, “this is a serious matter and it has 
to be pursued to the end.” Surviving documents show that this commis-
sion actually took its work seriously, assembling evidence of secret police 
abuses. There was no shortage of cases.59

	 Then came the murder of Leningrad party boss Sergei Kirov. The com-
mission never completed its task.
	 Had it not been for Kirov’s murder, would there have been a serious ef-
fort to put an end to secret police abuses? The evidence suggests otherwise. 
Although there were fewer arrests in 1934, the victims of repression still 
numbered in the hundreds of thousands. Stalin himself sent contradictory 
signals. In September 1934, at the height of the campaign for “socialist le-
gality,” the Politburo sanctioned the execution of a group of employees of 
the Stalin Metallurgical Factory in Siberia who were accused of spying for 
Japan. It was Stalin who instigated the roundup, writing: “Everyone caught 
spying for Japan should be shot.”60 There were other examples. The founda-
tion of Stalin’s system of oppression was never dismantled. The “modera-
tion” of 1934 was nothing more than a temporary adjustment in the level of 
terror.
	 Although this moderation was inconsistent and limited, it did imply 
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recognition that the Great Leap policy had been misguided. In theory, 
this forced change-of-course might have cast an unfavorable light on Sta-
lin and prompted dissatisfaction with him. Such apparently logical infer-
ences have inspired historians to posit the existence of plots and intrigues 
against Stalin among the party ranks. One focus of these theories is Sergei 
Kirov, a close Stalin associate and the Leningrad party boss. The confusion 
surrounding the circumstances of Kirov’s murder and the crackdown that 
followed it have led some to conclude that Kirov was actually behind the 
new political moderation, making him someone an anti-Stalin movement 
might rally around. This speculation, of which there has been a great deal, 
is based solely on the memoirs of people with only a second- or third-hand 
knowledge of the central facts in the matter.61

	 Setting aside the many discrepancies in these “eyewitness” accounts, we 
are left with the following picture. During the Seventeenth Party Congress a 
number of senior party officials (various names are mentioned) discussed 
the possibility of removing Stalin as general secretary and replacing him 
with Kirov. Kirov rejected this proposal, but Stalin got wind of the plans. Ac-
cording to some accounts, Kirov himself told Stalin what others were plot-
ting. During Central Committee elections at the congress, many delegates 
supposedly voted against Stalin. On learning about this, Stalin allegedly 
ordered the removal of any ballots where his name was crossed out. Ten 
months later, he organized Kirov’s murder in order to remove a dangerous 
rival. These contradictory accounts have never inspired much confidence, 
and now that the archives have been opened, they appear even less con-
vincing. A number of painstaking searches have failed to turn up even cir-
cumstantial evidence of a plot against Stalin.
	 The details of Kirov’s party career offer scant evidence that he enjoyed 
an independent political position and much to suggest that he did not. Like 
other Politburo members in the 1930s, Kirov was a Stalin man. His initia-
tives were confined to the needs of Leningrad—requests for such items as 
new capital investment and resources or for the opening of new stores. He 
rarely came to Moscow to attend Politburo meetings or participated in vot-
ing on Politburo resolutions or the polling of its members. Not only was 
Kirov not a reformer, but the available documents do not even show that 
he took any serious part in developing or implementing high-level polit-
ical decisions. He was Stalin’s faithful comrade-in-arms and remained so 
to the end. Within the party he was never regarded as a political leader on 
a par with Stalin, and he did not promote any political programs that dif-
fered from Stalin’s.62 His death had an incomparably greater effect on the 
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country’s development than his life. As often happens, it was his death that 
turned Kirov into a legend.

■	 the Murder
	 Kirov was killed on 1 December 1934 in Leningrad’s Bolshevik 
headquarters in the Smolny Institute, a neoclassical building that formerly 
housed Russia’s first educational institution for girls. In the seven decades 
between the 1918 attempt on Lenin’s life and the end of the Soviet regime, 
this was the only successful assassination attempt against a senior Soviet 
official. But that is not what has drawn the attention of historians. The shots 
fired in the Smolny Institute were followed by a new intensification of re-
pression that is often treated as a step toward the Great Terror of 1937–1938 
and the ultimate consolidation of Stalin’s dictatorship. The obvious polit-
ical benefit that Stalin derived from Kirov’s murder has led historians to 
suspect he had a hand in bringing it about. Such suspicions even became 
part of official propaganda during Khrushchev’s de-Stalinization effort and 
Gorbachev’s perestroika. Although it is rarely helpful when politicians in-
volve themselves in the interpretation of past events, this case may be an 
exception. The numerous commissions established by Khrushchev and 
Gorbachev compiled and studied a great body of evidence, which gives us 
a rather full picture of what occurred in Leningrad on 1 December 1934 and 
during the murder’s aftermath.63

	 On the evening of 1 December, a meeting of party stalwarts was sched-
uled to take place in Leningrad’s Tauride Palace. Kirov was to give a speech 
on the outcome of the Central Committee plenum that had taken place in 
Moscow the previous day. The topic at hand was the upcoming abolition of 
the ration system, a change that would affect virtually the entire population 
of the country. An announcement of the meeting had already been pub-
lished in newspapers, and Kirov spent the entire day preparing his speech. 
At approximately four o’clock he summoned a car and headed to his 
Smolny office. Using the building’s main entrance, he climbed to the third 
floor, where his office and the offices of the oblast committee were located. 
He walked down the third floor’s main corridor to a smaller corridor to the 
left that led to his office. It was the job of his bodyguard, Mikhail Borisov, to 
keep watch over the party boss inside the building. Borisov followed Kirov 
at a slight distance. When Kirov turned into the small corridor leading to 
his office, Borisov continued down the main corridor. Kirov remained out 
of his sight for some moments.
	 Leonid Nikolaev, a party member and former employee of the Leningrad 
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Oblast Committee, was preparing to shoot Kirov that evening at the Tau-
ride Palace. To gain entry he needed an invitation card, and he had come 
to Smolny to get one, counting on help from acquaintances who worked 
there. Because he had a party membership card, he had no trouble enter-
ing the building. While wandering its corridors, Nikolaev unexpectedly saw 
Kirov walking toward him. Nikolaev turned away and let Kirov pass. Since 
there was nobody between him and his target, Nikolaev decided to carry 
out his plan immediately. He followed Kirov into the corridor leading to his 
office, ran up to him, and shot him in the back of the head. Nikolaev then 
attempted to shoot himself in the temple but was prevented from doing so. 
Borisov and several Smolny staff members had come running at the sound of 
gunfire and saw Kirov lying bloody on the floor. It was all over in an instant.
	 Doctors and the heads of the Leningrad NKVD were summoned to 
Smolny. Stalin was telephoned at his Kremlin office. As soon as he was told 
of Kirov’s death, the general secretary convened a series of meetings. Early 
the following morning, on 2 December, he arrived in Leningrad on a spe-
cial train. That same day he joined other members of the team from Mos-
cow in interrogating Nikolaev. Stalin could hardly have failed to notice that 
Nikolaev was not a typical ideologically motivated terrorist.
	 In December 1934 Leonid Vasilyevich Nikolaev was 30 years old. He had 
been born into a working-class family in St. Petersburg and lost his father at 
an early age. His family struggled with poverty, and rickets prevented Leo-
nid from walking until the age of eleven. The record of his recruitment for 
military training provides a detailed description of his physical features at 
age twenty: long arms that extended to the knees, an elongated torso, and 
a height of approximately five feet. Nikolaev was often ill and had a quar-
relsome disposition, but his early professional life was nevertheless fairly 
successful. Since his social origins were of the “correct” sort, he was able to 
get a job working for the Komsomol and join the party, steps that opened the 
door to other advantageous positions, including working for the Leningrad 
Oblast Committee in the same building where he later killed Kirov. But being 
prone to conflict, he could not hold any job for long. He was unemployed 
during the months leading up to the murder and spent his time filing griev-
ances with various institutions and plotting revenge. The numerous diaries, 
letters, and other writings that were confiscated after his arrest show him to 
have been mentally unstable. His letters of grievance recounted various per-
ceived injustices, demanded a job and a resort voucher, adopted a threat-
ening tone, and assumed the pose of a hero whose name would go down in 
history alongside the great revolutionaries of the past.
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	 Another factor contributing to Nikolaev’s state of mind was his relation-
ship with his wife, Milda Draule, whom he met when they both worked for 
the Komsomol. Draule, age thirty-three in 1934, appears to have been an 
attractive woman whose career, unlike Nikolaev’s, was advancing success-
fully. In 1930, long-standing connections led to a secretarial job at the Len-
ingrad Oblast Committee offices. There were rumors before Kirov’s death 
that Draule was having an affair with him, and speculation about an affair 
has persisted ever since.64 There is reason to believe that Kirov’s childless 
marriage was an unhappy one. His wife, four years his senior, was often ill 
and spent months at a time away from home in sanatoriums or rest homes. 
Although there is no hard evidence to prove that Kirov and Draule were in-
timate, the possibility has to be recognized. Even if Nikolaev did not believe 
the rumors, one can only assume that they fostered animosity toward Kirov.
	 Such was the man brought before Stalin at Smolny on 2 December. The 
vozhd was undoubtedly briefed on Nikolaev’s less than sterling work and 
party history and may even have been discreetly informed of the rumors 
about Kirov and Draule. Nikolaev’s appearance tended to support the idea 
that the shooting was the act of an embittered loner of questionable mental 
competence. He was brought before the Moscow commission shortly after 
a severe hysterical fit brought on by the murder and his own failed suicide 
attempt. Molotov, who was with Stalin, remembered Nikolaev as follows: 
“Mousey. . . . Short and skinny. . . . I think something must have made him 
angry . . . and he looked like something had offended him.”65

	 What Molotov remembers is probably what Stalin saw too, but treating 
Nikolaev as an unstable loner did not suit his purposes. Even before he 
left for Leningrad, an official account of Kirov’s murder had been crafted. 
The following day, Soviet newspapers reported that Kirov had died “at the 
treacherous hand of an enemy of the working class.” This interpretation  
was entirely predictable. At who else’s hand could a Politburo member 
perish? Something as mundane as murder by a jealous husband was un-
thinkable. Only a devious enemy of the people would fit the part. Any other 
interpretation cast not only Kirov but also the entire regime in an unfavor-
able light, making it look incapable of protecting its leaders from deranged 
loners. The agreed-upon narrative fit Stalin’s extreme suspiciousness and 
hunger for power.
	 Before returning to Moscow on the evening of 3 December, Stalin or-
dered that a case be fabricated to show that Nikolaev belonged to an organi-
zation comprised of former oppositionists, followers of Zinoviev, who had 
wielded power in Leningrad in the 1920s as head of city government. This 
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task was assigned to Moscow-based NKVD investigators and Stalin’s polit-
ical commissars—Nikolai Yezhov and Aleksandr Kosarev, who remained 
behind in Leningrad. Two years later, at the February–March 1937 ple-
num, Yezhov said the following about the task assigned him: “Com. Stalin 
 . . . called me and Kosarev and said, ‘Look for murderers among the Zi-
novievites.’”66 This assignment would, of course, require creativity and 
law breaking. Not only had Nikolaev never belonged to any oppositionist 
group, but the NKVD had also never turned up the slightest evidence of op-
positionist sympathies. The only way to link Nikolaev and the Zinovievites 
was to manufacture evidence, so under Stalin’s watchful eye, this is what 
the chekists did. During the investigation, Stalin was sent approximately 
260 arrestee interrogation protocols and many reports. He met with se-
nior members of the NKVD, the procuracy, and the Supreme Court’s mil-
itary collegium to discuss the investigation and trial. The historical record 
shows that he personally orchestrated the court sessions and assembled 
the groups of defendants in the Kirov case.67

	 In accordance with Stalin’s orders, a series of trials was held in late 
1934 and early 1935. Dozens of former oppositionists, whom investigators 
claimed had links to Nikolaev, were sentenced to be shot or imprisoned.68 
Political and moral responsibility for Kirov’s murder was placed on the 
shoulders of the former opposition leaders Zinoviev and Kamenev, who 
were also put on trial. The evidence on which they were convicted was bla-
tantly fabricated. Stalin was settling scores with his old political rivals and 
charging them with crimes they had not committed.
	 Stalin’s exploitation of Kirov’s murder has prompted a great deal of sus-
picion over the years. Many have accused Stalin of organizing the shooting 
itself. The first serious attempts to look into such accusations were under-
taken during the Khrushchev thaw and continued with small interruptions 
into the early 1990s. These investigations have turned up some circumstan-
tial evidence of Stalin’s involvement but no proof. At this point, it is unlikely 
any will be found.
	 Until the early 1990s, most theories about a plot by Stalin against Kirov 
adhered to the same basic storyline. Displeased by Kirov’s growing popu-
larity, Stalin decided to deal with the situation and then use the murder as 
a pretext for mass repression. With this goal, the general secretary either 
directly or implicitly assigned Genrikh Yagoda, then NKVD chief, to han-
dle the matter.69 Yagoda sent a trusted protégé, Ivan Zaporozhets, to serve 
as deputy in the Leningrad branch of the NKVD, where he could lay the 
groundwork for this supposed “act of terrorism.” Nikolaev was chosen to 
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carry out the deed and was armed and taken under Zaporozhets’s wing. 
When he was arrested by NKVD agents after trying to carry out the assas-
sination before 1 December, Zaporozhets arranged to have him released. 
After Kirov’s murder, those involved in the conspiracy killed the body-
guard, Mikhail Borisov, because he knew too much. On 2 December he 
was killed in a staged accident while being taken to Stalin by truck for ques-
tioning. Such is the basic narrative proposed by those suspecting Stalin of 
complicity in Kirov’s death.
	 This narrative does not stand up to careful examination. First of all, it is 
unclear why Stalin would enter into a conspiracy so fraught with risk, given 
that Kirov was a faithful client rather than a political rival. The evidence is 
also not convincing. To start with, the argument that Nikolaev would not 
have been able to get a firearm without help is flawed. The restrictions on 
gun ownership that were introduced later in the decade (partly in response 
to the Kirov murder) did not yet exist. Nikolaev acquired his revolver in 
1918, when the country was awash in firearms, and had legal possession of it 
for sixteen years.70 Such ownership was nothing out of the ordinary, espe-
cially for a party member.
	 As for Nikolaev’s multiple detentions by the NKVD before 1 December 
and his “miraculous” release, records show only one such incident, not the 
several that some authors claim. On 15 October 1934, Nikolaev was detained 
by NKVD agents near Kirov’s home but released shortly thereafter after his 
documents were checked. According to Nikolaev’s own testimony, on that 
day he ran into Kirov and several companions and followed them to Kirov’s 
house but did not work up the nerve to speak to Kirov. “Back then I was not 
thinking about committing murder,” Nikolaev stated during his 2 Decem-
ber interrogation. After the murder, this incident, which was recorded in 
the NKVD incident log, was specially investigated. The NKVD agents who 
freed Nikolaev had a simple and convincing explanation: he had produced 
his party membership card and also an old identification card showing that 
he had worked at Smolny. His desire to approach Kirov to ask about the 
possibility of a job was “natural and did not arouse suspicion.”71

	 A cornerstone of the theories that Kirov’s murder was part of a plot is 
the death of the bodyguard, Borisov. During the second half of 1933, Kirov’s 
security team had grown to fifteen people, each with his own job. Borisov 
was charged with meeting Kirov at the entrance to Smolny, accompanying 
him to his office, waiting in the reception area while Kirov worked, and ac-
companying him out of the building when he left. One other member of the 
team—an NKVD agent like Borisov—was N. M. Dureiko, who watched over 
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Kirov as he moved around the third floor of Smolny.72 When the shot was 
fired, Dureiko was walking toward Kirov in the small corridor leading to his 
office. It could be argued that Dureiko was just as culpable in not prevent-
ing the murder as Borisov. Nevertheless, those promoting the idea of a plot 
have never taken an interest in Dureiko. If the plotters felt they had to do 
away with Borisov, why did they leave Dureiko alive?
	 Much importance has been assigned to the fact that Borisov did not 
follow Kirov when he turned toward his office, thus allowing Nikolaev to 
carry out his assassination, but Borisov’s behavior is not as sinister as the 
conspiracy theorists have made it out to be. If we put ourselves in the shoes 
of this fifty-three-year-old bodyguard who had been protecting Kirov since 
he had arrived in Leningrad in 1926, his behavior seems entirely normal. 
All those years, day in and day out, he had to stick close to a man who, 
by many accounts, was not easy to guard. Kirov was reportedly annoyed 
when his bodyguards remained too close, and at times he even escaped 
from them. With his long experience working for Kirov, Borisov was surely 
sensitive to his boss’s moods and tried not to irritate him. On 1 December 
in Smolny he kept his usual distance. Furthermore, as he walked down the 
corridor, Kirov stopped several times to have short conversations. Discre-
tion demanded that Borisov step aside at such times. There was nothing 
unusual about this behavior.
	 On 2 December, the Moscow commission decided to question Bor-
isov. He was escorted to Smolny by two other NKVD agents. Because no 
cars were available (not surprising given how many officials had suddenly 
descended on Leningrad from Moscow), Borisov was brought in a truck 
that turned out to be in disrepair. The driver lost control of the vehicle and 
crashed into a building. Borisov’s head hit a wall of the building, and he 
died in the hospital without ever regaining consciousness. This is the se-
quence of events established by investigations and expert assessments 
conducted at various times, and there is no evidence to the contrary.73 Pro-
ponents of a plot reject the idea that the vehicle crashed by accident and 
claim that Borisov was murdered.
	 The idea that Stalin was behind Kirov’s murder has all the hallmarks of 
a conspiracy theory. Such theories tend to rest on the idea that if an event 
benefits some sinister person, he must have brought it about. They tend to 
deny the possibility of random occurrences and ignore the fact that chance 
events happen all the time. The idea that Stalin conspired to kill Kirov has 
received far too much attention. Even if he did have a hand in Kirov’s death, 
this possibility hardly changes our understanding of him or his era. In the 
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annals of the dictator’s crimes, Kirov’s murder would have been one of the 
least heinous.

■	 Rehearsal for the Great Terror
	 According to Stalin’s relative Maria Svanidze, he was extremely 
upset by Kirov’s murder. “He became pale and haggard, and there was a 
hidden suffering in his eyes.” “I feel so alone,” he reportedly confided to his 
brother-in-law, Pavel Alliluev.74 There is no reason to doubt these accounts. 
Tyrants often combine exceptional cruelty and complete indifference to 
the deaths of millions with extreme sentimentality toward those near to 
them. In Stalin, Kirov’s murder brought out both extremes. The way he 
used his friend’s death as a pretext for a new campaign of terror is beyond 
cynical. Oppositionists falsely accused of plotting Nikolaev’s crime were 
not the only ones swept up in the Kirov tributary of what would become 
the raging river of the Great Terror. Many thousands of Leningraders (so-
called “formers”—former members of the nobility and clergy and former 
tsarist officials and military officers, among others) were sent into exile and 
to camps. The party was purged and articles of the penal code providing 
for the arrest of anyone suspected of “counterrevolutionary activities” were 
put to energetic use.
	 For a long time it was believed that this campaign marked the beginning 
of the wave of repression that came crashing down on the country during 
the second half of the 1930s. But a closer look at the sequence of events 
suggests a slightly different picture. In 1935 and 1936, terror coexisted with 
remnants of “moderate” policies. On 31 January 1935, at the very height 
of the “Kirov repression,” the Politburo, on Stalin’s instigation, adopted a 
decision to pass a new Soviet constitution.75 A central feature of this doc-
ument was the granting of voting rights to numerous groups previously 
unenfranchised as “alien elements.” Now elections were to be direct and 
ballots secret rather than open, as they had been. These changes suggested 
the adoption of a more democratic constitutional model to replace the 
“revolutionary” one that excluded people with suspect class credentials. In 
a memorandum accompanying the draft Politburo resolution on the new 
constitution, Stalin wrote:

In my opinion, this matter of a constitution for the Union of SSRs is a lot 
more complicated that it might seem at first glance. First of all, the elec-
toral system has to be changed not only in the sense of making voting 
more direct. It also has to be changed in the sense of replacing open vot-
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ing with closed (secret) voting. We can and must see this matter through 
to the end and not stop halfway. The situation and alignment of forces 
in our country is such that we can only benefit politically from this. I am 
not even talking about the fact that the need for such a reform is dictated 
by the interests of the international revolutionary movement since such 
a reform will definitely serve as a mighty weapon in the fight against in-
ternational fascism.76

This memorandum suggests that even after Kirov’s murder, Stalin counted 
on exploiting the advantages of the “moderate” course in both domestic 
and international affairs. International considerations were probably the 
main force driving his interest in liberalization. The growing threat from 
Germany and Japan was bringing the USSR closer to the Western democra-
cies. In May 1935 the Soviet Union signed a treaty of mutual assistance with 
France and Czechoslovakia. The Seventh World Congress of the Comin- 
tern, held that summer, allowed for cooperation with socialist governments 
and endorsed the idea of an inclusive popular front against fascism. Hop-
ing for leftward movement by the West European countries and a growth 
in pro-Soviet sentiments, Stalin saw a need to enhance the image of the 
“motherland of socialism” as a prosperous and democratic country.
	 The promise to restore the voting rights of those labeled socially alien was 
the centerpiece of a policy of reconciliation. In Stalin’s mind, in addition to 
the vast numbers he considered true enemies in the country, there were 
also many more or less innocent victims of the bitter class struggle. Young 
people in particular had to be brought over to the regime’s side. Continu-
ing to discriminate based on family background threatened to expand the 
ranks of the government’s potential opponents. An important signal in the 
reconciliation campaign was a piece of political theater Stalin performed 
at a meeting of combine operators in early December 1935. When a Bashkir 
kolkhoznik by the name of A. Tilba proclaimed from the podium, “I may 
be the son of a kulak, but I will fight honorably for the cause of workers and 
peasants and for the building of socialism,” Stalin interjected a phrase that 
became famous: “The son does not answer for the father.”77 In fact, sons and 
daughters did answer for their fathers, and fathers for their children, but 
“alien elements” now had a better prospect of making their way in Soviet 
society. The promise of equal voting rights was accompanied by other lib-
eralizing campaigns. For example, hundreds of thousands of people con-
victed of nonpolitical crimes were released from prison or rehabilitated.
	 A degree of social stability was needed to secure and promote the posi-
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tive economic trends that began to appear in late 1933 and continued into 
1934. The miserable experience of previous crises had taught Stalin the eco-
nomic price to be paid for each new campaign of repression. In 1935 he 
made the most significant concession to the peasantry since the beginning 
of collectivization: the right to farm private plots was enshrined in law and 
somewhat expanded. This step enabled an improvement in the country’s 
food situation. Similar improvements could be seen in industrial sectors 
in 1935–1936. In November 1935 Stalin invented a new slogan: “Life has be-
come better, life has become more cheerful!” That year, the ration system 
began to be phased out, and certain limitations on salary increases were 
abolished. Financial incentives boosted productivity. These were good 
years for the Soviet economy.
	 One might think that the fruits of moderation would have inspired Stalin 
to try more of it. They did not, and a new wave of terror became increasingly 
evident. Historians are still trying to understand his motives for expanding 
repression at a time of social stability and an improving economy. Did Sta-
lin truly believe that the country was threatened by terrorist conspiracies? 
Did he actually fear for his life? There is a fair amount of evidence to the 
contrary. Stalin commanded the NKVD to find proof that former opposi-
tionists had gone underground and formed terrorist organizations, but try 
as it might, the NKVD was unable to do so. The cases that were brought did 
not have the ring of truth, and Stalin must have understood that they were 
fabricated. In any event, he did not make any changes in his daily life that 
would indicate a concern for his own safety. He adhered to his daily work 
schedule, traveled south for vacations, and occasionally went out among 
the people to demonstrate his solidarity.
	 On the evening of 22 April 1935, some of Stalin’s relatives and fellow Polit-
buro members gathered at his Kremlin apartment. Stalin was with his chil-
dren. His daughter Svetlana asked permission to take a ride on the metro, 
which had recently opened. Stalin, in a good mood, decided to organize 
an excursion. Since no preparations had been made for this outing, he and 
his companions were surrounded by crowds of passengers at each station. 
Maria Svanidze wrote in her diary: “There was an unimaginable commo-
tion and people rushed to greet the vozhds, cried ‘Hurray,’ and ran after  
us. We were all separated, and I came close to being crushed against a 
column. . . . It was a good thing that by then the police and bodyguards 
had arrived.” Stalin’s fourteen-year-old son Vasily “was the most agitated 
of all.” But Stalin “was cheerful and asked the construction supervisor, 
who appeared out of nowhere, endless questions.” At the next station Sta-
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lin again went onto the platform, but his relatives, including his daughter 
Svetlana, stayed in the metro car, “frightened by the unrestrained delight 
of the crowd, which in its excitement toppled a cast-iron lamppost not far 
from the vozhds at one station.” After visiting the metro, Stalin went to his 
dacha. Vasily, traumatized by the crowds, “threw himself onto his bed and 
cried hysterically” as soon as he returned home. The adult relatives took 
sedatives.78

	 Would a man living in serious fear of attack venture—let alone relish—
such an excursion? The intensification of repression that came in late 1934 
was prompted by more complex calculations. Kirov’s murder provided an 
ideal pretext for action of the sort any dictatorship relies on to promote its 
central task: solidifying the power of the dictator. Admittedly, by late 1934, 
Stalin was already a dictator, but dictatorships, like any unstable system of 
government, depend on the constant crushing of threats. During this pe-
riod, Stalin faced two such threats, which at first glance appear unrelated. 
The first was the remnant of the system of “collective leadership” within the 
Politburo, and the second was the survival of a significant number of former 
oppositionists. These threats belonged to what might be called Bolshevik 
tradition. They hung over Stalin like a sword of Damocles, reminders that 
there were alternatives to sole dictatorship. His fellow Politburo members 
enjoyed significant administrative, if not political, independence. They ran 
the various branches of government and had a host of clients from within 
the party and state apparats. The bonds of institutional and clan loyalties, 
along with the vestiges of collective leadership and intraparty democracy, 
were the last impediments to sole and unquestioned power.
	 In a speech given in early 1937, Stalin divided senior officials into sev-
eral categories. He labeled one “the generals of the party” (the three or four 
thousand most senior officials) and another “the party’s officers” (thirty 
to forty thousand mid-level officials).79 Until the mid-1930s, the party’s old 
guard had held a place of honor within these two groups, but Stalin had 
reason to distrust these respected figures. Whatever they might say from 
the podium, however earnestly they swore allegiance to him, he knew: 
these party elders well remembered that Lenin’s testament at one point 
almost brought Stalin’s political career to an end, and he had held onto 
power only through the support of Zinoviev and Kamenev; that in the late 
1920s Stalin had managed to defeat the Rykov-Bukharin group only with 
the support of the Central Committee; and that party policy in the 1930s 
had brought about catastrophic failures. By 1937, party functionaries had 
every reason to regard Stalin as “first among equals,” but not so long ago he 
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had been one among many jockeying for position. Stalin knew that the old 
guard had the clearest memory of that time.
	 Over long years of collaboration, the Old Bolsheviks had established 
close relationships with each other. Stalin periodically shuffled the deck, 
but it was hard to disrupt the networks of personal loyalty that had formed 
around officials at various levels. Leaders took “their people” with them 
from job to job. The people in these networks had divided loyalties: they 
served the dictator, but they also had their own patrons within the Polit-
buro or other high-level bodies. Of course all of these groups lacked formal 
cohesion and political power. No one has yet found evidence of a serious 
effort by them to oppose Stalin. At most, they expressed their dissatisfaction 
privately. But like any dictator, Stalin assumed the worst. He anticipated 
being stabbed in the back the moment the domestic or international situ-
ation worsened. Replacing the old guard with absolutely devoted younger 
stalwarts was a critical aspect of his program to solidify his position. The 
growing threat of war provoked the vozhd’s anxiety and desire to secure his 
power in case the unexpected happened. “The conqueror’s peace of mind 
requires the death of the conquered.” This phrase, attributed to Genghis 
Khan, was underlined in one of the books in Stalin’s library.80

	 The conquered—the repentant and humiliated former oppositionists—
were indeed a worrisome subgroup within the community of Old Bolshe-
viks. Although the secret police kept a close watch over them, the former 
oppositionists were still party members in good standing. Many held posts 
within the government and even the party apparat, or they had senior posi-
tions in major economic enterprises. Most Old Bolsheviks remembered the 
role the oppositionists had played during the glory days of the revolution. 
Kirov’s murder and the fabricated case alleging that followers of Zinoviev 
and Kamenev were involved in a terrorist plot changed everything. The for-
mer opposition was transformed overnight from comrades who had once 
committed political indiscretions into “enemies” and “terrorists.”
	 The former oppositionists were not the only ones affected by this sud-
den transformation. Among the old guard it was hard to find anyone who 
was not in some way tied to them. A significant proportion of Soviet gener-
als had served under Trotsky, who had founded the Red Army and led it for 
many years. Many up-and-coming functionaries had “erred” in their youth. 
In the 1920s, either because they were not yet sure which way the winds 
were blowing or were simply following their hearts, many had at some 
point supported the opposition. Others developed friendships with future 
members of the opposition during their years underground and during  
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the revolution or when they fought side by side during the Civil War. 
Some had recently collaborated with repentant oppositionists. In short, in 
striking a blow against the former oppositionists, Stalin launched a huge 
shake-up in the party ranks. It allowed him both to take care of political 
opponents who might have been lurking in the shadows and to purge the 
apparat overall, including getting rid of some of his Politburo comrades.
	 Between 1935 and early 1937, the persecution of former oppositionists 
was accompanied by shake-ups at the highest echelons of power. The Kirov 
murder strengthened the position of three enterprising young men: Niko-
lai Yezhov, Andrei Zhdanov, and Nikita Khrushchev. Yezhov’s promotion 
was especially significant. It was on his shoulders that Stalin placed direct 
responsibility for conducting the purge. After acquitting himself well in 
fabricating cases during the Kirov Affair, Yezhov was entrusted with a new 
assignment—the Kremlin Affair. In early 1935 a group of support staff work-
ing in government offices located in the Kremlin—maids, librarians, and 
members of the Kremlin commandant’s staff—were arrested and accused 
of plotting against Stalin. Among those arrested were several relatives of 
Lev Kamenev, who was charged with hatching the plot.81 The arrestees 
came under the authority of Stalin’s old friend Avel Yenukidze, who over-
saw the running of all Kremlin facilities, and he was accused of abetting the 
plot.82 Stalin took a great interest in the Kremlin Affair. The archives show 
that he regularly received and read arrestee interrogation protocols, made 
notations on them, and gave specific instructions to the NKVD.83

	 Although Yenukidze was not a member of the Politburo, he was an in-
timate part of the system of collective leadership insofar as he was close 
friends with many top officials, including Stalin himself. Stalin in essence 
used Yenukidze to test the durability of the collective leadership system. 
This was the dictator’s first significant strike against his inner circle. The test 
was successful. The Politburo offered only weak resistance, and Yenukidze 
was fired, arrested, and shot. For a while Stalin trod carefully, taking the 
operation one step at a time, but gradually the cleansing of the top nomen-
klatura picked up steam. A turning point was the first Moscow show trial of 
former opposition leaders in August 1936. After being extensively tortured, 
the defendants, who included Kamenev, Zinoviev, and other prominent 
party figures, were proclaimed terrorists and spies and then shot.
	 The August trial took the hunt for enemies to a new level of hysteria. Sta-
lin appointed Yezhov to take over the NKVD, and under the vozhd’s guid-
ance, he began preparing new trials and intensified the purge of the party 
and state apparats. In January 1937 a second show trial was held, this time 
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of former oppositionists who held senior positions overseeing the econ-
omy and industrial enterprises. They were charged with wrecking and 
espionage. Stalin’s close associates, compromised by ties with supposed 
enemies, gave in. Only Ordzhonikidze would not allow his underlings in 
the heavy-industry sector to be arrested, sparking a conflict with Stalin 
that ended with Ordzhonikidze’s suicide.84 This desperate act shows how 
helpless the Politburo members felt before Stalin, whose control of the 
secret police made him an indomitable force. The vozhd’s long-standing 
comrades-in-arms, to say nothing of middle-level functionaries, were a 
fractured force. They fell all over one another in an effort to ingratiate them-
selves with Stalin, each hoping to save his own skin.
	 Such was the state of affairs when the already thinned ranks of the no-
menklatura convened for the February–March Central Committee plenum 
of 1937. During the plenum, Stalin ordered that repression be continued, 
and Yezhov made a speech calling for a case to be brought against the lead-
ers of the “right deviation,” Nikolai Bukharin and Aleksei Rykov (their fellow 
“rightist,” Mikhail Tomsky, had already killed himself in August 1936). The 
plenum of course approved Yezhov’s proposal. Bukharin and Rykov were 
arrested, and in March 1938 they were convicted to be shot at the third Mos-
cow show trial. Like the other trials, this one was followed by a wave of spu-
rious convictions across the country.
	 The repression that roiled the party and state apparats came down 
with particular force on the “power structures,” the NKVD and the army—
organizations that Stalin thought posed the greatest threat to his dictator-
ship. Once Yezhov took over the NKVD, he destroyed his predecessor, Ya-
goda, and many of his associates. In June 1937, after being tortured, a large 
number of senior military officers, including the deputy people’s commis-
sar for defense, Mikhail Tukhachevsky, were given death sentences based 
on trumped-up charges of belonging to an “anti-Soviet Trotskyite military 
organization.”85 Soon afterward, a wave of arrests swept through the en-
tire army. Scholarly investigation of recently opened archives can now set 
decades-long debate to rest: the Tukhachevsky Affair and the entire anti-
military campaign was based on evidence fabricated by the NKVD under 
Stalin’s direct supervision. The charges brought against the military leaders 
had absolutely no basis in fact.86

	 At first, repression was primarily targeted at key members of the gov-
ernment, party, state security services, and military and had little effect on 
ordinary citizens. If the terror had been limited to the party-state nomen-
klatura, one might agree with those who have argued that Stalin’s main 
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goal was to destroy the party’s old guard and install a new generation of 
functionaries blindly devoted to him. He did undeniably pursue this goal. 
But in the second half of 1937, the terror was brought to bear on a much 
larger swath of the Soviet population, and this expansion is what made it 
“the Great Terror.” In terms of their scale and the number of victims, these 
later operations greatly overshadowed those primarily targeted at officials. 
After shooting a significant fraction of the nomenklatura, Stalin brought 
his terror to its logical conclusion. Having solidified power at the top, he 
undertook to purge the country of a suspected fifth column. The threat of 
a major war exacerbated Stalin’s paranoia. Hundreds of thousands of inno-
cent people paid the price.
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Trepidation in the Inner Circle

The initial arrival of the four at the near dacha,  
early morning hours of 2 March 1953.
The bodyguard entered Stalin’s apartments with the packet of mail and 
started looking for him. After walking through several rooms, he finally 
found the vozhd in the small dining room. The sight must have been 
extremely disturbing. Stalin was lying helpless on the floor, which was 
wet beneath him.1 This last point is important not for reasons of schaden-
freude or as an evocative detail but because it affected subsequent events. 
It appeared to the bodyguard that Stalin was unable to speak, but he did 
make a small hand gesture, beckoning him to approach. The bodyguard 
summoned his colleagues, who helped him lift Stalin onto the couch. 
They then rushed to telephone their immediate superior, State Security 
Minister Semen Ignatiev. According to the bodyguards’ later accounts, 
Ignatiev refused to make any decisions and told them to call members of 
the top leadership: Beria and Malenkov.
	 Ignatiev’s reaction was perfectly understandable. He was behaving just 
as the bodyguards had done several hours earlier, when they were afraid 
to enter Stalin’s rooms uninvited. Ignatiev did not want to take responsi-
bility for a decision to summon doctors to the vozhd. This was a ticklish 
matter for a man who, just two years earlier, had been plucked from the 
relatively cozy position of Central Committee department head and 
assigned to hunt for enemies of the people as minister of state security. 
He must have rued the day Stalin picked him for this job, which carried 
a high price for failure. From then on he lived in fear. Upon hearing that 
Stalin had suffered some sort of stroke, his only desire was to hand deci-
sion-making responsibility to somebody else.
	 Having failed to get any guidance from their boss, the bodyguards 
managed to find Malenkov, who then informed the other members of the 
ruling Five: Beria, Khrushchev, and Bulganin. This made sense. Without 
a clear understanding of Stalin’s condition, Malenkov did not want to go 
to the dacha by himself or be the only one to sanction the summoning of 
doctors. Any decisions should be made collectively. The four men agreed 
to meet at the dacha to assess the situation and give each other cover for 
whatever actions were taken.
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	 Both Khrushchev’s memoirs and the bodyguards’ accounts describe 
the top leadership’s extreme caution after arriving at the dacha in the 
middle of the night. They were afraid of doing anything that might pro-
voke Stalin’s wrath if he recovered. According to Khrushchev, at first they 
did not even enter Stalin’s apartments, choosing instead to interrogate the 
bodyguards. What they heard made them even more nervous. That Stalin 
was incapacitated and had apparently urinated on himself put the leaders 
in a difficult position. They knew he would not want anyone to see him 
in such a state. What if this was just a passing episode? Stalin would not 
look fondly on anyone who had witnessed his humiliating helplessness. 
As Khrushchev describes it, once they learned from the bodyguards that 
Stalin “now seemed to be sleeping, we thought that since he was in such 
poor shape, it would be awkward for us to appear at his side and make our 
presence officially known. So we went back to our homes.”2

	 Khrushchev’s memoirs apparently do not tell the whole story. Accord-
ing to the bodyguards, before leaving, the four designated Malenkov and 
Beria to enter Stalin’s rooms and personally assess his condition. Such an 
assessment required two men for obvious reasons. If all four went, they 
would make unnecessary noise and risk rousing the vozhd. And none of 
them wanted to go in by himself. Khrushchev and Bulganin thus waited 
in the bodyguards’ quarters while Beria and Malenkov snuck stealthily 
in to look at Stalin, terrified of waking him. The bodyguards recalled one 
slapstick detail: Malenkov’s new shoes made a squeaking noise, so he took 
them off and carried them under his arm. As the two men approached, 
they could hear Stalin lightly snoring. After emerging, Beria berated the 
bodyguards for raising a fuss over nothing. Stalin was just sleeping. The 
bodyguards defended their actions, explaining that matters had been 
much worse a few hours earlier.3 Dismissing the bodyguards’ concerns, 
the four men returned to Moscow.
	 Some historians and commentators have detected conspiratorial 
overtones in this episode and blame Stalin’s death on the decision not to 
call for medical help. This interpretation is doubtful. First, according to 
the doctors who performed the autopsy, Stalin’s stroke was the result of 
atherosclerosis that had been developing for years.4 Quick intervention 
would not have saved him. On the other hand, his fellow leaders could not 
have known this. They did not understand the implications of providing or 
withholding medical care, and their failure to summon doctors could have 
contained some malicious intent. Many Soviet leaders, in their hearts, 
surely did not wish their abusive leader long life. Nevertheless, less sinis-
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ter explanations must also be considered. Stalin’s associates were simply 
afraid of intervening. They were not used to taking the initiative, and they 
knew Stalin’s suspicious and capricious nature all too well. During those 
days in early March, everyone involved—the bodyguards, Ignatiev, and 
the other members of the Five—behaved exactly as Stalin had trained 
them to behave. They tiptoed nervously forward, always looking over their 
shoulders and trying to shift as much responsibility as possible onto each 
other.
	 For many years, even Stalin’s closest associates and friends, people 
with whom he had shared long years of struggle, had lived under the 
constant threat of destruction. A dictator can only be sure of his power if 
those around him are at his mercy. After destroying the former opposition 
leaders, in 1937–1938 Stalin proceeded to have a significant portion of the 
Politburo shot. The close relatives of some of his surviving associates were 
also arrested or killed. The brother of Politburo member Lazar Kaganovich 
committed suicide, and Kalinin’s wife wound up in a camp.5 This suppres-
sion of potential oligarchs continued after the war. The Leningrad Affair 
did away with Nikolai Voznesensky and Aleksei Kuznetsov, two members 
of the younger generation who had risen to prominence under Stalin.6 
Molotov’s wife was arrested around the same time. In the final months of 
his life, Stalin lashed out at Molotov and Mikoyan, essentially removing 
them from power. His death would provide the only guarantee against 
new purges.
	 At some point in their careers, virtually everyone in the top Soviet lead-
ership had to endure a ritual of humiliation and repentance followed by 
renewed oaths of allegiance to the vozhd. Stalin would cast his comrades 
into disfavor only to later bring them back into the fold. He was generous 
with rebukes and liked to orchestrate verbal floggings in the press and at 
various meetings. And when he lost his temper, it was a horrifying sight to 
behold. Minister of Foreign Trade Mikhail Menshikov told of one instance 
when he incurred Stalin’s wrath during a meeting by failing to properly 
hear his question. “He gave me a furious look,” Menshikov recalled, “and 
launched a fat pencil at me as hard as he could, hurling it along the length 
of the table in my direction. For a moment everyone froze and waited to 
see what would happen next.”7 After Stalin’s death, Ignatiev complained 
about having been subjected to constant dressings-down: “Comrade 
Stalin reprimanded me using fouler language than I’d ever heard in my 
life and called me an idiot.”8 When the writer Konstantin Simonov at-
tended the Central Committee plenum in October 1952, he was struck by 
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the furious, “almost ferocious” and “unrestrained,” tone of Stalin’s speech 
denouncing Molotov and Mikoyan.9 Stalin’s temper and unpredictability, 
especially during his final years, were made worse by his declining health.
	 Top Soviet officials lived a golden-cage existence. While they exercised 
life-and-death power over their subordinates, they were at the constant 
mercy of their ultimate boss. Their security, transportation, incoming and 
outgoing correspondence, special telephone lines, dachas, and apart-
ments—all were handled by state security, which was entirely under the 
dictator’s control. Such control meant that Stalin knew everything about 
how and with whom these officials spent their time. As if that were not 
enough, he apparently asked the secret police to install listening devices 
to spy on certain Politburo members.10

	 Despite the oppression of the collective leadership, periodic manifes-
tations of oligarchy inevitably threatened Stalin’s sole power. Though very 
much under his thumb, his fellow leaders did enjoy a certain administra-
tive autonomy as the heads of major government institutions, and they 
independently made many decisions of consequence for the running of 
the country. Furthermore, their authority expanded as Stalin’s physical 
frailty diminished his involvement in day-to-day decision making. Stalin 
was aware of this threat. Konstantin Simonov recorded a typical comment 
by the vozhd about his comrades, as reported by an eyewitness:

Even when differences remain, they will come to some agreement 
on paper and present the issue to me in that form. . . . The managers 
understand that I cannot know everything; all they want from me 
is a stamp with my signature. Yes, I cannot know everything, so I pay 
attention to differences, to objections, and I try to make sense of why 
they come up, where the real problem lies. The managers do their best to 
conceal these from me; they go along with the votes but they conceal 
the differences, all so that they can get a stamp with my signature. What 
they want out of me is my stamp.11

	 Stalin’s method for penetrating the defenses of this mutual protection 
society could best be described as scattershot. The dictator’s underlings 
never knew what question might suddenly interest him. They never 
knew whether Stalin would react to a particular decision and, if so, how 
or when. The constant threat of a random attack allowed him to keep 
the apparat and his close associates in a state of tension that helped to 
compensate for his lack of total control over them. The vozhd’s effort to 
maximize his power over his subordinates was helped by the number of 
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channels through which he received information. The government and 
party bureaucracies, the courts, and state security all kept an eye on one 
another and constantly tried to prove their vigilance and effectiveness by 
denouncing one another to Stalin, zealously exposing others’ warts while 
concealing their own.
	 Repression, the constant threat of punishment, and Stalin’s temper and 
whims made the life of top Soviet officials almost as difficult as that of the 
powerless man or woman on the street. His “comrades” lived and worked 
under constant stress. One long-term Soviet diplomat left the following re-
membrance of the country’s minister of foreign affairs, Andrei Vyshinsky, 
one of Stalin’s most devoted and successful associates: “Vyshinsky was 
terrified of Stalin. Every Thursday he would go and report to him, and well 
beforehand, in anticipation of this encounter, his mood would sour. The 
closer it came to Thursday, the gloomier and more irritable he got. . . . But 
by Friday, when it was all behind him, he allowed himself to relax for a day 
or two. Experienced people knew that this was when it was best to report 
to him on the most complicated matters or approach him with requests of 
a personal nature.”12

	 Stalin was a merciless boss. He expected total dedication from his sub-
ordinates and favored a military management style: orders had to be car-
ried out unquestioningly and at any cost—no excuses. In addition to the 
constant danger of arrest and the excessive workload, the lives of Stalin’s 
close associates were made difficult by his nocturnality. To accommo-
date the vozhd, the apparat worked both at night, when Stalin was awake, 
and during the day, when the rest of the country was up. The stresses of 
working for Stalin apparently made some stronger. A number of his clos-
est associates lived many years. Molotov and Kaganovich, for example, 
nearly reached the century mark. But not everyone had the iron consti-
tution and adaptability needed to survive the demands Stalin placed on 
his subordinates. A Central Committee document written in 1947 admit-
ted that “An analysis of the health of the party and government’s leading 
cadres has shown that many individuals, even among the relatively young, 
suffer from diseases of the heart and the circulatory and nervous systems 
sufficiently serious to impact their ability to work. One cause of these dis-
eases is stressful work not only during the day, but also during the night, 
and often even on holidays.”13 As long as Stalin was alive, nothing could 
be done about this problem, but soon after his death a resolution was 
adopted requiring regular government offices to remain closed at night, 
and the bureaucracy began to run in a more normal way.
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	 Stalin kept himself at the center of the huge machine used to manip-
ulate officials. He initiated and guided repression, orchestrated all major 
reassignments, and was constantly reshuffling people so that nobody 
grew too comfortable in a particular job. Like any dictator, he strove to 
instill a sense of fear, adoration, and instinctive devotion in his underlings. 
Vyacheslav Molotov, a diehard follower of the dictator, described Lazar 
Kaganovich as a “two hundred percent Stalinist.”14 These were the sorts of 
people Stalin tried to cultivate.
	 A key element of the process by which the Soviet government—including 
its very top leadership—was “Stalinized” was the mass purges of the 1930s. 
In a matter of months, the purges destroyed the party’s old guard and 
replaced it with fresh faces, unburdened by excessive knowledge of the 
past or ideas about how the country might be run differently. “New stock” 
replaced officials who had earned their places in the Soviet government 
during the revolution. By 1940, after the Terror had receded, 57 percent of 
party secretaries in the regions of Russia and on the central committees 
of the Soviet Union’s ethnic republics were under the age of thirty-five.15 
Many ministers, generals, directors of major enterprises, and leaders of 
cultural unions were between thirty and forty.
	 Stalin gave these upstarts tremendous power, allowing them to preside 
over their own little dictatorships. The fates, even the lives, of millions 
were in their hands. The distribution of significant resources and the func-
tioning of gigantic enterprises depended on them. They formed their own 
caste, which lived by its own laws and enjoyed its own privileged world. 
The members of this caste did not know hunger or material want. They 
were not affected by the catastrophic shortage of housing or the back-
wardness of the health care system. They lived in spacious apartments 
and dachas, protected by guards. Their cars sped past overcrowded public 
buses and trolleys. Whoever did their shopping did not have to line up for 
hours outside empty stores. Their salaries and tax-free supplemental pay 
(known as “envelopes”) exceeded by orders of magnitude the meager pay 
of ordinary citizens. The fees paid to Soviet writers privileged to belong to 
the nomenklatura reached the hundreds of thousands of rubles, in some 
cases generating annual incomes of up to a million rubles, many thou-
sands of times what a Soviet peasant survived on.16 Dazzled by the sense 
of belonging to an all-powerful government corporation and by their 
own importance, they were utterly free of compassion, self-reflection, or 
understanding of the “other.”
	 Stalin was the gatekeeper for the world of the nomenklatura. Entry 
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could be gained only with his favor and support. For those fortunate 
enough to survive, the horrible fates of their predecessors and the contin-
uing repression only intensified their gratitude toward the dictator. Stalin 
was twice the age of many members of this new generation of officials. 
Many of them knew little of the party’s revolutionary period or of former 
leaders who were now labeled enemies. For them, Stalin was the ultimate 
authority, the leader of the revolution, the victorious generalissimo, and a 
theoretician on a par with the founders of Marxism.
	 Stalin strove variously to feed this image. He cultivated an inferiority 
complex in his close associates: “You are blind like little kittens. Without 
me the imperialists would strangle you.”17 Gradually he acquired the ex-
clusive right to advance any initiative of significance, leaving the opera-
tional details to his comrades. His speeches, conversations, and letters 
were like lectures that he laced with contrived profundities. He liked to 
assign meaning to events and show off his vast knowledge and deep un-
derstanding of problems. The self-confident tone of his pontificating often 
belied the flimsiness and artificiality of his reasoning. But who would dare 
challenge him? For most functionaries, who tended to lack sophistication, 
Stalin’s utterances had an almost sacred quality. However, it was not just 
his monopoly on theoretical pronouncements that made the vozhd the 
voice of authority. He was well read and had a good memory, as well as a 
knack for pithy aphorisms. He would spend time preparing for his meet-
ings, and it enabled him to show an impressive knowledge of detail. Such 
knowledge left a deep impression on many who witnessed these perfor-
mances.
	 The primary reason that every utterance by Stalin carried such weight 
was that these were the words of an enormously powerful dictator who 
inspired both horror and adoration. To promote this image, he adopted 
the manner of a judge and master of destinies. During conferences he did 
not fraternize with other attendees but strolled around, pipe in hand. Be-
fore the spellbound gazes of onlookers, he reasoned out loud as if mulling 
weighty decisions. Stalin never publicly spoke of himself as a great man. 
It was enough that official propaganda shouted his greatness to the point 
of absurdity. Aware that brilliance stands out nicely against a façade of 
modesty, Stalin presented himself as a mere disciple of Lenin and servant 
of the party and the people. Every opportunity was taken to highlight this 
“humility.” He feigned impatience or even embarrassment when greeted 
with the inevitable standing ovation. He peppered his speeches with 
self-deprecation and folksy humor. He helped certain visitors to his dacha 
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with their coats. After arriving at a reception arranged by Mao Zedong 
during the Chinese leader’s January 1950 visit to Moscow, Stalin greeted 
the cloakroom attendant but turned down his services. “Thank you, but 
this is something even I seem to be able to manage.” After removing his 
coat, he hung it on a hanger himself.18 This affected modesty did not 
prevent Stalin from asserting his own worth when warranted. In 1947 he 
personally edited his official biography, inserting the following: “Master-
fully performing the job of vozhd of the party and people and enjoying the 
full support of the Soviet people, Stalin nevertheless did not allow even a 
shadow of self-importance, conceit, or self-admiration into anything he 
did.” Thirteen million copies of this biography were printed.19

	 Stalin must have believed that if he was going to hold on to power, he 
had to be considered infallible. On occasion he recognized that mistakes 
were made, but they could never be his. Misguided decisions and actions 
were attributed to “the government,” officials, or—most often—the plot-
ting of enemies. The idea that he might bear personal responsibility for 
the country’s afflictions was rejected out of hand. He was, however, willing 
to take credit for its achievements. Boundless power inevitably gave him, 
as it does any dictator, a belief that he was endowed with remarkable 
prescience. But unlike the mystically inclined Hitler, who believed he was 
following a higher calling, Stalin’s belief in his infallibility probably had 
more to do with his untrusting nature and anxieties. He was sure that the 
only person he could count on was himself. Around him swarmed ene-
mies and traitors. At times, this political paranoia was the cause of unfath-
omable tragedy. Such was the case in 1937–1938.
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4	Terror and Impending War
Throughout 1937, the wave of repressions against members of the nomen-
klatura and former oppositionists continued to grow. In August, this wave 
turned into a tsunami when the ranks of the repressed were expanded from 
a few tens of thousands of officials to hundreds of thousands of ordinary 
Soviet citizens. It was at this point that the repression of 1937–1938 earned 
the name given it by Robert Conquest: “the Great Terror.”1 

	 After the archives were opened, we learned that the Great Terror was 
actually a series of operations approved by the Politburo and aimed at dif-
ferent groups. The most far-ranging of these operations—the one against 
“anti-Soviet elements”—was carried out in fulfillment of NKVD Order No. 
00447, approved by the Politburo on 30 July 1937 and planned for August 
through December. Each region and republic was assigned specific numer-
ical targets for executions and imprisonments in camps. The quotas for the 
destruction of human lives were very much like those for the production 
of grain or metal. During the first stage, approximately two hundred thou-
sand people were to be sent to the camps and more than seventy thousand 
were to be shot. Yet Order No. 00447 allowed for flexibility: local officials 
had the right to ask Moscow to increase the permitted number of arrests 
and executions. It was clear to everyone involved that this right was actu-
ally a duty. After expeditiously reaching initial targets, local authorities sent 
Moscow new “increased obligations,” which were almost always approved. 
With Moscow’s encouragement, the initial plan for destroying “enemies” 
was fulfilled several times over.
	 The first “anti-Soviet elements” affected by the operation were the ku-
laks, who, according to Order No. 00447, had continued their “anti-Soviet 
subversive activities” after returning from camps and exile. Order No. 00447 
placed so much emphasis on kulaks that it has often been called “the kulak 
order.” This is a misnomer, however, since it provided for the arrest and ex-
ecution of many other population groups: former members of parties that 
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opposed the Bolsheviks, former members of the White Guard, surviving 
tsarist officials, “enemies” who had completed their sentences and been 
released, and political prisoners still in the camps. Toward the end of the 
list came common criminals.
	 This list of targets suggests that the operation’s purpose was the exter-
mination or imprisonment of anyone the Stalinist leadership considered 
a current or potential threat. This goal was even more clear-cut in the “na-
tionalities” operations that were conducted alongside the “anti-Soviet el-
ements” operation. The “nationalities” operations were also planned in 
Moscow and governed by special NKVD orders approved by the Politburo. 
They had a catastrophic impact on the Soviet Union’s ethnic Poles, Ger-
mans, Romanians, Latvians, Estonians, Finns, Greeks, Afghans, Iranians, 
Chinese, Bulgarians, and Macedonians. The Soviet leadership viewed all 
these groups as ripe for recruitment by hostile foreign powers. A special op-
eration was also conducted against Soviet employees of the Chinese East-
ern Railway, who had returned to the USSR from Harbin after the railway 
was sold to Japan in 1935.
	 The two campaigns, the “anti-Soviet elements” and the “nationalities” 
operations, comprised the Great Terror. It was a highly centralized effort 
begun in the summer of 1937 and concluded in November 1938. Based on the 
most recent knowledge, approximately 1.6 million people were arrested, and 
700,000 of them were shot.2 An unknown number perished in NKVD torture 
chambers. Over the roughly year-and-a-half duration of the Great Terror, 
approximately 1,500 “enemies” were killed every day. None of Stalin’s other 
crimes against the Soviet population matched the Great Terror in either 
scale or savagery, and human history offers few episodes that compare.
	 These figures explain why the Great Terror has come to symbolize Stalin’s 
dictatorship and personal cruelty. That Stalin himself was the inspiration 
behind the Terror has never been disputed by serious scholars, and further 
evidence of his involvement was found after the opening of the archives, 
which revealed how closely Moscow directed the operations. Having put to 
rest any lingering doubts that Stalin was the instigator and organizer of the 
Great Terror, historians have now turned to the task of reconstructing his 
plans and calculations during these bloody months. Scholars have debated 
Stalin’s motives for years. The horrific nature of his deeds has led some to 
think he might have been insane. Clinical proof of such a possibility is un-
doubtedly beyond reach at this point, but we do have extensive evidence of 
Stalin’s mental state during this period. For the first time in many years he 
did not take his usual summer vacation in the south, remaining in Moscow 
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to oversee the roundup. More telling are the many notations and instruc-
tions he left on interrogation protocols and the vast body of correspon-
dence between him and the NKVD during this period.

Com. Yezhov: Very important. You have to go through the Udmurt, 
Mari, Chuvash, and Mordov republics; go through them with a broom.3

Beat Unshlikht for not naming the Polish agents for each region.4

Comrade Yezhov: Very good! Keep on digging and cleaning out this 
Polish spy filth.5

You don’t need to “check,” you need to arrest.6

Valter (a German). Beat Valter.7

	 One important source for understanding the fury Stalin unleashed in 
1937–1938 is the complete transcripts of his speeches and remarks from this 
period; these have recently become available. Unusually convoluted and 
incoherent, they are filled with references to conspiracies and omnipres-
ent enemies. In remarks to a meeting of the defense commissar’s council 
on 2 June 1937, Stalin asserted, “Every party member, honest non-member, 
and citizen of the USSR has not only the right but also the duty to report 
any failings that he notices. Even if only 5 percent are true, it will still be 
worthwhile.”8 In another example, the top-performing workers in the met-
allurgical and coal industries, while being honored with a special reception 
at the Kremlin on 29 October 1937, were told by Stalin that he was not cer-
tain he could trust even them: “I’m not even sure that everyone present, I 
truly apologize to you, is for the people. I’m not sure whether even among 
you, I again apologize, there might be people who are working for the So-
viet government but at the same time have set themselves up with some 
intelligence agency in the West—Japanese, German, or Polish—for insur-
ance.” These words, which must surely have surprised those present, were 
expunged from the official record of the reception.9

	 These examples, of which there are many, are consistent with a state-
ment made by the commissar for foreign trade, Arkady Rozengolts, and 
contained in his NKVD case file. Rozengolts, who knew Stalin well, de-
scribed him as “suspicious to the point of insanity” and felt that by 1937 he 
had changed. In the past, Rozengolts noted, whenever he had reported to 
Stalin, the vozhd had calmly signed whatever papers needed his signature. 
Now he would fall into “a fit, a mad fit of rage.”10 This rage was undoubtedly 
an important factor in the huge scope and brutality of the Great Terror. By 
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the same token, Stalin’s agitated state does not fully explain the decisions he 
made throughout this period. Pivotal questions remain unanswered. With 
whom was Stalin so furious, and why did this fury emerge specifically then?
	 To understand the nature of Stalin and his regime it is important to keep 
in mind that the Soviet Union was born out of war. The country came into 
being as a result of World War I, established itself through victory in the 
Civil War—a victory that involved overcoming foreign intervention—and 
was perpetually preparing for the next war. Having come to power solely 
through war, Bolshevik leaders always believed their power could be taken 
away by the coordinated efforts of a foreign enemy and domestic counter-
revolutionary forces. War readiness, for them, had two aspects: a strong 
military economy and a secure homeland. The latter required destroying 
internal enemies.
	 The gradual move toward terror during the second half of the 1930s co-
incided with growing international tensions and a growing threat of war. 
In addition to Japanese aggression along the Soviet Union’s Far Eastern 
borders, events in Europe were increasingly alarming: Hitler had come to 
power, and Poland, which lay between the USSR and Germany, seemed in 
Stalin’s eyes to favor relations with Germany over the USSR. Western pow-
ers were pursuing a policy of appeasement toward the Nazis, and the Rhine-
land had been remilitarized in 1936. Another factor influencing Stalin’s for-
eign policy was the civil war in Spain, which convinced him that England 
and France were incapable of standing up to Germany. He had little faith 
in the Western democracies in any case. A policy of non-intervention no 
longer made sense for the Soviet leadership, and it decided to enter the war 
in support of Spain’s Republicans, who were fighting Hitler’s ally, General 
Francisco Franco. Stalin, observing the situation in Spain, became further 
convinced of the need to purge the homeland in the interests of military 
readiness. The Spanish Civil War was bringing to the fore a familiar assort-
ment of ills, including anarchy, guerrilla warfare, sabotage, a drifting and 
ambiguous line dividing the front from the rear, and all manner of treach-
ery. This was the war that gave us the concept of the fifth column. In Octo-
ber 1936, at a critical moment when four columns of Francoist forces were 
approaching Madrid, the Nationalist general Emilio Mola claimed to have 
a “fifth column” within the Republican-held city that would rise up and 
help his forces take it. This term quickly became embedded in the Soviet 
leaders’ political lexicon.
	 War in Spain and repression in the USSR escalated in parallel. When 
the conflict broke out in Spain, on 18 July 1936, the Stalinist leaders initially 
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reacted with caution. But catastrophic defeats suffered by the Republican 
army led them to intervene. On 29 September 1936, the Politburo adopted 
a plan of action.11 (It may be significant that this decision coincided with 
Yezhov’s appointment as head of the NKVD.) The Spanish defeats were 
taking place alongside setbacks in Europe and the Far East. On 25 October 
1936, Italy signed a treaty with Germany, followed on 25 November by the 
Anti-Comintern Pact between Germany and Japan. All of these develop-
ments seemed to heighten the danger of war.
	 Newly available archives confirm that Stalin was heavily involved in 
Spanish affairs. The evidence clearly shows that he believed Republican 
defeats were caused by saboteurs in the ranks. He demanded that the inter-
nal enemy be dealt with decisively. On 9 February 1937 Soviet representa-
tives in Valencia and Madrid were sent a telegram asserting that a series of 
failures at the front had been directly caused by treachery at headquarters: 
“Make use of these facts, discuss them, observing caution, with the best of 
the Republican commanders . . . so that they may demand . . . an immedi-
ate investigation of the surrender of Malaga, a purge of Franco agents and 
saboteurs from army headquarters. . . . If these demands by front-line com-
manders do not produce immediately the necessary results, put it . . . that 
our advisers may find it impossible to continue working under such condi-
tions.”12 A few days later, he repeated these demands: “We tell you what our 
firmly established opinion is: that the General Staff and other headquarters 
must be purged thoroughly of their complement of old specialists who are 
unable to understand the conditions of civil war and, in addition, are po-
litically unreliable. . . . Headquarters must be reinforced with fresh people, 
staunch and full of fighting spirit. . . . Without this radical measure the Re-
publicans will unquestionably lose the war. This is our belief.”13

	 At the same time that Stalin was dispatching telegrams to Spain, the no-
torious February–March 1937 Central Committee plenum, which signaled 
an intensification of repression, was taking place in Moscow. Stalin, read-
ing a draft of the speech Molotov planned to make to the plenum, made 
some comments in the margins. He underlined the parts where Molo-
tov talked about Trotsky ordering his followers in the USSR “to save their 
strength for the most important moment—for the start of war—and at that 
moment to strike with total decisiveness at the most sensitive points in our 
economy.”14 Near the words “those incapable of fighting the bourgeoisie, 
who prefer to cast their lot with the bourgeoisie rather than the working 
class, have abandoned [the party],” Stalin made a notation: “This is good. 
It would be worse if they abandoned us in time of war.”15 The theme of the 
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special danger posed by wreckers and spies in wartime ran through the 
speeches delivered at the plenum, including Stalin’s: “Winning a battle in 
time of war takes several corps of Red Army soldiers. But reversing that vic-
tory at the front requires just a few spies somewhere in army headquarters 
or even division headquarters, able to steal the battle plans and give them 
to the enemy. To build a major railway bridge would take thousands of peo-
ple. But to blow it up, just a few people would be enough. There are dozens, 
hundreds of such examples.”16

	 Stalin took an active hand in preparing an article for the 4 May 1937 
issue of Pravda, titled “Certain Insidious Recruitment Techniques Used 
by Foreign Intelligence.” This lengthy piece, taking up the bottom halves 
of three pages, was an important element of the Great Terror’s ideologi-
cal underpinning. It was reprinted in various publications, actively used 
in propaganda, and discussed at party study groups. We can see from the 
initial draft, which Stalin filed in his personal archive, that he modified its 
headline, which originally read “Certain Methods and Techniques Used by 
Foreign Intelligence,” to give it a more sinister tone.
	 This article, unlike others that Stalin helped produce, was not at all the-
oretical. It described specific (most likely fictitious) instances in which 
Soviet citizens, especially those sent overseas on state business, had been 
recruited by foreign intelligence agencies. These examples made the article 
credible and persuasive. Stalin contributed almost an entire page of text 
describing an instance in which a Soviet official working in Japan met reg-
ularly with an “aristocratic lady” in a restaurant. During one such meeting, 
a Japanese man in a military uniform appeared, claimed to be the woman’s 
husband, and made a scene. Another Japanese man appeared and offered 
to help resolve the matter, but only after the Soviet citizen agreed in writing 
to keep him informed of what was happening in the USSR. This “helpful 
intermediary” turned out to be an agent of Japanese intelligence, and the 
Soviet citizen became a spy.17

	 In the months that followed, Stalin’s suspicions were translated into 
massive police operations. During the spring and summer of 1937, the ur-
gent call to expose spies and forestall potential treason became the basis 
for a case against a counterrevolutionary organization within the Red 
Army. On 2 June 1937, Stalin explained the goal of the plot to members of 
the defense commissar’s Military Council: “They wanted to turn the USSR 
into another Spain.”18 Reports of treachery and anarchy in Spain were an 
important component of the propaganda campaign to “intensify vigilance” 
and fight against “enemies” within the USSR. In June and July 1937, when 
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the government was preparing to launch large-scale operations against 
domestic anti-Soviet elements, Soviet newspapers were filled with articles 
about arrests of German spies in Madrid and of Trotskyites in Barcelona 
and the fall of the Basque capital Bilbao brought about by a treacherous 
commander in the Basque army. Also during that summer, the Spanish Re-
publican government created a special state security agency to counteract 
espionage and combat the “fifth column”—the Servicio de Investigacion 
Militar (SIM), which sent tentacles into all parts of Republican Spain and 
brutally suppressed any opposition. The methods used by this new struc-
ture prompted sharp criticism even by sympathetic leftists in Western 
countries. Intensified repression in the Soviet Union was being mirrored in 
Spain (including by Soviet agents operating there).19 The Spanish Repub-
lican police and the Soviet secret police each worked to crush their own 
“fifth columns.”
	 In July the situation in the Far East became even more tense after Japan 
invaded China. Two important events occurred on 21 August 1937. First, the 
USSR and China, both with eyes on Japan, signed a non-aggression pact. 
Second, a resolution was adopted by the Council of People’s Commissars 
and the Central Committee to “Expel the Korean Population from Border 
Regions of the Far Eastern Territory.” In the fall of 1937 a massive operation 
was undertaken to arrest and deport Koreans from this vast region. More 
than 170,000 people were expelled. The expressed goal was to “prevent the 
penetration of Japanese espionage into the Far Eastern Territory.”20

	 The idea that the country had to be purged of a potential fifth column, 
a recurring theme throughout the 1930s in the USSR, was an article of faith 
among Stalin’s close associates. Even many decades later, they referred to it:

Nineteen thirty-seven was necessary. If you consider that after the revo-
lution we were slashing left and right, and we were victorious, but ene-
mies of different sorts remained, and in the face of the impending dan-
ger of fascist aggression they might unite. We owe the fact that we did 
not have a fifth column during the war to ’37.21

This was a struggle against a fifth column of Hitlerite fascism that had 
come to power in Germany and was preparing war against the country 
of the Soviets.22

	 There is little doubt that Stalin encouraged these ideas among his fellow 
Politburo members. From their narrow perspective, he had a logical and 
convincing argument. The Soviet government had many internal enemies 
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who might be keeping a low profile at the moment but were ready to leap 
into action as soon as the USSR was challenged by a foreign power. The rel-
atively independent old party nomenklatura, which still had ties to the mil-
itary and the NKVD, might seek to take charge. Former oppositionists were 
surely eager to take revenge after long years of humiliation and persecution. 
The kulaks and the perpetually starving peasants might band together with 
former members of the nobility, White Guard, and the clergy to follow the 
example of the Bolsheviks in 1917 and turn war with a foreign enemy into 
a civil war against a despised regime. Then there were the Soviet Union’s 
many ethnic minorities with ties to neighboring countries—Germans and 
Poles especially—who Stalin suspected would collaborate with an enemy 
based on ties of blood. The way to eliminate these dangers was to destroy 
as many potential enemies and collaborationists as possible. Such was the 
logic of Stalin’s fearful and ruthless mind as the threat of war grew. In the 
fevered imaginations of his inner circle, such a fifth column loomed orders 
of magnitude larger than it could possibly have been in reality. Phantom 
threats overshadowed the very real dangers confronting the Soviet Union.

■	 was It All Yezhov’s Fault?
	 Stalin claimed to have had no part in his own atrocities. He told 
the renowned Soviet aeronautical engineer Aleksandr Yakovlev that it was 
all Yezhov’s fault: “Yezhov was a beast! A degenerate. You’d call him at the 
commissariat, and they’d tell you, ‘He went to the Central Committee.’ 
You’d call the Central Committee, and they’d tell you, ‘He went to his office.’ 
You’d send someone to his house, and it turns out that he’s lying on his bed 
dead drunk. Many innocent lives were lost. That’s why we shot him.”23

	 The winding down of the Great Terror in late 1938 and early 1939 was 
accompanied by a campaign to deflect suspicion away from its true perpe-
trators. This effort was helped by Yezhov’s removal and the very public un-
masking of “slanderers” who had submitted denunciations against honest 
people—supposedly a major cause of the repression. Even today some are 
willing to argue Stalin’s innocence, proposing pseudo-scholarly theories that 
the Great Terror erupted spontaneously on the initiative of local officials. Of 
course, once Moscow issued its orders, the momentum generated was bound 
to look elemental. In the bureaucratic language of the Stalin era, the behavior 
of zealous officials was labeled peregiby (excesses). But it was not excesses 
that determined the scale and ferocity of the Terror. The documentary evi-
dence shows that large-scale operations rarely deviated from Stalin’s orders.
	 After Moscow’s arrest and execution quotas were received by the NKVD 
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headquarters of each oblast (province) and krai (a territory similar to a 
province but containing semi-autonomous administrative units), the re-
gional NKVD chief would gather the heads of local (municipal and dis-
trict) NKVD offices for a meeting, at which the regional quota would be 
parceled out among the administrative entities (districts, towns, villages, 
settlements). The first source used in compiling a list of enemies was the 
card files that the political police kept on various suspected “anti-Soviet el-
ements,” as well as any other compromising materials that came to hand. 
After a victim was arrested, an investigation was conducted to expose his 
or her “counterrevolutionary ties” or uncover the existence of “counter
revolutionary organizations.”24 The necessary “evidence” was obtained 
using a variety of methods, most often torture, which was officially sanc-
tioned by the country’s top leadership. The forms of torture were brutal 
and sometimes caused an arrestee’s death. One major goal of interrogation 
was to obtain testimony implicating others, thus generating a second wave 
of arrestees, who in turn provided more names. These police operations 
could, in theory, continue indefinitely, or until the potential pool of victims 
had been thoroughly drained. Such operations did not continue only be-
cause Stalin had full control of the state security system and party apparat 
and could close the spigot whenever he wanted. Every decision to sentence 
a presumed enemy to a labor camp or to be shot was approved in Moscow.
	 At first it was assumed that these large-scale operations would conclude 
at the end of 1937. Gradually, the date was moved back to November 1938. 
On 17 January 1938, Stalin sent NKVD chief Yezhov new orders:

The SR [Socialist Revolutionary Party] line (both left and right) has not 
been fully uncovered. . . . It is important to keep in mind that there are 
still many SRs in our army and outside the army. Can the NKVD account 
for the (“former”) SRs in the army? I would like to see a report promptly. 
Can the NKVD account for “former” SRs outside the army (in civil insti-
tutions)? I also would like a report in two–three weeks. . . . What has been 
done to expose and arrest all Iranians in Baku and Azerbaijan? For your 
information, at one time the SRs were very strong in Saratov, Tambov, 
and the Ukraine, in the army (officers), in Tashkent and Central Asia in 
general, and at the Baku electrical power stations, where they became 
entrenched and sabotaged the oil industry. We must act more swiftly 
and intelligently.25

This document is one of many pieces of evidence that Stalin played the 
decisive role in organizing the Great Terror and that Yezhov was following 
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his orders. Archival records clearly show Stalin to be the initiator of all key 
decisions having to do with purges of party and government institutions 
and the mass operations that swept up ordinary citizens. He not only or-
dered the arrest and execution of hundreds of thousands of people, but he  
also took a strong interest in the details. He sent telegrams about the need 
to make particular arrests, threatened dire consequences for insufficient 
vigilance, and signed lists of members of the nomenklatura to be executed 
and imprisoned. In many cases he personally decided whether someone 
would be shot or sent to a labor camp.26 Overseeing the large-scale opera-
tions to wipe out enemies took up a significant portion of the dictator’s time 
in 1937–1938. Over a twenty-month period from January 1937 to August 1938, 
he received fifteen thousand spetssoobshchenii (special communications) 
reporting on arrests and the conduct of various secret police operations 
or requesting approval for a particular act of repression, usually accompa-
nied by interrogation protocols (transcripts). On a typical day, he received 
twenty-five documents from Yezhov, some running to many pages.27 Fur-
thermore, the record of visitors to Stalin’s office shows that during 1937 and 
1938, Yezhov visited him almost 290 times and spent a total of 850 hours 
with him. The only person who visited more often was Molotov.28

	 Yezhov was a capable and motivated pupil. He organized the trials of 
former oppositionists and conducted day-to-day oversight of the giant 
machine of repression. He personally participated in interrogations and 
issued orders to apply torture. To please Stalin, who always demanded 
greater efforts in the fight against enemies and constantly pointed to new 
threats, Yezhov encouraged his subordinates to exceed the Politburo’s tar-
gets for mass arrests and executions and to fabricate new conspiracies. 
To encourage them, the NKVD and Yezhov personally were lavished with 
praise throughout 1937 and most of 1938. Yezhov was given every conceiv-
able award and title and simultaneously held several key party and govern-
ment posts. Cities, factories, and kolkhozes were named after him.
	 Despite these signs that Stalin was pleased with his people’s commis-
sar for internal affairs, there is evidence that the vozhd was maintaining 
a certain distance, even as Yezhov and his organization were lavished 
with praise for their excellent work in exposing enemies. Inevitably, Sta-
lin eventually brought the mass extermination to a halt and blamed the 
“excesses” and “violations of law” on Yezhov and his subordinates. Stalin 
laid the groundwork for Yezhov’s removal gradually and systematically. In 
August 1938, he appointed Lavrenty Beria, first party secretary for Georgia, 
to serve as Yezhov’s deputy. On the surface, nothing had changed. Yezhov 



terror and impending war160

still seemed to enjoy power and favor. But now, by his side was a man he 
would never have chosen. Several months later Yezhov even alluded to Be-
ria’s appointment in a letter to Stalin, describing it as showing “an element 
of mistrust toward me” and admitting that he saw “[Beria’s] appointment 
as preparation for my being relieved.”29 He was right. Unable to cope with 
the stress of the situation, he descended into alcoholism and lost control of 
both the NKVD and himself.
	 Two months after Beria’s appointment, Stalin took further steps toward 
Yezhov’s removal. On 8 October 1938 the Politburo established a commis-
sion to draft a resolution concerning the NKVD. Yezhov’s subordinates 
began to be arrested. Beria’s henchmen set to work beating testimony 
against Yezhov out of them, just as Yezhov’s henchmen had done when he 
was building a case against his precedessor, Genrikh Yagoda. On 17 Novem-
ber the Politburo adopted a transparently hypocritical and mendacious  
resolution remarking on NKVD successes in destroying “enemies of the 
people and foreign intelligence agencies’ espionage-sabotage networks” 
but also condemning “shortcomings and perversions” in the NKVD’s 
work.30 While repeatedly demanding an intensified struggle against ene-
mies, Stalin had never questioned the mission of mass terror that he him-
self had conceived and promoted. Yezhov and the NKVD now stood ac-
cused of doing what Stalin had ordered them to do. If Yezhov had been 
allowed to make a serious case for himself, he would have had no trouble 
doing so. But as he knew better than anyone, that was not how the Stalinist 
system worked. All he could do was hope and repent.
	 Having done his job, the faithful Yezhov was no longer needed. He was 
arrested and shot as the head of a (nonexistent) counterrevolutionary or-
ganization within the NKVD. Stalin apparently did not feel the need to goad 
excessive public outrage, and Yezhov’s downfall was arranged without fan-
fare. The cautious tidiness with which he was removed shows that Stalin 
was reluctant to draw public attention to the activities of the NKVD and 
the mechanics of the Great Terror. Yezhov was Stalin’s senior scapegoat. He 
paid the ultimate price so that his vozhd could remain above suspicion. For 
the Soviet people, the Terror became the “Yezhovshchina”—a term using a 
Russian suffix suggesting some rampant evil.
	 The final stage of the Great Terror—its unwinding, which Stalin carefully 
controlled—mainly targeted Yezhov’s top lieutenants at the NKVD. A min-
iscule number of ordinary citizens swept up by the large-scale operations—
primarily those who had fallen into NKVD clutches during the second half 
of 1938—were released. The machinery of terror remained in place with 
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only minor adjustments, and ruthless repression continued until Stalin’s 
death. The vozhd never stopped believing that enemies were all around or 
demanding that they be unmasked, arrested, and tortured. But he never 
again resorted to repression on the scale seen during 1937–1938.
	 Stalin must have been aware of the Terror’s devastating consequences, 
yet he never, either in public or even within his inner circle, questioned 
its necessity. But the consequences could not have escaped his attention. 
A huge number of those responsible for running the Soviet economy had 
been arrested. Workplace discipline suffered, and engineers were afraid to 
propose any changes or innovations that might later subject them to un-
scrupulous accusations of “wrecking.” The Terror led to a sizable decline in 
the rate of growth in industrial production.31 The military too suffered from 
a shrinking pool of experienced and competent commanders and a decline 
in discipline and responsibility. The Red Army was so heavily affected by 
repression that the Soviet leadership was forced to return many previously 
arrested or discharged commanders to service, at least those the NKVD 
had not yet had time to execute.32

	 The Great Terror of 1937–1938 put huge stresses on Soviet society and 
caused widespread misery. Millions of people were directly affected. Many 
who escaped being shot, confined to labor camps, or subjected to internal 
deportation lost their jobs or were evicted from their apartments or even 
towns for the sole crime of having ties to “enemies of the people.” Such 
abuses and upheavals could not be forgiven and passively accepted. Al-
though fear was a fairly effective means of keeping the population from 
expressing its displeasure, grievances were lodged. In 1937–1938, these 
grievances mainly took the form of the millions of complaints that came 
pouring into government and party offices. In January 1937 alone, 13,000 
complaints were filed with the procuracy, and in February–March 1938 the 
number reached 120,000.33 It has not yet been established how many letters 
and petitions were sent to Stalin himself during the Great Terror or how 
many actually reached his desk. The records are either inaccessible or were 
not preserved. We can only assume that Stalin’s office was inundated with 
such petitions. The vozhd could not have been entirely shielded from his 
subjects’ desperation, grief, and disillusionment.
	 What was Stalin’s reaction to the suffering of his fellow citizens? The his-
torical record gives no clear answer to this question, but there is no evi-
dence that he felt the slightest remorse or pity. Nevertheless, he could not 
entirely ignore political realities. Although he still despised imaginary ene-
mies and feared imaginary conspiracies, he never repeated his experiment 



terror and impending war162

in large-scale terror. After 1938, repression continued on a smaller scale and 
in a more routine manner.

■	 the Search for Allies
	 The Great Terror damaged the Soviet Union’s international reputa-
tion. Stalin undoubtedly understood that people in the West, especially on 
the left, were shocked to learn that prominent revolutionaries were being 
put to death. In an effort to minimize the impact on public opinion, the 
campaign of repression was paralleled by an energetic propaganda cam-
paign. Accounts of the Moscow trials—at which Lenin’s comrades-in-arms 
and other Old Bolsheviks admitted plotting terrorist acts against Stalin and  
having ties with foreign intelligence agencies—were translated into Eu-
ropean languages and widely circulated. Prominent Western intellectu-
als and cultural figures were invited to Moscow. The German writer Lion 
Feuchtwanger met personally with Stalin and then wrote a book casting 
the Soviet Union in a favorable light. Caught between the hammer of Na-
zism and the anvil of Stalinism, many were ready to delude themselves as 
to the regime’s true nature. The West’s political decision makers, however, 
had every reason not only to distrust Stalin, but also to see the hysteria over 
supposed enemies as evidence of weakness. The purge of Red Army com-
manders and the execution of well-known Soviet marshals in particular 
made the regime appear unstable. The West clearly saw the Terror in very 
different terms than Stalin. Obsessed with the idea of a fifth column, Stalin 
simply failed to understand that his moves to arrest and shoot so many of 
his own citizens looked more like weakness and instability than strength.
	 To some extent the Western observers were right. Signs of the Terror’s 
devastating impact on Soviet military might soon became apparent. In 
June 1938, the NKVD general in charge of the Far East, Genrikh Liushkov, 
crossed the Soviet border into Manchuria and offered his services to the 
Japanese. This was of course a traitorous act, but Liushkov was pushed in 
that direction by Stalin. After faithfully serving the regime and spilling riv-
ers of other people’s blood, he realized it would soon be his own turn to 
bleed. When a summons came to report to Moscow, Liushkov decided that 
his best option was to defect. Given his years as a top NKVD official in Mos-
cow, his experience working face-to-face with Stalin, and his role as secret 
police chief of the militarily critical Far Eastern region, he had a great deal 
to offer. He was well informed about military readiness in the Far East and 
the makeup and placement of Soviet troops—and he shared all this infor-
mation with the enemy. Stalin further undermined military preparedness 
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in the Far East by ordering another wave of arrests within the army. Mean- 
while, in July and August 1938, the Red Army clashed with Japanese forces 
near Lake Khasan, an area near the borders with Korea and China. Stalin 
closely monitored this conflict and demanded decisive action. In a con-
versation with the commander of the Far Eastern front, Marshal Vasily  
Bliukher (who had expressed his reluctance to use aviation), Stalin issued 
the following order: “I don’t understand your fear that bombing might hurt 
the Korean population or your fear that aviation won’t be able to fulfill its 
mission because of fog. Who forbade you to hurt the Korean population 
in time of war with Japan? Why would you care about Koreans when the 
Japanese are striking at lots of our people? What do a few clouds matter to 
Bolshevik aviation when it wants to truly defend the honor of its Mother-
land?”34

	 While the Battle of Lake Khasan ended favorably for the Soviet side, the 
clash exposed significant shortcomings in the combat readiness of Red 
Army troops and command structures. As usual, Stalin assumed that the 
army’s poor performance was the result of treachery. Marshal Bliukher was 
arrested and died in prison after being brutally tortured.
	 Repression and the perception of Soviet weakness were not the primary 
causes of Stalin’s deteriorating relations with the West. The mass arrests 
just added to Western leaders’ list of reasons for mistrusting him. A warm-
ing of relations with France in the mid-1930s did not last, despite the threat 
posed to both countries by the rapid rise of Nazism. In the Spanish Civil 
War, the Soviet Union and Western democracies found themselves in fre-
quent disagreement. Underlying this tendency toward poor relations, de-
spite their common collective security concerns, was the fundamental in-
compatibility of Stalinism with “bourgeois” democracy. During the second 
half of the 1930s Western leaders preferred to appease Hitler rather than 
form an alliance with Stalin, a trend that reached its climax with the Mu-
nich Agreement. On 30 September 1938, the leaders of Great Britain and 
France, Neville Chamberlain and Édouard Daladier, signed an agreement 
with Hitler and Mussolini handing over Czechoslovakia’s Sudetenland, an 
area primarily populated by German speakers, to Germany. Czechoslova-
kia was forced to accept this devastating pact. The Soviet Union was simply 
ignored, even though it and France had signed mutual assistance agree-
ments with Czechoslovakia. Stalin was shut out of European great power 
politics.
	 Stalin undoubtedly took such marginalization as a personal insult. Mu-
nich only intensified his fear that the democracies and fascists were con-
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spiring against the USSR and planning to channel Nazi aggression east-
ward. He could not respond from a position of strength. In addition to 
expressing his outrage, in late September Stalin ordered a Red Army troop 
buildup along the USSR’s western border, a purely demonstrative move 
that is unlikely to have worried the Germans. In any event, just days later, 
in mid-October, the Politburo decided to disband the reserve units that 
had been mobilized in response to the events in Czechoslovakia. A total 
of 330,000 troops, 27,500 horses, and 5,000 vehicles and tractors were re-
leased from active duty.35

	 In practical terms, Stalin could do little about the Munich Agreement 
beyond trying to drive a wedge between the Western democracies and Hit-
ler. To this end, he made a series of statements condemning Great Britain 
and France, while opening the door to improved bilateral relations with 
Germany. The most significant overture to Germany came during a speech 
at the Eighteenth Party Congress in March 1939, in which Stalin warned the 
English and French that he had no intention of “pulling the chestnuts out of 
the fire” for them (a line that earned this address the nickname “the chest-
nut speech” in the West) and accused them of attempting to provoke con-
flict between the USSR and Germany. He told Germany that the Western 
powers had not succeeded in “enraging the Soviet Union against Germany, 
poisoning the atmosphere, and provoking conflict with Germany on no 
apparent grounds.”36 These pronouncements took on special significance 
several days later when Europe’s fragile peace was broken. Hitler, confident 
that no one would stop him, seized the entire territory of Czechoslovakia. 
Even the most optimistic observers now realized that Munich had made 
world war all but inevitable. As a third party to the growing conflict, Stalin 
and the Soviet Union were in a position to choose sides.
	 The spring and summer of 1939 were a time of urgent diplomatic ma-
neuvering and negotiation. Understanding the nature of these efforts and 
the actual intentions of the parties involved was difficult enough for their 
direct participants, to say nothing of historians today. Nobody trusted  
anybody, and all were trying to outsmart their adversaries and partners 
alike. Such confusion was surely true of the talks between the Soviet Union 
and the Western powers of England and France. Progress was painfully 
slow, despite the efforts of Soviet foreign affairs commissar Maksim Lit-
vinov, who staked his reputation on building cohesion among anti-Hitler 
forces.37 In early May 1939, Stalin relieved Litvinov of his duties and put  
Molotov in charge of foreign affairs. This change was undoubtedly in-
tended as a gesture of friendship toward Germany, but it also radically 
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reshaped foreign policy decision making. The new arrangement allowed 
Stalin to take full control of foreign affairs, not only in terms of their guiding 
principles (as he had always done), but also their day-to-day operations. 
Molotov, with whom Stalin was in almost constant conversation, was a 
more convenient foreign-policy right hand than Litvinov, who rarely vis-
ited Stalin’s office. Such practical details were important to the vozhd. At 
the top tier of Soviet power, government was adapted to Stalin’s habits and 
rhythms, and the choice of Molotov to oversee foreign affairs at this critical 
time is a prime example of this adaptation.
	 What was uppermost in Stalin’s mind during this period—putting pres-
sure on his Western partners or exploring the possibility of an alliance with 
the Nazis? It is tempting to assume that he had decided to align himself with 
Hitler long before the fateful events of 1939. Arguments in favor of this view 
include the general idea of an affinity between totalitarian regimes and 
Stalin’s mistrust of the changeable Western democracies, which seemed 
inclined to retreat in the face of brute force. But the foundation for a Nazi-
Soviet alliance was actually flimsy. The available evidence offering insights 
into Stalin’s thinking is open to interpretation. On one hand, Mikoyan re-
ported that Stalin spoke approvingly of Hitler’s 1934 purges.38 We also know 
that the Soviet leader initiated overtures aimed at establishing direct con-
tact with Hitler.39 Most damning of all was the result: an impressive demon-
stration of Soviet-German “friendship” in the fall of 1939. But on the other 
hand, there is convincing evidence that Stalin had little faith in Hitler as a 
potential ally. If he trusted the German leader, there likely would not have 
been a powerful anti-Nazi propaganda campaign waged in the USSR or 
mass repression against Soviet Germans—both of which were carried out 
over the strong objections of the Nazi government. Stalin’s attitude toward 
the Germans seemed to alternate between approval and annoyance. Re-
sponding to a September 1938 NKVD memorandum about the destruction 
of a cemetery dating to World War I for German soldiers and officers in 
Leningrad Oblast, rather than replying with his usual laconic “in favor,” Sta-
lin wrote, “Correct (tear it down and fill it in).”40 The German interpreter 
present at negotiations with Foreign Minister Joachim von Ribbentrop in 
Moscow also offers some insight into the Soviet leader’s mindset. Stalin ap-
parently rejected a draft of an upbeat press communiqué with the words: 
“Don’t you think that we should give more consideration to public opinion 
in both our countries? We’ve been slinging mud at one another for years 
now.”41

	 Whatever Stalin’s true inclinations were, it was Hitler who took the ini-
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tiative in bringing about a Soviet-German non-aggression pact. As soon as 
the German chancellor decided that his invasion of Poland, scheduled for 
1 September, would require Soviet cooperation, he took steps to promote 
a rapprochement between the two countries. On 21 August Stalin received 
a personal correspondence from Hitler hinting rather transparently at 
his plans for Poland and expressing the urgent desire to conclude a non-
aggression pact within a few days. Hitler asked that Stalin receive von Rib-
bentrop in Moscow the very next day or at least on 23 August. On 21 August 
Molotov handed Stalin’s response to the German ambassador in Moscow. 
Von Ribbentrop could come to Moscow on the later date.42

	 Stalin and Molotov were both there to receive the German foreign min-
ister. The meeting was cordial, even amicable. Each side got what it wanted. 
In addition to the non-aggression pact, Stalin insisted that a secret protocol 
be drawn up stipulating that Germany and the Soviet Union would divide 
up Eastern Europe. The eastern portion of Poland, which then included 
the western parts of both Ukraine and Belarus; Latvia; Estonia; and Fin-
land were recognized as belonging within the Soviet sphere. Germany also 
supported Soviet pretensions to Bessarabia. Western Poland and Lithuania 
would go to Germany. Subsequent negotiations gave Lithuania to the So-
viets. The protocol wound up being a sort of Brest-Litovsk in reverse. Hitler 
needed a worry-free border with the USSR, and he would pay for it with 
territorial concessions.
	 Stalin kept the threads of the Soviet-German negotiations in his own 
hands. The only other person involved was Molotov. What history calls the 
Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact was actually an agreement between Stalin and 
Hitler. Stalin took total responsibility for the “friendship” with Germany 
and doubtless had very specific motives for entering into the risky alliance. 
The nature of these motives is one of the most important questions facing 
his biographers.
	 First, there were the political and moral aspects of the problem. Stalin, 
no doubt, was fully aware of the agreements’ political and moral undesir-
ability. We can infer this from the persistence with which the Soviet Union 
denied that a secret protocol existed. When copies came to light, Soviet 
leaders proclaimed them to be forgeries. Stalin understood that the sudden 
switch from hatred toward the Nazis to friendship would be ideologically  
disorienting, both within the USSR and in the world Communist movement. 
This problem was secondary, however, and could be dealt with using the 
boilerplate explanation: the pact was in the ultimate interests of socialism. 
Within the USSR, skeptics could be dealt with in the usual manner. The moral 
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issue actually took on greater weight later, after Germany’s defeat, when the 
international community condemned Nazism as an absolute evil.
	 In 1939, even the most democratic of Western politicians took a flexible 
approach to dealing with the Nazis—anything to avoid war. Great Britain 
and France could hardly be proud of these policies, and it would be naive 
to expect Stalin to sympathize with their approach. Nobody was refusing to 
deal with Hitler out of principle; it was a matter of what agreements were 
achievable and acceptable. In terms of political pragmatism, Stalin was no 
worse than the Western parties to the Munich Agreement. In signing the 
Munich pact, Great Britain and France not only shielded themselves from 
Hitler’s aggression—or so they thought—but also placed a number of small 
countries, not just the Sudetenland, in peril. Stalin took his self-interest a 
step further and joined in the division of Eastern Europe. He was sure that 
Munich had pushed Hitler’s aggression eastward, so it only made sense for 
him to set the Führer’s mind at rest about the East and attempt to turn him 
back toward the West. From the Soviet perspective, Stalin was only trying 
to get back what was rightfully Russia’s. Redressing a historical injustice by 
restoring parts of the Russian Empire that had been taken by force when 
the country was weakened by war and revolution must have been a part  
of the Soviet dictator’s thinking. This motive drew sympathy not only within 
the USSR, but among some foreigners as well.
	 It is difficult to say how prominently emotional and moral consider-
ations figured in Stalin’s thinking. Surely they were far outweighed by the 
immediate risk of war. There is a broad spectrum of opinion on the geo-
strategic reasons for the agreement with Germany. At one end are those 
who point to the speech Stalin allegedly gave to the Politburo on 19 August 
1939, just before the pact was signed. One version of this speech, published 
in France in late 1939, caused a sensation as a supposed exposé of Stalin’s 
expectations of what war would mean for the USSR. The French publica-
tion quotes him giving the following justification for the pact with Hitler: 
“We are absolutely convinced that if we conclude an agreement to ally with 
France and Great Britain, Germany would be forced to give up on Poland 
and seek a modus vivendi with the Western powers. War would be averted 
and the subsequent course of events would prove dangerous for us.”43

	 This alleged speech made it seem as if Stalin believed war was needed to 
weaken the West, expand the USSR’s boundaries, and help spread commu-
nism in Europe. These supposed remarks compromised Stalin in Hitler’s eyes 
and made the French Communist Party look like an agent of hostile forces. 
Publication of this “top secret” document clearly served somebody’s interest.
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	 Most historians have never assigned much significance to this forgery. 
Neither the Politburo archive nor Stalin’s own files contain even circum-
stantial evidence of such a speech—or even that the Politburo met on 19 
August. This is not surprising. Based on what is known about Stalin’s dic-
tatorship in the late 1930s, it is hard to believe he would speak so openly 
to his Politburo comrades, for whose opinions—and even existence—he 
felt no need whatsoever. The “transcript of Stalin’s speech,” like many other 
well-known forgeries, promotes a particular viewpoint in regard to Stalin 
and his actions. According to this extreme view, Stalin concluded a pact 
with Hitler because he wanted war in Europe as a means of carrying out his 
plans.
	 The views reflected in the forgery differ sharply from statements by Sta-
lin for which we do have a reliable source. Georgy Dimitrov, the head of 
the Comintern at the time, recorded in his diary the following remarks by 
Stalin, made at a meeting on 7 September: “We would rather have reached 
agreement with the so-called democratic countries, so we conducted ne-
gotiations. But the English and French wanted to use us as field hands and 
without paying us anything! We, of course, would not go work as field hands, 
especially if we weren’t getting paid.”44 Nobody should feel compelled to 
take Stalin’s words at face value. But the possibility that he was driven to-
ward his pact with Hitler by his country’s isolation and a sense that he was 
undervalued by his Western allies deserves serious consideration.
	 The diversity of opinions concerning Stalin’s motives in August 1939 re-
flects the complexity of events and abundance of international intrigues 
during the lead-up to World War II. In recent times, however, pieces of 
historical evidence have become available that clarify the situation. The 
negotiations among the Soviet Union, England, and France were fraught 
with problems, and both the Soviet and the Western sides were to blame for 
their lack of progress. Stalin saw in the Western nations’ obstinacy further 
confirmation of their intent to appease Hitler at the expense of the USSR. 
Most likely, he thought war between Germany and Poland was inevita-
ble however the other powers were aligned, and he was probably right. It 
was difficult to predict how such a war would affect his country. The Nazis 
would be right on Soviet borders. Hitler was prepared to pay a fair price for 
a pact that would grant Soviet blessing to this arrangement. For Stalin, the 
pact offered nearly risk-free expansion of Soviet territory and a chance to 
create a buffer between his country and the war about to be unleashed on 
Europe.
	 Then there were the Japanese. In the spring of 1939, clashes were already 
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erupting between Soviet and Japanese troops in Mongolia. The first engage-
ments did not end well for the Red Army, but by the time of the von Ribben-
trop negotiations, the Soviet side was achieving significant victories. These 
strengthened Stalin’s position in his dialogue with Germany. The signing of 
the pact was a diplomatic blow to Japan. At least for the near term, it could 
not count on its German ally in its confrontation with the USSR. There is 
no serious argument against assuming that Stalin was guided by all these 
considerations.
	 In August 1939, Stalin had every reason to consider himself ascendant. 
He had concluded an agreement with the world’s strongest military power 
and averted a war with it, at least for the time being and possibly for a long 
time to come. He had won back much of the territory lost by Russia two de-
cades earlier. He could anticipate reaping third-party benefits as the war-
ring European countries created a new balance of power on the continent. 
The pact with Germany and secret protocol were morally distasteful and 
they diminished the Soviet Union’s reputation with progressives around 
the world, but these were relatively minor concerns. Was Stalin looking 
into the distant future and plotting the creation of a Communist empire ex-
tending over a large part of Europe? Such a prospect must have been hard 
to envision in 1939. Did he conclude the pact in order to provoke war in Eu-
rope? Given Nazi aggression, such a provocation seems hardly necessary. 
It is another matter that we will never know how the war would have played 
out had Stalin not signed the agreement with Hitler and continued to try to 
make common cause with England and France.
	 We will also never know how the Molotov-Ribbentrop pact and se-
cret protocol would look today had Stalin used these documents simply 
to restrain Germany and expand the Soviet sphere of influence. In that  
case, posterity would have seen the Soviet-German understanding as an 
unsavory but understandable and pragmatic maneuver by a savvy politi-
cian. But Stalin was the iron-fisted ruler of a totalitarian system. He used 
the agreement not simply to keep the Nazis out of the small countries along 
the USSR’s border, but also to assimilate new territories. And assimilation, 
in Stalin’s world, meant aggression and the brutal purging of society.

■	 As War Raged
	 Germany invaded Poland on 1 September 1939. Poland’s allies, 
Great Britain and France, responded with a declaration of war, and World 
War II was under way. The Nazis swept through Poland almost unopposed. 
The British and French forces that came to Poland’s defense assembled too 
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slowly and seemed in no great hurry to fight. The Red Army’s entry into 
Poland, and the line dividing this country between Germany and the USSR, 
had been determined during the von Ribbentrop negotiations in Moscow 
the previous month, but Stalin was also in no hurry to begin military ac-
tions. The Soviet invasion began only on 17 September, after the outcome of 
Germany’s Polish campaign was fully evident. Clearly, Stalin preferred to 
wait until the risk of an invasion was minimal and Soviet aggression would 
not look like it had been coordinated with Germany’s. The Red Army pri-
marily occupied the parts of western Ukraine and western Belarus that Po-
land had seized in 1921. The official propaganda claimed that Soviet actions 
were being taken on behalf of the Ukrainian and Belarusian peoples and 
described the invasion as an act of “liberation.” This interpretation suited 
Western politicians, who still hoped to win Stalin to their side.
	 The reality bore little resemblance to the image promoted by Soviet pro-
paganda. The Soviet absorption of western Ukraine and western Belarus 
was not a joyous reunion of divided nations. For the first year and a half of 
their sovietization, the new territories underwent the same violent social 
engineering that the USSR had been experiencing for decades. The goal 
was to force them into the Soviet mold: do away with the capitalist eco-
nomic system, inculcate a new ideology, and destroy any real or imagined 
hotbeds of dissent against the regime. The traditional methods were used. 
“Suspicious” people were shot, sent to labor camps, or exiled to the So-
viet interior; private property was expropriated; and farming was brought 
into the kolkhoz system. The Stalinist regime was trying to eliminate, in just 
months, any potential for anti-Soviet collaboration. An important compo-
nent of this bloody effort was the notorious Katyn massacre. On 5 March 
1940 the Politburo adopted a decision to put to death many thousands 
of Poles held in prisoner-of-war camps or regular prisons in the western 
provinces of Ukraine and Belarus. The victims were largely members of 
the Polish elite: military and police officers, former government officials, 
landowners, industrialists, and members of the Polish intelligentsia. A total 
of 21,857 people were shot in April and May 1940.45 In exterminating these 
people, Stalin was clearly attempting to head off any movement to restore 
the prewar Polish leadership.
	 Stalin proceeded more cautiously and gradually in the Baltic states, 
which the Molotov-Ribbentrop pact had recognized as falling into the So-
viet sphere of influence. Immediately after the partition of Poland and the 
settlement of various issues with Germany, in late September and October 
1939 the Soviet leadership forced Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania to permit 
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Soviet military bases on their territory, including in the Baltic Sea ports. 
Molotov and Stalin personally took on the task of intimidating their Baltic 
neighbors during negotiations at the Kremlin. These meetings were tense. 
When the representatives of the Baltic governments insisted on preserving 
their sovereignty and neutrality, Molotov threatened them with war and 
refused to make the slightest concession. Stalin applied a softer touch and 
offered a few insignificant compromises, reducing, for example, the num-
ber of troops to be stationed in the Baltic countries. The intransigence of 
the Baltic representatives evidently irritated him, but he kept his temper. 
According to the Latvian foreign minister, Stalin wrote, doodled, strolled 
around the room, and picked up books and newspapers while others were 
speaking. At critical points he interrupted and went off on tangents, ex-
pounding at length on abstruse ethnographic or historical topics.46

	 The Soviet side obviously had the advantage. Red Army units were al-
ready positioned along the Baltic nations’ borders. Germany—the only 
possible counterweight to the Soviet Union—was acting in concert with 
the USSR. Stalin, nevertheless, did not hurry to overwhelm his victims, in-
stead taking what he wanted a little at a time. Until Soviet troops entered 
Latvia, Lithuania, and Estonia, Stalin applied a tactic he shared with Com-
intern head Dimitrov: “It’s not good to rush ahead! . . . Slogans should be 
advanced that suit the particular stage of the war. . . . We think we’ve found 
in mutual assistance pacts (Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania) a form that permits 
us to bring a number of countries into the Soviet Union’s orbit of influence. 
But for this, we need to hold back—to strictly respect their internal regimes 
and independence. We won’t try to sovietize them. The time will come 
when they’ll do it themselves!”47 

	 The prediction Stalin makes in the last sentence of this explanation be-
trays his ultimate goal: to sovietize and absorb the countries and territories 
added to his country’s sphere of influence under the Molotov-Ribbentrop 
pact. From a historical standpoint, he could justify this goal as the recon-
stitution of the Russian Empire. As military strategy, it surely made sense 
to establish strong control over areas through which an attack might come. 
But the future—the who, what, when, and where of the impending war—
was shrouded in uncertainty, and Stalin was forced to wait. For now, he 
preferred to play a balancing game and went out of his way to avoid un-
necessarily irritating either Great Britain and France or, especially, the 
Führer. There were many small signs of Stalin’s caution during this period. 
We see it, for example, in his reaction to a report from Belarus on a speech 
given to the republic’s parliament by army group commander Vasily Chui-
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kov. Intoxicated by his easy victory in Poland, Chuikov told his audience 
in this speech, which went out over the radio, “If the party says the word, 
we’ll march to that tune—first Warsaw, then Berlin!” Furious, Stalin wrote 
Chuikov’s boss, Voroshilov: “Com. Voroshilov. Chuikov is evidently at least 
a fool, if not an enemy element. I say he should be given a spanking. At 
the very least.”48 While Chuikov apparently survived, many other Soviet 
citizens who expressed anti-Nazi sentiments were not so lucky. Between 
August 1939 and the beginning of war between Germany and the USSR, 
expressions of anti-Hitlerism were treated as a crime in the Soviet Union.
	 Stalin’s stealthy approach to expansion was bound to hit a stumbling 
block eventually, and that stumbling block was Finland. In October 1939, 
having won the concessions he wanted from Latvia, Lithuania, and Esto-
nia, the Soviet dictator turned his attention to his Nordic neighbor, which 
the Nazis had recognized as part of the Soviet sphere of influence. Finland 
was presented with much harsher demands than the Baltic countries. In 
addition to the placement of Soviet military bases in Finland, the USSR de-
manded a large portion of Finnish territory near Leningrad in exchange 
for land in less populated border regions. On the surface, these demands 
appeared perfectly reasonable. The USSR wanted to be able to defend 
Leningrad—the country’s second capital and a major center of defense 
production—and its approaches from the Baltic Sea. But Finland, a for-
mer province of the Russian Empire that had received its independence 
in 1917, suspected the USSR of imperial ambitions. The Finns remembered 
the horrors of the 1918 civil war, which had largely been provoked by their 
Communist neighbor. They also noted the recent example of Czechoslova-
kia, which had given up the Sudetenland only to be entirely taken over by 
Hitler. Finland categorically refused the Soviet demands. Stalin decided to 
use force.
	 The Red Army invaded Finland in late November, having every reason 
to believe that its campaign would be short and successful. Finland was a 
tiny country with no more than 4 million inhabitants—forty times smaller 
than the Soviet population. The territory, economic resources, and military 
might of the two countries were not comparable. The 26 tanks with which 
Finland began the war would have to fend off 1,500 Soviet ones. Further-
more, the USSR would be able to throw significant additional troops and 
resources into the battle, and it did so as the conflict—known as the Win-
ter War—unexpectedly continued. Staking success on overwhelming force, 
Stalin decided to make Finland the site of his first experiment applying a 
different takeover model from the one used in the Baltic states. The Red 
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Army brought with it the “people’s government of Finland,” consisting of 
Communists hand-picked in Moscow. This was the government that would 
be installed to rule a defeated Finland.
	 But the people’s government of Finland never took office. The Finns 
showed the Red Army fierce and capable resistance. As the war dragged on, 
a strongly anti-Soviet mood spread throughout the rest of the world. The 
USSR was expelled from the League of Nations, and France and England 
prepared to intervene on the Finnish side. Stalin decided not to tempt fate. 
Despite a series of victories made possible by a major buildup of forces, in 
March 1940 he signed a peace treaty with Finland. Plans to sovietize the 
USSR’s northern neighbor were set aside. The Finns wound up losing a sig-
nificant portion of their territory and economy, but they maintained their 
independence. The Red Army lost approximately 130,000 troops, either 
killed in combat, dying from wounds or disease, or missing in action. More 
than 200,000 were wounded or frostbitten. The Finnish losses were signifi-
cantly lower: 23,000 killed or missing in action and 44,000 wounded.49 The 
war, a major symbolic defeat for the USSR and Stalin personally, exposed 
weaknesses in every component of the Soviet military machine. Historians 
have proposed that it was this conflict that prompted Hitler to push for-
ward his timetable for invading the Soviet Union.
	 Soviet failure in Finland contrasted ominously with Hitler’s triumphant 
advance. Soon after the Winter War, in April–June 1940, Germany occupied 
a number of West European countries, forcing France to capitulate in just 
weeks. British troops were evacuated from the continent, and Italy entered 
the war on Germany’s side. France’s quick and inglorious fall radically 
changed the situation in the world. Khrushchev later described how upset 
and worried Stalin was about the French defeat, lamenting the country’s 
inability to put up a fight.50 Even if Khrushchev’s account is tainted by hind-
sight, there is no reason to doubt Stalin’s general sense of alarm. The Soviet 
leader had lost his former maneuvering room between the warring sides. 
A strategy that had looked rock solid had suddenly turned to dust. Now 
there would be no easy way out through a mutually convenient treaty. A 
huge threat hung over the Soviet Union. The nation that had been its sole if 
unreliable ally began to look like a mortally dangerous enemy.
	 Stalin reacted feverishly. As Germany solidified its control over Western 
Europe in the summer of 1940, Latvia, Lithuania, and Estonia were incor-
porated into the USSR, as were Bessarabia and part of Bukovina, both of 
which had been taken from Romania. A top priority for the Stalinist lead-
ership was the rapid sovietization of these new possessions. A large-scale 
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expropriation of private property was accompanied by a massive purge 
of the population. Repression now fell on the newly integrated western 
regions. As usual, in addition to the arrest and execution of “unreliable” 
citizens, many were exiled to remote areas of the Soviet interior. In four 
relocation campaigns in 1940 and the first half of 1941, some 370,000 people 
were moved from western Ukraine, western Belarus, the Baltic states, and 
Bessarabia into the Soviet interior. This was a huge number given the small 
populations of these regions.51

	 Busy as he was dealing with hundreds of thousands of “suspect” people 
in the newly sovietized areas, Stalin did not forget about faraway enemies. 
In August 1940 Lev Trotsky was killed in Mexico on his orders. An NKVD 
agent who had penetrated Trotsky’s inner circle killed the former opposi-
tion leader with an ice pick. Stalin had long stalked his most implacable, 
energetic, and eloquent foe. Was he driven by a personal thirst for revenge 
or concern that Trotskyites within the USSR might rally in time of war? 
Most likely both factors played a role.
	 Having subdued the territories stipulated for Soviet control under his 
agreements with Hitler, Stalin faced the question: What now? On one hand, 
the success of the German war machine made friendship with Hitler more 
important than ever. On the other, the growing threat that Nazi aggression 
posed to the USSR made such friendship increasingly dangerous. Soviet 
and German interests were clashing in Finland, where Germany, having 
occupied Norway, was making inroads as a result of the outcome of the 
Winter War. The two powers were also clashing in the Balkans due to Hit-
ler’s desperate need for Romanian oil. Stalin also hoped to gain a share of 
Romania and Bulgaria and achieve a long-standing Russian imperial goal: 
control over the Turkish Straits.
	 For Stalin, the signing of the Tripartite Pact among Germany, Italy, and 
Japan on 27 September 1940 was bad news. The three aggressor countries 
were agreeing to help each other divide up the rest of the world. Germany 
and Italy were recognized as dominant in Europe, and Japan in Asia. In 
theory, this agreement was aimed at Great Britain and the United States. 
But Stalin had every reason to worry.
	 Believing it necessary at this stage to avoid exacerbating tensions with 
the Soviet Union, in November 1940 Hitler made a conciliatory gesture by 
inviting Molotov to Berlin. During negotiations with Hitler and von Rib-
bentrop, the Soviet foreign minister insisted that his country’s interests 
be recognized in Finland, the Balkans, and the Turkish Straits. Hitler was 
equally firm, especially when it came to Soviet claims in Finland and Ro-
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mania. While avoiding making specific promises, Hitler suggested that the 
USSR become a fourth partner in the Tripartite Pact, take part in dividing 
up the British Empire, and determine exact Soviet spheres of influence 
through further negotiations.52 Both sides apparently were probing to see 
what such an arrangement might offer. Was this four-way alliance ever a 
real possibility? On one hand, we know that while these negotiations were 
going on, Hitler was already hatching plans to invade the USSR. We also 
know that Stalin was entirely aware of the threat posed by Germany. On the 
other hand, in August 1939, when the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact was being 
concluded, the Soviet Union and Germany were just as fundamentally hos-
tile toward one another. Everything had changed in an instant once Stalin 
and Hitler found a point of common interest.
	 On 25 November 1940, shortly after his return from Berlin, Molotov gave 
the German ambassador in Moscow the Soviet conditions for a four-way 
pact. Here, Stalin was again resorting to the tactic that had yielded success 
in August 1939. In exchange for the support of his partners (and with an 
understanding that significant amounts of Soviet raw materials would be 
supplied to Germany), he issued four specific demands. First, German 
troops must pull out of Finland. In exchange he would guarantee that Fin-
land would remain friendly toward Germany and supply it with timber and 
nickel, a point on which Hitler had particularly insisted during his talks 
with Molotov. Second, Stalin laid claim to Soviet influence in Bulgaria, in-
cluding the conclusion of a mutual assistance treaty and the establishment 
of Soviet military bases near the Turkish Straits. Third, the three partners 
must recognize the Soviet Union’s right to expand southward through Iran 
and Turkey to the Persian Gulf. Fourth, Japan must give up claims to coal 
and oil concessions in North Sakhalin in exchange for “fair compensa-
tion.”53 This program, which closely mirrored the aspirations of the Russian 
Empire, probably included everything Stalin wanted, and he was undoubt-
edly prepared to bargain. The submission of these conditions to Berlin in-
dicated, presumably, his readiness to cast his lot with the aggressor coun-
tries.
	 It has been asserted, however, that Stalin never seriously considered Hit-
ler’s proposal to form a four-way pact and that the demands sent to Berlin 
on 25 November were a delaying tactic, intentionally designed to be unac-
ceptable to Germany. The most significant evidence cited by proponents of 
this view is an account of a Politburo meeting on 14 November 1940, during 
which Molotov supposedly reported on his negotiations in Berlin. The ac-
count has Stalin stating that Hitler could not be trusted and that the time 
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had come to prepare for war against Germany. But there is no record of any 
such Politburo meeting or of Stalin making this remark. The only source of 
this information is Yakov Chadaev, chief of administration for the Sovnar-
kom (Sovet Narodnykh Kommissarov; the Council of People’s Commissars 
—the Soviet cabinet), who claimed to have been present and to have taken 
notes at the meeting.54

	 There are several reasons to doubt Chadaev’s account. First, Molotov 
could not have been in Moscow on 14 November since that is the day he 
boarded the train home from Berlin. Furthermore, it is hard to understand 
why Stalin would have wanted to hold such a meeting, especially one in-
cluding people who were not Politburo members.55 Most other major for-
eign policy decisions during the prewar years (including the Nazi-Soviet 
Pact of 1939) were not voted on by the Politburo. Stalin kept his foreign 
policy cards close to the vest, at most consulting with Molotov. The talks 
exploring joining the Tripartite Pact were a closely held state secret.
	 Another piece of evidence casting doubt on the meeting is the log of vis-
itors to Stalin’s office, which shows no activity between 6 and 14 November. 
It is nearly certain, therefore, that Stalin spent these days at his dacha.56 
Finally, there is no evidence of any Politburo meetings in November, and 
even if there had been, Chadaev is unlikely to have been allowed to attend, 
to say nothing of his taking notes. As chief of administration for the Sovnar-
kom, he gained easy access to Stalin only after the vozhd became chairman 
of that body in May 1941. The fact remains that on 25 November 1940, Stalin 
responded quickly and substantively to Hitler’s proposal for an enhanced al-
liance. Berlin did not react to Stalin’s conditions, despite being prodded by 
Moscow. Soon after Molotov left Berlin, Hungary, Romania, and Slovakia—
three countries entirely dependent on Hitler’s will—joined the pact, followed 
in March 1941 by Bulgaria, which Stalin had so insistently claimed for his 
sphere of influence. In April Germany took over Greece and Yugoslavia.
	 In December 1940, Hitler approved plans to invade the USSR in May 
1941. The only allies Stalin had left were his own people. The vozhd spent 
the final months before Hitler marched into the Soviet Union consolidating 
his power and making extraordinary efforts to bolster the country’s military 
strength.

■	 the Consolidation of Supreme Power
	 One important result of the Great Terror was the dramatic shift in 
the balance of power within the Politburo. Remnants of collective leader-
ship survived into the mid-1930s, but by late 1937 the Politburo was entirely 
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Stalin with Rykov (left) and Bukharin (right), December 1927. Rykov and Bukharin were 
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The vozhd with his faithful comrades in 1934. Left to right: Kirov, Kaganovich,  

Ordzhonikidze, Stalin, and Mikoyan. Kirov was shot later that year by the husband  

of a staff member, and Ordzhonikidze committed suicide in 1937. Russian State  
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Stalin with his wife, Nadezhda Allilueva, Voroshilov, and Voroshilov’s wife Yekaterina 

relaxing in the south in 1932 (with a bodyguard to the right) a few months before  
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A visit in the south, 1933. Left to right: chief of the Red Army General Staff Aleksandr 
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circumstances and was soon proclaimed an “enemy of the people.” Tukhachevsky was 

shot in 1937 and Yegorov in 1938. Russian State Archive of Social and Political History.

The near dacha, where Stalin lived (starting after his wife’s suicide) and died.  

Russian State Archive of Social and Political History 



A rare family gathering in the mid-1930s. Left to right: Stalin’s son Vasily, Leningrad 

party boss Andrei Zhdanov, daughter Svetlana, Stalin, and Stalin’s son (by his first wife) 

Yakov, who was killed in a Nazi POW camp. Russian State Archive of Social and Political 
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The Allies: Churchill, Roosevelt, and Stalin in Crimea, February 1945.  

Russian State Archive of Social and Political History.



Generalissimo Stalin immediately after the war.  

Russian State Archive of Social and Political History.



Stalin and his comrades at a celebration in January 1947. Left to right: Beria,  

Kaganovich, Malenkov, Molotov, Kuznetsov, Stalin, Kosygin, Voznesensky, Voroshilov, 
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subject to Stalin’s will. The Terror brought his power to new heights. He 
was now a full-fledged dictator in whose hands rested the lives not only of  
ordinary citizens, but also those of his most esteemed fellow leaders. Five 
Politburo members (Stanislav Kosior, Vlas Chubar, Robert Eikhe, Pavel 
Postyshev, and Yan Rudzutak) were shot, and one (Grigory Petrovsky) was 
expelled from the upper echelons and survived only because Stalin chose 
to show him clemency. Another name on the list of Stalin’s high-ranking 
victims was Grigory Ordzhonikidze, driven to suicide by Stalin’s ruthless-
ness. But even the top leaders who held onto their posts found themselves 
in an impotent and demeaning position, forced to carefully walk the line 
between power and death and unable to protect their most valued subor-
dinates or even close friends and relatives. The names of top leaders inevi-
tably came up in the countless confessions the NKVD extracted under tor-
ture. It was up to Stalin to decide what denunciations and incriminations 
should be taken seriously. Anyone could suddenly be labeled an enemy.
	 As Stalin’s longtime comrades disappeared from the top leadership, 
younger faces took their place. As noted, these replacements were an im-
portant element of his consolidation of power. Lacking the revolutionary 
credentials of the older generation, these young leaders owed their stand-
ing directly to Stalin and were entirely dependent on him. In March 1939 
Andrei Zhdanov and Nikita Khrushchev, members of this second gener-
ation, were granted full membership in the Politburo. At the same time, 
a member of the third generation, Lavrenty Beria, was made a candi-
date member. In February 1941 three other members of the third genera-
tion were added: Nikolai Voznesensky, Georgy Malenkov, and Aleksandr 
Shcherbakov.57 These appointments did not simply represent the normal 
advance of competent leaders up the career ladder. Stalin made a point of 
placing young officials in important posts, often as counterweights to his 
older, more deserving colleagues.
	 Changes to the composition of the Politburo were just one manifesta-
tion of processes taking place under the surface that ultimately destroyed 
the formal aspects of the collective leadership and substituted new un
official or quasi-official institutions adapted to the administrative and po-
litical needs of Stalin’s dictatorship and lifestyle. The deterioration of the 
Politburo’s meaningful role was brought to its logical conclusion when it 
essentially ceased to function as a formal institution. During the years of 
the Great Terror, it was replaced by a narrower group within the leadership, 
always chaired by Stalin. In early 1938 the “Secret Five” took shape, consist-
ing of Stalin, Molotov, Voroshilov, Mikoyan, and Kaganovich. This group, 
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though not an official body, largely took the place of the Politburo. The 
only vote that mattered was Stalin’s. In addition to his deliberations during 
meetings of the Five, Stalin settled many questions with individual mem-
bers of the leadership. These ad hoc decision-making mechanisms bore lit-
tle resemblance to constitutional structures or procedures and depended 
purely on the will of the vozhd. The meetings, following Stalin’s habits and 
nocturnal lifestyle, took the most varied forms. Matters of state could be 
decided day or night, in Stalin’s Kremlin office or at his dacha, in the movie 
theater or during long hours at the dinner table.
	 The next level of the pyramid of power consisted of governmental bodies 
to which Stalin delegated particular authority while retaining overall con-
trol. This system first took shape within the party’s Central Committee ap-
parat, which had the mission of promulgating ideology and selecting and 
assigning senior party and state officials. These key areas were overseen 
personally by Stalin’s protégés, Zhdanov and Malenkov, who could make 
relatively trivial decisions on their own but had to bring more consequen-
tial ones to Stalin for approval. In January 1941, Stalin explained the Cen-
tral Committee’s new modus operandi: “It’s been four or five months since 
we in the Central Committee have convened the Politburo. All questions 
are prepared by Zhdanov, Malenkov, and others in separate meetings with 
comrades who have the necessary expertise, and the job of governing is 
only going more smoothly as a result.”58

	 On the government side, accommodating the commissariats, depart-
ments, and committees of the Sovnarkom to the dictator’s needs was more 
difficult. The Sovnarkom oversaw the entire Soviet economy, which was 
then laboring under the strain of urgent preparations for war. Stalin sought 
to make the bureaucracy into something he could steer at will, but the slug-
gishness and unmanageability of its agencies sent him into fits of irrita-
tion and temper. His frustration led to numerous attempts to reorganize 
how the system was managed by the country’s top leadership. Finally, in 
March 1941, a new governmental body was created: the Bureau of the USSR 
Sovnarkom, consisting of Sovnarkom chairman Molotov and his deputies. 
This bureau was created as a governing group within the Sovnarkom, much 
like the leading group within the Politburo.
	 As part of the political intrigue around the reorganization, the relatively 
young Nikolai Voznesensky became first deputy to the government’s chair-
man, Molotov. His appointment to such an important post, over the heads 
of more senior members of the Politburo such as Mikoyan and Kaganovich, 
heightened tensions within Stalin’s inner circle. Even in memoirs written 
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decades later, Mikoyan could not hide his hurt feelings: “But what struck us 
most of all about the composition of the Bureau leadership was that Vozne-
sensky became first deputy chairman of the Sovnarkom. . . . Stalin’s motives 
in this whole leapfrog were still not clear. And Voznesensky, being naive, 
was very pleased with his appointment.”59 In giving this important job to 
Voznesensky, Stalin may have been intentionally pitting him against Mo-
lotov, hinting that the Sovnarkom chairman was not able to handle all his 
duties and needed a younger and more energetic deputy. In any event, the 
entire government reorganization came with a chorus of reprimands and 
accusations directed against Molotov’s Sovnarkom leadership. This was a 
clear sign that Stalin had something up his sleeve.
	 His plans became evident a month after the Sovnarkom Bureau was 
established. On 28 April 1941 Stalin sent a memorandum to Bureau mem-
bers explaining that it had been created for the purpose of straightening 
out government operations and bringing an end to “chaos” within the eco-
nomic leadership, which continued to decide “important questions related 
to the building of the economy through so-called ‘polling.’” As an example 
of the inappropriate use of polling (having members of a committee vote 
on a circulated document individually rather than meeting to discuss it in 
person), Stalin pointed to a draft resolution concerning the construction of 
an oil pipeline in the Sakhalin area. Molotov had signed the document, he 
wrote indignantly, even though it had not been discussed by the Sovnar-
kom Bureau. After labeling this practice “paper-pushing and scribbling,” 
he issued an ultimatum: “I think ‘management’ of this sort can’t go on. I 
propose discussing this question in the Central Committee’s Politburo. 
And for now, I feel compelled to say that I refuse to participate in voting 
through polling on any draft resolution whatsoever concerning economic 
questions of any consequence whatsoever if I don’t see the signatures of 
the Sovnarkom Bureau indicating that the draft has been discussed and ap-
proved by the Bureau of the USSR Sovnarkom.”60

	 This outburst must have taken Molotov by surprise. Polling was stan-
dard practice in Soviet decision making. As recently as January 1941, Stalin 
himself had criticized the Sovnarkom for “parliamentarianism,” by which 
he meant that its members were having too many meetings. As everyone 
involved surely noticed, Stalin offered only one example of “incorrect” 
polling—and not a particularly compelling one, as the question of the 
Sakhalin pipeline probably did not require detailed discussion at a bureau 
meeting. The charges leveled in the April memorandum sounded frivolous, 
and Molotov and the other Politburo members must have realized that they 
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were a pretext. The discussion of Stalin’s memorandum led to a Politburo 
decision, dated 4 May 1941. It read in part as follows:

I. � In the interests of full coordination between Soviet and party 
organizations and the unconditional assurance of unity in their 
work as leaders, as well as to further enhance the authority of 
Soviet bodies given the current tense international situation, which 
demands every possible effort by Soviet agencies in the defense of 
the country, the Politburo unanimously resolves:
1. � To appoint Com. I. V. Stalin Chairman of the Council of People’s 

Commissars [Sovnarkom] of the USSR.
2. � To appoint Com. V. M. Molotov Deputy Chairman of the USSR 

Sovnarkom and to place him in charge of the foreign policy of the 
USSR, leaving him in the post of People’s Commissar for Foreign 
Affairs.

3. � Inasmuch as Com. Stalin, who, on the insistence of the Central 
Committee’s Politburo, retains the position of first secretary of the 
TsK VKP(b) [Central Committee of the All-Union Communist Party 
(Bolsheviks)], will not be able to allot sufficient time to work in 
the TsK Secretariat, to appoint Com. A. A. Zhdanov Com. Stalin’s 
deputy in the TsK Secretariat, relieving him of his duties overseeing 
the TsK VKP(b) Directorate for Propaganda and Agitation.61

	 No documents or memoirs have been located that shed light on the 
discussions leading up to this resolution, but some clues are offered by its 
wording, which equates the reorganizations with a return to the Leninist 
revolutionary model of leadership. The leader of the party and the coun-
try, it states, should head the government, especially at a time of looming 
war. If Stalin had fully bought into the logic that it was important to adhere 
to the original Soviet model, he would have had to renounce the post of 
Central Committee secretary since Lenin was the founder and leader of the 
party but did not hold that post. But he chose to take both the top party and 
government posts for himself.
	 At last the dictatorial system of government was complete. At the top of 
the hierarchy stood the dictator himself. With the title of general secretary of 
the party added to that of chairman of the government, the supreme power 
he had been exercising for some time was made official. The Politburo’s 
leading group—a subset of its membership hand-picked by Stalin—would 
serve as his consultative body. One step down the hierarchy were two gov-
erning bodies: the secretariat of the party’s Central Committee, headed by 
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Zhdanov, and the Sovnarkom Bureau, headed by Voznesensky. These two 
bodies served as the dictator’s arms. They took care of the routine running 
of the country and brought consequential matters to Stalin for approval.
	 This reorganization was undoubtedly motivated by more than a desire 
for efficiency. Stalin’s decision to give himself, the leader of the party, the 
added title of chairman of the government told the country and the world 
that at a time of international instability, the Soviet Union had consolidated 
its leadership. Again, Stalin’s personality—his hunger to possess not only 
real power, but also all of its accouterments and his tendency to regard 
even his closest comrades with suspicion—also has to be taken into con-
sideration. The latter quality was surely a factor in his decision to accelerate 
the advance of the younger generation and put Zhdanov and Malenkov in 
charge of the Central Committee apparat. Voznesensky—not Molotov, the 
logical choice—was appointed to serve as Stalin’s first deputy in his role 
as government chairman. Beria, another member of the new generation, 
oversaw the network of security agencies. Stalin’s old comrades, even those 
who remained at the upper echelons of power, suffered significantly di-
minished standing as they made way for their younger colleagues.
	 Molotov was a particular target of Stalin’s displeasure. After long years 
of devoted service and exceptional closeness with the vozhd, Molotov was 
deprived of the Sovnarkom chairmanship and was not even appointed Sta-
lin’s first deputy. Stalin took every opportunity to demonstrate his disdain 
for Molotov. One of the last recorded manifestations of his irritation toward 
his longtime comrade occurred not long before the outbreak of war. In May 
1941, at a meeting of the newly constituted Sovnarkom Bureau, Stalin took 
Molotov to task. Yakov Chadaev, the Sovnarkom’s chief of administration, 
who was taking minutes at the meeting, recalls:

Stalin did not conceal his disapproval of Molotov. He very impatiently 
listened to Molotov’s rather prolix responses to comments from mem-
bers of the Bureau. . . . It seemed as if Stalin was attacking Molotov as 
an adversary and that he was doing so from a position of strength. . . . 
Molotov’s breathing began to quicken, and at times he would let out a 
deep sigh. He fidgeted on his stool and murmured something to himself. 
By the end he could take it no longer:
	 “Easier said than done,” Molotov pronounced in a low but cutting 
voice. Stalin picked up [Molotov’s] words.
	 “It has long been well-known,” said Stalin, “that the person who is 
afraid of criticism is a coward.”
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	 Molotov winced, but kept quiet—the other members of the Politburo 
sat silently, burying their noses in the papers. . . . At this meeting I was 
again convinced of the power and greatness of Stalin. Stalin’s compan-
ions feared him like the devil. They would agree with him on practically 
anything.62

	 What was behind this abusive treatment of a faithful colleague? Perhaps 
Stalin was taking out his frustrations over the state of Soviet foreign rela-
tions. Or perhaps, in the lead-up to war, he was making an example of his 
old comrade to keep the rest of the leadership in line. In any event, the 
result was a further centralization of power and a top leadership afraid to 
voice dissent. Critical questions of war and peace, concerning the fates of 
millions, rested solely in the dictator’s hands.

■	 A Preemptive Strike?
	 On 5 May 1941, the day after his appointment as chairman of the 
government, Stalin went to meet with members of the Soviet military at a 
traditional Kremlin reception for graduates of military academies. At a sim-
ilar event six years earlier, on 4 May 1935, Stalin had come out with the slo-
gan, “Cadres solve everything!” This time the watchword the vozhd shared 
with his military guests was classified and did not appear in the press. In 
May 1941, just six weeks before the outbreak of war with Germany, he called 
for a switch from a defensive to an offensive posture enabled by a powerful 
Red Army.63

	 While these remarks have attracted the particular interest of scholars, 
it is important to note that he had made similar comments in the past. In 
October 1938, for example, he told a gathering the following:

Bolsheviks are not just pacifists who long for peace and reach for arms 
only if they’re attacked. That’s not true. There will be times when Bol-
sheviks are the invaders; if the war is just, if the situation is right, and if 
the conditions are favorable, they will go on the offensive themselves. 
They are by no means against invading, against any war. The fact that 
we’re now shouting about defense—that’s a veil, a veil. All countries 
mask their true selves: “If you live with wolves, you have to howl like a 
wolf.” [Laughter.] It would be stupid to spill your guts and lay them on 
the table.64

In April 1940, when speaking to the military council in the aftermath of the 
Winter War, Stalin continued to address this topic. He spent a long time 
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explaining to the officers that “an army that has been cultivated not for at-
tacking but for passive defense” cannot be called modern.65

	 Obviously when Stalin made these statements, in 1938 and early 1940, 
he had no intention of invading Germany. But as certain historians and 
commentators have pointed out, by 1941 the situation was very different. 
The German Army massed along the Soviet border and ready to pounce 
on the USSR might very well have convinced Stalin of the advisability of a 
preventive strike. A variety of arguments and pieces of evidence (albeit cir-
cumstantial) have been used to defend this viewpoint.66 For a biographer 
of Stalin, this question is far from secondary. Are we seeing, in 1941, a “dif-
ferent Stalin”—not the cautious incrementalist who could be drawn into a 
fight only when he felt himself in a position of strength but a daring leader 
who believed the Red Army was prepared to challenge the Wehrmacht? 
Such an assumption is in fundamental conflict with the traditional view of 
the prewar Stalin, which is based on the reminiscences of Soviet marshals 
and evidence of his vacillating inconsistency in the months leading up to 
the war. Convincing evidence that Stalin was firmly resolved to go on the 
offensive has yet to surface. There is no serious basis for revising the tradi-
tional view that Stalin was fatally indecisive and even befuddled in the face 
of the growing Nazi threat.
	 It is, however, true that during 1940 and 1941 Stalin worked hard to 
strengthen the Red Army and prepare the country for the upheaval of war. 
In 1940, for the fourth year in a row, he did not take a vacation in the south. 
His primary concern was the army and the munitions industry. The ac-
celerated buildup of heavy industry and its defense branches had been 
a priority since the late 1920s. The Stalinist approach to industrialization 
made this buildup especially costly, but in the end, the sacrifice of millions 
of ruined peasants and Gulag slaves and the expenditure of the vast coun-
try’s significant resources did have a military and economic effect. By the 
time war with Germany broke out, the Soviet Union had more than twenty- 
five thousand tanks and eighteen thousand fighter planes, three to four 
times more than Germany.67 Such figures have inspired proponents of the 
theory of a “preventive war” to claim that the USSR was ready to take on 
Germany. But statistics often lie. In the Soviet case, the true story was often 
one of poor quality weaponry and padded figures, made worse by a short-
age of well-trained military personnel. In any event, Stalin and the military 
leadership did not believe all this military hardware was sufficient. Having 
a military threat right at their doorstep demanded special measures. Omi-
nous rumors of the might of the German Army and the quality of its weap-
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onry were reaching the USSR from vanquished Europe. During the prewar 
period, the Soviet Union made a desperate attempt to increase output and 
modernize at the same time. By 1940, military production was two and a 
half times what it had been in 1937.68 This was an extraordinary increase. 
Special emphasis was placed on the production of new types of weapons, 
modern tanks and planes especially. Key to this modernization effort were 
purchases of military hardware from Germany, enabled under the Nazi-
Soviet Pact.
	 Despite the energy put into this buildup, progress was slow. There are 
well-known examples from the tank and aviation industry. Of the 25,000 
tanks in the Soviet arsenal as of June 1941, only 1,500 were of modern de-
sign, and only a quarter of Soviet military aircraft was new.69 This is not 
to say that the remaining tanks and planes were useless. It does, however, 
show that the job of modernizing the Soviet military was far from complete. 
The leadership knew this.
	 Stalin had a much better understanding of the problems plaguing the 
Soviet military economy than do today’s proponents of the preventive war 
theory, who focus exclusively on munitions-industry production statistics. 
The army and munitions industry were part of a huge socioeconomic ma-
chine with myriad interdependent parts. There was a limit to how much 
could be spent on the military buildup, especially as the prewar years co-
incided with yet another slowdown in the Soviet economy, associated with 
an imbalance between investment and resources. Such crucial resources 
as metal and electricity were in short supply, and the diversion of so much 
investment toward military production meant cutting the already scant re-
sources put toward meeting the basic needs of Soviet citizens. Prices and 
taxes were rising, most of the population was getting by on a meager ration, 
and in some rural areas there were signs of famine. In late 1939 a ban was 
placed on the sale of flour and bread in the countryside. Hungry peasants 
rushed to cities and towns to buy these items, which were in short supply 
there too. The leadership in Moscow was inundated with desperate pleas 
for help. In February 1940, a woman wrote from the Urals, “Joseph Vissa-
rionovich, something really terrifying has begun. . . . I’ve so wasted away I 
don’t know what will become of me.” Someone in Stalingrad wrote to the 
Central Committee that “We don’t have time to sleep anymore. At two in 
the morning people begin lining up for bread, and by five or six there are 
already 600–700–1,000 people standing outside the stores. . . . You might 
be interested to know what they’re feeding workers in the cafeterias. What 
they used to give to swine they now give to us.”70
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	 The country’s top leadership was fully aware of the situation. The Po-
litburo made repeated attempts to address the shortages, giving priority 
to major cities and industrial enterprises. The food crisis exacerbated the 
problems of employee turnover and absenteeism that had always plagued 
the Soviet economy. As the country mobilized for war, harsh measures were 
introduced to combat these problems. On 26 June 1940, as France was suc-
cumbing to the Nazis, the USSR enacted a new law lengthening the work-
day and work week and making it a crime to be late or to leave one’s place 
of employment without permission. Soviet peasants had lost their freedom 
of movement long ago. Now factory and office workers lost theirs. In the 
year between the enactment of this law and the start of war, it was used to 
convict more than three million people.71 Of them 480,000 served prison 
terms up to four months.72 The rest, though not imprisoned, were forced to 
perform compulsory labor for up to six months. The convicted were often 
allowed to remain at their jobs, but a significant share of their meager pay 
was deducted, condemning them and their families to hunger.
	 Such extreme laws and the declining standard of living took a toll on So-
viet society, whose suffering only increased Stalin’s deeply ingrained fear of 
a fifth column. Whereas the purges of the prewar years had been targeted 
primarily at the western areas recently annexed by the USSR, Stalin now 
began to worry, and with reason, that people throughout Soviet society 
could prove disloyal to him in time of war. Too many had suffered at the 
hand of the government; too many had starved or eked out a meager exis-
tence. The propagandistic claims of monolithic unity at both the front and 
the rear were intended for the people, for foreign enemies, and for gullible 
posterity. Stalin was not among the gullible.
	 Soviet propaganda described the Red Army as the people’s own flesh 
and blood, and it was. Within the Red Army, the unique features and con-
tradictions of the Stalinist system were manifested in concentrated form. 
Between January 1939 and June 1941 the Soviet armed forces more than 
doubled in size. This rapid increase came with the same fundamental 
problem that plagued Stalinist “leaps forward” in general, especially the 
rapid industrialization of the early 1930s. Ambitious attempts to calculate 
exactly what equipment—even what entire factories—had to be purchased 
from the West failed miserably. Young, untrained Soviet workers produced 
defective products, damaging factory equipment in the process. Stalin’s 
understanding of the complex interdependence between technical and 
social progress was expressed in the updating of the slogan “Cadres solve 
everything!” to “Technology solves everything!” The rapidly growing Red 
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Army needed not only to be armed but also trained. It is difficult to say 
which was the harder task.
	 Between 1937 and 1940, the Soviet officer corps grew more than two and 
a half times. As a result, a sizable proportion of commanders lacked the 
requisite knowledge and experience. During the war Stalin reproached one 
of his generals for the quality of army officers: “You in the military in your 
time ruined the army by sending all sorts of junk into academies and ad-
ministration.”73 As usual, he was blaming others for problems that were pri-
marily his fault. It was on his initiative that in the 1930s, tens of thousands of 
commanders, men who would have been capable of serving their country 
with distinction, were fired, sent to the camps, or shot for political reasons. 
But the damage to the Red Army was not measured only in numbers. Until 
the outbreak of war (and to a lesser extent even during it), repression had 
distorted the decision-making process, including promotions, making it 
possible for time-serving incompetents, skilled primarily in expressions 
of loyalty, to make successful careers. It also discouraged a commander’s 
most important quality—a willingness to take the initiative—and instead 
encouraged excessive caution. As was well known from anti-wrecking 
campaigns, repression subverted the authority of those in charge and un-
dermined discipline. The problems of rule breaking and drunkenness that 
had always plagued the Red Army were magnified.
	 The Soviet leadership could see that there was trouble within the army. 
The clearest signal was the Winter War with Finland. The unexpected foil-
ing of the Red Army by an incomparably weaker enemy dealt the Soviet 
military’s reputation a stunning blow that could not have come at a worse 
time. After the peace treaty was signed, Stalin conducted a review to de-
termine what had gone wrong. Countless deficiencies in the arming and 
training of soldiers were discovered, along with problems in the command 
system. Stalin removed his old friend Kliment Voroshilov from the post of 
people’s commissar for defense and replaced much of the military’s lead-
ership. These changes brought little improvement. In April 1941, approxi-
mately one year after the shake-up, the Politburo looked into accidents in 
military aviation. It turned out that even in peacetime, an average of two to 
three planes was lost in accidents every day. Furious, Stalin placed all the 
blame on the air force leadership.74 On the very eve of war, a new wave of 
arrests roiled the military command.
	 Stalin did not allow his focus on the Red Army to distract him from keep-
ing an eye on his adversary’s forces. The ruthless efficiency of the Wehr-
macht was extremely alarming. Delegations of Soviet weapons experts 
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who visited German munitions plants under a Soviet-German cooperation 
agreement returned home with glowing reports. Delegation members were 
unable to hide how impressed they were and wrote of the huge successes 
of the German weapons industry. In keeping with the Russian saying “Fear 
has big eyes,” Soviet intelligence and the military and economic leader-
ship constantly exaggerated the enemy’s strength. In 1940 the new people’s 
commissar for airplane production, Aleksei Shakhurin, reported to Stalin 
that Germany’s aviation industry had twice the capacity of its Soviet coun-
terpart. The reports Stalin received from his intelligence agencies signifi-
cantly exaggerated both the potential of German industry and the size of its 
armed forces.75 As a result of these overestimates, the enemy looked much 
more imposing that it actually was.
	 The sources of Stalin’s prewar anxiety are a huge subject that cannot be 
fully addressed within the scope of this book. Clearly, he had good reason 
to fear war with Germany. One way he may have reacted to this fear was 
with a desire (which many believe he felt) to delay the start of war in order 
to give the Soviet Union time to strengthen its military capabilities and 
hope that international events would take a favorable turn. He certainly 
had reason to hope that war would be delayed. One of the most convinc-
ing reasons was the idea that Hitler would not be so foolhardy as to mire 
his forces on two fronts by engaging the Soviet Union while he had Great 
Britain and the increasingly active United States threatening his rear. Sta-
lin was not alone in this line of reasoning. Hitler, fully aware of how much 
sense this theory made, took care to exploit it. Secure in the knowledge that  
he was preserving the element of surprise, he did indeed take the risky 
plunge of engaging enemies on two fronts—largely because his enemies 
saw such a move as an impossibility. Nazi propaganda spread disinforma-
tion to perpetuate this mistaken idea. Stalin wound up the victim of his be-
lief in Hitler’s instinct for self-preservation.
	 A few peripheral factors strengthened Stalin’s faith that Hitler would not 
hurry to attack the USSR. For one, Soviet-German economic cooperation 
was thriving. Soviet exports were feeding Germany’s appetite for raw ma-
terials. Goods imported into Germany from three different countries trav-
eled across Soviet territory, so war with the USSR would undermine some 
of Germany’s important economic ties. The intelligence reports reaching 
Stalin’s desk were contradictory. His predisposition to believe Hitler would 
not attack soon influenced his intelligence agencies, who preferred to tell 
Stalin what he wanted to hear. Such a cause-and-effect sequence is hardly 
unique in world history.76
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	 Stalin’s reaction to a 17 June 1941 intelligence report claiming that an at-
tack was imminent is well known. Just days before the actual invasion, he 
wrote to the state security commissar, “You can send your ‘source’ from 
German aviation headquarters back to his f**king mother. This is disinfor-
mation, not a ‘source.’”77 Even if Stalin may have been correct in this case, 
clearly reactions like this frightened intelligence officials and discouraged 
them from speaking up, rendering them much less effective. It was safer to 
say what Stalin wanted to hear or be silent, and those in charge of the coun-
try’s security and military readiness increasingly opted for safety. Stalin got 
what he wanted. He alone had the right to an opinion. Everyone waited to 
see what the dictator had to say, hoping he knew what he was doing. Unfor-
tunately, he did not.
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Patient Number 1

The summoning of the doctors to the near dacha  
on the morning of 2 March 1953.
Beria, Khrushchev, Bulganin, and Malenkov returned to their homes, 
leaving Stalin on the couch without medical attention. Perhaps out of fear, 
or perhaps out of unspoken ambivalence toward his recovery, Stalin’s 
comrades rejected the idea that they were facing a medical emergency. 
After Malenkov and Beria checked on the vozhd and found him sleeping, 
they proceeded to dismiss what the bodyguards had told them about his 
symptoms. Had he really had some sort of fit? The bodyguards were not 
doctors. Their imaginations could have been playing tricks on them. His 
colleagues probably also remembered that Stalin had recently accused his 
own doctors of being murderers. Who would take responsibility for calling 
a doctor (or summoning a murderer, as the vozhd might see it) unless he 
were absolutely sure one was needed? A simple need for emergency med-
ical care was transformed into a multidimensional political problem.
	 Stalin’s bodyguards spent the remainder of the night in a state of anx-
iety. No doubt worried that they could be held accountable if Stalin died, 
they again asked for guidance from above and reported that things did not 
seem right with the boss. This time the four comrades decided to send a 
team of doctors to the dacha. Before doing so, however, they convened the 
Bureau of the Central Committee Presidium1 so that the summoning of 
medical luminaries would look like a collective decision by the party lead-
ership. Should Stalin recover, his anger would fall on everyone at once. On 
the morning of 2 March the doctors arrived at Stalin’s bedside.
	 The renowned Soviet cardiologist Aleksandr Miasnikov, one of the 
medical experts summoned to attend Stalin, gives a detailed descrip-
tion of the visit in his memoirs. “The diagnosis,” he wrote, “was clear to 
us, thank God: hemorrhage in the left cerebral hemisphere of the brain 
caused by hypertonia and atherosclerosis.”2 The doctors gave Stalin gen-
erous doses of various stimulants but without any real hope of preventing 
death. From a medical perspective, his condition was no mystery. An 
autopsy confirmed the initial diagnosis, revealing a large cerebral hemor-
rhage and severe damage to the cerebral arteries due to atherosclerosis.3 
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Stalin had been a sickly old man. He would have turned seventy-five later 
that year.
	 In totalitarian regimes, too much depends on the personality of the 
dictator. From the time he came to power, Stalin’s health was a topic of 
worldwide interest. During his lifetime there was periodic speculation in 
the Western press that he was ill or even near death. People in the Soviet 
Union whispered similar rumors. Scholars and commentators looked to 
Stalin’s physical and mental health as possible keys to understanding his 
personality and the brutality of his dictatorship. For a long time specula-
tion surrounding Stalin’s health was based on unfounded assumptions. 
Only recently have we gained access to Stalin’s surviving medical records 
and testimony by the doctors who monitored his health and examined 
him after his death.
	 The only one of the Jughashvilis’ three children to live to adulthood, the 
future dictator suffered a variety of ills growing up. At an early age, Ioseb 
came down with smallpox, which left his face permanently pockmarked. 
He also had a bout of malaria.4 Then, through some sort of accident, the 
details of which have never been clear (some say he was hit by a horse-
drawn carriage), he severely injured his left arm. The injury caused his 
arm to atrophy, giving him problems for the rest of his life. In 1898 Ioseb 
wrote to the rector of the Tiflis Theological Seminary asking to be excused 
from a reexamination “due to a disease of the chest that has long plagued 
me and that grew more severe during examinations.”5 He sought to be re-
leased from police custody in October and November 1902 because of his 
“predisposition toward pulmonary consumption” and worsening cough.6 
Apparently his juvenile tuberculosis eventually abated, and he did not 
show signs of the disease later in life.
	 As a professional revolutionary, Stalin had to endure many hardships: 
prison, exile, and an unsettled existence even in times of freedom. Dur-
ing one term of exile he became ill with typhus.7 His most difficult trial 
was his final exile in Turukhansky Krai, which lasted three years. He had 
difficulty adapting to the harsh climate, austere living conditions, isolation 
from “the world at large,” and forced idleness, and in letters to friends he 
complained of a “suspicious cough” brought on by “intensifying cold (37 
below)” and a “general state of ill health.”8 Overall, however, the tsarist 
government was immeasurably kinder to convicts than the Stalinist 
dictatorship. Had young Stalin had to endure so many imprisonments 
and exiles in the sort of Gulag system he went on to create, he most likely 
would not have survived.
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	 The revolution and Civil War not only put millions in their graves, but 
also deeply affected the Bolshevik party and undermined the health of its 
leaders. In March 1921 Stalin underwent an appendectomy.9 On 23 April 
1921, out of concern for their health, the Politburo voted to grant Stalin, 
Kamenev, Rykov, and Trotsky extended vacations.10 In late May, Stalin 
left for the North Caucasus and did not return to Moscow until 8 August, 
almost two and a half months later. In 1922 he skipped his vacation, but in 
July the Politburo compelled him to spend three days a week out of town.11 
Once the Civil War ended, spending time in the fresh air of Moscow’s leafy 
suburban dacha communities became an established lifestyle for the top 
Bolshevik leadership. Stalin and his family commandeered the country 
home of a former petroleum industrialist. Later, after the death of his wife, 
the vozhd built himself a new dacha, more convenient to Moscow. This 
famous country home (the “near” dacha in Volynskoe) was Stalin’s main 
residence for nearly two decades and will forever be associated with him. 
It was here that he died.
	 At the dacha, Stalin would spend time with his immediate family and 
other relatives or get together with his comrades. In addition to the festive 
dinners with lots of alcohol (described above), Stalin’s dacha lifestyle 
also included games, such as billiards or gorodki (a Russian game similar 
to skittles), although the dictator himself was not a big lover of physical 
activity. “He preferred stretching out on a deckchair with a book and 
his documents or the newspapers. And he could sit at the table with his 
guests by the hour,” his daughter Svetlana recalled.12 This penchant for 
immobility only increased with age.
	 Another significant part of Stalin’s life were his vacations in resort areas 
of southern Russia. He spent time in the south every year from 1923 to 1936 
and from 1945 to 1951.13 These trips were working vacations. A constant 
stream of documents was forwarded to him, and he kept up an active 
correspondence with his comrades back in Moscow, a practice that gener-
ated invaluable records for historians. But there was also time for rest and 
relaxation. While in the south Stalin treated his numerous diseases: rheu-
matoid arthritis, bouts of tonsillitis, long-lasting intestinal disturbances, 
and neurasthenia.14 His ailments were also eased by therapeutic baths. “I 
am getting better. The Matsesta waters (near Sochi) are good for curing 
sclerosis, reviving the nerves, dilating the heart, and curing sciatica, gout, 
and rheumatism,” he reported to Molotov on 1 August 1925.15

	 But Stalin was not a conscientious patient. His chronic ailments were 
exacerbated by his lifestyle and bad habits: smoking, drinking, rich foods, 
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and overwork. Like most people, Stalin alternated between taking care 
of his body and inflicting damage. In May 1926 he left for a vacation in 
the Caucasus. After a brief stop in Sochi he set out with Mikoyan to travel 
through Georgia, where he visited his native Gori before going to stay 
with Ordzhonikidze in Tiflis. Letters from the head of Stalin’s Sochi-based 
security team, M. Gorbachev, suggest that this was a boisterous trip. While 
“under the influence,” as Gorbachev put it, on a whim, Stalin suddenly 
summoned him from Sochi to Tiflis but then forgot he had done so. When 
Gorbachev showed up, Stalin was surprised to see him. When it became 
clear what had happened, everyone “had a good laugh.” Gorbachev was 
forced to hurry back to Sochi, covering the vast distance at breakneck 
speed.16 Continuing his spree, Stalin spent a long time driving around the 
Caucasus and wound up returning to Sochi in bad shape. “I returned to 
Sochi today, 15 June,” he reported to Molotov and Bukharin. “In Tiflis I 
came down with a stomachache (I got food poisoning from some fish) and 
am now having a hard time recovering.”17 Gorbachev wrote to Stalin’s as-
sistant, Ivan Tovstukha, “Overall, the boss wound up paying quite a price 
for this trip across the Caucasus in terms of his health. Mikoyan and Sergo 
[Ordzhonikidze] turned him topsy-turvy.”18 Stalin called for a doctor, went 
on a diet, and began to take the waters on a regular basis.19 The doctor who 
treated him in Sochi, I. A. Valedinsky, recalled that his patient complained 
of pain in his arm and leg muscles. When his doctors forbade him to 
drink, Stalin asked, “But what about cognac?” Valedinsky replied that “on 
Saturday you can let loose, on Sunday you should rest, and on Monday 
you can go to work with a clear head.” “Stalin liked this response, and the 
next time he arranged a ‘subbotnik’ [a word usually used for mandatory 
‘volunteer’ work on Saturdays], it was very memorable for me,” Valedinsky 
wrote, although he did not explain what made this particular gathering so 
unforgettable.20

	 References to his poor health are scattered throughout Stalin’s later 
correspondence as well. While on vacation in July 1927, he wrote to 
Molotov: “I’m sick and lying in bed so I’ll be brief.”21 According to Vale-
dinsky, that year he also complained of pain in his arm and leg muscles. 
Therapeutic baths were followed by the usual subbotnik. Stalin invited his 
doctors to dine with him “and was so generous with the cognac,” Valedin-
sky wrote afterward, “that I did not make it home until the following day, 
on Sunday.”22 In 1928, before taking a curative bath in Sochi, Stalin again 
complained of pain in his arms and legs. The rheumatoid arthritis in his 
left arm was progressing.23 During a vacation in August 1929 Stalin wrote 
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to Molotov that “I am beginning to recuperate in Sochi after my illness  
in Nalchik.”24 In 1930, while undergoing treatment in Sochi, he fell ill with 
tonsillitis. His teeth also hurt. In September 1930 he wrote to his wife that 
the dentist had “sharpened” eight of his teeth in one go, so he “was not 
feeling very well.”25 In 1931 he again took therapeutic baths. “I spent about 
10 days in Tsqaltubo. I took 20 baths. The water there was marvelous, truly 
valuable,” he wrote to Yenukidze.26 That September he wrote to his wife 
that he was vacationing in Sochi with Kirov. “I went one time (just once!) 
to the seaside. I went bathing. It was very good! I think I’ll go again.”27  
Apparently he used the Russian word for “bathing” because he could  
not swim.
	 The vacation Stalin took in 1932 was one of his longest. The log of 
visitors to his Kremlin office shows that he did not receive anyone there 
between 29 May and 27 August—almost three months. The apparent 
reason for such a long break was poor health. The following spring the 
foreign press was still speculating that Stalin was seriously ill. On 3 April, 
Pravda took the unprecedented step of publishing a response by Stalin to 
a query by the Associated Press: “This is not the first time that false rumors 
that I am ill have circulated in the bourgeois press. Obviously, there are 
people in whose interest it is that I should fall seriously ill and for a long 
time, if not worse. Perhaps it is not very tactful of me, but unfortunately I 
have no information to gratify these gentlemen. Sad though it may be, the 
fact is that I am in perfect health.”28 Behind this characteristically mocking 
response was genuine irritation. Stalin’s symptoms were serious, and rest 
and relaxation in the beneficial climate of southern Russia apparently did 
not alleviate them. “It seems I won’t be getting better anytime soon,” Sta-
lin wrote to Kaganovich from the south in June 1932. “A general weakness 
and real sense of fatigue are only now becoming evident. Just when I think 
I’m beginning to get better, it turns out that I’ve got a long way to go. I’m 
not having rheumatic symptoms (they disappeared somewhere), but the 
overall weakness isn’t going away.”29 Soon, however, he felt well enough to 
make a 230-mile trip across the Black Sea by motor boat.30

	 Regular trips to the south inspired Stalin to build new vacation homes 
there. These construction projects began in 1930 and continued for the 
rest of his life. “We’ve built a marvelous little house here,” he wrote of his 
new dacha outside Sochi in August 1933. A month later he wrote of an-
other residence: “Today I visited the new dacha near Gagry. It’s turned  
out (they just finished building it) to be a splendid dacha.”31

	 In 1933 Stalin was away from his Kremlin office from 17 August to 4 
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November. On 18 August he left Moscow to travel south with Voroshilov. 
The trip—by train, boat, and automobile—took seven days, during which 
they visited several regions of the country. Stalin spent the remainder of 
his vacation traveling (including by sea), entertaining guests, and, inevi-
tably, working. This vacation was apparently among the more enjoyable. 
The situation in the country had somewhat stabilized after the devastating 
famine, putting the Soviet leadership in a good mood. Moreover, Stalin 
enjoyed relatively good health. “Koba felt great the entire time,” Voroshilov 
wrote to Yenukidze. His only health problem was some tooth pain.32

	 Stalin’s vacation the following year was less successful. In 1934 he 
caught influenza and returned to Moscow having lost weight.33 Kirov, 
who accompanied Stalin that summer, also did not enjoy himself. “As fate 
would have it, I wound up in Sochi,” Kirov wrote, “which I’m not happy 
about—the heat here isn’t tropical; it’s hellish. . . . I really regret that I 
came to Sochi.”34 Things did not go well in 1935 either: Stalin again caught 
influenza and injured his finger when the head of his security team acci-
dentally slammed a car door on it. Stopping in Tiflis toward the end of this 
vacation to visit his mother, he came down with a stomach ailment.35 In 
1936, Stalin’s letters to his comrades-in-arms back in Moscow during Au-
gust through October are brief, harsh, and often ill humored. They contain 
no personal information, just orders. They are largely devoted to the topic 
of “enemies of the people,” especially arrangements for the first Moscow 
show trial against Zinoviev and Kamenev.
	 Nineteen thirty-seven had a gloomy start both for the country, which 
was succumbing to another round of repression, and for Stalin, who 
began the year with a bout of tonsillitis. (By 5 January he had sufficiently 
recovered to enjoy dinner with his comrades and doctors, followed by 
dancing to phonograph records.)36 Despite his continued poor health, 
for the first time in many years he did not leave Moscow on vacation. The 
decision to stay was undoubtedly due to his intimate involvement in the 
purging of Soviet society. He also stayed in Moscow the following few 
summers. After the winding down of the Great Terror, the impending war 
prevented him from relaxing down south. In 1939, for example, he spent 
August embroiled in difficult negotiations with Western powers and then 
the Nazis, resulting in the pact with Hitler. He had recently turned sixty, 
and his health had not improved. In records dated February 1940, Valedin-
sky mentions another episode of tonsillitis and a bad cold.37

	 The outbreak of war in the summer of 1941 pushed the already hard-
working leader to his limits. Unlike many Soviet citizens, of course, he was 
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not going hungry or enduring long days of backbreaking labor, but the 
additional workload and responsibilities put a greater strain on his health. 
In September 1944 discussions with the United States ambassador to 
Moscow, Averell Harriman (who was attempting to arrange for the Soviet 
leader to meet with Roosevelt and Churchill), Stalin explained that he 
would not be able to leave the country because of “increasingly frequent 
illnesses.” According to one account of these talks, “In the past Com. Stalin 
would have the flu for one or two days, but now it was lasting for one and 
a half or two weeks. He was showing his age.”38 In his categorical refusal to 
travel by plane, Stalin may have been overdramatizing his health prob-
lems, but not by much. A number of memoirs describe Stalin’s frail health 
during the war years. Whenever the situation at the front permitted it, the 
dictator retreated to his dacha and worked from there.
	 In October 1945, shortly after the surrender of Japan, Stalin took his 
first southern vacation in several years.39 Toward the end of his life these 
trips were shifted to later in the year, usually commencing in August or 
September and ending in December. Apparently he preferred to enjoy the 
peak of summer at his dacha outside Moscow and to head south when the 
weather up north turned cold. His vacations also grew longer. In 1946–1949 
they extended to three or three and a half months, and in 1950 and 1951 he 
spent four and a half months out of town.40 While at his southern resi-
dences, Stalin engaged in more or less the same activities as in Moscow. 
He spent time working on the day’s mail and writing to his comrades. He 
also received visitors, although fewer than in Moscow. As in Moscow, 
however, he enjoyed presiding over festive gatherings at the dinner table 
and playing billiards. But some activities were specific to his vacation life- 
style. During his visits to Russia’s resort towns, he took therapeutic baths, 
went for walks, and traveled. In 1947 he expressed a desire to travel by car 
from Moscow to Crimea, although the poor quality of the roads allowed him 
to get only as far as Kursk, where he boarded a train. Long car trips were 
evidently bad for his rheumatism. A number of memoirs report that he nev-
ertheless preferred the less comfortable jump seats to the cushioned back 
seat.41 He seldom stayed in one place very long when visiting the south, 
moving among his continuously growing collection of dachas.42 Sometimes 
he would invite his daughter and son to join him, occasioning a sort of fam-
ily reunion that, for a number of reasons, was not possible in Moscow.
	 After the war, these visits to the south alternated with long periods 
when Stalin barely left his Moscow dacha. Visits to his Kremlin office 
became increasingly rare, primarily due to his deteriorating health. 
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He continued to suffer from stomach pain and intestinal disturbances, 
accompanied by fever, throat problems, colds, and influenza. His athero-
sclerosis was progressing.43 Despite scattered attempts to do so, he was by 
now simply incapable of changing his sedentary lifestyle. The copious fare 
served at his frequent late-night dinner gatherings was surely not good for 
him. According to Milovan Djilas, who visited Stalin’s dacha several times 
in the 1940s, “The selection of food and drink was huge, with an emphasis 
on meat dishes and hard liquor.”44 The leader of the Hungarian Commu-
nist Party, Matyas Rakosi, recalled the following:

The atmosphere at these dinners was free and easy; people told jokes—
often even dirty ones—to the raucous laughter of everyone present. Once 
they tried to get me drunk, but wine doesn’t affect me, which earned 
me recognition and a bit of surprise from those in attendance. Our 
last dinner together was in the fall of 1952. When Stalin left the room at 
three in the morning, I commented to the Politburo members, “Stalin is 
already 73; aren’t such dinners, stretching so late into the night, bad for 
him?” His comrades assured me that Stalin knew his limits.45

	 Stalin brought up his age and the importance of cultivating a new 
generation of leaders with increasing frequency.46 Deep down, however, he 
must have hoped for the best. In November 1949, when the Albanian leader 
Enver Hoxha expressed the wish that Stalin would live to one hundred, the 
Soviet leader joked: “That’s not enough. Back home in Georgia we have old 
people still alive at 145.”47 As Stalin’s daughter Svetlana attested, “In later 
years he wanted to continue in good health and live longer.”48

	 In 1952, Stalin did not travel south. Even though he remained in Mos-
cow, he visited his Kremlin office only fifty times, an average of less than 
once a week. On 21 December 1952, for his seventy-third birthday, his 
daughter Svetlana made her final visit to her father’s dacha. “I was wor-
ried at how badly he looked,” she recalled. “He must have felt his illness 
coming on. Maybe he was aware of some hypertension, for he’d sud-
denly given up smoking and was very pleased with himself. . . . He’d been 
smoking for fifty or sixty years.”49 By this time his atherosclerosis was well 
advanced. The autopsy performed two and a half months later showed 
that damage to the arteries had greatly impeded blood flow to the brain.50

	 To what extent was Stalin’s death hastened by a lack of professional 
care? It is widely believed that he did not see any doctors during the final 
months of his life due to arrests at government hospitals in connection 
with the Doctors’ Plot (see chapter 6 below). Svetlana Allilueva writes:
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He was probably aware of an increase in his blood pressure, but he 
hadn’t any doctor to take care of him. Vinogradov [a renowned doctor 
who had treated Stalin], the only one he trusted, had been arrested and 
he wouldn’t let any other doctor near him.
	 Somewhere or other he got hold of some quack remedies, and 
he’d take some pills or pour a few drops of iodine into a glass of water. 
Moreover, he himself did a thing no doctor would ever have allowed: 
Two months after I last saw him and just twenty-four hours before his 
stroke he went to the bathhouse near the dacha and took a steam bath, 
as he’d been accustomed to doing ever since Siberia.51

Allilueva’s testimony has to be taken with a grain of salt. She rarely saw her 
father and knew little about his life. Her reminiscences offer a subjective 
view of events. No archival documents have been found to clarify whether 
Stalin was under the care of doctors during the final months of his life. 
Nothing has been written about the quality of his health care at that time. 
Perhaps no treatment in the world would have helped.
	 We are equally in the dark about another complex question: the effect 
Stalin’s ailments had on his decisions and actions. Without solid evidence, 
speculation on this subject remains just that. What we do know is that 
Miasnikov, one of the doctors summoned to his deathbed, believed that 
the extensive damage to Stalin’s cerebral arteries uncovered during his 
post mortem must have affected his character and behavior:

I believe that Stalin’s cruelty and suspiciousness, his fear of enemies 
and loss of the ability to assess people and events, his extreme obstinacy 
—all this was the result, to a certain extent, of atherosclerosis of the 
arteries in his brain (or rather, atherosclerosis exacerbated these traits). 
Basically, the state was being governed by a sick man. . . .  Sclerosis 
of the blood vessels in the brain developed slowly, over the course 
of many years. Areas of cerebral softening that had originated much 
earlier were discovered in Stalin.52

These observations by a distinguished doctor are entirely consistent with 
the testimony of Stalin’s associates. Even the most devoted among them, 
Vyacheslav Molotov, admitted, “In my opinion, Stalin was not quite in pos-
session of his faculties during his final years.”53 A historian, as well, would 
have no trouble coming up with “oddities” and inappropriate responses 
in Stalin’s political behavior. But historians are not doctors. While keeping 
their subjects’ possible ailments in mind, they try not to dwell on them.
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5	Stalin at War
The 22 June 1941 surprise attack came with plenty of warning. The previous 
evening Moscow’s military leadership received a report: a sergeant in the 
German army had crossed the border with the news that an invasion would 
begin the following morning.1 Stalin was immediately informed, and the 
military leaders and Politburo gathered in his office to decide how to re-
spond. People’s Commissar for Defense Semen Timoshenko and Army 
Chief of Staff Georgy Zhukov, according to the latter’s memoirs, asked for 
a directive allowing them to bring troops to a state of combat readiness.2 
Stalin was doubtful: “Could it be that the German generals sent us this de-
fector to provoke a clash?” After hearing out his military chiefs, he con-
cluded, “It would be premature to issue such an order. The matter might 
still be resolved peacefully. We should issue a brief order indicating that 
an invasion could start with provocative actions by German units. To avoid 
complicating matters, forces in border districts should not give in to any 
provocations.”3 The order reached troops shortly after midnight.
	 Stalin and the Politburo continued to discuss the alarming news until 
they finally parted ways, exhausted, around three o’clock in the morning. 
It was not long before Zhukov telephoned Stalin to report that German 
troops had launched an invasion. After briefly trying to refuse the general’s 
demand that the vozhd be summoned to the phone, his chief bodyguard 
finally went to wake him:

After about three minutes, I. V. Stalin came to the phone.
	 I informed him of the situation and asked for permission to com-
mence an armed response. I. V. Stalin was silent. All I heard was his 
heavy breathing.
	 “Did you understand what I said?”
	 Again silence.
	 “Will there be orders?” I persisted.4
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Zhukov’s memoirs seem to suggest that Stalin withheld permission to re-
spond to the attack and simply ordered Zhukov and Timoshenko to the 
Kremlin. But in 1956 Zhukov offered an important detail about this con-
versation that was never included in his memoirs. During the telephone 
call, he said, Stalin issued an order to the troops: “This is a provocation by 
the German military. Do not open fire to avoid unleashing wider action.”5 
There is no reason to disbelieve this account.
	 According to Zhukov, he and Timoshenko arrived at Stalin’s office at 
4:30 a.m. to find the Politburo already there. This timing contradicts the log 
of visitors to Stalin’s office, which states that Timoshenko and Zhukov’s first 
visit on 22 June occurred at 5:45.6 A simple explanation could be that the 
4:30 meeting took place not in Stalin’s office but in his Kremlin apartment. 
In any event, after being updated by his military chiefs, Stalin again ex-
pressed doubts: “Couldn’t this just be a provocation by German generals?  
. . . Hitler surely doesn’t know about this.” He sent Molotov to meet with 
Germany’s ambassador, Friedrich von der Schulenburg.7 As Zhukov de-
scribes it, he and Timoshenko asked Stalin to order a counterstrike, but 
Stalin told them to wait until Molotov returned.
	 The idea that the attacks were a conspiracy by German generals and were 
unknown to Hitler fit perfectly with Stalin’s thinking. Further evidence that 
the Soviet leaders harbored serious illusions about Hitler can be found in 
Molotov’s behavior during his meeting with Schulenburg, which began at 
5:30 that morning. Obeying instructions sent by his government, Schulen-
burg, clearly upset, read Molotov the following brief notification: “In view 
of the intolerable threat to Germany’s eastern border posed by the massive 
concentration and readying of all the armed forces of the Red Army, the 
German government feels compelled to take military countermeasures.” 
Molotov’s reaction suggests that he did not understand what was actually 
happening. He began to dispute that Soviet forces were concentrated along 
the border and concluded with the almost desperate question: “Why did 
Germany sign a non-aggression pact only to break it so easily?”8 He tried to 
convince Schulenburg that the USSR was innocent in this matter and that 
it was Germany that was being treacherous, although he must have under-
stood that even if the German ambassador believed him, nothing could be 
done. Schulenberg was just the messenger.
	 This meeting took place right in the Kremlin, so by 5:45 Molotov was al-
ready back in Stalin’s office, along with Beria, Lev Mekhlis, Timoshenko, 
and Zhukov.9 As Zhukov describes it, upon hearing from Molotov that Ger-
many had declared war, Stalin “silently dropped into his chair and became 
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immersed in thought. A long and painful pause ensued.” Stalin agreed to 
issue a directive ordering the destruction of the invading enemy and added, 
“So long as our troops, with the exception of aviation, do not violate the Ger-
man border anywhere for now.”10 This order was issued to the troops at 7:15 
a.m., almost four hours after the invasion began.11 It showed that the top lead-
ership still did not understand what was happening. Stalin did not sign the 
order. It went out over the signatures of Timoshenko, Malenkov, and Zhukov.
	 In the hours that followed, Stalin conferred with his fellow leaders on 
several questions. Among the most pressing was how Soviet citizens would 
be informed that their country was at war. It was not just a matter of an 
official statement but of how the war was to be presented, what political 
slogans would be put into play, and what objectives were to be pursued. 
Stalin’s comrades felt strongly that he should be the one to speak to the 
country, but he refused. The job fell to Molotov. Of course Stalin under-
stood the political drawbacks of this decision, but he simply did not know 
what to say. The situation was fraught with uncertainty. Molotov’s speech 
announced that the country was at war, emphasized that Germany was the 
aggressor, and expressed confidence that the Soviet Union would prevail. 
He ended with the words, “Our cause is just. The enemy will be crushed. 
Victory will be ours.” Throughout this horrific war, these watchwords were 
emblazoned on posters and banners and repeated over the airwaves.
	 The archives contain a version of the speech written and edited in Molo-
tov’s hand.12 The speech he actually delivered was somewhat different from 
this initial draft and added references to Stalin. It started with the intro
ductory statement, “The Soviet government and its head, Comrade Stalin, 
have asked me to make the following announcement.” A paragraph was 
added toward the end calling on the people to “rally their ranks” around 
the party, the government, and “our great leader Comrade Stalin.” These 
references to Stalin were undoubtedly designed to preclude any doubts 
and rumors that might have arisen from his silence.
	 Molotov’s speech exposes a central political concern worrying Stalin 
during the war’s early hours. The brief remarks repeatedly emphasized the 
idea that the German aggression was completely unprovoked and that the 
USSR had meticulously adhered to the non-aggression pact. As the speech 
put it, “The German government was not once given grounds for complain
ing to the USSR that it was not fulfilling the agreement.” Molotov empha-
sized that Germany “is the invading side” and even called the German fas-
cists “traitors.” Implicit in this word choice is the idea that there was an 
understanding between the two countries that could be betrayed.
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	 The English historian John Erickson has suggested that Molotov’s 
speech exposed a sense of unease and even humiliation on the part of the 
Soviet leadership.13 It was as if Molotov were taking the German explana-
tion for the invasion at face value and defending the Soviet Union against 
charges of aggressive intent. Was this insistence on Soviet adherence to 
the pact intended for Hitler in the faint hope that the invasion had indeed 
been launched by rogue generals? Or was the idea of Soviet blamelessness 
meant to influence public opinion in the West, in whose eyes it was sud-
denly important to seem a victim, rather than a partner, of Nazism? Or was 
the speech meant purely for the domestic audience in an effort to fan indig-
nation toward a treacherous enemy?
	 Five minutes after noon, Molotov left Stalin for twenty minutes, during 
which his voice was broadcast over the radio while Soviet officials streamed 
in and out of Stalin’s office. A general army mobilization was announced. 
The situation remained ambiguous. Stalin decided to send high-ranking 
emissaries to the front: Zhukov, Shaposhnikov, and Kulik.14 The use of 
plenipotentiaries to represent him remained Stalin’s preferred method of 
overseeing the war throughout its duration.
	 At 9:15 p.m., another directive went out to Soviet forces, again over the 
signatures of Timoshenko, Malenkov, and Zhukov.15 The results of the first 
day of fighting were sugarcoated. While recognizing that the German forces 
had achieved “minor successes” in a number of areas, the directive claimed 
that in most border sectors “attacks were repelled with heavy enemy casu-
alties.” Having painted this optimistic picture, the directive went on to spell 
out the goal: deal a counterblow and destroy the enemy. In his memoirs, 
Zhukov noted his disapproval of the directive’s wording and his feeling that 
it did not reflect the true state of affairs.16

	 In truth, Stalin did not have accurate information about the first day of 
combat. Communication with frontline forces had broken down, and com-
manders at all levels were afraid to deliver bad news. Stalin himself had a 
hand in creating a distorted picture. On 23 June the first Red Army Main 
Command’s combat overview was published in newspapers. The vozhd 
labored over the wording of this summary himself. “After fierce battles,” 
the overview read, “the enemy was beaten back and suffered great losses.” 
Supposedly there were only two points at which the Germans were able to 
penetrate the border by 10–15 kilometers.17 In reality, the first day of fighting 
was catastrophic. According to official Soviet sources, on 22 June the Red 
Army lost 1,200 airplanes, many of which were destroyed while still sitting 
on airfields. German figures record more than 1,800 Soviet airplanes lost, 
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of which approximately 1,500 were destroyed on the ground. In one day the 
Germans advanced 60–80 kilometers into the Baltic states, 40–60 kilome-
ters into Belarus, and 10–20 kilometers into Ukraine.18

	 Despite lacking accurate information and his understandable desire to 
hope for the best, Stalin must have realized the seriousness of the situation. 
According to eyewitnesses, he was stunned by the outbreak of war. As Zhu-
kov describes it, “During the first day he was not able to really take himself 
in hand and get a firm grip on events. The shock to I. V. Stalin caused by 
the enemy invasion was so strong that his voice even became softer and 
his instructions on organizing the military effort were not always appropri-
ate to the situation.”19 Chadaev later recalled, “Early on the morning of 22 
June I caught sight of Stalin in the corridor. He had arrived at work after a 
brief sleep. He looked tired, worn out, and sad. His pockmarked face was 
sunken. You could see he was depressed.”20

	 Stalin’s indecisiveness during the war’s first hours and his refusal to 
make a radio address on 22 June clearly show that he was not himself. His 
indecisiveness continued the following day, when it came time to set up 
a command headquarters. He refused to formally take charge of General 
Command Headquarters, and Defense Commissar Timoshenko took over 
that responsibility. Officially, Stalin’s membership in the Command Head-
quarters was on a par with those of Molotov, Voroshilov, Semen Budenny,21 
Zhukov, and Admiral Nikolai Kuznetsov.22 A number of other Politburo 
members and military leaders were given the status of advisers to Com-
mand Headquarters.23 This system was extremely inefficient. Though offi-
cially in charge of the war effort, Timoshenko in fact had little authority 
among his colleagues. According to Kuznetsov, the members of Command 
Headquarters and the top leaders “had no intention of subordinating 
themselves to the people’s commissar for defense. They demanded reports 
and information from him, and even made him account for his actions.”24 
Timoshenko was certainly not able to go over Stalin’s head. The chain of 
command became long and tangled, and the system whereby decisions 
were made and implemented was highly disorganized.
	 Stalin’s prewar strategy had failed. He had not managed to avoid war, 
and furthermore, it had gotten off to a worse start than anyone might have 
imagined. In addition to the military catastrophe, he had suffered a dev-
astating blow to his self-esteem. Nobody could openly criticize him for his 
miscalculations, but he must have known that not only his colleagues in 
the leadership but also tens of millions of Soviet citizens were reproaching 
him in their thoughts.
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■	 the State Defense Committee
	 Stalin’s actions during the war’s first days were frenetic, confused, 
and reactive. Even though he did not grasp the situation and was not qual-
ified to manage armies, he tried to do something simply because it was im-
possible to do nothing. He tried desperately (and incompetently) to strike 
back at the Germans. Many, if not most, of these efforts only made matters 
worse.
	 Stalin clearly understood the dangers facing his country. There is con-
vincing evidence that during the war’s very first days he tried to barter away 
Western portions of the USSR in exchange for a truce. Beria was assigned 
to arrange a meeting between his representative and the Bulgarian ambas-
sador, whose country was allied with the Nazis. The Bulgarian ambassador 
was asked to determine what conditions might be acceptable for a peace 
with Berlin. What lands was Germany claiming?25 Just how this initiative 
ended is unknown. Probably the Bulgarian ambassador was reluctant to 
act as an intermediary. But the attempt itself speaks volumes. Whether Sta-
lin was truly prepared to give up Soviet lands or was just hoping to break 
the momentum of Germany’s offensive, he clearly felt less than confident 
about the Red Army’s defensive capabilities.
	 This negotiation attempt was not the only sign of Stalin’s pessimism. In 
parallel with a general mobilization and the preparation of new defensive 
lines in the interior, he ordered a massive evacuation campaign during the 
war’s earliest days. Not only were people and material resources moved 
away from the front line, but a secret evacuation of the capital got under way,  
even though the Germans were nowhere near. On 27 June the Politburo 
approved an order to urgently (within three days) remove from Moscow 
the government’s precious metal and gem reserves, the Soviet Diamond 
Fund, and valuables held in the Kremlin armory. On 28 June it was decided 
that currency held in Moscow’s Gosbank and Gosznak depositories should 
be immediately relocated, and on 29 June, that the commissariat apparats 
and other top government offices should be moved to the rear. On 2 July 
the Politburo resolved to move Lenin’s sarcophagus from his tomb in Red 
Square to Siberia, and on 5 July, to move government and Central Commit-
tee archives.26

	 An official summoned to Stalin’s office on 26 June later recalled the fol-
lowing: “Stalin did not look his usual self. He didn’t just look tired. He had 
the appearance of someone who had endured a profoundly upsetting ex-
perience. Until I met with him, I had a feeling based on various pieces of 
circumstantial evidence that we were taking a heavy beating along the bor-
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ders. Maybe defeat was looming. After I saw Stalin, I understood that the 
worst had already happened.”27 The next few days brought no relief. Stalin 
was increasingly aware of the futility of his orders and how difficult it was to 
manage the army.
	 Just a week after the war began, alarming news reached Moscow about 
the grave situation along the Western Front and that Minsk, the capital of 
Belarus, had already fallen into enemy hands. Communication with the 
troops had largely broken down. A tense pause settled in at the Kremlin. 
On 29 June, for the first time since the war began, no meetings were sched-
uled in Stalin’s Kremlin office. According to Mikoyan, that evening Molo-
tov, Malenkov, Beria, and he gathered at Stalin’s, probably at his Kremlin 
apartment or his dacha. Stalin telephoned Timoshenko, but the defense 
commissar did not seem to know anything.28 The military leaders were not 
in control of the situation. Alarmed, Stalin, in violation of long-standing 
practice, proposed to the Politburo members that they all go to the defense 
commissariat.29 Here, finding further confirmation that the catastrophe 
had become gigantic, he showered the generals with rebukes and accusa-
tions. Unable to withstand the tension, Zhukov, head of Command Head-
quarters, broke into tears and ran to a neighboring room. Molotov went 
to comfort him. This scene evidently had a sobering effect on Stalin. He 
understood that putting pressure on his military leadership would not 
help. According to Mikoyan, as he and Molotov were leaving the commis-
sariat, Stalin said, “Lenin left us a great legacy. We, his heirs, have pissed 
it all away.”30 Crude language was not unusual for Stalin, but in this case it 
revealed an extreme state of inner turmoil. After leaving the commissariat, 
Stalin apparently went to his dacha.
	 The following day, 30 June, Stalin did not show up at his Kremlin office 
or anywhere else in Moscow. Given the growing crisis, this withdrawal 
from his duties was truly reckless. The huge machine of government had 
been specially designed so that it could not run without him; inevitably, 
it started to break down. Something had to be done, and Molotov took the 
initiative. He was the most senior member of the informal hierarchy within 
the Politburo. According to various eyewitnesses, after losing track of Sta-
lin, Molotov began calling him at the dacha.31 When he was unable to get a 
response—or, more likely, after bearing the brunt of Stalin’s dark mood—
he concluded that Stalin was truly struggling. According to Mikoyan, Mo-
lotov said that “Stalin is so exhausted that he doesn’t care about anything; 
he’s lost all initiative and is in a bad way.”32 This account was indirectly 
confirmed many years later by Molotov himself in interviews conducted 
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by the writer Feliks Chuev: “He didn’t show himself for two or three days; 
he was at the dacha. He was certainly suffering and a little depressed.”33 
Molotov’s memory seems to have failed him on certain details: Stalin did 
not seclude himself at the dacha for even two full days, let alone three, but 
given the catastrophic circumstances, even a brief absence by the country’s 
leader must have seemed an eternity.
	 Alarmed, Molotov called a meeting with Beria, Malenkov, and Voroshi-
lov. There was no talk of officially removing Stalin from power or even tak-
ing over his duties. Instead the group tried to figure out how to lure Stalin 
out of his dacha and make him do his job. This was a delicate task. One 
simply did not show up at Stalin’s dacha without an invitation, and under 
the circumstances they could only imagine how he might react to an un-
sanctioned visit. Furthermore, it would not be easy explaining their reason 
for coming to see him. Nobody wanted to be the one to tell Stalin that his 
breakdown was placing the entire country in jeopardy. But these men were 
not neophytes when it came to political maneuvering, and they devised a 
brilliant plan. They decided to go together (certainly nobody wanted to go 
alone!) and present Stalin with a proposal for creating a supreme authority 
to oversee the war effort: the State Defense Committee, to be headed by 
Stalin himself. In addition, the committee would include the four men who 
had come up with the plan. Molotov would serve as first deputy to the com-
mittee chairman.
	 The creation of the State Defense Committee solved multiple problems 
at once. Now Stalin’s fellow leaders could visit him at his dacha without im-
plicitly reproaching him for not showing up at the Kremlin. That the com-
mittee would be headed by Stalin demonstrated his continued leadership 
and the Politburo’s firm support, while the fact that it was a small com-
mittee of his most faithful comrades allowed them to privately help him 
make decisions as he recovered his mental balance. Finally, the four men 
together interacting with Stalin at this delicate time helped protect each of 
them from the full force of Stalin’s outbursts.
	 Once Molotov, Malenkov, Voroshilov, and Beria had agreed on the idea 
of the committee, Mikoyan and Voznesensky were called to Molotov’s of-
fice. They were two members of the leadership group that the four men had 
decided not to include in the committee, but it was important that they also 
come to the dacha as a demonstration of unity.
	 Mikoyan left behind an account of what happened when the delegation 
arrived at Stalin’s dacha late in the day on 30 June. The vozhd was sitting in 
an easy chair in the small dining room. He looked at his unexpected visi-
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tors inquisitively and asked why they had come. As Mikoyan describes it, 
“He looked calm, but somehow strange.” After hearing Beria, the chosen 
spokesman for the delegation, present the proposal to create a State De-
fense Committee, Stalin raised only one objection: he wanted Mikoyan and 
Voznesensky included as well. Beria was ready with the argument against 
expanding the membership: someone had to lead the Council of People’s 
Commissars. Stalin relented.34

	 Mikoyan’s memoirs were edited by his son Sergo, who took a number of 
liberties with his father’s original text, which is preserved in the archives.35 
In editing his father’s account of this incident, Sergo clearly tried to create 
the impression that Stalin was frightened by his comrades’ visit, inserting 
embellishments such as “Upon seeing us, he [Stalin] seemed to cower in 
his chair” and “I [Mikoyan] had no doubt: he had decided that we were 
there to arrest him.”36

	 Was Stalin really frightened? How should we interpret this meeting? Un-
questionably, it was an exceptional moment in the history of his dictator-
ship. However deferential their demeanor, Stalin’s associates had violated 
his supreme authority in at least five ways. (1) They had come unbidden 
to the dacha, (2) having worked out an enormously important initiative 
behind his back, and (3) they urged that their proposal be adopted in the 
form they had agreed on among themselves. (4) They had formalized Mo-
lotov’s role as second-in-command in the government despite the fact that 
he was out of favor with the vozhd, and (5) they had decided to exclude 
Voznesensky from the committee, even though just that May, when Stalin 
had taken over the chairmanship of the Council of People’s Commissars, 
he had chosen Voznesensky over Molotov to serve as his first deputy. In 
essence, Stalin’s closest colleagues were letting him know that in the face 
of an existential threat, the post-Terror leadership had to be consolidated 
and that he had better abandon any thought of further shake-ups at the top. 
This was a unique episode; in his time in power, Stalin saw nothing like it 
before or after. It signaled a temporary change in the nature of the dictator-
ship and the emergence of a wartime political compromise, a rebalancing 
of power within the Politburo somewhere between the flexibility Stalin had 
demonstrated in the early 1930s, when he was first consolidating his dic-
tatorship, and the tyranny he was exercising when the war broke out. This 
arrangement endured almost until the war’s end.
	 The day after the meeting at the dacha, the establishment of the State 
Defense Committee was announced in newspapers. The fact that the com-
mittee’s membership was limited to Stalin, Molotov, Beria, Voroshilov, and 
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Malenkov did not mean that the rest of the Politburo’s top leadership had 
lost its influence. Mikoyan and Voznesensky had important jobs keeping 
the economy running. Zhdanov was focused on the defense of Leningrad. 
Given the critical nature of wartime supply and evacuation, Kaganovich’s 
responsibilities as railway commissar were pivotal. In February 1942, Miko
yan, Voznesensky, and Kaganovich also joined the committee.37

	 The establishment of the State Defense Committee was the first in a se-
ries of organizational changes that eventually placed supreme leadership in 
the Soviet war effort in Stalin’s hands. On 10 July General Command Head-
quarters, which had been headed by Defense Commissar Timoshenko, was 
replaced with a Supreme Command Headquarters, headed by Stalin. On 
19 July the Politburo passed a resolution making Stalin people’s commis-
sar for defense and, on 8 August, supreme commander.38 The customary 
order was restored. Stalin was once again the sole leader of both the people 
and the army, decisive and confident of victory. An important milestone in 
“Stalin’s return” was his famous radio address on 3 July.
	 Whereas Molotov had gone to the Central Telegraph Building, next door 
to the Kremlin, to make his nationally broadcast speech of 22 June, Stalin 
demanded that radio facilities be set up in the Kremlin itself. The telegraph 
service’s already overwhelmed technical staff had no choice but to comply. 
Cables were extended to the Council of People’s Commissars building. Sta-
lin read his address sitting at a little table with microphones and a bottle 
of Borzhomi mineral water.39 From the very start it was clear that the ad-
dress would not conform to his usual style. “Comrades! Citizens! Brothers 
and sisters! Fighters of our army and navy! It is to you, my friends, that I 
speak!”40 The speech, different from any other in his career, was long talked 
about and remembered. Glued to their radios or studying his words in the 
newspaper, people sought an answer to the most pressing questions: What 
did the future hold? When would the war be over? Stalin offered little cause 
for comfort. While greatly exaggerating German losses (“The enemy’s best 
divisions and the best units of its aviation have been smashed”), he was 
forced to acknowledge that “This is a matter of . . . the life and death of the 
Soviet state, the life and death of the peoples of the USSR.” Ominously, he 
called on the people to recognize “the full depth of danger that threatens 
our country,” to organize a partisan struggle in German-occupied territo-
ries, to create militia detachments, and to remove or destroy all material 
resources from territories under threat from the enemy. He used two dif-
ficult-to-translate words in characterizing the war: vsenarodny (of all the 
peoples) and otechestvenny (domestic or “of the fatherland,” but often 
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translated as “patriotic” in the context of World War II). Anyone listening 
could draw only one conclusion: the war would be long and hard.
	 The people and especially the army deserved some explanation for what 
had gone wrong. They deserved scapegoats, and the search did not take 
long. The breakdown of Soviet defenses was attributed to missteps under 
the leadership of General Dmitry Pavlov, commander of the Western Front. 
He and many of his subordinates were tried and shot. The orders, signed by 
Stalin, were widely circulated within the army.41

■	 the Blunderer in Chief
	 According to Soviet General Staff statistics, between the start of the 
war and 1 January 1942, 4.5 million members of the Red Army and Navy 
were killed, wounded, or captured. Of this total, 2.3 million were listed as 
missing in action or taken prisoner.42 These estimates were probably low. 
Nevertheless, they show that much of the army that was thrust into battle 
on 22 June 1941, including a large number of newly formed units, was com-
pletely wiped out. The causes of this catastrophe need further study. Clearly 
they included insufficient war readiness, the massive casualties resulting 
from the enemy’s use of surprise, and the military and organizational ad-
vantages of the Wehrmacht. Despite countless examples of heroism and 
steadfastness, the Red Army was demoralized. Another important factor 
was incompetence on the part of the military and political leadership.
	 Lacking a firm grasp of the situation, Moscow was often too slow in its 
decision making, and many of its decisions were bad. The links in the chain 
of command, the General Staff especially, were not fully functional, and it 
took a long time to establish reliable communication with the forces in the 
field. “Even the Chinese and Persian armies,” Stalin scolded his subordi-
nates, “understand the importance of communication when it comes to 
managing an army. Are we really worse than the Persians and the Chinese? 
How can you manage units without communications? . . . We can’t stand 
for this absurdity, this disgrace, any longer.”43 During the early stages of the 
war, Stalin spent a great deal of time in a special room set up next to his 
Kremlin office conducting conferences via telegraph. This was a cumber-
some means of communication, the main beneficiaries of which are the 
historians who today have access to tapes of the conversations. The army 
and the rear were largely managed using plenipotentiary “helpers.” These 
plenipotentiaries gathered information for Stalin and, with varying degrees 
of success, helped him deal with the never-ending bottlenecks plaguing 
transport, industry, and the overall war effort. This system, apparently un-
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avoidable during this time of defeat and disorganization, was extremely 
inefficient.
	 Stalin, who had no experience commanding a modern army, did the best 
he could, relying largely on common sense rather than military science. On 
27 August 1941 he sent the Leningrad leadership the following advice on 
organizing the city’s defenses: “Position a KV tank an average of every kilo-
meter, in some places every 2 kilometers and in some every 500 meters, de-
pending on the terrain. Behind these tanks or between them position other 
less powerful tanks and armored vehicles. Behind this line of tanks, in back 
of it, place heavier artillery. Infantry divisions will be immediately behind 
the tanks, using the tanks not only as a strike force, but also as a shield.”44 To 
achieve this plan, Stalin was prepared to allocate 100–120 KV tanks, the newest 
and best heavy tanks in the Soviet arsenal, a mighty force in the right hands.
 	 Stalin’s involvement in tactical actions, sometimes even at the platoon 
level, shows just how disorganized the military command was.45 The first 
months of the war offered many painful lessons in the futility of uncoor-
dinated counterattacks. Poorly planned, they often led to huge losses and 
achieved little. The Red Army’s leaders had scant knowledge of how to 
thwart an enemy advance or minimize casualties through the use of tac-
tical retreats to positions prepared in advance. Stalin insisted on holding 
every inch of ground, no matter the cost. Retreat was not allowed until it 
was too late. The result was the encirclement of Soviet armies and their 
gradual destruction, one unit at a time.
	 Seeing battlefield failures left and right often heightened Stalin’s ten-
dency to suspect treachery. Playing up to his suspicions, on 19 August 1941 
Georgy Zhukov, then commanding the Reserve Front, sent Stalin the fol-
lowing report: “I believe that the enemy knows our entire defensive sys-
tem very well, all the operational-strategic alignments of our forces, and 
knows what capabilities we have at hand. It seems that the enemy has its 
own people among our very senior officials with immediate knowledge of 
the overall situation.”46 Ten days later, Stalin himself wrote to Molotov, who 
was then in Leningrad: “Does it seem to you that someone is intentionally 
paving the way for the Germans?”47 This paranoia most likely had no seri-
ous consequences. Stalin, well aware of how dangerous it would be to start 
a witch hunt among Soviet generals in the midst of war, limited himself 
to accusations of cowardice. Few generals were arrested. More often they 
were deprived of their command or demoted and reassigned.
	 Intangibles such as patriotic readiness for self-sacrifice and determi-
nation to defend the motherland could partly compensate for a shortage 
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of weaponry, battlefield experience, and tactical skill. Heroism and self-
sacrifice by Soviet soldiers existed side by side with the demoralization 
brought on by the overwhelming force of the German assault, and Stalin 
received abundant evidence of both.48 He believed in the importance of 
intangibles and attributed the failures of the Red Army to panic, the whole-
sale surrender of Soviet units, mass desertions, and the absence of a firm 
command. With shrinking faith in the army’s ability to consolidate its own 
ranks, when it came time to ensure that his commanders absorbed his  
own ideas about leadership and discipline, he resorted to tried-and-true 
methods. In July 1941 he resurrected the institution of the military commis-
sar, loyal and eagle-eyed party representatives who would be assigned to 
work side by side with every commander at every level.49 The commissars 
were given vast powers, to be exercised largely through “special” (secret 
police) departments within the army. According to official statistics, be-
tween the outbreak of war and 10 October 1941, 10,201 members of the Red 
Army were shot, 3,321 of them in front of their units.50 Even these numbers 
hardly tell the full story of repression at and around the front lines.
	 To ensure that the troops fought as hard as they could, Stalin made it not 
only shameful but also illegal to be taken prisoner. The provisions making 
capture by the enemy a crime were contained in the notorious Order No. 
270, issued by Supreme Command Headquarters on 16 August 1941. Judg-
ing by its style, the order was mostly (if not solely) written by Stalin. It re-
quired that those taken prisoner be killed “by any means, either from the 
ground or from the air.” The families of commanders who joined the ranks 
of “malicious deserters” were to be arrested. Families of soldiers who al-
lowed themselves to be taken prisoner were deprived of their government 
pensions. The order was read out loud in every unit of the army.51 Treating 
capture as treasonous doomed former Soviet prisoners of war to discrimi-
nation long after the war concluded.
	 Using a combination of threats and promises of reinforcements, Stalin 
tried to instill in his military the will to be unyielding. On 11 July 1941, when 
the Germans had reached the outskirts of Kiev, Stalin sent Ukrainian party 
secretary Khrushchev a telegram that read: “I warn you that if you take even 
one step toward pulling your troops back to the left bank of the Dnieper 
and fail to defend the fortified districts on the right bank of the Dnieper, 
you will all face brutal retribution as cowards and deserters.”52 On 16 July 
he signed a State Defense Committee order to defend Smolensk to the last. 
Any thought of surrendering the city was “criminal, bordering on outright 
treason against the Motherland.”53 Throughout the Battle of Smolensk, 
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which lasted until September, the surrounded Red Army put up a dogged 
fight, delaying the German advance across the Central Front to Moscow. 
Hitler’s decision to move a sizable portion of his forces from the Central 
Front to Ukraine and Leningrad also helped slow the Nazi advance toward 
the capital. Throughout July and August Stalin continued to hope that So-
viet forces would hold the line. Beyond it stood their three major capitals: 
Leningrad to the north, Moscow in the center, and Kiev to the south. Time 
was working against the Germans. Fall was coming, with its slushy roads, 
and the first frosts would not be far behind.
	 Demonstrating that the Red Army could put up a good fight was import-
ant for Stalin’s negotiations with his Western allies, Great Britain and the 
United States. Right after the German invasion, the leaders of these coun-
tries expressed full support for the Soviet people in their fight against the 
Nazis. Then began the complicated process of working out relations and 
holding talks about what form support would take. President Roosevelt 
sent his adviser, Harry Hopkins, to Moscow to obtain firsthand informa-
tion. Stalin gave Hopkins an exceptionally warm welcome and tried to 
demonstrate decisiveness and confidence of victory. When their talks were 
interrupted by an air raid, the Soviet leader brought Hopkins in his own car 
to the bomb shelter at metro station Kirovskaia, where they were met by 
bodyguards and Internal Affairs Commissar Beria. One Soviet official left a 
description of the scene:

[Beria] took Stalin by the arm and tried to bring him down below, mak-
ing some remark about danger. Stalin responded curtly and rudely, 
which is how he always spoke when he was irritated: “Get away from me, 
coward!” . . . Stalin stood in the middle of the dark courtyard and looked 
into the black sky at the German plane in the searchlight’s cross beams. 
Hopkins stood next to him, also watching. Then something happened 
that did not happen very often during night raids. The German Junker 
started to fall uncontrollably from the sky—it must have been hit. And 
just then the anti-aircraft artillery hit a second plane. Stalin said, and the 
interpreter told Hopkins:
	 “That’s what will happen to everyone who comes to us with a sword. 
And anyone who comes in the name of the good will be welcomed as a 
dear guest.”
	 He took the American by the arm and led him below.54

In such demonstrations of steadfastness, together with the fierce fight 
put up by the Red Army, the Western allies saw something for which they 
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were ardently hoping: Hitler’s blitzkrieg was being impeded. They could 
and should help the Russians. On 29 September through 1 October 1941, a 
conference of the three powers—the USSR, Great Britain, and the United 
States—was held in Moscow. Britain’s minister of supply, Lord Beaver-
brook, led the British delegation, and Averell Harriman, the U.S. ambas-
sador to the USSR, acted as President Roosevelt’s personal representative. 
On the Soviet side, negotiations were conducted by Stalin and Molotov. The 
Moscow Conference concluded with important specific agreements on as-
sisting the Soviet war effort. The scope of assistance gradually grew. West-
ern tanks and planes supplied through Lend-Lease made a significant con-
tribution along the Soviet-German front. By war’s end, the Red Army was 
mostly driving American-made trucks. Lend-Lease also played a crucial 
role in supplying communications equipment, locomotives, railcars, and 
food to the Soviet Union. “If not for Lend-Lease, victory would have been 
greatly hindered,” Stalin told Roosevelt during their meeting in Crimea in 
February 1945.55

	 The USSR’s new allies were clearly worried about the grim situation 
along the Soviet-German front. Not long before the Moscow Conference, 
disaster had struck the Southwestern Front, where a ferocious battle was 
being waged over Kiev. According to Zhukov, in late July he had informed 
Stalin of the difficult situation and proposed abandoning Kiev and focusing 
on fortifying the eastern bank of the Dnieper to prevent the Germans from 
breaking through the Southwestern Front’s right flank. Stalin responded 
with a gruff refusal, removed Zhukov as chief of the General Staff, and sent 
him to the Western Front.56 The situation in Ukraine continued to deterio-
rate. In early August the Sixth and Twelfth Armies—approximately 130,000 
men—found themselves completely encircled by the Germans outside 
Uman.57 On 8 August, after an advance by German troops, Stalin sum-
moned the commander of the Southwestern Front, General Mikhail Kir-
ponos, to confer with him via telegraph. He began the meeting in his usual 
manipulative manner, attributing to Kirponos intentions he had not openly 
expressed but that might be expected. “We have received information that 
the front has decided to surrender Kiev to the enemy with a light heart sup-
posedly due to a shortage of units capable of holding Kiev. Is that true?” 
Kirponos assured Stalin: “You have been misinformed. The Front’s Military 
Council and I are taking every measure to prevent Kiev from surrendering 
under any circumstances.”58 Stalin ordered him to stand firm and promised 
help in a few weeks.
	 It was obvious that the Soviet armies in the vicinity of Kiev were in dan-
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ger of being encircled. In early September, the Southwestern Command, 
with the support of the General Staff in Moscow, proposed that forces be 
urgently pulled back. Stalin categorically refused. “Just the mention of the 
harsh necessity of relinquishing Kiev was enough to throw Stalin into a rage 
and cause him to momentarily lose his composure,” Aleksandr Vasilevsky 
wrote in his memoirs.59 On 14–15 September, the Germans closed the ring, 
encircling some 452,700 Soviet troops east of Kiev,60 the worst defeat of the 
war thus far. On 20 September, Kirponos and the rest of the Southwestern 
Command were killed in combat. The opportunity to surrender Kiev but 
preserve the army had been lost. The destruction of this huge force further 
strengthened the Germans’ strategic advantage.
	 Historians of every stripe, even those favorably disposed toward Sta-
lin, place most of the blame for this catastrophe on his shoulders. Zhukov 
claims that Stalin implicitly acknowledged his own guilt. When putting 
Zhukov in charge of the Leningrad Front in September 1941, Stalin brought 
up the general’s warning about the threat to the Southwestern Front and 
said, “Your report to me back then was accurate, but I did not understand it 
quite correctly.”61

	 Defeat in Ukraine heightened the danger to Leningrad. By 8 Septem-
ber the city was completely surrounded. The following day the Germans 
launched a new offensive that took the front line to its doorstep. On 11 
September Zhukov replaced Voroshilov as commander of the Leningrad 
Front.62 As Zhukov later told the writer Konstantin Simonov, Stalin consid-
ered the fall of Leningrad inevitable.63 On 13 September the vozhd received 
the commissar of the navy, Nikolai Kuznetsov, in his Kremlin office, where 
they discussed scuttling the ships docked in Leningrad if the city was taken. 
That very day Stalin approved a plan to destroy the fleet.64 Over the next 
two weeks, fighting in the Leningrad suburbs became particularly brutal. 
As the Germans fiercely battled toward the city, Soviet soldiers, in a show 
of mass heroism, fought tooth and nail to repel their attacks. By the end of 
September the advance came to a halt. The Leningrad Blockade, one of the 
most horrific chapters in World War II—and one of the most astounding 
testaments to the fortitude of the Soviet people—began. Over the course of 
the blockade, hundreds of thousands of civilians died of hunger or German 
shelling.

■	 Inside Besieged Moscow
	 Hitler’s hopes of taking Moscow before winter were revived by the 
destruction of a huge Soviet force in Ukraine, and he reassigned a sizable 
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part of the German Army to the Moscow offensive. On 7 October most of 
the Red Army’s Western and Reserve Fronts were encircled in the vicinity 
of Vyazma, and on 9 October the Bryansk Front was also surrounded. The 
road to Moscow had been cleared. The fighter pilot Aleksandr Golovanov 
describes how he was summoned to Stalin’s office around this time. He 
found the vozhd alone, sitting silently in his chair with some untouched 
food before him.

I had never seen Stalin like this. The silence was oppressive.
	 “A great misfortune, a great sorrow has befallen us,” I finally heard 
Stalin’s quiet but distinct voice say. “The German has broken through 
our defenses outside Vyazma. . . .”
	 After a pause, either asking me or talking to himself, Stalin said just as 
quietly:
	 “What are we going to do? What are we going to do?! . . .”
	 He then raised his head and looked at me. Never before or after have 
I seen a human face express such horrible emotional anguish. We had 
met and spoken just two days before, but in those two days he had grown 
extremely haggard.65

According to Zhukov, Stalin was suffering from influenza at the time, but 
staying in bed was not an option. He continued to work, overseeing de-
fensive preparations and the redeployment of all possible reserves to the 
outskirts of Moscow. As part of this effort, Zhukov was called from the Len-
ingrad Front and put in command of the defense of Moscow. On 8 Octo-
ber Stalin signed a State Defense Committee order to prepare to destroy 
1,119 plants and factories in the city and oblast of Moscow.66 On 14 October 
the Germans captured Rzhev and Kalinin. They were just kilometers from 
Moscow.
	 As Mikoyan described it, at nine in the morning on 15 October, mem-
bers of the top Soviet leadership gathered (Mikoyan mentions Molotov, 
Malenkov, Voznesensky, Shcherbakov, and Kaganovich). Stalin informed 
the group that the Germans might soon breach Moscow’s defenses and 
proposed evacuating foreign diplomatic missions and government offices. 
According to Mikoyan, Stalin did not want Moscow to be surrendered, even 
if that meant fighting within the city until reserves capable of expelling the 
Germans arrived. He himself would remain in the capital as long as possi-
ble. At the conclusion of discussions, Stalin signed a State Defense Com-
mittee order dated 15 October,67 stating that “Com. Stalin will be evacuated 
tomorrow or later, depending on the circumstances.”68 Provisions were 
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made. According to Aleksandr Vasilevsky, who was among a small group of 
General Staff members who remained with Stalin, planes were readied for 
a last-minute evacuation.69

	 The decision to evacuate Moscow prompted a brief and frantic effort 
to destroy or pack up files, followed by a mass exodus, primarily by party 
and government officials, of which there was no shortage in the capital. 
Even after the evacuation, “utter chaos reigned” in the Central Committee  
building: “The locks on many desks and the desks themselves were forced 
open, and forms and every sort of correspondence were scattered all over the 
place, including classified papers. . . . Top secret documents that had been 
brought to the boiler room to be burned were left in piles, unburned.”70 In 
the confusion, many officials abandoned the offices and enterprises with 
which they had been entrusted in order to save themselves, their families, 
and their property. A line of official vehicles snaked out of the city. There 
were many cases of theft of government property and valuables. According 
to official statistics, on 16 and 17 October more than a thousand of Mos-
cow’s Communist Party members destroyed their membership docu-
ments.71 The flight of government and party officials in combination with 
rampant rumors provoked a general panic that grew into unrest. Accord-
ing to documentary evidence and eyewitness accounts, this unrest lasted 
for several days and fell into three main categories. First was the looting 
of stores and warehouses, especially those stocked with liquor, often ac-
companied by orgies of drunkenness. Second were attacks, often involving 
theft, on cars leaving Moscow filled with evacuees and their property. Third 
were spontaneous protests at factories and plants, including defense pro-
duction facilities, by workers who had not been paid their promised wages 
and were upset by rumors that their places of employment were about to 
be destroyed. Feeling betrayed and abandoned, in many cases workers 
prevented the removal of equipment and demanded that the factories be 
cleared of the explosives that had been put in place to destroy them.72

	 Most of the top leadership did not leave Moscow on 15 October, as ini-
tially planned, and on the following day Stalin summoned a number of his 
associates to his apartment. Aviation industry commissar Aleksei Shakhu-
rin, who was the first to arrive, describes this meeting in his memoirs. The 
Kremlin, he writes, looked deserted. The anteroom into Stalin’s apartment 
was open, and he found the vozhd smoking and silently pacing the dining 
room. There were signs of evacuation preparations, such as empty book-
shelves. Stalin was wearing his usual jacket and pants, which were tucked 
into boots whose creases were riddled with holes. Noticing Shakhurin’s 
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surprise on seeing such boots, Stalin explained that his other footwear had 
already been removed. Soon Molotov, Malenkov, Shcherbakov, and the 
others arrived. Stalin did not invite anyone to sit down. Pacing back and 
forth he asked everyone who arrived the same question: “How are things in 
Moscow?” Shakhurin reported that at one factory not all the workers had 
received their pay, that the streetcars and metro were not running, that 
bakeries and other stores were closed, and that instances of looting had 
been observed. Stalin responded with the following orders: fly in money 
using airplanes and fix the situation with public transportation and stores. 
He tried to calm himself and his comrades: “Well, it’s not too bad. I thought 
it would be worse.”73 Over the next few days the situation in Moscow really 
did stabilize, largely because the mass detention and arrest of “suspicious 
elements” began after a state of siege was declared on 20 October.74

	 Stalin’s comment that he had expected worse disorder in Moscow is 
consistent with his way of thinking. He was undoubtedly worried about the 
possibility of disturbances. The danger that conflict with a foreign enemy 
could be used to start a civil war—a formula used by the Bolsheviks in 
1917—greatly affected Stalin’s political decision making in the late 1930s. 
The catastrophic start of the war could only have revived such fears. Yet 
anti-government and defeatist tendencies did not reach a critical level in 
the Soviet rear, in large part because of the secret police system put in place 
before the war. After 22 June 1941 this system was not relaxed; it became, if 
anything, more ruthless. Nevertheless it would be wrong to attribute po-
litical stability solely to repression. A blend of patriotism, growing hatred 
of the Nazis, a sense of duty, and a tradition of subservience led people to 
unite in the name of victory. The few large-scale disturbances about which 
historians have learned more from recently opened archives were mainly 
caused by the government’s panicked actions and a sense of defenseless-
ness on the part of the population.
	 While Moscow offers some of the most dramatic examples of unrest, 
there were others. One well-documented case is the disorder that broke 
out in Ivanovo Oblast, northeast of Moscow. As the Germans approached, 
plans were being made to evacuate local textile mills. Rumors spread that 
the mills would be blown up, that food supplies were being trucked out, 
and that party and government officials were fleeing the area. Textile work-
ers, fearing that they would be left to starvation and slaughter, erupted in 
spontaneous uprisings on 18–20 October. They tried to prevent the removal 
of equipment and beat some plant managers and party activists. Cries 
could be heard from the crowds: “They’ll take our equipment and leave us 
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without work”; “All the big shots have fled the city and we’ve been left on 
our own”; “Makes no difference to us if we work for Hitler or Stalin.”75 A 
combination of persuasion and arrests eventually restored calm. Further-
more, the situation at the front was improving, and it was no longer neces-
sary to evacuate Ivanovo’s textile plants.
	 By late October, Soviet troops had halted the enemy advance in the Cen-
tral Direction. In addition to determined fighting by the Red Army, which 
suffered huge losses, the exhaustion of German troops and the mud and 
slush of autumn helped bog down the invasion. Urgent measures were 
now needed to prevent renewed Wehrmacht attacks on Moscow. Stalin 
was very involved in improving the capital’s defenses, forming new fight-
ing units, and overseeing the production of military hardware, especially 
tanks and aircraft. In many cases he turned his Kremlin office into a sort of 
master control center for dealing with logistical questions and overseeing 
cooperation among enterprises.
	 He also remained personally involved in the minute planning of com-
bat operations. As in previous months, he closely followed the situation at 
the front, demanded thorough accounts of operations, and issued detailed 
orders in a broad array of areas. He was clearly eager to go on the offen-
sive, whether or not the time or resources were available, in the hope that 
unexpected attacks would put pressure on an enemy that had spread itself 
thin across a huge front. His commanders did not always agree. In Novem-
ber Zhukov, now commanding the Western Front, objected to one such 
plan. Stalin demanded that counterstrikes immediately be launched in the 
areas of Volokolamsk and Serpukhov to disrupt German preparations for 
offensive action. Zhukov tried to explain that he simply lacked the forces 
to prepare both a defense and an attack. Stalin brought the argument to a 
close: “Consider the question of a counterstrike to be settled. Submit your 
plan this evening.” He then immediately called a member of the Western 
Front’s military council, Bulganin, and threatened: “You and Zhukov have 
gotten pretty full of yourselves. But even you can be called to account!”76 
The hastily organized offensives achieved little. Zhukov, who was trying to 
maintain a reserve force capable of dealing with a new German offensive, 
was probably right.
	 Stalin was much more effective in the area of propaganda. Taking ad-
vantage of the relative tranquility at the front in early November, he ordered 
that the usual celebration be held to honor the anniversary of the Octo-
ber Revolution. He understood that carrying on with this annual event in 
the besieged capital would have a tremendous propaganda impact. On 
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the eve of the anniversary, 6 November, a huge celebratory gathering was 
held at the Maiakovskaia metro station. A train parked at the station was 
set up with a cloakroom and tables of food for party and military leaders. 
Speeches in honor of the revolution’s anniversary were followed by a con-
cert, but the centerpiece of the event was Stalin’s address to the country, 
only his second public appearance since the war had begun. Clearly he was 
expected to provide some sort of explanation for the German forces’ ability 
to take so much Soviet territory and to offer some idea of what lay ahead. 
When would the war end? This was the question on the mind of every So-
viet citizen. The vozhd admitted that the danger hanging over the country 
“has not only not receded but has intensified.” Overall, however, he was 
optimistic. Citing huge (and fictitious) German casualty statistics, he pro-
nounced that Germany’s human reserves “are already drying up,” while the 
Soviet Union’s reserves were “only now being fully deployed.”77

	 The following day, the anniversary itself was marked with a military pa-
rade through Red Square. This was a risky undertaking since a few days 
earlier, on 29 October, German planes had dropped a large bomb right on 
the Kremlin. A total of 146 people were injured and 41 were killed.78 The 
Luftwaffe could certainly strike again. In anticipation of this possibility, a 
parallel parade was held in Kuibyshev (today’s Samara), the city chosen as 
the reserve capital should Moscow fall. In case of an attack during the Mos-
cow parade, radio coverage of the celebration would switch to Kuibyshev. 
No such attack took place.79

	 Stalin addressed the parading troops with a short speech delivered from 
atop Lenin’s Mausoleum. He recalled the glorious victories of prerevolu-
tionary commanders and of the Bolsheviks during the Civil War. Speaking 
of the coming German defeat, he was so bold as to speculate on the tim-
ing: “In just a few months, just a half year, perhaps a year, Hitler’s Germany 
will collapse under the weight of its own crimes.”80 This assurance seems to 
reflect his understanding of the military situation, and it soon led him to 
demand an offensive on all fronts.
	 The celebrations in Moscow—especially Stalin’s speeches—were part of 
a major propaganda campaign through every possible medium. The mili-
tary parade on Red Square was captured on film, but for some reason Sta-
lin’s speech was not. It was decided to stage the speech in an improvised 
studio. A mockup of Lenin’s tomb was built in one of the halls of the Great 
Kremlin Palace, and Stalin repeated his speech for the cameras on 15 No-
vember.81 In December, movie theaters began showing The Parade of Our 
Troops on Moscow’s Red Square on 7 November 1941, including the reen-
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actment of Stalin’s speech. Over seven days, beginning December 4, two 
hundred thousand viewers watched the film in Moscow alone. Hundreds 
of copies were sent to towns across the country.82

	 On the same day Stalin reenacted his speech for the cameras, after 
lengthy preparations the still overwhelming forces of the Wehrmacht 
launched a new attempt to take Moscow. The advance covered significant 
ground and in some areas managed to reach the boundaries of the Soviet 
capital. Nevertheless, the Red Army, bolstered by a constant stream of rein-
forcements, was able to prevail. Just when the Germans had used up their 
last reserves and had come to a halt, the Red Army, almost without pause, 
launched a surprise counteroffensive. By January 1942 the enemy had been 
driven back 100–250 kilometers from Moscow. Finally there was true cause 
for celebration.

■	 The Defeats of 1942
	 The offensive by Soviet troops outside Moscow, together with suc-
cesses on other fronts, inspired hope throughout the entire anti-Nazi world 
but also exposed the Red Army’s weakness and the enduring advantage of 
the Wehrmacht. Soviet troops demonstrated a strong will to fight but could 
not achieve some important objectives the Soviet leadership placed before 
them. Meanwhile, the Germans dug in and prepared their own counter
offensive.
	 On 10 January 1942, Red Army units received a letter critiquing past oper-
ations and looking ahead to upcoming ones. The tone and style of the letter 
suggest that much of it was written by Stalin. It was generally critical of the 
way in which German defenses had been breached during the December 
counteroffensive. The widely dispersed actions by the Red Army, which was 
stretched thin along the entire front, were characterized as incorrect. “The 
offensive can achieve the necessary effect,” it read, “only if we create a force 
capable of overwhelming the enemy in one sector of the front.” A second 
major failing was the poor use of artillery. “We often throw the infantry into 
an offensive against the enemy’s defensive line without artillery, without 
any artillery support, and then complain that the infantry is not advancing 
against a well-defended and dug-in enemy. . . . This is an offense, not an 
offensive—an offense against the Motherland, against the troops forced to 
endure senseless casualties.”83 The Supreme Command demanded regular 
artillery support for attacking units, not just during the preparatory stages 
of an offensive. Here too the main emphasis was on concentrating artillery 
where the thrust of the attack would be focused.
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	 These were sensible and important observations on the perils of frontal 
attacks, which entail large casualties, and the need to concentrate forces 
and maneuver skillfully. But in planning the winter campaign of 1942, Sta-
lin ignored his own warnings and insisted on attacking on all fronts at once. 
He wanted the swift, victorious conclusion to the war that he had promised 
during his 7 November 1941 address. This idea was also expressed in secret 
documents. Stalin’s basic assumption, apparently based on the intelligence 
reports he was receiving, was that Germany had used up its reserves. In his 
6 November 1941 speech he claimed that the Germans had lost 4.5 million 
men during four months of war, and the subsequent reports he received 
tended to support these fantastic numbers. For example, German casualties 
as of 1 March 1942 were estimated at 6.5 million.84 These figures, five or six 
times higher than the actual ones, were probably the result of the usual So-
viet system of distortion, in which the vozhd was told what he wanted to hear.
	 The plan for the summer campaign, approved in March 1942, provided 
for a shift to strategic defense and a buildup of reserves for the next offen-
sive. Stalin wound up issuing orders that conflicted with this decision and 
led to the staging of offensive operations in multiple sectors. “After review-
ing the plan of action adopted for the summer of 1942, I must say that its 
weakest aspect is the decision to conduct defensive and offensive actions 
at the same time,” Marshal Vasilevsky wrote several decades later.85 This 
opinion also prevails in scholarly literature on the subject.
	 During the summer of 1942, offensives were planned for Crimea, the 
Central Direction, and around Kharkov and Leningrad. Stalin was heavily 
involved in the planning of these operations. In matters of staffing, where 
he was, as usual, worried about selecting leaders capable of acting deci-
sively, his personnel choices again reveal his shortcomings as supreme 
commander. He sent Lev Mekhlis, the head of the Red Army’s Main Po- 
litical Directorate, to represent Moscow in Crimea. Mekhlis, who had 
served as Stalin’s secretary, was fanatically loyal to the vozhd, energetic, 
decisive, and ruthless, but he was completely ignorant of military science.
	 Voroshilov was assigned to the Volkhovsky Front, outside Leningrad, 
despite having been earlier dismissed from the Leningrad Front for incom-
petence. His special relationship with the vozhd allowed him to turn down 
this assignment, infuriating Stalin. On 1 April 1942 the Politburo adopted a 
decision, dictated by Stalin, subjecting Voroshilov to savage criticism. The 
disclosure of his reason for turning down this command was obviously 
meant to embarrass him. The former defense commissar was quoted as 
saying that “The Volkhovsky Front is a difficult front” and that he did not 
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want to fail at the job. The Politburo resolved to “(1) Recognize that Com. 
Voroshilov did not prove himself in the work assigned him at the front.  
(2) Send Com. Voroshilov to perform military work away from the front 
lines.”86 This was an empty gesture: Voroshilov was not banished from Sta-
lin’s inner circle. Nevertheless, the resolution, which became known to a 
wide circle of top officials, may have been a warning to others.
	 The Southwestern Command was not a particular source of Stalin’s 
complaints. Aware of his inclinations, the front commander, Timoshenko, 
and military council member, Khrushchev, proposed an offensive to retake 
Kharkov. After confronting objections from the General Staff, Stalin decided 
to maneuver. He approved the Ukrainian operation but pronounced it an 
internal matter for the front’s commanders. This decision did not change 
anything, but it relieved Stalin of some responsibility for how it turned out.
	 The poorly conceived plans for the offensive led to more heavy losses 
and damaged the overall strategic situation. The first disturbing sign was 
defeat in Crimea. The German counteroffensive, launched on 8 May 1942, 
crushed Soviet troops in twelve days and sealed the fate of the Crimean city 
of Sevastopol, which had been under siege for eight months. Large-scale 
heroism was not enough to prevent catastrophe. The city fell in July after 
the Germans brought in significant forces from other fronts. According to 
the Sovnarkom’s chief of administration, Chadaev, Mekhlis tried to make 
his excuses to Stalin in person, waiting outside the vozhd’s office. Chadaev 
described what happened when Stalin appeared in the doorway: “Mekhlis 
jumped up from his seat: ‘Hello, Comrade Stalin! Permit me to report.’ Sta-
lin paused for a moment, looked Mekhlis up and down, and with a voice 
filled with emotion pronounced: ‘Damn you!’ He then headed straight into 
his office and slammed the door. Mekhlis slowly lowered his arms to his 
sides and turned toward the window in distress.”87

	 The following day, 4 June 1942, Stalin signed a Supreme Command di-
rective to the military councils of all fronts and armies on the reasons for 
defeat in Crimea. The style of the directive, which pointed out that the 
Crimean forces had been crushed despite having a significant numerical 
advantage, suggested he had a hand in composing it. The commanders in 
Crimea, including Mekhlis, were accused of incompetence and inability, 
removed from their positions, and stripped of their rank.88 Nevertheless, 
Mekhlis did not fall out of favor with Stalin and continued to be given im-
portant posts. Zhukov later speculated that Stalin was relatively lenient in 
punishing those who had directed the Crimean catastrophe “because he 
was aware of his own personal responsibility for it.”89
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	 The effort to retake the eastern Ukrainian city of Kharkov was also 
planned with Stalin’s full support. The attack began on 12 May and at first 
seemed to promise success. A few days in, however, everything changed. 
The Germans, who were thought to be focused on capturing Moscow, were 
in fact planning a decisive offensive in the south. Timoshenko’s poorly con-
ceived plans for Kharkov only made their task easier. Despite warnings that 
the huge Soviet force now risked encirclement, Stalin refused to halt the at-
tack on Kharkov in order to deal with this threat. By the time he decided to 
suspend the offensive, it was too late.90 According to General Staff statistics, 
277,000 Red Army troops were lost—killed, wounded, or captured—in the 
Second Battle of Kharkov.91 The Germans had again been handed a stra-
tegic advantage. Hitler’s forces were now able to move quickly toward the 
Caucasus and the Volga.
	 Stalin placed the blame for this defeat squarely at the feet of his com-
manders, although they were not castigated as harshly as those involved in 
the Crimean debacle.92 A few months later, on 24 September 1942, Georgy 
Malenkov, who had been sent to represent Headquarters at the Stalingrad 
Front (constituted primarily from the forces of the Southwestern Front), 
wrote to Stalin: “While we’re on the subject of Timoshenko. . . . Now that 
I’ve been able to see how he’s been working here, I can say that Timoshenko 
looks like a good-for-nothing, indifferent to the fate of the Soviet govern-
ment and the fate of our motherland.”93 Given Malenkov’s usual caution, 
we can assume that he was expressing an opinion with which he knew 
the vozhd would agree. As with Mekhlis, however, Stalin kept Timoshenko 
within his inner circle but used him for less critical assignments.
	 Accusing generals of mistakes and a lack of decisiveness was a leitmo-
tif of Stalin’s directives throughout 1942. The generals themselves took 
a different view. Marshal Konstantin Rokossovsky, for example, wrote in 
his memoirs that the defeats during the summer of 1942 stemmed from 
the fact that Headquarters kept repeating the mistakes of the early stages 
of the war. Commands from the top “did not correspond to the situation” 
and “only played into the hands of the enemy.” Instead of gradually pulling 
troops back to lines prepared in advance (in the summer of 1942, the River 
Don), Headquarters kept demanding counterattacks. Troops hurriedly 
moved toward the Germans “with no time to concentrate, on the fly, went 
into battle disorganized against an enemy that under these circumstances 
enjoyed a huge numerical and qualitative advantage. . . . This was all done 
in a manner that had nothing to do with the military science we were 
taught in the colleges and academies, during war games and maneuvers, 
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and it went against all the experience we acquired during the two previous  
wars.”94

	 Refusing to recognize any fault on the part of the Supreme Command, 
Stalin continued to attribute failure solely to the cowardice, treachery, or, 
at best, incompetence of his subordinates. The ultimate expression of this 
logic was the notorious Order No. 227, issued on 28 July 1942, just when the 
German advance in the south seemed unstoppable. Stalin, who undoubt-
edly wrote the order himself, was exceptionally harsh: “Panic-mongers and 
cowards must be exterminated on the spot.” Commanders “who retreat 
from battle positions without an order from above [are] traitors against the 
Motherland.” He demanded that commanders be put on trial, starting with 
army commanders who sanctioned unauthorized retreat. The order pro-
vided for the creation of penalty battalions and companies, the ranks of 
which would be filled by people arrested for violating the Stalinist code of 
conduct, to be used as cannon fodder at the start of attacks. Anti-retreat 
units became a regular part of the army and were tasked with “shooting on 
the spot panic-mongers and cowards in the case of panic and disorderly 
retreat by division units.”95 These units were not disbanded until October 
1944.
	 The fight against “panic-mongers,” “cowards,” and “saboteurs” was a cen- 
terpiece of Stalin’s military policy during the summer of 1942, and fear 
and panic were indeed a problem. Given the hardships of battle and the 
long string of defeats, troop morale was inevitably low. But as during the 
Terror, Stalin’s tendency to see saboteurs and wreckers as the root of all 
failures had no basis in reality. The mental state of Soviet soldiers in the 
face of the well-organized might of the German Army was just one of many 
threads in the tangled web of reasons for Red Army retreats. Often orders 
were disobeyed because they were poorly conceived or simply not real-
izable. Draconian measures at the front did not guarantee victory. A few 
weeks after Order No. 227 was issued, the Germans reached the outskirts of  
Stalingrad.
	 Beside cowardice and treason, another explanation for Soviet defeats 
that featured prominently in Stalin’s mind was that Hitler was not dis-
tracted by a second front in Western Europe. Within the top leadership, 
the Nazi leader’s ability to concentrate his forces on the Soviet front due 
to inaction by the Allies was a frequent source of anger and frustration. 
After heavy pressure from Stalin, during a visit by Molotov to Great Brit-
ain and the United States in May and June of 1942, Churchill and especially 
Roosevelt expressed their intention to open up a second front that autumn. 
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These vague promises began to look increasingly chimerical as the situation 
worsened on all fronts. To soften the blow of his failure to open a European 
front, Churchill went to see Stalin in Moscow.96 On 12 August 1942 the two 
men had their first face-to-face meeting. Stalin found himself in a weak-
ened position due to the numerous defeats suffered by the Soviet side. 
Meanwhile, the Allies’ losses in North Africa and the Mediterranean gave 
them an excuse for delaying a French landing.
	 Stalin did not hide his irritation at Churchill’s explanation. The atmo-
sphere during the first hours of negotiations was extremely tense. The So-
viet leader, abandoning diplomacy, disparaged the Allies’ wavering and 
advised them not to fear the Germans. Churchill was just as blunt. He re-
minded Stalin that Great Britain had been battling the Nazis for a full year, 
an unmistakable reference to the fact that Britain was already at war with 
Hitler while Stalin was helping him carve up Poland. With these reproaches 
out of the way, the allies, who greatly needed one another, settled down 
to serious discussion. Having given a great deal of thought to his negotia-
tion strategy, Churchill delivered his good news: a landing of American and 
British forces was planned for the northern coast of French Africa that fall. 
Stalin took this opportunity for conciliation. He praised the new plan, and 
subsequent talks went more smoothly. Stalin made the friendly gesture of 
inviting Churchill to his Kremlin apartment for his last night in Moscow, 15 
August, where the evening passed convivially.
	 The conclusions to be drawn from Churchill’s visit were clear. The USSR 
would be able to count on its allies mostly for material assistance. Stalin 
told Churchill that his country particularly needed trucks and aluminum. 
For now, the Germans could continue fighting on the Eastern Front with-
out worrying about a serious challenge from the West, and the Red Army 
would continue to suffer defeat and failure. In the south the Germans had 
entered Stalingrad, had captured the important Don and Kuban agricul-
tural regions, and were drawing near to the petroleum deposits of the North 
Caucasus and Transcaucasia. According to official Soviet statistics, from 
January through October 1942 alone, 5.5 million Red Army soldiers had 
been killed, wounded, or captured.97 Gradually, however, the formation of 
new armies and the heroism of the defenders of Stalingrad and the Cauca-
sus allowed the front to stabilize. Hitler’s shortage of manpower, as he si-
multaneously pursued several difficult objectives, also helped shift the mo-
mentum. In the ruins of Stalingrad, Soviet troops fought German divisions in 
pitched battle. By all appearances, this was a replay of late 1941. The battered 
German armies could advance no farther. Having inflicted huge losses, the 
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Red Army now had an opportunity to seize the initiative. The question was 
how and when to strike back.

■	 Stalingrad and Kursk
	 The counterstrike came outside Stalingrad. This famous Soviet vic-
tory was the culmination of heroic efforts and huge sacrifices by the entire 
country. It showed that Stalin, too, had finally learned from past defeats. 
The well-prepared Soviet offensive outside Stalin’s namesake city began 
on 19 November 1942. A few days later, Germany’s 330,000-man force in 
Stalingrad, led by General (soon to be Field Marshal) Friedrich Paulus, was 
surrounded. After thwarting German attempts to break through the encir-
clement, on 2 February 1943 Soviet forces finally compelled the enemy to 
capitulate. The protracted battle cost the Germans hundreds of thousands 
of soldiers and officers. More than 90,000 were taken prisoner, including 
Paulus himself. The victory marked a major turning point in the war.
	 Despite this impressive triumph, Stalin continued to act with caution. 
In planning the new campaign, the Soviet Supreme Command tried not 
to spread its forces too thinly. The main counterstrike was focused on 
the Southwestern Direction, where the enemy had already suffered huge 
losses and was largely disorganized. Hoping to repeat the success of Stalin-
grad, in January 1943 Stalin ordered the encirclement of the German forces 
retreating from the North Caucasus. Elsewhere, counteroffensives in the 
Voronezh and Kharkov Directions made promising beginnings. And on 18 
January 1943, at the northern end of the vast Soviet-German Front, the Len-
ingrad Blockade was finally broken and the city again became accessible to 
Central Russia via land. The liberation of the country’s long-suffering his-
toric capital had enormous symbolic and emotional significance.
	 Amid the rejoicing, Stalin’s comrades were eager to crown him with vic-
tor’s laurels. On 19 January 1943, during a visit to the Voronezh Front, the 
chief of the General Staff, Vasilevsky, joined the front’s leaders in address-
ing a coded message to Molotov, Beria, and Malenkov. They proposed that 
following the “unparalleled successes of our troops at the front,” Stalin de-
served the title “generalissimo of the Soviet Union.” The telegram described 
Stalin as the “organizer of our victories, a genius and great commander.” 
The members of the top leadership, who may very well have inspired this 
initiative in the first place, greeted the proposal with enthusiasm. On 23 
January Molotov, Beria, Malenkov, and Mikoyan signed a motion to that 
effect and placed it before the Politburo. Nevertheless, it wound up being 
filed away.98 Stalin must have felt that his elevation to the rank of generalis-
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simo was premature. Despite hopeful signs, many hard battles lay ahead. 
Hundreds of thousands of Soviet families were still receiving the dreaded 
notifications that a loved one had been killed in action. Stalin eventually 
got the title of generalissimo, but later, after final victory in 1945. For now 
he settled for the gold-embroidered shoulder boards of a marshal. The res-
olution elevating him to that rank was published on 7 March 1943. Before 
Stalin, in January and February respectively, Zhukov and Vasilevsky were 
also given this honor.
	 The rank of marshal was more than sufficient for now. Events at the front 
soon showed that the Red Army was not safe from further defeats. Signifi-
cant victories came in the form of the liberation of the North Caucasus and 
Stavropol and Krasnodar Krais. On the other hand, the Red Army could not 
carry out its plan to encircle German units in these areas. The enemy man-
aged to maintain its numbers and retreat to the Donets Basin, the lower 
reaches of the Kuban, and the Taman Peninsula. Soviet forces were suc-
cessful during early 1943 along the Voronezh, Bryansk, and Southwestern 
Fronts. Voronezh was liberated in January, and Kursk, Belgorod, and Khar-
kov in February. But soon the momentum shifted back to the Germans. 
One reason for this shift was some bad decisions by the Soviet Supreme 
Command. The Soviet armies were attacking along a broad front, but the 
enemy, which had stealthily concentrated its forces at strategic points, 
counterattacked. In March it again occupied Kharkov and Belgorod. The 
Red Army achieved only modest results in its Western Direction offensive, 
and its efforts in February and March along the Northwestern Front were 
not effective.
	 In April through June 1943, a strategic lull set in as the two sides prepared 
their summer campaigns. As the Soviet military leaders’ memoirs make 
clear, nobody doubted that the Germans would strike first at the Kursk sa-
lient. By attacking the flanks, the Wehrmacht could encircle and destroy the 
large number of Soviet forces within the salient and recapture the strategic 
initiative. The Germans knew that unless they could eliminate the Kursk 
salient, they would face serious danger. Yet there was some question as to 
whether the Germans would attack at all. Deciding against an anticipatory 
offensive, Stalin agreed to meet the enemy from a well-prepared defensive 
posture, in the hope that it would allow the Red Army to crush the Ger-
man forces and transition to an offensive posture from a much stronger 
position.
	 The decision to focus on defense shows that Stalin was learning from 
past mistakes. Whereas earlier he had preferred large-scale lightning at-
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tacks before the enemy had time to regroup, he now understood the need 
to wait, plan, and prepare. Restraint was not easy for him. Twice in May, 
intelligence suggested that the Germans were about to strike. Soviet forces 
were put on high alert, but each time proved to be a false alarm. According 
to General Vasilevsky, in both cases Stalin favored a preemptive attack. “It 
took quite an effort by us, by Zhukov, me, and Antonov,99 to convince him 
not to do that,” Vasilevsky wrote.100 June came, and the Germans still did 
not attack. Stalin was uneasy and again began pondering a first strike. This 
time, too, he listened to his generals, who convinced him that it would be 
advantageous to wait out the enemy.
	 The generals were right. The Battle of Kursk began on 5 July 1943 and 
continued until 23 August. Huge forces, a total of 4 million troops, were ar-
rayed on both sides. This was a major tank battle, and the Soviet side had 
twice as many as the Germans. The Nazi leaders still hoped that superior 
organization and up-to-date weaponry—especially the Tiger and Panther 
tanks—could earn them another victory. It might have turned out that way 
had they not also faced superior numbers and a more mature and bet-
ter-prepared force. After wearing down the enemy through a week of fierce 
fighting from a defensive posture, the Red Army struck back.
	 At the height of the counteroffensive, in early August 1943, Stalin visited 
the front for the first and last time. During the early morning hours of 2 
August he boarded a special train disguised to look like a freight carrier 
that stopped close to his dacha. The part of the front closest to Moscow, the 
Rzhev-Vyazma salient, the site of preparations for an offensive operation, 
was chosen for the visit. After arriving at the closest train station, Stalin and 
his entourage continued by automobile. He spent 3 and 4 August visiting 
the command posts of each front and meeting with the leaders planning 
offensives. Here he learned that Soviet troops had retaken Orel and Bel-
gorod. Stalin telephoned Moscow and ordered an artillery salute in honor 
of this victory. The visitors returned to the train for dinner, and on the eve-
ning of 5 August it left for Moscow. Stalin returned to his Kremlin office.101

	 Stalin did not like to travel even in peacetime and left Moscow only for 
vacations. Officially, he was inspecting preparations for the Smolensk of-
fensive operation. In fact, there was no military necessity for this, and his 
visit did nothing to prevent the operation’s failure. The real reason for the 
trip lay in what we now call “optics.” The leader of a country at war has to 
show solidarity with his army and a willingness to share in its hardships. 
During the first stage of the war, when Moscow itself was on the front line 
and Stalin’s presence in the besieged capital was of tremendous political 
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significance, solidarity could be demonstrated by his staying in place. Sta-
lin must have understood that even after the tide of war began to turn, such 
demonstrations were important to sustain his reputation as an involved 
and compassionate leader.
	 Stalin managed to transform his sole visit to the front lines into a matter 
of routine. During the summer of 1943 he conducted a heated correspon-
dence with Roosevelt and Churchill. In response to the Allies’ refusal to 
open a second front in northern France in 1943, Stalin refused to participate 
in summits and grew dilatory in his correspondence. His explanation was 
that he was too busy rallying the troops. In early August he wrote to his co-
alition partners: “I have just returned from the front. . . . I have had to make 
more frequent visits to the troops than usual.” “I have been compelled to 
personally spend more time in various sectors of the front and put the in-
terests of the front before all else.”102

	 After returning from the Western Front, Stalin again had to turn his at-
tention to developments in the south, where the Kursk offensive was still 
raging. The Battle of Kursk put an end to any chance for a German victory, 
but most of the Nazi forces escaped encirclement and withdrew to pre-
pared defensive lines. Building on Soviet successes, the Supreme Com-
mand organized offensives in Ukraine, Crimea, and the Central Direction. 
The German forces switched to a defensive posture, launching only inter-
mittent counterattacks. The most important developments were taking 
place at the southern end of the Soviet-German Front. In September the 
Red Army managed to capture the German bridgehead on the right bank 
of the Dnieper. At the same time, Hitler’s forces were pushed out of the eco-
nomically important Donets Basin and, to the south, Novorossiisk and the 
Taman Peninsula. In the predawn hours of 6 November the Red Army lib-
erated the Ukrainian capital of Kiev. By the autumn of 1943, Hitler’s forces 
had been rendered incapable of large-scale offensives. The Red Army ad-
vanced six hundred kilometers to the south and three hundred to the west, 
but these impressive victories came at the expense of heavy losses inflicted 
by a still capable enemy. Furthermore, many of the objectives assigned by 
Headquarters were not met. Soviet forces had made little progress in the 
Western and Northwestern Directions. The attempt to liberate Crimea had 
failed, and fierce counterattacks by the Wehrmacht made it impossible to 
build on the ousting of the Nazis from eastern Ukraine. The Germans were 
managing to evade a decisive blow. The successful approach used in Stal-
ingrad, of encircling and liquidating enemy army groups, could not be re-
peated. The bloody war would not end any time soon.
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	 British and American forces also made progress in 1943. Large deploy-
ments of German troops were defeated in North Africa and Sicily, and 
the southern portion of the Italian peninsula was occupied, bringing 
down Mussolini’s regime and taking Italy out of the war. The Allies were 
also achieving success against Japan, and Germany’s submarine fleet suf-
fered significant losses in the Atlantic, making shipments of supplies and 
troops from the United States less dangerous. Allied bombing of Germany 
was causing increasing devastation. The British and Americans no longer 
worried that the Soviet Union would collapse under the weight of war, and 
such a realization relieved some of the pressure for major sacrifices by the 
Western allies. Moreover, the idea of an advance through the Balkans was 
beginning to look like a viable alternative to the opening of a second front 
in northern France. Churchill favored the Balkan approach, but Roosevelt, 
based on American interests, maintained his previous commitment to a 
landing on the French coast.
	 For Stalin, the opening of a second front remained a top priority in re-
lations with his allies. While he of course wanted to relieve the suffering 
of his battered and exhausted country, he also saw such an opening as a 
matter of political prestige and a sign of his standing within the Big Three. 
Not surprisingly, on hearing in June 1943 that Churchill and Roosevelt were 
planning to postpone the opening of a front in northern France until the 
next year, his response was icy. “I must inform you,” he wrote his partners 
on 24 June, “that this is a matter not just of disappointing the Soviet govern- 
ment but of preserving its trust in its allies, trust that has been put to serious 
tests.”103 In August, the Soviet ambassador, who enjoyed good relations with 
the British establishment, was pointedly recalled from London. But the al-
lies could not afford total alienation, and none wanted to go anywhere near 
the point of breaking off relations. This was evident in the decision that 
soon followed, after contentious negotiation, to hold the first face-to-face 
meeting of the Big Three. In November 1943 the allies gathered in Tehran, 
the site proposed by Stalin. This concession by Roosevelt and Churchill at 
least took some of the sting out of their decision to delay an invasion.
	 This trip, Stalin’s first outside the Soviet Union since coming to power, 
did not take him far from the Soviet border. After traveling to Baku by train, 
he took a short flight to the Iranian capital. As far as we know, this was Sta-
lin’s first and last flight in an airplane, and he appears to have been anxious 
about it. According to the memoirs of General Sergei Shtemenko, who ac-
companied Stalin on the trip, a problem developed at the airport in Baku. 
Stalin refused to fly in a plane piloted by a high-ranking member of Soviet 



stalin at war230

aviation, General Golovanov (mentioned above), and preferred to be flown 
by a less eminent pilot. “General-colonels rarely fly airplanes; we’d be bet-
ter off flying with a colonel,” he is quoted as saying.104 Golovanov categori-
cally denies this account, but he does say that while still in Moscow, Stalin 
wanted to discuss plans for the flight in detail. Among his instructions, he 
ordered Golovanov to check the reliability of the pilot.105 Stalin apparently 
had a difficult time during the flight. While meeting with UK Ambassador 
Archibald Kerr and U.S. Ambassador Harriman in September 1944, he told 
them that his ears hurt for two weeks afterward.106

	 The Tehran Conference got under way on 28 November 1943. This was 
Stalin’s third meeting with Churchill and his first with Roosevelt. Face-to-
face contact with Roosevelt was particularly important. Stalin knew that the 
American and British leaders did not see eye to eye on everything, and one 
point of difference was the opening of a second front in northern France. 
Roosevelt and Stalin, each for his own reason, both advocated this second 
front. Stalin had two powerful cards in his pocket: the Red Army’s victories 
and a promise to take up arms against Japan after Hitler’s defeat. Beside 
a desire for good long-term relations with the USSR and its help against 
Japan, Roosevelt was also motivated by his reluctance to have Red Army 
troops moving deep into Western Europe. The result was a promise in Teh-
ran that the United States and Great Britain would open a second front in 
the north of France in May 1944. Discussions also covered future Soviet ef-
forts against Japan, the creation of a postwar international security system, 
the borders of a postwar Poland, and other issues. Stalin had every reason 
to come away pleased.

■	 Victory and Vengeance
	 The Allied successes in 1943 left no doubt that Germany would ulti-
mately lose the war, but when? How many lives would be sacrificed before 
that happened? Having learned a bitter lesson, Stalin no longer tried to as-
sign a timetable to the fall of the Reich. The Germans put up a desperate fight. 
Holed up in defensive positions, they launched only occasional counter
attacks. Meanwhile, the Red Army pushed forward, sometimes quickening 
the pace, sometimes slowing it. Both sides endured heavy casualties.
	 During the first five months of 1944 the Red Army achieved impressive 
victories at both ends of the huge Soviet-German Front, in Ukraine and 
outside Leningrad. Its forces, fighting fiercely, advanced hundreds of kilo-
meters, in places even going beyond the Soviet border into Romania. But 
in the center of the Eastern Front, the Germans were unassailable. For the 
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Red Army, the campaign of the summer of 1944 was dedicated to destroy-
ing the enemy forces at the front’s center. The well and stealthily prepared 
operation in Belarus was one of the most significant of the entire war. It led 
to the destruction of a huge Wehrmacht force.
	 Celebrating his triumph, Stalin ordered up an impressive propaganda 
spectacle. For several hours, beginning on the morning of 17 July, a column 
of more than fifty-seven thousand German prisoners of war, with generals 
and officers at the head of the line, was paraded through central Moscow. 
That evening they were loaded onto trains and sent to camps. Crowds of 
Muscovites lined the streets to observe this extraordinary event. “As the 
column of prisoners of war passed by,” Beria reported to Stalin, “the pop-
ulation behaved in an organized manner.” He described for the vozhd the 
shouts that could be heard: “Numerous enthusiastic exclamations and sa-
lutes in honor of the Red Army and our Supreme Commander-in-Chief,” 
as well as “anti-fascist cries of ‘Death to Hitler,’ ‘Death to fascism,’ ‘Let the 
scoundrels die,’” etc. After the columns had passed, crews of water trucks 
were brought in to pointedly wash the streets clean.107 On 16 August a simi-
lar spectacle took place in Kiev.108

	 This demeaning procession of German prisoners symbolized the im-
pending collapse of Nazism. On 6 June 1944, British, American, and other 
Allied troops landed on the beaches of Normandy. Overwhelmed by the 
Red Army in 1944, Germany’s allies Romania and Finland laid down their 
arms. Red Army troops liberated all Soviet territory, expelled Hitler’s forces 
from a significant portion of Eastern Europe and the Balkans, and moved 
toward the borders of Germany itself.
	 These decisive victories were primarily the result of the Soviet Union’s 
military and economic superiority, attained through the entire country’s 
sacrifices and exertion. By June 1944 the Soviet armed forces exceeded 11 
million people. Red Army assets included field forces numbering 6.6 mil-
lion, approximately 100,000 mortars and artillery, 8,000 tanks and self-
propelled artillery, and 13,000 combat aircraft. In terms of personnel, the 
ratio of forces along the Soviet-German Front was 1.5:1 in favor of the Red 
Army; for mortars and artillery, 1.7:1; and for combat aircraft, 4.2:1. The two 
sides were approximately equally matched in tanks.109 Furthermore, the 
Soviet side had significant reserves, while the capacity of the Reich and its 
allies was shrinking by the day. The Red Army and its commanders, led 
by Stalin, were growing increasingly confident, bolstered by the wealth of 
their resources and the experience acquired through years of catastrophe 
and, finally, victory.
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	 For Stalin, managing the army and continuing to increase its might re-
mained a high priority. Furthermore, liberated areas of the country lay in 
ruins and desperately needed to be rebuilt. The Nazis had exterminated 
millions of Soviet civilians, especially Jews. Many towns and villages were 
completely depopulated.110 A 1 July 1944 letter to Stalin from the head of Be-
larus offers a glimpse of the state of territories that had been under German 
occupation: “There are 800 people left in Vitebsk; before the war there were 
211,000. . . . Zhlobin has been completely destroyed. There is a small num-
ber of wooden buildings and the frames of three stone ones. There is no 
population in the city.”111

	 In addition to repairing physical destruction, the liberation of Soviet ter-
ritories confronted the leadership with new political problems. For vary-
ing durations—from a few weeks to three years—tens of millions of people 
had lived under Nazi occupation. Many had either been forced to collab-
orate or had done so out of conviction. Many others had fled to serve with 
pro-Soviet partisans or had done what they could to help them. Most had 
simply tried to survive in the new order. Stalin felt no responsibility for the 
suffering of Soviet citizens who, in Soviet bureaucratic language, “resided 
in occupied territory.” Like soldiers taken prisoner by the Germans, anyone 
who lived in captured territory was classified as “suspicious.” As part of their 
reintegration into the USSR, liberated areas had to be cleansed of the taint 
of occupation, and the means of accomplishing this was mass repression. 
The crime being prosecuted now was abetting the enemy. Stalin was ada-
mant: no mercy could be shown. On 28 December 1943, Beria submitted a 
memorandum to him about the discovery in Ukraine of so-called “Volks-
deutsche”—people with German roots. This population, Beria claimed, 
were privileged supporters of the Nazis during the occupation. Stalin gave 
the order: “Arrest them all and keep them in a special camp under special 
observation and use them for work.”112

	 As the war wound down, a new principle shaped Stalinist repression: 
collective responsibility for collaboration with the occupiers. This principle 
was expressed in the wholesale internal deportation of a number of Soviet 
ethnic groups. During late 1943 and the first half of 1944, several peoples 
were forcibly relocated: Kalmyks, certain North Caucasian ethnic groups 
(Chechens, Ingush, Karachai, Balkars), and Crimean Tatars, as well as all 
the Bulgarians, Greeks, and Armenians living in Crimea. Stalin’s decision 
to exile these groups was partially motivated by real evidence of collabo-
ration and noncompliance with government mobilization efforts during 
the war, mainly evasion of recruitment into the army.113 But the principle 



stalin at war 233

of collective responsibility and punishment had a broader significance. 
Even before the war, the government had had difficulty integrating many 
of these peoples into Soviet society. The war only confirmed that this task 
had never been completed. Moving them to remote areas of the USSR, in 
Stalin’s mind, was a way of solving this problem once and for all. But the job 
had to be done right. Entire peoples, bound by common ancestry and her-
itage, had to be relocated. If anyone was left behind to keep the ancestral 
hearth burning, many others would try to escape exile and return home. 
In the case of Crimean Tatars, Stalin was probably also worried about their 
proximity to Turkey, which he regarded as a potentially hostile force. As the 
ethnic deportations continued in mid-1944, the border regions of Georgia 
were also targeted. They were purged of Turks, Kurds, and a few other eth-
nic minorities viewed by the Soviet authorities as fertile ground for Turkish 
influence and espionage. These expulsions were essentially a continuation 
of Stalin’s long-standing prewar policy of preventative ethnic purging. But 
the war drove the sweeping nature of the deportations and the decisiveness 
with which they were carried out. Much of the inhumanity of war stems 
from the inhuman acts it is used to justify.
	 The ethnic deportations of 1943–1944 swept up more than a million peo-
ple. Such a massive endeavor required large numbers of troops and state 
security personnel. Stalin had the final word in deciding the fates of entire 
peoples. He was kept constantly informed on the progress of the deporta-
tions, and these reports are now available to historians in what is known 
as “Stalin’s special file” among NKVD materials.114 Because of the number 
of deportees involved (approximately one-half million), the relocation of 
Chechens and Ingush was particularly complicated and difficult. Beria 
went personally to the North Caucasus to oversee the effort. On 17 Febru-
ary 1944 he wired Stalin to report that the preliminary stage of the opera-
tion had been completed.115 His telegram made it clear that what the Soviet 
leadership feared most was “incidents”—resistance by the deportees. For 
this reason, the authorities relied on the element of surprise. Troops as-
sembled under the pretext of training exercises arrested the most active 
members of the community as a precaution. Stalin, who followed the op-
eration closely, apparently advised Beria not to rely solely on the “chekist 
and troop operations” but to also try to undermine solidarity among the 
deportees. In a 22 February telegram, Beria reported to Stalin that he had  
carried out his “instructions.” He had summoned top Chechen and Ingush 
officials and demanded that they help assure that the deportation was car-
ried out without “excesses.” To promote calm, Beria informed Stalin, he so-
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licited the help of religious leaders and other local authorities. In exchange, 
these officials and elders were promised certain privileges in their place 
of exile, including increased rations and the right to bring property with 
them. “I believe that the operation to evict the Chechens and Ingush will 
be carried out successfully,” he reported.116 The following day, 23 February,  
he proudly described the beginning of the operation, adding: “There were 
six attempts to resist by individuals that were suppressed through arrest or 
use of arms.”117 Stalin could rest assured that the task was in good hands.
	 Like many of Stalin’s political tools, reprisals against real and imagined 
collaborators were a double-edged sword. After the exceptional violence of 
war, attempts to instill a desire for vengeance against collaborators weak-
ened the army’s morale and spawned brutality and abuses. Many incidents 
served to illustrate the danger of spontaneous eruptions when millions 
of young men are thrown into a brutal war. Heroism and self-sacrifice co
existed alongside the basest human behaviors and duty, compassion, and 
decency alongside criminality and rancor. All sorts of people were in the 
army, including criminals who had been released from the camps early 
to fight. Documents from 1944 show that Stalin was repeatedly informed 
of crimes against civilians by soldiers in liberated areas. In late July, Beria 
wrote him about the arrest of a group of soldiers and junior officers in a 
tank repair unit in Moldavia after they had gone on a drunken rampage of 
robbery and rape against the local population.118 A similar report from Beria 
in late September informed Stalin of a rape by members of the Red Army 
in Crimea. This report also recounted instances of robbery and armed en-
counters with the local police.119 Summaries of crimes committed by mem-
bers of the military in September, October, and December also contained 
descriptions of robberies, rapes, and even murders, both far from the front 
and close to the fighting.120 All were committed against Soviet citizens on 
Soviet territory.
	 The situation was much worse when the army entered foreign territory, 
especially Germany. Feelings of vengeance toward Germans, carefully 
cultivated by Soviet military propaganda, were not the only reasons for a 
host of crimes—robbery, murder, and rape—by Soviet soldiers and officers 
against German civilians. Atrocities by the Nazis within the Soviet Union, 
the exceptional brutality of the war, the ignorance and criminal pasts of 
some members of the Red Army, and the weakening of discipline under 
combat conditions all contributed to, but did not excuse, the firestorm of 
violence.121 Stalin was informed of his army’s behavior. On 17 March 1945, 
Beria sent him and Molotov a report on the rapes of German women and 
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their subsequent suicides in eastern Prussia.122 With the opening of ar-
chives from this period, the number of known incidents of this sort will 
only grow. The history of a dispute with the Yugoslav leadership offers evi-
dence of Stalin’s attitude toward such behavior by his military. In late 1944, 
when the Red Army reached Yugoslav territory and liberated the country 
together with Yugoslav units, alarming accounts of crimes by members of 
the Soviet armed forces began to appear. According to the prominent Yugo-
slav Communist politician and writer Milovan Djilas, there were more than 
a hundred cases where women were raped and murdered and more than 
a thousand robberies. The Yugoslav leadership appealed to the Red Army 
command but was curtly rebuffed. The Yugoslavs were accused of slander. 
When the matter reached Stalin, he supported his military men and made 
crude political accusations against the Yugoslavs. Later, when he decided 
that the conflict needed to be quelled, he had a conciliatory discussion 
with Djilas during a dinner at his dacha in April 1945:

Imagine a man who has fought his way from Stalingrad to Belgrade—
thousands of kilometers across his desolated land, seeing the death of 
his comrades and the people closest to him! Can such a man really react 
normally? And what’s so terrible if he misbehaves with a woman a bit 
after such horrors? You imagined the Red Army to be ideal. It isn’t ideal 
and wouldn’t be ideal even without a certain percentage of criminal 
elements—we opened up the prisons and took everyone into the army. 
. . . You have to understand war. And the Red Army isn’t ideal. The im-
portant thing was for it to beat the Germans—and it’s beating them well. 
Everything else is secondary.123

If this was Stalin’s attitude toward crimes committed on the territory of an 
allied state, where the government was controlled by Communists loyal to 
Moscow, it is hardly surprising that he had no desire to take serious mea-
sures to prevent abuses in Germany. Stalin’s calculations were obvious. All 
he cared about was the army’s military success. If it could be rewarded for 
its efforts at the expense of the enemy’s civilian population, that was fine 
with him. Nor was he especially worried about reproaches by his Western 
allies. Remarks made to him by President Roosevelt on 4 February 1945, be-
fore the Yalta Conference got under way, probably did not evade his atten-
tion: “Roosevelt states that now that he has seen the senseless destruction 
perpetrated by the Germans in Crimea, he would like to destroy twice as 
many Germans as have been destroyed so far. We definitely have to de-
stroy 50,000 German-Prussian officers. He, Roosevelt, remembers how 
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Marshal Stalin proposed a toast in Tehran to the annihilation of 50,000 
German-Prussian officers. This was a very good toast.”124

	 At some point, however, Stalin had to make a choice. “Misbehaving with 
women,” which he considered a reward for military success, was clearly 
turning into a problem. Crimes perpetrated by the Soviet military were 
beginning to serve Nazi propaganda purposes and were feeding German 
opposition to the Red Army that was not being expressed against the West-
ern Allies. On the eve of a decisive battle for Berlin, Stalin sent the army a 
clear political signal. On 14 April 1945, Pravda published a scathing critique 
of a work by the well-known Soviet writer and commentator Ilya Eren-
burg, hailed for his many furious calls for the killing of Germans. Suddenly 
these calls, which had been perfectly in harmony with Soviet propaganda, 
were deemed inappropriate. Pravda explained at length that there is no 
such thing as a united Germany, that not all Germans behave the same,  
and that many of them—more and more with time—were turning away 
from Nazism and even fighting it. Judging by the article’s style, it had been 
touched by Stalin’s pen, and certain fragments were probably its product.
	 Political posturing and even the introduction of punishment for crimes 
by Soviet soldiers improved the situation only slightly. Violence toward 
civilians within the Soviet zone of occupation continued even after the 
fighting ended. In the summer of 1945, alarmed by the scale of violence, 
the supreme commander of the occupying Soviet force, Marshal Zhukov, 
issued orders demanding an end to “plunder, violence, and abuses in re-
gard to the local population.” After these demands had little effect, in early 
September Zhukov issued a more radical order. Remarking that the “crimi-
nality of military service members has significantly grown,” he ordered that 
soldiers be confined to their barracks and obliged officers to move in with 
their subordinates to maintain order. Stalin, on learning of this order, de-
manded that it be rescinded. One argument against it was that “If this order 
falls in the hands of the leaders of foreign armies, they will not fail to label 
the Red Army an army of looters.” In place of Zhukov’s strict measures, Sta-
lin proposed more vigorous political work, with the troops bringing guilty 
officers before so-called officer honor courts. The excesses in Germany 
continued.125

■	 Tweaking the Military Dictatorship
	 On 31 July 1943, Stalin signed a directive addressed to the com-
manders of the Southern Front that stated, among other things, the follow-
ing: “I believe it is shameful for Front commanders to allow, through negli-
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gence and poor organization, our four infantry regiments to be surrounded 
by enemy forces. In the third year of war one would think you would have 
learned how to correctly lead troops.”126 This comment reflects how Sta-
lin felt about his two-year experience at the helm of a country at war. His 
commanders, he believed, were long overdue in mastering skills that had 
been lacking or poorly developed when the war first broke out. Probably 
the supreme commander did not feel this assessment fully applied to him-
self, but his behavior suggests that he knew there were shortcomings in his 
leadership during the early stages of the war and he was making an effort to 
correct them. In style and substance, the military “reforms” he put in place 
reflected his preferred approach to any problem. Whether he was industri-
alizing a backward country or waging war, his experiments in leadership 
had many innocent victims.
	 One reason for the Germans’ early success against Soviet defenses was 
the low level of competence up and down the Soviet chain of command. 
Lacking trust in his generals (sometimes with good reason), Stalin man-
aged using the techniques with which he was most familiar: strong-armed 
police measures that instilled fear. Commanders were forced to work under 
the watchful eye of political commissars and NKVD “special departments.” 
Disorganization and panic were addressed through executions in front of 
the ranks, penalty battalions, and anti-retreat units. Stalin’s parallel army of 
discipline-keepers rushed from crisis to crisis, both at the front and in the 
rear. As defensive lines collapsed, the enemy advanced, and Stalin lost faith 
in his commanders, he developed an array of strategies that wound up de-
priving commanders of flexibility and often increased Red Army casualties.
	 These heavy-handed and repressive measures probably do not indicate 
a conscious choice so much as Stalin’s desperation. As strong as his ten-
dency toward violence was, he was certainly aware of the danger inherent 
in applying it to his own military during a war. He must have grasped that 
sending troops into battle with guns at their backs was not the ideal way 
to instill a fighting spirit. He also must have known that on the battlefield 
it was particularly important to have a single decision maker able to exer-
cise judgment without a political commissar looking over his shoulder. The 
catastrophes of 1941–1942 clearly showed that unsophisticated and rushed 
maneuvers combined with pressure from political commissars were not 
the road to success. Fundamental changes were needed in the way the war 
was being managed. But when could he introduce these changes? Obvi-
ously not while the Red Army was fighting with desperate intensity to hold 
back the German advance. An opportunity may have presented itself in 
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early 1942, after the Red Army’s first victories. But Stalin’s impatience and 
his wager on a quick victory only led to further defeat. The lull that set in 
during the fall of 1942 was used for other purposes, as can be seen in the care-
ful preparations to encircle the Germans in Stalingrad. On the eve of that vic-
tory, Stalin finally turned his attention to introducing fundamental changes.
	 On 9 October 1942, the Politburo passed a resolution to establish full edi-
nonachalie—an ideological buzzword used during forced industrialization 
to signify a single responsible decision maker—and abolish the institution 
of the military commissar within the Red Army.127 Former commissars 
would now become deputy commanders. A directive signed by Stalin that 
same day granted officers additional privileges and assigned orderlies to 
the commanders of all army units, all the way down to the platoon level. 
The duties of these orderlies included “serving the personal everyday needs 
of commanding officers and carrying out their assignments.”128 In January 
1943, shoulder boards, which in 1917 had been abolished as a symbol of the 
tsarist army, were introduced to Red Army uniforms. The title of marshal 
was given to some senior commanders. The introduction of edinonachalie, 
along with privileges, medals, and promotions, was intended to empower 
the Red Army’s senior officers. The realities of war forced Stalin to show 
more trust in his military.
	 After the war’s chaotic first stage, there was a change in Stalin’s inter
actions with top military command structures, especially the General Staff. 
“I have to admit,” Vasilevsky later stated, “that at the beginning of the war 
the General Staff was thrown into a state of disarray and, strictly speaking, 
you could not say that it was operating normally. . . . At the beginning of the 
war Stalin disbanded the General Staff.”129 This disarray meant that a great 
many decisions were made by Stalin alone, without input from the General 
Staff. As Vasilevsky described it, things began to change only in September 
1942.130 By fall 1943 a regular schedule was established for consultation be-
tween Stalin and the General Staff. At the start of his workday, around ten 
or eleven in the morning, he heard by telephone the General Staff’s first 
report on the situation at the fronts. Around four or five in the afternoon he 
heard a report on how things had gone during the first half of the day. Close 
to midnight, the heads of the General Staff came to him personally with 
a summary of the day’s events. During these meetings, which took place 
either at Stalin’s Kremlin office or his dacha, the group would study the 
situation at the fronts on maps, and directives were adopted to be sent to  
the field. Other decisions were made as well. Politburo members often took 
part in these meetings, as did the heads of various military or civilian bod-
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ies. In some cases, the heads of the General Staff visited Stalin several times 
in a day.131 The regularity of these meetings led to better management of 
the war.
	 In addition, Stalin had many meetings with other military and civilian 
leaders. Front commanders were not usually expected to report in person 
on their assessments and plans, but they were often summoned to Moscow 
for brief face-to-face meetings. Although Stalin always had the last word, 
many of these meetings featured a genuine discussion of problems and 
even debates over large and small questions. A number of memoirs report 
that as the situation at the fronts improved, meetings grew more business-
like, and the atmosphere became more relaxed and informal. Stalin paced 
the room as he listened to reports. By remaining on his feet, he lessened the 
hierarchical divide between him and his military subordinates, who also 
stood. The vozhd smoked a great deal, but others could also smoke without 
asking permission. Boxes of papirosas (filterless Russian cigarettes) lay on 
the table. Members of the top Soviet leadership sat around the table and 
kept silent until Stalin asked them a question.132 Less inclined to dictate his 
own terms or interfere in operational decisions, Stalin became noticeably 
more respectful toward the military leaders as the war continued.

During the second phase of the war, Stalin was not inclined to be hasty 
in making decisions and usually listened to reports, including upsetting 
ones, without any sign of irritability, without interrupting, just smoking, 
pacing, sitting down from time to time, and listening.133

Less and less often he imposed his own solutions to individual ques-
tions on Front commanders—attack this way and not that way. Earlier 
he would impose his way, tell them in what direction and in which spe-
cific sector it would be more advantageous to attack or to concentrate 
forces. . . . By the end of the war there wasn’t a hint of this.134

Stalin’s new demeanor was largely a result of his growth as a military leader. 
As the war progressed, he acquired a huge store of both negative and pos-
itive experience. “After the Battle of Stalingrad and especially Kursk,” Mar-
shal Vasilevsky wrote, “he rose to the height of strategic leadership. Now 
Stalin was thinking in terms of modern warfare and grasped all the issues 
involved in preparing and conducting operations.” This view of Stalin’s new 
sophistication was shared by many of the military leaders who worked with 
him during the war.135

	 Stalin’s focus on the day-to-day details of operations at the fronts al-
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lowed him little time to deal with other matters, particularly the economy. 
Many spheres of socioeconomic life were removed from the dictator’s 
harsh control as the lines of division among government institutions un-
derwent a spontaneous wartime revision. Under the military dictatorship, 
at the top of the pyramid was, as always, Stalin, who made decisions either 
solely or during meetings held either in his Kremlin office or at his dacha. 
The participants in these meetings included military leaders and the 
vozhd’s closest comrades. The meetings did not fit into any of the orderly 
categories of government. Depending on their content, decisions made at 
these meetings, or solely by Stalin, were drawn up and circulated to those 
charged with carrying them out in the name of one of the top governmen-
tal bodies—the Politburo, the Council of People’s Commissars, the State 
Defense Committee, or the Supreme Command. Meanwhile, many ques-
tions having to do with the day-to-day running of the country, including 
the wartime economy, were being decided without Stalin’s direct involve-
ment. Molotov, for example, was in charge of the SNK (the Council of Peo-
ple’s Commissars) and regularly presided over the decision-making bodies 
that basically oversaw all aspects of government not directly tied to military 
operations.136 In December 1942 a new body was established to oversee the 
work by industry and the transportation sector to meet the needs of the 
front: the State Defense Committee’s Operational Bureau.137 Led at first by 
Molotov, as the war wound down, it was taken over by Beria.138 Members of 
the Politburo and the State Defense Committee also served on these criti-
cal managerial bodies, where they had the authority to resolve important 
issues quickly. Not all of the resolutions produced by these bodies went to 
Stalin for approval.
	 In addition to their duties serving on these top government bodies, 
each of Stalin’s associates had his own individual “portfolio.” As the war 
persisted, this system of putting members of the leadership in charge of 
particular areas became embedded. For example, in February 1942, the fol-
lowing purviews were assigned to members of the State Defense Commit-
tee: Molotov was placed in charge of the production of tanks, Malenkov of 
aviation, Beria of armaments, Voznesensky of ammunition, and Mikoyan 
of supplying the army with food and uniforms.139 These portfolios could 
change over time. Whatever assignments were given to these top leaders, 
under the pressures of war and by sheer necessity they operated with sig-
nificant administrative latitude. What mattered were results. If they met 
their production targets, they were successful. This system worked, and 
Stalin had neither the time nor the desire to change it.
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	 The increased autonomy enjoyed by Stalin’s associates inevitably spilled 
over into the political sphere and affected their interactions with the vozhd. 
As Mikoyan attests, “During the war there was a certain solidarity among 
our leadership. . . . Stalin, who understood that during this difficult time 
an all-out effort was required, fostered an atmosphere of trust, and every 
member of the Politburo carried a tremendous load.”140 This understanding, 
of course, did not mean that Stalin’s dictatorial dominance over the Polit-
buro was replaced by oligarchic rule. Stalin set the rules of collective lead-
ership. As the situation stabilized at the front and victory over the enemy 
approached, there were signs that he intended to do away with the slight 
liberalizations that circumstances had forced upon him. For Mikoyan, the 
first such sign was a slap on the wrist he received from the vozhd. On 17 
September 1944 he sent Stalin a draft resolution on advancing grain to a 
number of oblasts.141 Although the proposal was rather moderate and did 
not give the oblasts everything they were asking for, Stalin made a display of 
his anger, writing onto Mikoyan’s resolution: “I vote against. Mikoyan is be-
having in an anti-state manner and is being led around by the oblast com-
mittees and is corrupting them. He has completely corrupted Andreev.142 
The procurement commissariat should be taken away from Mikoyan and 
given to Malenkov, for example.”143 The Politburo did so the following day.144

	 Another sign of coming changes at the top was a shake-up within the 
military leadership undertaken by Stalin in late 1944. In November the Po-
litburo appointed Nikolai Bulganin to serve as Stalin’s deputy at the de-
fense commissariat and made him a member of the State Defense Com-
mittee.145 Bulganin was also given important powers in interacting with the 
army.146 His expertise lay in civilian affairs, but during the war he served on 
the councils of a number of fronts, thus acquiring some military experience 
and even the rank of general. His assignment to the defense commissariat, 
and the broad powers he was given, could only mean that Stalin was creat-
ing a new counterweight to the military, in particular to the deputy defense 
commissar and deputy supreme commander, Marshal Zhukov. Evidence 
can be seen in the demonstrative dressing-down given to Zhukov just two 
weeks after Bulganin’s appointment. In December 1944 Stalin accused 
Zhukov of exceeding his authority in approving artillery field manuals and 
issued him a reprimand. The order criticizing Zhukov was circulated to all 
top military leaders.147

	 As painful as this lashing out must have been for Stalin’s subordinates, 
his attacks did little to roil the upper echelons of power or change his rel-
ative moderation in dealing with the members of the Politburo or the mil-
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itary leadership. Lower down the hierarchy, however, there was no sense 
of liberalization. The war lent a certain legitimacy to Stalin’s brutality, es-
pecially given the extreme ruthlessness of the enemy. The intensity of state 
violence during the war years was comparable to that of the Terror. In ad-
dition to the general hardships of war, the front suffered (as noted) from 
executions, anti-retreat units, and penalty battalions, while members of the 
civilian population suffered arrest, execution, mass deportations, mobili-
zation, and the mass starvation that resulted from forced grain requisitions 
by the state and the collapse of agriculture in some of the Soviet Union’s 
most productive areas. While the context of these hardships differed from 
those experienced in the late 1930s, to those enduring them they must have 
felt very much the same. As they mounted, just as he had done toward  
the conclusion of the Terror, Stalin made certain concessions to the popu-
lace that cost him little but brought certain tactical advantages.
	 The best known concession was a reconciliation with religious institu-
tions and the faithful, most important the country’s Orthodox majority. This 
departure from the anti-religious campaigns of the 1920s and 1930s, from 
the destruction of churches and the mass executions of clergy members 
and believers, in favor of the opening of cathedrals and relative freedom 
of religion, was part of an overall adjustment in official ideology. Russian 
patriotism was being encouraged before the war, and a revival of images 
of the heroic past, many placed on a par with the legacy of Bolshevism and 
the revolution, became more pronounced during the war years.148 Under 
Stalin’s orders, portraits of the great eighteenth- and nineteenth-century 
generals Aleksandr Suvorov and Mikhail Kutuzov were placed alongside 
the photograph of Lenin that hung in his office. To medals based on the 
symbolism of the revolution were added those commemorating Suvorov, 
Kutuzov, Prince Aleksandr Nevsky, and Admiral Pavel Nakhimov. At the 
front, those who had fought in World War I were allowed to wear their 
tsarist medals along with their Soviet ones.
	 The new attitude toward religion received a stunning stamp of approval 
in September 1943, when a previously unimaginable meeting between 
Stalin and the leaders of the Russian Orthodox Church was publicly an-
nounced. Three metropolitans were brought to Stalin’s Kremlin office 
during the night of 4–5 September. They talked with the unusually amiable 
vozhd for one hour and twenty minutes.149 After an eighteen-year prohibi-
tion, they were granted permission to appoint a patriarch for the Russian 
Orthodox Church and were even offered the option of using airplanes to 
bring bishops to Moscow so as to accelerate the selection. Stalin consented 
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to the opening of courses in theology to prepare priests and even proposed 
organizing theological seminaries and academies. He also supported re-
quests to open new churches and free arrested priests, and he proposed 
that church leaders improve priests’ material well-being by setting up spe-
cial food stores and assigning them cars. He gave the future patriarch the 
gift of a three-story house with a garden in the center of Moscow, formerly 
the home of the German ambassador, including all its furnishings. After 
discussing a few more items, Stalin escorted the metropolitans to the door 
of his office.150 The next day, the meeting with church leaders and the up-
coming election of a new patriarch were reported in newspapers.
	 Historians have made a rather thorough study of the reasons for Stalin’s 
about-face on religion. Of course the former seminary graduate with the un-
finished theological education had no intention of returning to the bosom 
of the church or asking forgiveness for his sins. Needing to strengthen re-
lations with his allies, he had to respond to the concerns of Western public 
opinion and influential church circles about the plight of believers in the 
USSR. Furthermore, the liberation of occupied Soviet territories raised the 
practical question of what to do about the many churches the Germans had 
built there. The usual Bolshevik approach of shutting them down was im-
possible. He needed a reconciliation with the church. Religion had to be 
put under tight control but not destroyed. Far from the bottom of the list 
of reasons for this change was Stalin’s awareness of the role religion played 
in uniting the country, in earning the emotional support of the masses, who 
had endured terrible trials. Soviet values, force-fed into the minds of mil-
lions, could not satisfy the spiritual needs of a huge and ancient people. The 
goal of achieving a universal vision of the path forward turned out to be un-
attainable. Stalin’s grasp of this reality brought him one step closer to victory.

■	 �The Stages of Victory: Crimea,  
Berlin, Potsdam, Manchuria

	 The entry of the huge Red Army into Germany was a long-awaited 
and joyous occasion for the Soviet people and the vozhd. The enemy would 
be finished off in its own den. The time for retribution had come. Such nat-
ural and inevitable feelings inspired heroism and self-sacrifice during the 
war’s final battles, when every Soviet soldier could taste victory and was 
eager for the final assault. Stalin had every reason to be proud of his army.
	 One of the Red Army’s most successful operations came in January and 
February 1945. Taking just three weeks to advance five hundred kilometers 
from the Vistula to the Oder, the Soviet forces shattered critical Nazi lines 
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of defense. Bridgeheads were created for an offensive against Berlin itself, 
but several months of bloody battles still lay ahead. The German forces 
defending their country put up a stubborn resistance and even launched 
counteroffensives, forcing the Red Army to take heavy casualties. Knowing 
this, Stalin did not hurry to enter Berlin in February. It would take several 
weeks to eliminate the threat of German counterattacks against the ex-
posed flanks of the advancing Soviet fronts and to bring in reinforcements. 
Hard-earned experience had taught him prudence.
	 The victories of early 1945 had put the Soviet side in a favorable posi-
tion to negotiate with the Allies on the postwar future. Negotiations first 
became a practical necessity in late 1944, when the Red Army was advanc-
ing through the Balkans and the Western Allies entered France and Italy. In 
October 1944, Churchill again flew to Moscow to meet with Stalin. The Brit-
ish prime minister raised the question of spheres of influence in Europe, 
the Balkans in particular. Stalin is unlikely to have been put off by this polit-
ical cynicism. He agreed that “England should have the right to a decisive 
voice in Greece,”151 and he was also willing to apportion a Western “share” 
of influence in Romania, Hungary, Bulgaria, and Yugoslavia. The presence 
of the Red Army in these countries (unlike in Greece) had brought them 
under Soviet control. For Stalin, this control was decisive. The question of 
Poland, high on the list of diplomatic issues Churchill brought to Moscow, 
was much more contentious. By the time of Churchill’s visit in late 1944, the 
USSR had broken off relations with the official Polish government, which 
had spent the war in exile in Britain, and was promoting a Communist al-
ternative. Britain and the United States did what they could to prevent this 
outcome. On 1 August 1944, as the Red Army approached, the Polish gov-
ernment in exile organized an uprising in Warsaw with the goal of seizing 
power in the capital before the arrival of Soviet forces and the pro-Soviet 
government they were bringing with them. The Red Army, for a variety of 
reasons, stopped its advance, and the Nazis drowned the uprising in blood. 
This tragic episode became a source of sharp division between Stalin and 
his allies, who charged him with intentionally holding back aid to the up-
rising. This charge was largely just, but Stalin, guided by his own reality, 
had no intention of relenting. The London Poles had not launched the up-
rising to help him, so why should he help them?
	 Burdened by different problems but still united by their common foe, 
the Big Three met outside the Crimean resort city of Yalta in February 1945. 
This stunningly beautiful corner of the Soviet Union had only recently been 
liberated from Nazi occupation and lay in ruins. Sparing no effort or ex-
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pense, in record time the Soviet authorities created a haven amid the de-
struction, including residences for the three leaders and their large reti-
nues. Particular attention was paid to security. Camouflage covering was 
set up to protect against enemy air raids and sturdy shelters were built. 
Crimea, recently roiled by mass arrests and deportations, was subjected to 
yet another round of purges. “Suspicious elements” were rounded up and 
taken into custody. A whole army of security personnel was brought to the 
area. Stalin alone was protected by a force of one hundred operatives and 
five hundred NKVD troops, plus his usual bodyguards.152

	 With victory around the corner, the Yalta Conference would have to ad-
dress a wide range of urgent questions on which the fate of the world hung. 
At stake were the future of Germany, a redrawing of the map of Europe, and 
the worldwide balance of power. Generally speaking, the participants’ goals 
were simple. Although their motives and priorities differed, each of the 
parties wanted to leave Yalta with as many items on his diplomatic wish list 
as he could. But as long as the war continued, the Allies had to depend on 
one another and adjust their aspirations to military and political realities. 
They compromised on many issues. The zones of occupation in Germany 
were settled. The guiding principles on which a united nations organiza-
tion would be founded were outlined. The idea was discussed of the Soviet 
Union annexing new territories at Poland’s expense (western Ukraine and 
Belarus), for which Poland would be compensated with German lands to 
its west. In exchange for a promise to enter into the war with Japan, Stalin 
extracted an agreement from the Allies that Soviet borders would be shifted 
outward to encompass new territory in the Far East and that the country’s 
interests in northern China would be recognized.
	 But as the contours of a new world took shape, so did the battle lines of 
the Cold War. It was not possible to reach a real compromise in regard to 
Poland. Stalin was determined to put this country under the control of his 
handpicked government, even if that involved making a few concessions 
on paper. Another contentious issue was the question of reparations from 
Germany, a point of particular interest for Stalin.
	 Perhaps even more indicative of the gulf dividing the Allies was the atti-
tude of Soviet state security personnel in Crimea. The hordes of Westerners 
who descended on Soviet territory were treated as an enemy penetration. 
The ships used to bring the Allies’ supplies for the conference were sur-
rounded by round-the-clock patrols. Their crews, when given shore leave, 
were kept under tight NKVD control. “The entire agent apparatus has been 
instructed and directed to uncover the nature of ties between foreigners 
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and the port’s military personnel and civilians. Female agents who will 
come into close contact with foreigners have been given particularly care-
ful instructions,” read one report to the NKVD leadership.153 One can only 
imagine what these instructions were.
	 With every passing week, Stalin’s mistrust of the Western Allies grew, 
strongly influencing Soviet military plans. Wehrmacht units clearly pre-
ferred to surrender in the West, while in the East they fought to the bit-
ter end. Stalin had every reason to fear the possibility, if not of a separate 
peace, at least that the Allies might make certain separate agreements with 
the Germans. During the final months of the war, everyone understood 
what the advances of Allied armies meant for postwar Europe’s political 
landscape. Negotiations in March 1945 in Bern between U.S. intelligence 
agents and representatives of the Nazis to discuss Germany’s capitulation 
in Italy only heightened Stalin’s suspicion.
	 Had it not unfolded amid other conflicts between the Soviet leadership 
and the Western Allies, especially in regard to Poland, the Bern incident 
might not have provoked open confrontation. After lengthy wrangling, on 
3 April 1945 Stalin sent Roosevelt a sharply worded letter in which he ques-
tioned whether it would be possible to “preserve and strengthen trust be-
tween our countries.” Now that the archives have been opened, we can see 
that this letter, unlike many others that went out over his signature, was 
written entirely by Stalin himself and that he revised it to achieve a sterner 
tone.154 Despite the growing friction, Roosevelt, who was committed to co-
operating with Stalin, responded with restraint. A letter received by Stalin 
on 13 April 1945 sought to assure him that “minor misunderstandings of this 
character should not arise in the future.”155 This letter was one of Roosevelt’s 
final political acts and is part of his testament in regard to relations with the 
Soviet Union. By the time Stalin received it, Roosevelt was already dead. 
Stalin appears to have been genuinely saddened by this loss. Nevertheless, 
he was soon distracted by new and urgent matters.
	 Worried about his fellow Allies’ rapid advance, Stalin decided to speed 
up the Soviet takeover of the German capital as much as possible. The at-
tack on Berlin began on 16 April 1945, one month earlier than the date Stalin 
had given his allies.156 Despite the Soviet forces’ overwhelming advantage 
in manpower and hardware, this key battle was not easy. Out of more than 
2 million soldiers of the Red Army and Polish Second Army who took part 
in the Berlin operation, more than 360,000 were killed, wounded, or went 
missing in action.157 German units put up a determined fight in defense of 
their capital.
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	 The politically motivated decision to push forward the operation cre-
ated great hurdles for the Red Army. Although delaying the offensive 
slightly would have made little difference to its outcome, Stalin required 
the front commanders to rush the advance of their forces at any cost. This 
accelerated pace, given the need to break through well-defended enemy 
positions, meant heavier casualties. The record speed of the operation and 
the concentration of a huge force directed against Berlin necessitated con-
stant adjustments to the overall plan and field directives. According to the 
head of the General Staff’s Main Operational Directorate, General Sergei 
Shtemenko, Supreme Command Headquarters was in a state of turmoil 
throughout the Berlin operation. The General Staff leadership was sum-
moned to Command Headquarters several times a day, sometimes at odd 
hours; many instructions were drafted under extreme time pressure; and 
the lightning speed of events made organized operations difficult.158 But no 
matter how hurriedly things were done at Headquarters, some historians 
believe that Stalin could not possibly “react to the changing situation in 
time.”159 It is unclear whether this lag in the flow of information to and from 
Headquarters had any real consequences. The performance of the Soviet 
Supreme Command and Stalin in the Berlin operation has received little 
scholarly scrutiny.
	 But no matter how many obstacles were thrown in the Red Army’s path, 
they were not enough to save the Nazis. On 25 April, Soviet units coming 
from one direction met U.S. forces coming from the other on the Elbe River. 
The victors’ absolute numerical superiority and high morale sealed the fate 
of the Third Reich. Early in the morning on 1 May, Stalin learned through an 
urgent telephone message from Marshal Zhukov that Hitler had commit-
ted suicide in his Berlin bunker the day before.160 On 2 May, the Berlin gar-
rison capitulated. During the night of 8–9 May, the final surrender was for-
mulated and signed by Germany. On 24 June, Moscow held a long-awaited 
and impressive victory parade. Then, on 27 June, Stalin was awarded the 
title of generalissimo.
	 Now the leader of a major world power, in July 1945 Stalin set out for a 
vanquished Berlin for yet another Big Three conference. No firsthand ac-
counts of Stalin’s last trip outside the Soviet Union have been preserved. 
What did he see through the windows of his train? With whom did he meet 
or spend time during this journey? Undoubtedly he knew the upcoming 
meeting with his fellow leaders would not be an easy one. With victory, the 
disagreements among the Allies had only grown more contentious. The So-
viet dictator would have his first meeting with the new American president, 
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Harry Truman, among whose advisers advocates of a hard line toward the 
USSR were gaining ascendancy. The Western Allies were displeased by the 
sovietization of Romania and Bulgaria, to say nothing of unresolved ar-
guments about the Polish government. Stalin did not trust the Americans 
and British. This mistrust was fanned when Truman privately informed 
him of American atom bomb tests. The principles of German demilitariza-
tion, de-Nazification, and democratization were unanimously approved, 
but the Allies argued bitterly about everything else. The search for com-
promises and mutual concessions was spurred by fears that the war-weary 
world could be plunged into a new confrontation, by Soviet hopes for eco-
nomic cooperation with the West, and by Western hopes that the USSR 
would enter the war against Japan. In the end, Stalin managed to finalize 
an agreement allowing Poland to expand its territory at the expense of Ger-
many and the Soviet Union to incorporate the Konigsberg area. He did not, 
however, get his way on reparations or on the creation of Soviet bases on 
the Turkish Straits and the Mediterranean.
	 Having achieved what he could in Europe, Stalin turned his attention 
to acquiring Japanese lands and gaining footholds in northern China. In 
Yalta he had agreed to join the war against Japan two or three months after 
Germany surrendered. Knowing how eager the United States was for So-
viet help, he had been able to extract very advantageous terms. The “status 
quo” was preserved in the Mongolian People’s Republic, keeping it under 
de facto Soviet control. The USSR regained the southern portion of Sakha-
lin, which Russia had lost in the Russo-Japanese War of 1905, and a com-
mercial port and military base in northern China, along with the railroad 
line leading to it. Of fundamental significance to the USSR was the Allies’ 
agreement to recognize Soviet sovereignty over the strategically important 
Kuril Islands.
	 These agreements all remained in force up to the Berlin Conference, but 
now, for the first time in history, the nuclear factor came into play. The fact 
that the Americans had an atom bomb gave them much greater leverage. 
For one thing, fear of this powerful new technology could lead Japan to sur-
render even before the Soviet Union entered the war. Stalin preferred not to 
take the risk. He applied the same strategy in the Far East that he had used 
in Europe, where actual military possession of territory was more mean-
ingful than agreements at the bargaining table. After the United States used 
its atom bombs against Japan, Stalin ordered the Red Army to launch an 
urgent offensive, giving his forces a deadline of 9 August 1945 to turn the 
Yalta concessions into a reality on the ground. The Soviet numerical ad-
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vantage coupled with high morale and a seasoned fighting force brought 
about a quick victory. Even after Japan’s capitulation, Soviet forces contin-
ued to advance until all territories granted to the USSR at Yalta had been 
occupied. Then Stalin tried to take a little extra. In the Far East this meant 
pretentions to jointly occupy Japan proper and share in governing the 
country using a model similar to the one being applied in Germany. This 
effort was probably more a test of the new American president’s will than 
an actual demand, but it was accompanied by military preparations. After 
being decisively rebuffed by the Americans, Stalin quickly backed off, but 
not without some resentment. Disputes over Japan remained an irritant in 
Soviet-American relations for months. Japan itself did not recognize the 
Soviet capture of the Kuril Islands as legitimate.
	 For the millions of Soviet people who survived the horrors of war, the 
disputes and ambitions of politicians were peripheral. The country, finally 
at peace, could look to the future with hope.
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Family

2 March 1953 at the near dacha. The arrival of the daughter.
Once the seriousness of Stalin’s condition became clear, his children, 
Svetlana and Vasily, were called to the dacha. This was largely a symbolic 
gesture. Over time, Stalin’s family had come to play less and less of a role 
in his life.
	 Stalin met his first wife when he was still a young revolutionary adven-
turer. Returning to Tiflis in 1905 after escaping from his first exile and trav-
eling through Transcaucasia, he moved in with the Svanidze family. There 
were five members of this family: Aleksandr Svanidze, who was involved 
in the revolutionary movement, and his sisters—Sashiko, Kato (Yekate-
rina), and Masho—as well as Sashiko’s husband, whom Stalin had known 
in the seminary. Sashiko and Kato were well-known dressmakers in the 
city who had nothing to do with the revolutionary movement. So when he 
brought Iosif Jughashvili into the household, Aleksandr tried to keep this 
outsider as far away as possible from his sisters.1 Nevertheless, an infatu-
ation developed between Iosif and Yekaterina, who were both young and 
attractive. Kato’s sisters could not have been happy about her involvement 
with an impoverished seminary dropout. Some light is shed on this period 
by a letter sent to Stalin forty years later, in 1946. An acquaintance of Stalin 
and the Svanidze family from his Tiflis days asked for help and rather 
artlessly implied that Stalin owed him a favor. First, Stalin had used the 
letter writer’s room for assignations with Yekaterina. Second, when Stalin 
proposed to Kato and “the relatives were opposed,” “I told her, if you like 
him, don’t listen to anybody, and she heeded my advice.”2

	 The Svanidze family was basically presented with a fait accompli, and 
in July 1906 the couple was married.3 This new family member inevitably 
entangled the Svanidzes in his world. Soon after the wedding, Yekaterina 
was arrested as an accomplice of revolutionaries. The matter was resolved 
thanks to her sister Sashiko, who used her ties to wives of police officers. 
Yekaterina spent about two months under arrest, but instead of being held 
in a jail cell, she was kept in a local police chief’s apartment—apparently 
at the request of the chief’s wife, who was a client of the dressmakers.4 
One important argument for closing Yekaterina’s case was that she was 
pregnant. In March 1907 the future dictator’s first child, Yakov, was born. 
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Family life and revolution did not mix. Iosif moved his wife and son with 
him to Baku, where Yekaterina fell seriously ill. In November 1907 she 
died. This was a heavy blow to Iosif. Unable to take adequate care of his 
son, he left Yakov with his wife’s family.
	 There were other women in Stalin’s life. Evidence survives of a relation-
ship with Stefaniia Petrovskaia, a young revolutionary from the landown-
ing class, that began in 1909, when both were exiled to Solvychegodsk in 
Vologda Province. After serving out her term, Petrovskaia followed Iosif to 
Baku. When he was arrested in June 1910, the future dictator even asked 
the police for permission to “enter into lawful wedlock” with her. The per-
mission was granted, but the wedding never took place. In September 1910 
Jughashvili, still a bachelor, was again sent into exile.5 During this second 
exile in Solvychegodsk he registered his place of residence (in the home 
of M. P. Kuzakova) together with fellow exile Serafima Khoroshenina, 
suggesting that the two were intimate. Soon, however, Khoroshenina was 
transferred out of Solvychegodsk.6 According to rumors now being pro-
moted by some journalists, Stalin then began a relationship with his land-
lady, Kuzakova, resulting in the birth of a son. There is no hard evidence 
of this relationship. After finishing his term of exile a few months after 
the supposed affair with Kuzakova, Jughashvili spent some time living in 
Vologda. Here he became acquainted with an eighteen-year-old school-
girl named Pelageia Onufrieva, the fiancée of one of his fellow exiles, Petr 
Chizhikov. The future dictator flirted openly with the girl and gave her a 
book with the inscription, “To clever, nasty Polya from the oddball Iosif.” 
When Pelageia left Vologda, Jughashvili sent her facetious cards, such as: 
“I claim a kiss from you conveyed via Petka [Chizhikov]. I kiss you back, 
and I don’t just kiss you, but passionately (simple kissing isn’t worth it). 
Iosif.” 7 In his personal files, Stalin kept a photograph of Chizhikov and 
Onufrieva dating to his time in Vologda: a serious, pretty, round-faced girl 
in glasses and a serious young man with regular features and a moustache 
and beard.
	 The jocular cards, presents, and photograph attest to the thirty-three-
year-old Jughashvili’s interest in the young woman but do not prove that 
he was romantically involved with her. We have only a few vague hints. 
Around the same time that Stalin left Vologda, in 1912, Chizhikov went 
to visit his parents in Ukraine, where he fell ill and died suddenly, with-
out marrying Pelageia, as he may or may not have intended. Onufrieva 
suffered the sort of misfortune that befell many of her compatriots. After 
Chizhikov’s death she married, and as her erstwhile gallant admirer pre-
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sided over the country, her husband was arrested. It is not known whether 
she ever tried to appeal to Stalin for help. She died in 1955, having lived 
her entire life in Vologda.8

	 The evidence that Iosif Jughashvili had an affair with the even younger 
Lidiia Pereprygina during his last Turukhansky exile is more solid, al-
though rumors that they had a son together have not been proved. In any 
case, Stalin never recognized Pereprygina’s son or any other illegitimate 
children attributed to him.
	 Returning to St. Petersburg after the February 1917 revolution, Stalin 
was ready to turn a new page. The Alliluev household provided a place of 
warmth after the upheavals of life underground. The attraction this family 
held for him is understandable. Stalin had known them since his years in 
Tiflis and had corresponded with them during his final exile in Kureika. 
The head of the family, Sergei Alliluev, was a longtime party member who 
had been arrested many times. The family’s two sons and two daughters 
were often left without adult supervision and led rather freewheeling 
lifestyles. Iosif was particularly fond of the youngest, the sixteen-year-old 
schoolgirl Nadezhda, who reciprocated his feelings despite the twenty- 
three-year difference in their ages. To a young woman from a revolu-
tionary family, he must have seemed like the ideal man: a tried-and-true 
revolutionary, brave and mysterious but also personable. In 1919 Stalin 
and Nadezhda tied the knot. As to the nature of their relationship before 
marriage, we can only guess.
	 Nadezhda, a party member beginning in 1918, was a model Bolshevik 
wife. She worked in Lenin’s secretariat (Lenin knew the Alliluevs and even 
lived in their apartment in 1917). In 1921 the Stalins had their first child, 
Vasily. Nadezhda had a hard time keeping up with childrearing, work, 
and party activism and apparently neglected the last. In late 1921 she was 
expelled from the party as “ballast with no interest in the life of the party 
whatsoever.” Only through the intercession of top party officials, including 
Lenin, was her membership restored, although she had to spend a year 
earning her way back in as a candidate member. Such were the times. 
Nadezhda herself probably believed in the ideals of equality and party 
democracy and was not offended by her treatment. In her request to be 
readmitted she promised to “prepare herself for party work.”9

	 In addition to the birth of Vasily, Nadezhda’s life was complicated by 
the introduction of Stalin’s first son, Yakov, into the family. Letters to her 
mother-in-law, Ekaterine Jughashvili, in 1922 and 1923 included cautious 
complaints: “Yasha is going to school, fooling around, and smoking, and 
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does not listen to me”; “Yasha is also healthy, but he’s not putting much 
effort into his schoolwork.”10 Yakov, fifteen in 1922, was just six years 
younger than his stepmother. A few years later, in 1926, Nadezhda wrote 
of Yakov to a female friend: “I have already lost all hope that he will ever 
come to his senses. He has absolutely no interests and no goal.”11 The 
boy was also not getting along with his father. Conflict over his intention 
to marry ended tragically: when he failed to get his father’s consent, he 
tried to commit suicide. On 9 April 1928 Stalin wrote to Nadezhda: “Tell 
Yasha from me that he has behaved like a hooligan and a blackmailer 
with whom I have nothing in common and with whom I can have noth-
ing further to do. Let him live wherever he wants and with whomever he 
wants.”12 For a while Stalin’s relationship with his eldest son was in a state 
of suspension, but on the eve of the war, when Yakov was studying at the 
Artillery Academy, Stalin was apparently pleased with him. On 5 May 1941, 
Yakov was present at a large Kremlin reception in honor of military acad-
emy graduates. In his remarks to the gathering, Stalin joked that “I have 
an acquaintance who studied at the Artillery Academy. I looked over his 
notes and found that a great deal of time is being spent studying cannons 
that were decommissioned in 1916.”13 This was an obvious reference to 
Yakov’s notes, a sign that the two were spending time together.
	 In early 1926 Nadezhda gave birth to a daughter, Svetlana. In sharing 
the good news with Ordzhonikidze’s wife, Zinaida, who was vacationing 
in the south, Nadezhda wrote, “In short, we now have a complete fam-
ily.”14 But with Stalin immersed in his official duties and embroiled in 
a battle for power, this was no usual family. No doubt he loved his wife 
and children, but for the most part he loved them from a distance. They 
spent brief stretches of time together at the dacha outside Moscow and 
while on vacation in the south. Nadezhda, as if emulating her husband, 
was always busy with work, party activism, and her studies. In a letter to 
a friend a month before Svetlana’s birth, she wrote, “I very much regret 
that I’ve again fettered myself with new family responsibilities,” obviously 
referring to the impending arrival of her second child. “In our time it’s not 
very easy since there are such an awful lot of new prejudices, and if you’re 
not working, then of course you’re a ‘baba’ [peasant woman, used deroga-
tively for women in general]. . . . You just have to have an area of expertise 
that enables you to escape being someone’s errand girl, as usually hap-
pens in ‘secretarial’ work, and do everything that has to do with your area 
of expertise.”15 Young and energetic, Nadezhda sincerely and energetically 
strove to adhere to the new model of the “Soviet woman.” This was not 
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easy. Her surviving letters show that to the end of her life her writing was 
riddled with syntactic errors. In an effort to make up for the shortcomings 
of her education, she became an assiduous student. In 1929 she enrolled 
in the Industrial Academy, hoping to receive, in keeping with the ethos 
of the times, an advanced technical education. Her children were largely 
handed over to nursemaids, governesses, and tutors. A housekeeper and 
cook took care of the Stalin Kremlin household. An important part in 
Vasily and Svetlana’s lives was played by relatives, as well as their peers 
among the children of other Soviet leaders who lived in the Kremlin. To-
gether they formed a boisterous band that spent time together at subur-
ban dachas and each other’s Kremlin apartments.
	 This manner of family life had its advantages and logic. The infrequency 
of time spent together could perhaps make “the heart grow fonder” and 
actually strengthen family ties. But the few surviving letters between Stalin 
and Nadezhda, written during vacations between 1929 and 1931, attest to 
both love and tension in their relationship. “I send you a big kiss, like the 
kiss you gave me when we parted,” Nadezhda wrote to her husband. She 
said she missed him and asked doting questions about his health and 
treatments. Stalin responded in kind. He tenderly called her Tatka and 
Tatochka (“Write about everything, my Tatochka”) and even resorted to 
baby talk. As a loving father, he was always asking about the children: 
“How are things with Vaska, with Setanka [his nickname for Svetlana]?” 
“Have Setanka write me something. And Vaska too.” He sent lemons and 
peaches home to his family. But this sweetness and consideration could 
suddenly be darkened by jealousy and irritation. In September 1930, after 
spending part of her husband’s vacation with him and then returning to 
Moscow, Nadezhda wrote him a letter filled with reproach: “This summer 
I didn’t feel that delaying my departure would make you happy; quite 
the opposite. Last summer I could really sense that, but not this time. 
Of course, there was no point staying with such a mood.” A few weeks 
later she wrote: “For some reason I’m not hearing anything from you. . . . 
Probably you’re distracted by your quail-hunting trips. . . . I heard from an 
interesting young woman that you looked great, . . . that you were marve-
lously cheerful and you wouldn’t let anyone sit still. . . . I’m glad to hear it.” 
Stalin made a halfhearted effort to dispute her implications: “As for your 
assumption that I did not consider it desirable for you to stay in Sochi, 
your reproaches . . . are unfair”; “You’re hinting at some trips. I’m telling 
you that I have not traveled anywhere (anywhere at all!) and I have no 
intention of traveling.”16
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	 Nadezhda’s jealousy was not without grounds. Stalin could be a flagrant 
philanderer, and his wife was quick to take offense. Many who observed 
the relationship firsthand commented on Nadezhda’s frail mental health. 
Mental illness apparently ran in the family, afflicting her mother and at 
least one of her siblings. It is probably here, at the intersection of Stalin’s 
unfaithfulness and Allilueva’s mental illness, that the roots of the tragedy 
should be sought.
	 On 8 November 1932, the anniversary of the October Revolution that 
brought them all to power, Stalin and Allilueva joined other top Soviet 
leaders and their wives for a celebratory dinner at the Kremlin. The details 
of what took place at this dinner are unknown. Perhaps Stalin drank too 
much and started openly flirting with some of the wives.17 Perhaps Na-
dezhda was simply in a bad mood or Stalin said something hurtful to her. 
Or perhaps she was the one who provoked an argument. Whatever the 
cause, there was an argument, and Nadezhda returned to their Kremlin 
apartment alone. Sometime during that night she took her own life, using 
a small pistol that had been a gift from her brother Pavel.
	 Some have speculated that Allilueva was upset about her husband’s 
policies and felt ardent sympathy for their victims, including those dying 
from the devastating famine then taking millions of lives. Their daughter, 
Svetlana, wrote of a suicide note left by her mother that contained, among 
its grievances, political accusations, although she had no firsthand knowl-
edge of this note and was citing other people’s descriptions of it. There 
is absolutely no hard evidence that Nadezhda objected to her husband’s 
policies. None of her surviving letters mentions the horrific events taking 
place in the country: violent collectivization, the internal deportations of 
hundreds of thousands of peasants, and the arrests of countless suspected 
“enemies.” Her letters give the impression that she, like the rest of the 
Bolshevik elite, was completely isolated from the suffering of tens of mil-
lions outside the Kremlin walls. On 10 July 1932, during the famine, when 
peasant mothers were watching their children starve to death, Nadezhda 
wrote a note to Stalin’s assistant Aleksandr Poskrebyshev complaining 
that she was not receiving her usual supply of new works of fiction from 
overseas and asked that the head of the OGPU, Yagoda, do something to 
fix the problem.18 Admittedly, we do not know for sure whether Nadezhda 
ever said anything against her husband’s repressive policies in the months 
before her death, in part because the usual correspondence between Sta-
lin and his wife while he was away on vacation is missing for 1932. Perhaps 
these letters were destroyed, or perhaps Nadezhda was with her husband 



family256

during his entire vacation. No evidence has been found to explain the 
absence of such letters.
	 His wife’s suicide was apparently a great blow to Stalin. Grief over the 
loss and pity for his children were combined with anger. Nadezhda had 
betrayed and humiliated him, cast a cloud over his reputation, and made 
his personal life a subject of sordid conjecture that endures to this day. 
“She did a very bad thing. . . ; she maimed me for the rest of my life,” he 
told relatives some two and a half years later.19

	 Out of habit, Stalin’s family led its customary life for a few years after 
Allilueva’s death. Almost every member of the household maintained his 
or her role within the family routine. Seeking relief from painful memo-
ries, Stalin moved to a new apartment in the Kremlin and began construc-
tion of the near dacha. The children remained under the care of governesses 
and nursemaids in Moscow and at the old dacha. Stalin, Vasily, and Svet-
lana were surrounded by the same relatives, especially the families of Pavel 
and Anna Alliluev (Nadezhda’s brother and sister) and Aleksandr Svanidze 
(the brother of Stalin’s first wife). This was a complicated and often unsa-
vory world. The relatives schemed to outshine one another in Stalin’s eyes. 
Apparently Pavel Alliluev’s wife even had a brief affair with the dictator.20 
Stalin appears to have enjoyed the competition among his relatives.
	 After Nadezhda’s death, Stalin tried to spend more time with his chil-
dren. While they were having dinner together in the Kremlin apartment, 
he asked them how things were going in school, and he sometimes came 
to the dacha to pick them up and take them to the theater. On occasion, 
he brought them with him when he vacationed in the south. He was es-
pecially fond of Svetlana, who was a promising student and very attached 
to her father. He began to play a little game with his daughter, calling her 
khoziaika (which could be translated as “housekeeper” or “the boss”) 
while he played the role of the sekretarishka (little secretary) who followed 
her orders: “Setanka-Housekeeper’s wretched Secretary, the poor peasant 
J. Stalin.” Svetlana would write out orders for her father: “I order you to let 
me go to Zubalovo tomorrow”; “I order you to take me to the theater with 
you”; “I order you to let me go to the movies. Ask them to show Chapaev 
and an American comedy.” Stalin responded with facetious pomposity.21 
Other members of Stalin’s inner circle were appointed Svetlana’s sekretar-
ishkas, playing along with the vozhd. “Svetlana the housekeeper will be 
in Moscow on 27 August. She is demanding permission to leave early for 
Moscow so that she can check on her secretaries,” Stalin wrote to Kagano-
vich from the south on 19 August 1935. Kaganovich replied on 31 August: 
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“Today I reported to our boss Svetlana on our work, she seemed to deem it 
satisfactory.”22 Until the war began, father and daughter exchanged affec-
tionate letters. “I give you a big hug, my little sparrow,” he wrote to her, as 
he had once written to his wife.23

	 Stalin’s relationship with his sons was much more fraught. For many 
years he avoided Yakov and his family, and Vasily gave him a great deal of 
trouble.24 The boy understood very early that he was the son of a powerful 
man. He preferred soccer to studying and often behaved defiantly toward 
those around him. “Vasily thinks he’s an adult and insists on getting what 
he wants, which is often foolish,” the commandant of the Zubalovo dacha 
reported to Stalin in 1935, when Vasily was fourteen. The situation only 
grew worse with time. Unable to tolerate the outrageous behavior of his 
imperious student, in 1938 one of Vasily’s teachers complained to the 
boy’s father, telling Stalin that Vasily was getting special treatment from 
the school administration and that he sometimes used threats of suicide 
to get his way. Stalin thanked the teacher for his honesty and described 
his son in extremely negative terms: “Vasily is a spoiled youth of average 
ability, a little savage (a real Scythian!) who is not always truthful, loves to 
blackmail weak authority figures, is often rude, and has a weak, or rather, 
unfocused will. He has been spoiled by ‘kith and kin,’ all the while empha-
sizing that he is ‘the son of Stalin.’” He asked the teacher to be firmer and 
promised that he would “take him by the scruff of the neck” from time to 
time. As was often the case, the letter was all for show, and the matter was 
ultimately resolved in typical Stalin manner. A purge of the school was 
conducted and the directors were fired, along with the teacher who had 
dared complain to Stalin. Vasily was sent to study at an aviation school in 
Crimea, where the special treatment continued. He was met at the train 
station with great fanfare by the school’s leadership, quartered away from 
the other cadets in a hotel, and fed special meals in the officers’ mess. 
Once, obviously pulling a prank, Vasily ordered some special dish. Since 
the local cook did not know how to make it, someone was sent to a nearby 
town to find out. Vasily rode all over Crimea in a car and also on a motor-
cycle. His education was overseen by senior military officials in Moscow. 
In 1940 he graduated with the rank of lieutenant. He liked to fly, but his 
character showed no sign of improvement. The system created by the 
father did irreversible harm to the son.
	 Vasily’s departure for Crimea came just as the old Stalin-Alliluev- 
Svanidze extended family ceased to exist. During the Great Terror, Stalin 
began to annihilate his own relatives. Between late 1937 and late 1939, 
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Aleksandr Svanidze, his wife, and the husband of Anna Allilueva were 
arrested and then shot. In late 1938, apparently unable to endure the 
stress, Pavel Alliluev also died. Stalin had nothing further to do with those 
relatives who remained at liberty. The war further diminished the family. 
During its first days, Yakov, who, unlike Vasily, received no special pro-
tection, was taken prisoner by the Germans. Stalin ordered the arrest of 
Yakov’s wife but later freed her. Some accounts maintain that Stalin was 
offered Yakov in exchange for certain German generals (Paulus is most 
often named) but that he refused. There is no documentary evidence of 
this claim, and the story lacks credibility since it is hard to understand 
what would motivate Hitler’s leadership to pursue such an exchange. 
When the war ended, Stalin was given testimony by Yakov’s fellow prison-
ers.25 After Germany was defeated, Yakov’s 1941 interrogation protocol was 
seized, and testimony was obtained from the guards and commandant of 
the camp where he died.26 All this evidence shows that Yakov comported 
himself honorably as a prisoner. He was shot by a sentry while attempting 
to leave the prison grounds in 1943. Perhaps this news improved Stalin’s 
opinion of his son, and it may explain why, during his final years, the 
vozhd took an interest in his young granddaughter, Yakov’s daughter.
	 Vasily and Svetlana were disappointments for Stalin during the war. 
Vasily, who was stationed near Moscow, would host drunken parties at the 
Zubalovo dacha. At one such gathering, in late 1942, sixteen-year-old Svet-
lana met the thirty-eight-year-old Soviet filmmaker Aleksei Kapler, who 
had gained prominence as the screenwriter of popular films about Lenin 
and the revolution. The two began an affair that ended several months 
later when Stalin ordered Kapler’s arrest. Apparently he was furious over 
Svetlana’s relationship with Kapler, whom she has described as her first 
love, and considered it all the more inappropriate in wartime. According 
to Svetlana, his reaction forever destroyed the closeness between them:

I’d never seen my father look that way before. . . . He was choking with 
anger and was nearly speechless. . . . “Your Kapler is a British spy. He’s 
under arrest!” . . .
	 “But I love him!” I protested at last, having found my tongue again.
	 “Love!” screamed my father, with a hatred of the very word. And for 
the first time in my life he slapped me across the face, twice. “Just look, 
nurse, how low she’s sunk!” He could no longer restrain himself. “Such 
a war going on, and she’s busy the whole time---------!” Unable to find 
any other expression, he used the coarse peasant word.27
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	 The next blow came from Vasily. By early 1943 he held the rank of 
colonel and had been placed in charge of an air regiment. That April he 
and a group of his subordinates decided to do some fishing. The fish were 
stunned using explosives. One shell exploded on land, killing one of the 
regiment’s officers and wounding Vasily with shrapnel. He, of course, was 
treated at the Kremlin hospital in Moscow. Stalin was enraged. Apparently 
this escapade was one transgression too many, or so one might conclude 
from an order issued by People’s Commissar for Defense I. V. Stalin on 26 
May 1943:

(1) � Immediately remove V. I. Stalin from his position as commander of 
an air regiment and do not give him any other command posts in 
the future until I permit it.

(2) � Inform the regiment and former regimental commander Colonel 
Stalin that he is being removed from his post for drunkenness and 
debauchery and for spoiling and corrupting the regiment.28

Being long accustomed to his father’s empty threats, Vasily was not terri-
bly worried by this reproach. Indeed, he was soon given new, more senior 
posts, and by war’s end he was a twenty-four-year-old general. Stalin’s son 
could get away with almost anything. Around the same time Svetlana, now 
a university student, married a former schoolmate. She soon gave birth 
to a son, named Iosif after his grandfather. Nevertheless, Stalin refused to 
meet with his son-in-law, who was Jewish and had not fought in the war. 
Perhaps he consented to the marriage only to avoid the acrimony that 
came with the Kapler affair.
	 Once Germany was defeated and wartime pressures receded, Stalin 
did not return to his family—or rather did not allow his family back into 
his life. He had grown accustomed to solitude and his nocturnal lifestyle, 
and he rarely made time for his children. Apparently he never developed 
grandfatherly feelings. By now he was in his declining years, weary, in 
poor health, and obsessed with thoughts of treachery and the hunt for 
enemies. The final blow dealt against his family was the arrest of Pavel 
Alliluev’s wife and Nadezhda’s sister Anna. They were released only after 
his death.
	 Stalin’s children, admittedly, were hardly a comfort in his old age. 
Vasily sank rapidly into alcoholism and dissipation, and by his thirtieth 
birthday he was already an old man, plagued with a number of chronic 
diseases. Thanks to his father’s indulgence, he nevertheless held increas-
ingly senior army posts and squandered government funds with impunity. 
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The younger Stalin greedily chased the good life: he built and repeatedly 
renovated his suburban estate, spent lavishly on an elaborate hunting 
lodge, and established sports teams, luring top athletes with huge salaries 
and apartments. He had goods shipped in from Germany via airplane, ran 
through a series of lovers and wives, and drank heavily in the company of 
sycophantic hangers-on. Toward the end of Stalin’s life, after yet another 
scandalous episode, the father removed the son from the key post of air 
commander for the Moscow Military District. Vasily was sent to study at 
a military academy, thereby removing any remaining constraints on his 
drinking. Meanwhile, Svetlana divorced the husband her father did not 
like and married one he did—Yuri Zhdanov, son of Stalin’s late comrade. 
This marriage, however, was not happy and did not last long.
	 After his death, Stalin’s children suffered deeply symbolic fates. Vasily, 
after drunkenly insulting his father’s successors, was put in prison and 
died in exile at the age of forty. Svetlana married an Indian Communist. 
When she was given permission to travel to India for his funeral, she took 
the opportunity to defect and move to the United States, where she died in  
2011. While in emigration, Svetlana published a memoir of life in the Stalin 
family, Twenty Letters to a Friend, which was both nostalgic and embel-
lished. She placed the blame for her father’s pathological cruelty on the 
scheming and insinuations of Lavrenty Beria. In the end, her attitude 
toward the system her father created was most eloquently expressed by 
her defection to the country that he considered socialism’s most fearsome 
enemy.
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6	The Generalissimo
Victory elevated Stalin to unprecedented heights. The exultant show of mil-
itary might that paraded across Red Square in June 1945 was an important 
symbol of his new power, now more secure than ever and legitimized with 
the title of generalissimo. But Stalin was a seasoned enough politician to 
know that victory, which had transformed the Red Army into one of the 
most formidable forces on the planet, was just the first step on the long and 
difficult postwar path toward regaining and holding the country’s status 
as a world power. The Soviet Union was a weakened nation. The extent of 
suffering and devastation that had befallen it is almost unimaginable. Con-
temporary demographers speak of 27 million lives lost, and many of those 
lives were young—the country’s future. Thousands of towns and villages lay 
in ruins, and many people were forced to improvise some form of shelter. 
Several million wounded veterans needed government support. The demo-
bilization of an army of 11 million and the transition to a peacetime econ-
omy also demanded significant resources. The postwar famine—a tragic 
testament to the devastation wreaked on collectivized agriculture and to 
the weakness of the Stalinist distribution system—peaked in 1946–1947. As 
many as 1.5 million people died of hunger or disease. Many millions were 
afflicted by dystrophy and other serious illnesses causing permanent dis-
ability. As usual, cannibalism raised its ugly head during the famine years. 
To all these hardships were added desperate guerrilla wars in western 
Ukraine and the Baltic states, territories that had been absorbed into the 
Soviet Union on the eve of the war and given a taste of Stalinist terror.
	 There was also a whole new set of international challenges. Relations 
with the Allies had cooled considerably. Stalin’s Soviet Union and the 
Western democracies, brought together in a marriage of convenience by 
Nazi aggression, had little in common. Negotiations to resolve the postwar 
repartition of the world opened up new areas of contention, but the So-
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viet Union was too weak to put up a decisive fight. It was unnerved by the 
United States’ nuclear monopoly and devoted huge resources to ending it.
	 A particular danger facing the Stalinist regime was the incongruity be-
tween the symbolic triumph of victory for Soviet society and the hard re-
alities of daily life. The war had taken millions of Soviet citizens beyond 
the country’s borders to Europe, an experience that many found shocking. 
The victors saw that the slaves of capitalism enjoyed a standard of living 
immeasurably better than theirs. They now knew that for years official So-
viet propaganda had been pulling the wool over their eyes. Tens of mil-
lions of peasants, many of whom had fought in the war, dreamed of dis-
mantling the kolkhoz system and believed that their sacrifices at the front 
had earned them this reward. A threatening gulf was opening up between 
the Soviet people’s postwar expectations and their reality. As they struggled 
to overcome extreme daily hardships, mourned the dead, and listened to 
stories from returning soldiers, people’s conversations inevitably drifted 
toward ideas and topics that were taboo: the price of war and victory, the 
questionable privileges enjoyed by party and government officials, and the 
causes of hunger and deprivation. The system’s usual response to such “in-
correct” thinking was arrest and prosecution for “anti-Soviet propaganda.” 
But would that response work in the new, postwar USSR?
	 Apparently Stalin was not sure how to address these challenges. In the 
immediate aftermath of victory, he sent mixed messages to the country, 
including hints at a coming liberalization. Take, for example, the remarks 
made at a reception honoring Red Army commanders on 24 May 1945:

Our government made more than a few mistakes; there were moments 
of desperation in 1941–1942, when our army was on the retreat, abandon-
ing our native villages and cities. . . . Another people might have told its 
government: you have not met our expectations; go away; we will put 
another government in your place that will sign a truce with Germany 
and ensure us peace. But the Russian people did not choose to do that 
since they believed in the correctness of their government’s policies and 
chose to make sacrifices in order to secure the destruction of Germany. 
And this trust the Russian people placed in the Soviet government 
proved to be the decisive force that secured a historic victory against an 
enemy of humanity—against fascism. Thanks to the Russian people for 
this trust!1

This hint of penitence was an effective gesture by a confident, popular, and 
triumphant leader. But soon Stalin began to sense that such statements 
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could be perilous. They opened the door to discussion of critical questions 
about the past war, and echoes of these discussions were starting to reach 
him. In November 1945, he was told about a letter from a propagandist in 
the Buriat-Mongol republic who was being asked during lectures just what 
Stalin meant when he mentioned mistakes by the Soviet government: “I, of 
course, was not able to answer this question. . . . I earnestly ask you, Com. 
Stalin, for your explanation as to what should be the answer to this ques-
tion.”2 More to the point was a letter from N. M. Khmelkov from the village 
of Maly Uzen in Saratov Oblast that asked, “How could we allow it to hap-
pen that when the war broke out the German Army was better armed than 
our army?” Khmelkov recalled prewar promises that the Red Army would 
soon be fighting “on the territory from which the enemy comes” and con-
cluded by asking Stalin a central question, the validity of which Stalinists 
reject to this day: “Victors are not judged. But a victorious people is obliged 
to figure out whether victory was achieved with the least possible expendi-
ture of effort and resources and with the fewest possible casualties, and if 
it was not, then why: were we given too little time to prepare for war, were 
the cogs in a complex machine operating poorly . . . and failing its more 
complicated parts?”3 Stalin instructed that Khmelkov’s letter be filed away.4 
He had no intention of responding to such questions or “figuring out” what 
mistakes the government might have made. To forestall undesirable dis-
cussion of the price of victory, the performance of the military leadership, 
and hopes for postwar liberalization, he launched a series of ideological 
counterattacks.
	 The first of these was a reappraisal of the toll taken by the war and the 
reasons for defeat. In an obvious attempt to downplay the nation’s losses, in 
March 1946 Stalin officially stated that “as a result of the German invasion, 
the Soviet Union irretrievably lost approximately 7 million in fighting with 
the Germans and because of the German occupation and the driving of 
Soviet people into German hard labor.”5 This was a strange number to pick, 
and it was far from accurate, but it is possible to see how Stalin might have 
arrived at it. According to General Staff estimates, approximately 7 million 
Red Army soldiers were killed in the war or died of wounds and disease.6 
He must have known that he was distorting the truth when he included the 
victims of occupation and those taken to work in Nazi labor camps in this 
figure. Soviet war losses no longer looked quite so terrible, and the matter 
was put to rest for many years.
	 While it may have been easy enough to hide the true number of Soviet 
war dead, the Red Army’s catastrophic retreat was another matter. How had 
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the Germans been able to advance all the way to the Volga? At best, discus-
sion of this ignominious episode could be suppressed. The horrible defeats 
suffered during the war’s first eighteen months cast a shameful light on 
the regime and on Stalin himself, diminishing his stature as the architect 
of victory. Soviet propaganda had a few stock arguments to explain those 
early defeats: the might of Hitler’s war machine, which enslaved Europe; 
the fact that the Red Army had not finished rearming; and the Nazis’ per-
fidious surprise attack. Apparently Stalin felt these arguments were not 
enough. Cautiously and gradually, he tried to introduce another idea into 
the propaganda arsenal, one that exonerated him as supreme comman- 
der: that the Red Army’s retreat was a calculated move designed to wear 
down the enemy. There was a well-known historical precedent that made 
this argument understandable and familiar: Kutuzov’s 1812 strategy of al-
lowing Napoleon’s army to enter deep into Russian territory, even relin-
quishing Moscow, before counterattacking, a strategy that is credited with 
preserving the army and saving the country.
	 An opportunity to promote this new way of explaining the retreat came 
in the form of a letter Stalin received in early 1946 from Ye. A. Razin, a mil-
itary academy instructor. Razin was writing the vozhd with general ques-
tions about doctrine, but Stalin responded in a letter by offering specific 
and far-reaching guidelines for understanding Soviet military history. He 
underscored two central ideas. First, Lenin was not “an expert in the military 
sciences” during the Civil War years or at any other time. Thus Stalin was the 
only Soviet leader who qualified as a true commander in chief. The second 
idea offered a more favorable interpretation of the early, catastrophic stage 
of the war. “A retreat, under certain disadvantageous conditions,” Stalin 
wrote, “is just as legitimate a form of combat as an offensive.” He noted the 
need to take a closer look at the counteroffensive “after an enemy’s suc-
cessful offensive, [when] the defender gathers strength, switches to a coun-
teroffensive, and hands the enemy a decisive defeat.” Bolstering this idea 
with historical parallels, Stalin cited the example of the ancient Parthians, 
who “lured” Roman forces deep inside their country and then “struck with 
a counteroffensive and annihilated them.” He also offered the example of 
Kutuzov’s counteroffensive against the French, calling him a “brilliant” 
commander. 7

	 Of course, Stalin did not draw a direct line between these historical prec-
edents and the events of 1941–1942, but the implication was obvious. The 
defeats of the war’s first stage were transformed into a manageable phase of 
preparation for a counteroffensive, a “legitimate form of combat,” and not 
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a catastrophe caused by egregious blunders at the top or a broken chain of 
command. Aware of the questionable validity of this recontextualization, 
Stalin did not widely disseminate his letter at first. It was written in late 
February 1946 but not published until a year later.
	 The letter to Razin contained another thought that preoccupied Stalin in 
the first months after the war: the need to avoid “kowtowing to the West,” 
including showing “unwarranted respect” for the “military authorities of 
Germany.” The first expression of this sentiment is found in a letter writ-
ten by Stalin during the autumn of 1945 to his comrades in Moscow while 
he was vacationing in the south. Denouncing unnamed “senior officials” 
who were “thrown into fits of childlike glee” by praise from foreign leaders,  
he wrote, “I consider such inclinations to be dangerous since they develop 
in us kowtowing to foreign figures. A ruthless fight must be waged against 
obsequiousness toward foreigners.”8

	 These loosely formulated ideas were Stalin’s response to the “contami-
nation” of Soviet society by the ideological influence of the Western allies 
and to the danger of an inferiority complex on the part of the impoverished 
victors. Over time, the “fight against kowtowing” took the form of specific 
campaigns and institutions. In August 1946 a Central Committee resolu-
tion was published on “The Magazines Zvezda and Leningrad” in support 
of an irate speech to Leningrad writers delivered by Central Committee 
secretary Andrei Zhdanov. The targets of his ire were the satirist Mikhail 
Zoshchenko and the poet Anna Akhmatova. The former’s writings, accord-
ing to Zhdanov, were poisoned by the “venom of a brutish hostility to the 
Soviet system.” Akhmatova was labeled a “whore and a nun, in whom li-
centiousness is combined with prayer.”9 Discussion of the resolution was 
made mandatory at party meetings across the country—in regional party 
organizations, factories, and kolkhozes—and marked the beginning of a 
severe scolding given to the creative intelligentsia.
	 A leitmotif of the attack on writers was the unmasking of “kowtowing 
to the contemporary bourgeois culture of the West”—a formulation that 
clearly came from Stalin’s own pen. Indeed, archival documents show 
that Stalin was behind Zhdanov’s vitriol and that he read and edited his 
speech.10 The archives further reveal that Stalin was the driving force be-
hind other actions designed to promote ideological lockstep, such as the 
well-known case of the married scientists Nina Kliueva and Grigory Roskin, 
who were developing a cancer drug in Moscow. In 1947 they were ground-
lessly accused of passing secret information to the Americans. The couple 
was accused of “kowtowing and servility to anything foreign.”11
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	 These shrill ideological clichés were variations on the canonical themes 
of Leninism and Stalinism: the USSR, since it was building the most ad-
vanced social system, would always and in all respects surpass the rest of 
the world; the capitalist powers, sensing their inevitable demise, would be 
ready at any moment to unleash war against the birthplace of socialism. 
The recent war and the gradual move toward a new “cold” war served to 
confirm this thinking.
	 Many years of research, especially since the archives of the former USSR 
and other countries of the socialist bloc have opened up, have provided a 
wealth of information on the origins of the Cold War. Nevertheless, schol-
ars may never reach agreement about its real causes, which side should 
take the larger share of blame, and the true motives and calculations of 
the opposing powers. The Cold War was more a gradual evolution than an 
event with a clear beginning. The world leaders involved in this process 
were not simply looking out for their countries’ fundamental interests, but 
were also reacting to specific, often unexpected situations with decisions 
that were often illogical. Stalin was no exception.
	 The intensifying conflict between the World War II Allies was fed by the 
utter incompatibility of their systems, their competing desires to expand 
their spheres of influence, mutual grievances dating to the prewar years, 
and a shared need for a foreign enemy. Specific issues tended to exacerbate 
the general suspicion and animosity. America’s nuclear monopoly and its 
reluctance to let the Russians take part in the occupation of Japan were 
among the many frustrations Stalin felt in dealing with the United States. 
In a meeting with Averell Harriman at the Soviet leader’s southern dacha in 
October 1945, Stalin angrily wondered out loud whether the United States 
“needs not an ally but a satellite in Japan? I must say that the Soviet Union 
is not suited to that role. . . . It would be more honorable for the USSR to 
leave Japan entirely rather than remain there like a piece of furniture.”12 For 
his part, Stalin angered Western leaders, already fundamentally opposed 
to Soviet communism, with his thinly veiled desire to sovietize Eastern Eu-
rope using the Red Army and local Communists.
	 It is hard to imagine what mutual concessions might have prevented a 
breakdown in relations between two such different systems. Such a break-
down could only be delayed by tactical calculations and political factors, 
including the illusion on the part of Western public opinion that an en-
during alliance was actually feasible (Soviet public opinion had little say 
in the matter). Relations also remained civil so long as Stalin harbored 
hope for Western concessions, particularly in the areas of economic aid 
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and reparations from Germany. The devastation and famine afflicting the 
USSR after the war made the need for assistance particularly pressing. That 
Eastern Europe—now within the Soviet sphere of influence—not only suf-
fered its own famine and devastation but was also home to significant anti-
Communist sentiment also forced him to act with circumspection.
	 Stalin was restrained in his personal relations with Western leaders. He 
preferred to let Molotov take hard-line stances during diplomatic negotia-
tions, while he himself would periodically step in and make demonstrative 
concessions that allowed the Western side to save face or prevented it from 
breaking off talks. As during the war, Stalin tried to play the Americans and 
British against one another. In April 1946, after Churchill’s “Iron Curtain” 
speech in Fulton, Missouri, Stalin met with the U.S. ambassador in Mos-
cow. After accepting the gifts of a safety razor and transistor radio, Stalin of-
fered a “friendly” warning: In pursuing their own interests, “Churchill and 
his friends” might try to push the United States away from the USSR.13

	 Such face-to-face diplomacy was no match for the powerful forces at 
play. Truman responded to Soviet attempts to gain footholds in Iran, Tur-
key, and Greece with a plan to help rebuild Europe, the centerpiece of which 
became known as the Marshall Plan. Stalin responded by turning down the 
aid offered under the plan (as did other East European states, under Soviet 
pressure) and by creating an international Communist organization, the 
Cominform. During the Cominform’s first conference, Zhdanov echoed 
Stalin’s idea that the world was being divided into “two camps.”14 Efforts to 
sustain the wartime alliance gave way to the traditional call to stand up to 
“international imperialism.”
	 On the domestic side, the return to prewar political thinking and prac-
tices occurred even earlier. Stalin’s conservative inclinations played no 
small role. Given the array of complex problems facing him, as he ap-
proached his seventieth birthday, he neither took an interest in reforms or 
experiments nor saw any reason to change his country’s long-range goals 
for economic development. He offered a number of production targets in a 
speech to an election meeting on 9 February 1946: 500 million tons of coal, 
60 million tons of steel, 50 million tons of cast iron, 60 million tons of pe-
troleum. Considering the actual figures for 1946—only 13.3 million tons of 
steel and 9.9 million tons of cast iron were produced, along with 163.8 mil-
lion tons of coal and 21.7 million tons of petroleum—such targets were ob-
viously wildly ambitious. Furthermore, as the economic historian Eugene 
Zaleski has noted, a program like Stalin’s, purely focused on output targets, 
reflected a simplistic understanding of economic development.15
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	 Stalin showed his preference for tried and true methods during the fam-
ine of 1946–1947, when, as in 1932, draconian laws were enacted against the 
pilfering of state property. Two 4 June 1947 decrees provided for sentences 
ranging from five to twenty-five years in a camp for theft. Between 1947 and 
1952, more than 2 million people were convicted of this charge. Many if not 
most were simply ordinary people who committed minor crimes in the 
face of great material deprivation. Parents who stole a loaf of bread for their 
hungry children were sentenced to many years in a camp. Mass repression 
was not limited to the prosecution of theft. Arrests for political crimes con-
tinued, and harsh laws were also put in place to combat violations of work-
place discipline. Approximately 7 million such sentences, an average of 1 
million per year, were handed down between 1946 and 1952.16 In Stalin’s last 
years, the Gulag grew into a sprawling network that played a central role in 
the life of the country. On 1 January 1953, more than 2.5 million people were 
being held in camps, penal colonies, and prisons. “Special settlements” in 
remote regions held another 2.8 million.17 Some 3 percent of the population 
was either incarcerated or under internal exile.18

	 Mass repression, in the form of large-scale arrests, executions, and in-
ternal exile, was now largely focused on the newly absorbed parts of the 
Soviet Union, where fierce guerrilla campaigns raged. Stalin received regu-
lar reports on the pacification of mutinous areas.19 For the years 1944–1952, 
according to incomplete official statistics, approximately a half million 
people were killed, arrested, or forcibly exiled from Lithuania, Latvia, and 
Estonia, along with an equal number in the western provinces of Ukraine.20 
For these small republics and provinces, whose populations totaled just a 
few million, these were astounding numbers. The Stalinist system had nei-
ther changed nor grown less repressive.

■	 Keeping the Leaders in Their Place
	 An important aspect of Stalin’s postwar consolidation of power was 
a return to routine shake-ups at the upper echelons of government and the 
preemptive humiliation of his devoted and obedient comrades. The stable 
leadership that had governed the country during the war was probably per-
ceived by Stalin as a compromise necessitated by circumstances. Now that 
they had performed their tasks, he no longer needed influential marshals 
and members of the State Defense Committee. And as his physical state 
declined, his tendency toward suspicion grew.
	 On 9 October 1945 the Politburo adopted a resolution granting Stalin a 
vacation so that he could “rest for a month and a half.”21 This was his first 
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trip to the south in nine years, and he may have left reluctantly. The foreign 
press was full of speculation. On 11 October he received a set of TASS news 
synopses regarding talk in the West about his poor health and the jockeying 
for position among potential successors. According to the summary, the 
Chicago Tribune’s London correspondent, citing diplomatic sources, wrote 
about a bitter behind-the-scenes power struggle between Zhukov and Mo-
lotov, both vying to replace Stalin. Zhukov was supposedly supported by 
the army and Molotov by the party apparat.22 A week later, the TASS syn-
opsis included a statement by the Soviet ambassador in France: “Over the 
past ten months we have been asked fifteen times to confirm reports of 
Stalin’s death.” An article about Molotov in a Norwegian newspaper stated 
that “For public opinion in the U.S.A., England, and other freedom-loving 
peoples, Molotov represents a new, strong Soviet Union that demands the 
status of an equal among the world’s great powers.”23 Stalin was not men-
tioned. The article spoke only of his successors.
	 These foreign press reports reflected the Western view of the postwar 
configuration of power. The long and horrific war was receding into history, 
as were the leaders who had achieved victory. Roosevelt was dead. The de-
feat of the Conservative Party in Great Britain had sent Churchill into re-
tirement. Stalin was aging and rumored to be ill. For the Western observer, 
these were all elements of the same coherent picture. Stalin, of course, did 
not share this view. Any hint that the Soviet leader might be replaced only 
heightened his indignation and suspicion, the brunt of which was borne by 
his closest comrades—primarily Molotov, as he was first on the list of pos-
sible successors. Attacks against Molotov were also a convenient pretext 
for another shake-up. The ruling Five throughout the war had consisted of 
Stalin, Molotov, Beria, Malenkov, and Mikoyan. This grouping had been in 
place uncomfortably long.
	 Stalin’s growing irritation with Molotov was on full display during the 
September 1945 meeting of the Council of Foreign Ministers in London, 
convened to discuss the new postwar order and peace terms with the van-
quished countries.24 At the outset, Molotov took a liberty in regard to a pro-
cedural question. Yielding to a request by the Western Allies, he agreed that 
in addition to the Soviet Union, United States, and Great Britain, France 
and China would also be allowed to take part in the drafting of treaties. 
Under previous agreements, France and China were to be involved in de-
signing terms only with Italy and Japan respectively. Molotov did not see 
a problem with this change, and strictly speaking there was none. France 
and China would only offer input on the treaties; they were not given any 
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vote on their approval. Agreeing to this arrangement made perfect sense. 
Hoping for a productive meeting, Molotov did not want to waste time by 
provoking conflict over secondary questions.
	 His concession would likely have gone unremarked had the negotiations 
not reached a seemingly insuperable stalemate. Stalin demanded that the 
Soviet Union be given a real role in deciding the fate of Japan. The Western 
side would not even place that question on the agenda. Stalin demanded 
that one of Italy’s colonies in North Africa be placed under Soviet trustee-
ship, thus giving his country a solid foothold on the Mediterranean. The 
Western side refused. The sides also reached an impasse over Romania and 
Bulgaria. Considering these countries “satellites” (Stalin actually used the 
cognate in a telegram he sent to Molotov during the meeting), the Soviet 
authorities had already installed pro-Communist governments there.25 The 
United States and Great Britain refused to recognize these governments 
or sign any accords with them. Stalin decided to increase pressure on his 
partners, even when it looked as if talks might break down. The question 
about France and China, whose participation was supported by the United 
States and Great Britain, offered a convenient pretext. On 21 September 
Stalin reprimanded Molotov for his procedural concession, and Molotov 
repented: “I admit that I committed a grave oversight. I will take immediate 
measures.”26 The following day he withdrew his agreement. The Western 
Allies were enraged. On the surface it looked as if this simple procedural 
question had brought the talks to a standstill.
	 This incident vividly illustrates Stalin’s manipulative personality. While 
cultivating the image of a moderate and predictable politician in the eyes 
of his fellow Allies, he forced his comrades to do his dirty work. He was in-
censed when Molotov revealed that the withdrawal of consent for France’s 
and China’s participation came on his orders. For a long time afterward he 
reminded Molotov of this and similar instances, accusing him of trying to 
present himself as a reasonable alternative to the inflexibility of “the Soviet 
government and Stalin.”27

	 These potshots at Molotov were a sign that a more serious attack was on 
the way. An essential role was played in this drama by the TASS summa-
ries of the foreign press, which Stalin pored over during his vacation. Molo-
tov’s troubles began with a 1 December 1945 news item by a correspondent 
for Britain’s Daily Herald, reporting rumors that Stalin might be stepping 
down as chairman of the Council of People’s Commissars and that Molo-
tov might resume that post. The TASS summary quoted the correspondent 
as saying that the political leadership of the Soviet Union was currently in 
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Molotov’s hands, with general directives from the Politburo.28 For Molo-
tov, nothing could have been more damaging, especially when Stalin was 
out of Moscow for the first time in years. Furious, on 2 December Stalin 
telephoned Molotov to demand that more stringent censorship be exer-
cised over the dispatches sent out by foreign correspondents. Molotov gave 
the foreign affairs commissariat’s press office the appropriate orders.29 The 
next day, however, there was a bureaucratic snafu. The TASS summary for 
3 December included a New York Times piece that had been published on 1 
December, before Stalin’s order to tighten control. The Times item, like the 
Daily Herald article, hinted at discord among the Soviet leadership and a 
weakening of Stalin’s position.30 Stalin read the TASS account of the Times 
article on 5 December. Apparently that same day he read a 3 December 
Reuters report that mentioned a relaxing of censorship in regard to foreign 
correspondents in the USSR. The press agency claimed that after Western 
journalists collectively had complained to the Soviet authorities, Molotov 
had said to an American at a 7 November reception, “I know that you cor-
respondents want to get rid of Russian censorship. What would you say if 
I agreed to this on condition of reciprocity?” A few days later, according to 
Reuters, the Western press corps actually did see signs of relaxed control.31

	 These reports gave Stalin more than enough ammunition to charge Mo-
lotov with scheming against him. On 5 December the vozhd sent Molotov, 
Beria, Mikoyan, and Malenkov a telegram demanding that the matter be 
investigated.32 The following day the four sent Stalin a detailed response. 
The New York Times article had a simple explanation. It had gone through 
censorship on 30 November, three days before Stalin asked Molotov to 
tighten control. The explanation for the Reuters report was just as persua-
sive. Molotov really had ordered a relaxation of censorship in November 
since the censors “often unnecessarily marked out individual words and 
expressions in the telegrams sent by foreign correspondents.” As for the 
conversation at the 7 November reception, Molotov claimed that “words 
were attributed to him that he did not say.”33

	 After receiving this response, Stalin went into a rage, either genuine or 
feigned. That same day, 6 December, he sent a sharply worded telegram 
to Moscow. Ignoring all the reasonable arguments offered by the four, he 
stated that Molotov bore the blame for the appearance of “libels against 
the Soviet government” in the foreign press. Furthermore, Molotov’s liberal 
attitude toward foreign correspondents represented an intentional effort 
to change “the course of our policies.” After accusing Malenkov, Beria, and 
Mikoyan of connivance, Stalin directed extremely harsh words at Molotov. 
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“I am convinced that Molotov does not care about the interests of our state 
and the prestige of our government,” he wrote, “so long as he gains popu-
larity within certain foreign circles. I can no longer consider such a com-
rade to be my first deputy.” To add insult to injury, Stalin sent his telegram 
only to Malenkov, Beria, and Mikoyan, asking them to summon Molotov 
and read him its contents but not give him a copy. The reason he gave was 
extremely insulting to Molotov: “I did not send [the telegram] to Molotov 
since I have doubts about some of those close to him.”34

	 This telegram contained the strongest accusations Stalin had ever made 
against a member of his inner circle (unless, of course, we include the Po-
litburo members whom he had executed). The four men were undoubt-
edly frightened. On 7 December Beria, Malenkov, and Mikoyan sent Stalin 
a coded telegram in which they reported on the firm approach they had 
taken in dealing with their associate. “We summoned Molotov to us and 
read him the telegram in full. After pausing to think, Molotov said that he 
had made a lot of mistakes but felt that mistrust toward him was unjust, 
and then he began to cry.”35 There is no way to know whether they were 
describing this confrontation accurately. This was a drama played out for 
one spectator who was not even in the theater. What mattered was not the 
drama itself but the account of how the confrontation was handled, which 
had to be designed to satisfy Stalin. Molotov played along. That same day 
he sent Stalin his own telegram: “Your coded telegram was filled with deep 
mistrust toward me as a Bolshevik and a man, which I take as the most seri-
ous party warning for all my work going forward, wherever that might be. I 
will try through my deeds to earn your trust, in which every honest Bolshe-
vik sees not simply personal trust, but the trust of the party, which is dearer 
to me than my life.”36 Judging by the correspondence that followed, Stalin 
felt that he had achieved the desired effect. He clearly knew that Molotov’s 
“crimes” had no significance, and his underling had never disobeyed any 
direct instruction. Molotov had simply used his own discretion on occa-
sions when Stalin’s long-distance guidance was intermittent and vague.
	 The Molotov scandal was dropped quickly because its true purpose lay 
elsewhere: Stalin wanted to make changes to the top leadership. He began 
this reorganization as soon as he returned to Moscow. On 29 December 
1945 he brought his old comrade Andrei Zhdanov into the inner circle. The 
Five were now Six. In October 1946, Nikolai Voznesensky was also admitted 
to the group, meaning that the country was now governed by the Seven.37

	 The return of the “Leningraders”—Zhdanov and Voznesensky—into Sta-
lin’s inner circle provoked competition within the Politburo. Malenkov and 
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Beria, who had pushed the Leningraders aside during the war, were now 
forced to concede power to them. In May 1946 Stalin removed Malenkov 
from the post of Central Committee secretary, accusing him of covering up 
irregularities in the aviation industry, which had been his portfolio during 
the war. Malenkov’s responsibilities overseeing the Central Committee ap-
parat were handed over to Zhdanov. Around the same time, a blow was 
struck against Beria. Stalin forced Beria’s protégé, Minister for State Secu-
rity Vsevolod Merkulov, to resign his post in disgrace.38 A dangerous devel-
opment was that Stalin appointed the former head of military counterin-
telligence, Viktor Abakumov, with whom Beria did not get along, to take 
Merkulov’s place.39 According to the rules of Stalinist shake-ups, the new 
minister was expected to uncover misconduct or—better yet—crimes by 
his predecessor. Abakumov was well suited to this role. Both Merkulov and 
Beria were clearly in danger. As Merkulov attested after Stalin’s death, “The 
story of my departure from the Ministry of State Security gave Beria a num-
ber of unpleasant moments. Beria himself told me that because of me he 
was in trouble with Comrade Stalin.”40

	 Beria’s and Malenkov’s ordeals were relatively painless. Both remained 
within the top leadership. Presumably they were just being shown who was 
boss and reminded that they were dispensable. Stalin clearly had no inten-
tion of dismantling the system of supreme power that had taken shape. He 
just wanted to create new counterpoises, new centers of competition.
	 Stalin was just as calculating in dealing with the military leadership. By 
the war’s end, the status of the Soviet Union’s marshals and generals was 
understandably sky-high. For Stalin, who cherished his own reputation 
as a commander, their popularity was politically undesirable: the victory 
could be the work of only one genius. Stalin was also concerned about 
possible conspiracies. The generals, intoxicated by thoughts of their own 
brilliance, made matters worse. State security, which was always in com-
petition with the military, reported to Stalin on conversations at celebratory 
dinners where generals lavished one another with praise and made dispar-
aging comments about their vozhd. Stalin’s natural response was repression. 
Inevitably his first target was Zhukov, the most famous and influential of the 
wartime military leaders. Zhukov’s life now hung by a thread. Stalin ordered 
the arrest of a number of generals close to Zhukov and had a case opened 
against Zhukov himself. A month later, after Malenkov’s demotion and Mer- 
kulov’s firing, Zhukov and other military leaders received a dressing down. 
A 9 June 1946 order, issued by the minister for the armed forces of the USSR 
and signed by Stalin, described the wartime commander’s transgressions 
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as follows: “Marshal Zhukov, having lost all modesty and carried away by a 
sense of personal ambition, felt that his services had not been sufficiently 
valued and took credit in conversations with subordinates for designing 
and carrying out all of the Great Patriotic War’s major operations, including 
those operations with which he had nothing to do.”41 This condemnation 
was obviously motivated by Stalin’s jealousy and anger at a lack of proper 
deference from this national hero and other military leaders and his desire 
to cut them down to size. But he was not prepared to go so far as to phys-
ically annihilate Zhukov, who was too symbolic a figure and too closely 
associated with him. Public discrediting and demotion would suffice. The 
order relegated Zhukov to a secondary post commanding a military dis-
trict. Given the fate of some of Stalin’s other close associates over the years, 
such a command might even be considered a reward. Zhukov had lost a 
great deal but not everything. Toward the end of his life, Stalin agreed to 
readmit Zhukov to the Central Committee, a sign that he was finally back 
in the vozhd’s good graces.
	 By late 1946 these reshufflings had evened out the balance of power 
among Stalin’s associates. The firings, demotions, and public humiliations 
more or less restored the structure of top government that had existed be-
fore the war. Stalin could now leave his associates in relative peace as he 
dealt with the country’s pressing economic problems.

■	 Currency Reform as a Reflection of the System
	 Militarization, physical devastation, famine, an inefficient ration 
system, crippled agriculture, a degraded social infrastructure, and a reli-
ance on compulsion in mobilizing the labor force—such were the features 
of the postwar Soviet economy. War’s toll was, of course, reflected in the 
sorry state of the budget. The government had financed the war’s huge 
costs primarily by printing money. The predictable result was spiraling in-
flation. Something had to be done about the excess currency circulating 
through the economy. To reduce the amount of money in circulation, the 
Soviet leadership ordered new rubles printed and old rubles devalued.
	 In his memoirs, the wartime finance commissar, Arseny Zverev, states 
that by late 1943 he had already discussed such measures with Stalin.42 Ev-
idence that the finance commissariat was planning for currency reform so 
early can also be found in the archives. Toward the end of 1943 it was de-
cided that the reform would be introduced after the war by reducing the 
buying power of the ruble through increased prices, exchanging old rubles 
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for new ones, and abolishing the ration system.43 This is largely the program 
that went into effect a few years later.
	 Now that the war was over, the problem of stabilizing the country’s fi-
nances and doing away with rationing took on tremendous political im-
portance. Doing away with ration cards even more quickly than in capital-
ist countries would demonstrate the advantages of socialism. The reform 
measures were planned for 1946, but the famine forced a delay. Throughout 
that year, Finance Commissar Zverev sent Stalin several memoranda on 
the upcoming reforms. Judging by Stalin’s notations on these documents, 
he took a great interest in the topic.44 As preparations reached their final 
phase, Zverev had frequent face-to-face meetings with the vozhd. Accord-
ing to the log of visitors to Stalin’s office, during the period leading up to 
the reform’s introduction on 14 December 1947, Zverev was there thirteen 
times.45

	 Finally, on 13 December 1947, the Politburo voted to approve the main 
documents instituting the currency reform and abolishing ration cards. It 
was stipulated that the measures would be announced over the radio at six 
o’clock in the evening on 14 December and in newspapers the following 
day. Overnight, between 14 and 15 December, the population was deprived 
of a significant portion of its savings. For every ten rubles people had in 
their possession, they would now receive one. There was a more complex 
system to deal with bank deposits. Accounts with under three thousand 
rubles were not affected, but those with three to ten thousand rubles would 
be compensated at a rate of two new rubles for every three old ones. De-
posits over ten thousand rubles were compensated at a rate of one to two.
	 The Politburo was fully aware that the reform would not be popular. A 
large part of its resolution, which was intended for publication, was de-
voted to a detailed explanation of the move’s necessity, utility, and fairness. 
Keenly in tune with widespread prejudices, the text asserted that the re-
form would hit hardest at “speculative elements who have amassed large 
stores of money.” This assertion was false: the most well-off Soviet citizens 
were in the best position to convert their cash into other forms of wealth. 
Nevertheless, the idea that the currency reform was a means of confiscat-
ing ill-gotten gains proved extremely popular. As usual, the resolution did 
not neglect to mention the financial hardships faced by the toiling masses 
in capitalist countries. Its wording suggests that Stalin played an active role 
in drafting it. Among the revisions made in his handwriting is the added 
promise that this would be the Soviet people’s “final sacrifice.”46
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	 Major reforms are always fraught with difficulty. The new rubles began 
to be printed in 1946 for introduction at the end of 1947, but at first a high 
percentage proved defective. To maintain secrecy, the new money was not 
delivered to Gosbank branches, of which there were many, but to specially 
set up storage facilities evenly distributed around the country. The new ru-
bles were transported in special, heavily guarded train cars. Finally, when 
it came time to exchange rubles, in addition to regular Gosbank branches, 
46,000 exchange points were set up, for which 170,000 workers were hired.47

	 No amount of secrecy, of course, could hide such a major operation 
from public view. Rumors began to spread and became more persistent 
after salaries and pensions for the second half of November were paid 
ahead of schedule. Overall, however, the public did not know what the 
reform would look like. Spurred by contradictory rumors, people scram-
bled to save their nest eggs. At first the panic affected purchases of durable 
goods and valuables. On 29 November 1947, Internal Affairs Minister Sergei 
Kruglov reported to Stalin that customers were flooding stores to buy man-
ufactured goods and crowding into banks to withdraw their savings. Store 
shelves were emptied, and even items for which there had previously been 
no demand disappeared. Stores sold out of furniture suites going for tens of 
thousands of rubles—huge sums, given that the average annual salary for 
laborers or office workers was approximately 7,000 rubles. One suite cost-
ing 101,000 rubles that had languished on the showroom floor for years now 
had four competing buyers. Customers bought furs, fabrics, watches, jew-
elry, pianos, and rugs.48 On 30 November Kruglov reported that hundreds 
of people had lined up outside Moscow’s department stores before open-
ing. People from neighboring oblasts flooded into the city. Huge lines of 
up to five hundred people formed outside savings banks. After two days of  
this buying frenzy, the authorities decided to take action. Kruglov informed 
Stalin that most stores had been closed under the pretext of renovation or 
taking inventory. The stores that remained open removed valuable items 
such as gold jewelry from sale. And some were forced to shut their doors 
because they had nothing left to sell.49

	 Kruglov’s report of 2 December was not much different. Now that con-
sumer goods were in short supply, people had started to buy up whatever 
they could find, including musical instruments and phonographs. One 
store that had been selling six pianos a year sold all eleven it had in stock 
over two days—30 November and 1 December. The shortage of manufac-
tured goods led to a run on non-perishable food items such as smoked 
sausage, canned goods, candies, tea, and sugar. This hoarding prompted 
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an order to remove these items from sale. Restaurants did a brisk business, 
and “drunken individuals would take wads of cash out of their pockets 
and cry: ‘Look at all this paper.’” Other regions reported similar spending 
sprees.50 If Stalin read such reports—and there is every reason to believe he 
did—he was given an eye-opening lesson on the lives and economic logic 
of ordinary Soviet citizens.
	 It is interesting that the authorities refrained from heavy-handed mea-
sures to halt the frenzy. Beginning in early December there was a notice-
able increase in small savings bank deposits, an obvious effort to spread 
savings over multiple small accounts that would counteract the reform’s 
intention of removing rubles from circulation.51 Even then, no steps were 
taken. Stalin could see how unpopular the reform was and did not want to 
further inflame sentiment against it.
	 By 15 December it was all over, and the straightforward operation of 
exchanging old rubles for new and revaluing deposits began. During the 
eight-day period from 16 to 23 December 1947, Stalin received visitors in his 
office five times. Each time, Zverev was among them. His visits on 16 and 
17 December—the reform’s first days—both lasted two hours. Each time, a 
significant fraction of the Politburo was also present.52 On 3 January 1948 
Zverev sent Stalin a report on the reform’s results. It was filled with statistics 
that must have been encouraging to the government but disheartening to 
the rest of the population. Before the reform, on 1 December 1947, there 
were 59 billion rubles in circulation. As a result of the spending spree and 
ruble exchange, there were now only 4 billion. Deposits in savings accounts 
had been reduced from 18.6 billion old rubles to 15 billion new ones.53 The 
percentage by which prices decreased following the abolition of ration 
cards was modest in comparison with the number of rubles that had been 
taken out of people’s pockets. The price of bread went down by 20 percent 
and meat by only 12 percent. Some prices even increased. Woolen fabrics, 
for example, went up by 27 percent, while clothing in general rose by 11 per-
cent. Overall, the index of state retail prices after the reform went down 
to 83 percent of what it had been beforehand.54 Having exchanged ten old 
rubles for one new one, a consumer’s purchasing power was now reduced 
by a factor of eight. The lion’s share of the population’s savings had been 
confiscated.
	 To some extent the “shop window effect” that followed—the presence of 
more goods in stores, even if few could afford them—should have softened 
the blow. But in Stalin’s USSR, the shop windows were still not very impres-
sive. Poor output in both the agricultural and consumer goods sectors and 
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the general sluggishness of the state-run economy meant that even rela-
tively weak post-reform demand could not be satisfied. As usual, special 
measures were taken only in major urban centers, Moscow and Leningrad 
first and foremost. Generous supplies of food and manufactured goods 
had been warehoused there in advance. But even in these cities, there were 
limits placed on purchases: bread—two kilograms per customer; meat 
and meat products—one kilogram; sausage—half a kilogram; milk—one 
liter; footwear—one pair; socks—two pairs; soap—one bar; matches—two 
boxes, etc.55 In the capitals and in some other major cities, the end of ra-
tioning led to supply problems. A few weeks later, Moscow began to receive 
complaints about empty store shelves, limits on purchases despite the sup-
posed end of rationing, and special shops set up for officials only. One let-
ter from Belgorod read: “Today is the sixth day in a row that my wife stood 
in line for bread from 2 in the morning to 10, but, alas, all six days she came 
home without bread.” Facing long lines, high prices, and empty stores, peo-
ple looked back on the days of ration cards with nostalgia.56

	 Not all population segments suffered equally. People in major cities, es-
pecially those receiving high salaries or otherwise affluent, were not greatly 
affected by the reform. Before the devaluation it had been relatively sim-
ple for them to convert their old rubles into goods. After the reform they 
took advantage of the relative availability of goods and the drop in prices 
in urban rynoks (food markets where peasants could charge a market price 
for the goods produced on their private plots). But the price drop hit the 
peasants hard. Deprived of their savings, uncompensated for their labor 
on kolkhozes, and forced to carry a heavy tax burden, they were desper-
ate for cash. The reduction in state prices, however modest, pushed down 
food prices in the rynoks, further depressing their income. Once again, the 
country’s rural majority was the main victim of Stalin’s policies.
	 Although the government promoted the reform as a tool in combat-
ing the illegitimate acquisition of wealth, in fact it had the opposite effect. 
Corrupt officials and those operating in the shadow economy managed to 
convert their cash into luxury goods, which they resold at a profit after the 
devaluation. In Moscow’s Tushino District, for example, two store direc-
tors (both members of the Communist Party) embarked on a large-scale 
money-making scheme. Using their own money, they bought up suits, fab-
rics, hundreds of pairs of shoes, and other items. These goods were stashed 
away until after the reform, when they were gradually sold at rynoks through 
a network of sellers, as well as through the directors’ stores. The following 
figures give an idea of how typical such operations were: during the last two 
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weeks of December 1947, approximately 3,000 people working in the retail 
sector were arrested, of whom 1,100 were store directors and approximately 
900 were party members. Such arrests continued at the same rate through 
January and February.57 And this was only the tip of the iceberg.
	 Another common practice spurred by the devaluation was the backdat-
ing of savings account deposits made after the terms of the reform were 
announced. Many large accounts were broken into smaller ones under 
the three-thousand-ruble limit. The true scale of such malfeasance is un-
known, but records show that this subterfuge was practiced in all regions of 
the country by a significant proportion of officials. According to incomplete 
data for March 1948, in just twenty-six oblasts, krais, and republics, more 
than two thousand officials, including senior party and law enforcement 
officials, were prosecuted for violating the currency reform law.58 Party 
secretaries and the heads of state security and internal affairs branches 
were found guilty of such operations. Cases were also uncovered where 
top regional officials tried to subvert justice. Central Committee records 
show multiple cases where “certain regional party bodies have dragged out 
investigations of cases associated with violating the currency law, and in 
some cases they have even taken under their protection ‘major’ party and 
government officials, shifting the full burden of guilt on secondary individ-
uals.”59 Another case file stated that “a significant proportion of senior party 
and government officials have essentially escaped punishment.”60

	 Researchers have yet to find evidence of Stalin’s reaction to this mal-
feasance. The absence of major shake-ups in the wake of the monetary re-
forms suggests that he maintained a fairly condescending attitude toward 
this blatant corruption. This stance was nothing new. Stalin consistently 
demonstrated tolerance for the moral failings of his faithful underlings. He 
cared about political loyalty and administrative competence.
	 While the currency reform cast a spotlight on many of the Stalinist sys-
tem’s flaws, it also had a positive impact on the country’s economic devel-
opment. Ambitious reconstruction plans for 1948 were surpassed. Having 
taken so much money out of people’s pockets, the government could print 
more without risking inflation, a move that was a great help in making up 
budgetary shortfalls. The relative financial stability achieved in early 1949 
enabled wholesale pricing reform in heavy industry, which in turn created 
the preconditions for industrial development. Economic indicators for 
1948 suggested that the most damaging consequences of the war had been 
overcome and that the main objectives of postwar recovery had been met. 
The end of the devastating famine of 1946–1947 was especially important. In 
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1948 the gross grain yield came close to prewar levels, and the production of 
potatoes (a staple of the Soviet diet) broke all prewar records. In the words 
of Donald Filtzer, the Soviet Union had entered a period of “attenuated re-
covery.” Nevertheless, Stalin-style industrialization was able to meet only 
the most basic needs of the population.61

■	 Consolidating the Soviet Space
	 While this economic recovery was under way in the USSR, neigh-
boring countries were still roiled by political instability. In early 1948 the 
liberal democratic government of Czechoslovakia was overthrown in a 
coup, making Czechoslovakia the last East European country to join the 
Communist bloc. Establishing Communist control of these countries was, 
however, just the first step. They had to adopt the Stalinist model of internal 
development, pledge to be loyal satellites of the USSR, and unquestion-
ingly submit to Stalin as the supreme leader of the bloc. A number of obsta-
cles stood in the way. Despite repression, the presence of the Red Army, the 
suppression of educated segments of society, and the expansion of state 
control of the economy, for some time the newly Communist countries 
retained a degree of socioeconomic, cultural, and political diversity. Fur-
thermore, the majority of East Europeans opposed the Communists, and 
power struggles within the Communist parties prevented the emergence 
of the kinds of dictatorial leaders needed to implement Stalinist socialism. 
Worse, a number of East European leaders showed signs of unacceptable 
“liberalism,” preferring a more flexible model of socialism over the Soviet 
model.62

	 One “bad example” for any wavering Communists was Yugoslavia’s 
Josip Broz Tito. In the spring of 1948 he became embroiled in a conflict with 
the Soviet Union that quickly escalated. Stalin was confronted with a wor-
thy adversary. Tito was a born dictator who, unlike some other Communist 
leaders, had not simply been placed in power by Moscow but had earned 
it fighting the Nazis. His hand was further strengthened by the absence of  
Soviet troops in Yugoslavia. Tito pretended to political independence and 
aspired to be a leader of the Communist bloc, and he translated these 
pretensions into actions. In short, he ignored one of the key principles of 
Stalinization: total submission to Moscow.
	 Stalin’s hope that severe public accusations would drive a wedge through 
the Yugoslav leadership and spark mutiny against Tito was disappointed. 
Tito made quick work of the Kremlin’s Yugoslav clients and emerged from 
the showdown stronger. This defeat was a painful blow for Stalin. For the 
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first time since the struggle with Trotsky, he was being opposed by a major 
leader within the Communist movement. And unlike Trotsky, Tito had real 
power and forces capable of protecting him from the ice picks of Stalin’s 
professional killers. Tito’s insubordination was not simply a blow to Stalin’s 
self-respect, but also a dangerous precedent and a crack in the monolithic 
Soviet bloc. Others might follow Tito’s lead.
	 The dangers of Titoism intensified confrontations with the West. The 
first serious standoff in Germany between the USSR and its former allies 
also came in 1948. The Soviet blockade of the Western sectors of Berlin was 
met with determined resistance. The system used to supply the Western 
zone by air—the Berlin Airlift—not only demonstrated the effectiveness 
of the Western bloc, but also promoted its consolidation. In April 1949 the 
agreement that established NATO was signed. The following month Stalin 
was forced to lift the blockade, and that autumn, Germany was formally 
divided into two separate states.
	 These foreign policy setbacks ignited Stalin’s suspicions and insecurity 
and strengthened his resolve to force Stalinization in the East European 
Communist bloc. Moscow intensified its interference in the internal af-
fairs of its satellites, and demands for accelerated sovietization became 
more implacable and impatient. Using his familiar methods of purges 
and fabricated political charges, Stalin initiated and oversaw a campaign 
against “enemies” within the leaderships of the socialist countries. In late 
1948 he succeeded in getting rid of Poland’s unyielding leader, Wladyslaw  
Gomulka. In Hungary, advisers from Moscow helped orchestrate a case al-
leging a far-reaching espionage organization, supposedly led by the coun-
try’s former minister for internal affairs, Laszlo Rajk. In September 1949 
Rajk was convicted and given the death sentence. In December, after a 
lengthy process of fabricated charges (again with the help of Soviet security 
advisers), the former secretary of the Bulgarian central committee, Traicho 
Kostov, was put to death. Stalin kept a close watch over all these cases and  
sanctioned both the falsification of evidence and the death sentences. 
Rajk’s and Kostov’s trials prompted arrests in other Communist countries.63 
These tactics brought about a concentration of power in the hands of dic-
tators entirely dependent on Stalin and ready to implement any policy he 
liked.
	 While overseeing the Stalinization of the Communist bloc, the Soviet 
dictator still found time to consolidate his power at home—or rather to 
preempt any possibility that it could be undermined. Setting an example 
for his satellites, Stalin launched yet another wave of domestic purges. The 
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themes and victims depended to some extent on random developments. 
One such development was the death of Stalin’s close comrade Andrei 
Zhdanov in August 1948. Zhdanov’s duties as Stalin’s deputy for party af-
fairs and as head of the Central Committee apparat were taken over by 
Georgy Malenkov, a shift that upset the balance of power within Stalin’s 
inner circle. Having lost their patron, the Leningrad group, most promi-
nently represented by Gosplan chairman Voznesensky and Central Com-
mittee secretary Kuznetsov, found itself weakened, and the group’s rivals, 
Beria and Malenkov, were now stronger. Such shifts prompted a new bout 
of behind-the-scenes struggle. The combination of these intrigues, interna-
tional tensions, and Stalin’s political calculations spawned the Leningrad 
Affair, the last purge to roil the upper echelons of power in the USSR. Before 
it was over blood had been spilled.64

	 Through the efforts of Malenkov and Beria, who probably did not expect 
their actions to be as damaging as they proved to be, Stalin received com-
promising materials against the Leningraders. The infractions these mate-
rials exposed were relatively minor. In one instance a decision was made 
to hold a major trade fair in Leningrad without consulting all of the proper 
authorities. In another, Voznesensky’s agency, Gosplan, made certain er-
rors in putting together plans and misplaced some documents—common 
occurrences in the highly bureaucratic Soviet system. There were also sev-
eral instances when regional leaders, mostly Leningraders, attempted to 
use Voznesensky and Kuznetsov for patronage, but such attempts too were 
nothing out of the ordinary. They were all the sort of typical rule-bending 
that Stalin could simply ignore or use as ammunition. He chose to do the 
latter.
	 During a Politburo meeting presided over by Stalin in February 1949, 
Kuznetsov, Voznesensky, and other functionaries close to them were 
charged with attempting to turn the Leningrad party organization into 
their own fiefdom. Particularly ominous was a resolution comparing their 
actions to those of Zinoviev in the 1920s, “when he attempted to turn the 
Leningrad organization into a power base for his anti-Leninist faction.”65 
In the months that followed, charges against the beleaguered Leningraders  
snowballed. They were accused of enemy activity and even espionage. In 
September 1950, after months of interrogations and torture, Voznesen-
sky, Kuznetsov, and a number of other leaders were sentenced to death in 
a closed Leningrad courtroom. Several hundred others were given death 
sentences, imprisoned, or exiled. The purge also affected other regions of 
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the country, where natives of Leningrad held senior posts or had sought 
support from highly placed Leningraders in Moscow.
	 The way the Leningrad Affair unfolded suggests that Stalin was using it 
to pursue multiple goals. It may have been part of his ongoing pattern of 
intimidation to consolidate power. The accusations of patronage and the 
large-scale dismantling of networks of officials who made their careers 
in Leningrad were typical of the preemptive strikes Stalin liked to launch 
against informal networks within the nomenklatura.66 He may also have 
viewed the Leningrad Affair as part of a larger shake-up at the upper eche-
lons. In any event, the fabrication of evidence against the Leningraders at 
first unfolded in synchrony with Stalin’s attacks against his old comrades 
Molotov and Mikoyan. These assaults seem all the more likely to be con-
nected as Molotov had maintained close professional ties with Voznesen-
sky and was on friendly terms with him. Furthermore, while the Leningrad 
Affair was in full swing, Mikoyan’s son was preparing to marry Kuznetsov’s 
daughter and, rather surprisingly, proceeded with this plan.
	 Whatever the reasons for Stalin’s displeasure, Molotov and Mikoyan were 
its most natural targets. They were his oldest and most distinguished com-
rades, symbols of the collective leadership that might have been, and the 
presumptive heirs of the aging vozhd. The task of bolstering his personal 
power—Stalin’s prime obsession—required him, he felt, to periodically 
discredit his most influential associates in order to weaken their influence.
	 For several years the actions Stalin took against Molotov in late 1945 were 
known only within the narrow circle of the Politburo. Molotov continued to 
perform key governmental functions: he chaired a number of Council of 
Ministers commissions, headed the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and had a 
voice on a wide array of questions. This status began to change in 1948. On 
various pretexts, Stalin used reprimands and limitations on his authority  
to diminish Molotov’s standing. The main means of pressure was the fabri-
cation of evidence against Molotov’s ethnically Jewish wife, Polina Zhem-
chuzhina, showing her to be involved with “anti-Soviet” Jewish organiza-
tions. Stalin demanded that Molotov divorce her. “Stalin,” Molotov later 
recalled, “came up to me at the Central Committee: ‘You have to divorce 
your wife!’ And she said to me, ‘If it’s necessary for the party, then we’ll get 
divorced.’ In late 1948 we divorced.”67

	 On 29 December 1948, “evidence” compiled by state security in the Zhem-
chuzhina case was brought before the Politburo. She was expelled from the 
party, a move that meant that arrest was imminent. Molotov abstained from 
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voting, an action that put him in direct conflict with Stalin.68 On 20 January 
1949 Molotov sent the vozhd a formulaic expression of remorse:

During Central Committee voting on a proposal to expel P. S. Zhem-
chuzhina from the party I abstained, which I admit to be politically 
mistaken. I hereby state that having thought over this question, I vote 
in favor of the Central Committee decision, which corresponds to the 
interests of the party and the state and teaches a correct understanding 
of the meaning of Communist Party membership. Furthermore, I admit 
my grievous guilt in that I did not duly restrain Zhemchuzhina, someone 
close to me, from false steps and ties with anti-Soviet Jewish nationalists, 
such as Mikhoels.69

In March 1949, Molotov was dismissed from the post of foreign minister, 
and Mikoyan was relieved of his duties as minister for foreign trade. These 
dismissals did not mean that the two men were cast out of the government. 
Both remained members of the Politburo and deputy chairmen of the gov-
ernment, and in these capacities they fulfilled important administrative 
functions. But their political authority was damaged, an outcome that un-
doubtedly was Stalin’s true objective.
	 The use of Zhemchuzhina’s origins in formulating the charges against 
her reflected a policy of state anti-Semitism that Stalin launched as con-
frontation with the West intensified. In early 1948 he ordered state secu-
rity to destroy the prominent Jewish intellectual and theatrical director 
Solomon Mikhoels. Later that year he ordered the dissolution of the Soviet 
Jewish Anti-Fascist Committee, which had been founded during the war 
to mobilize international support for the USSR. The authorities had begun 
to view the committee as a nest of spies with ties to foreign intelligence 
agencies. Over the next few years, the Jewish Anti-Fascist Committee Af-
fair gradually engulfed more victims, until it ended with a closed trial held 
from May through July 1952. All the defendants but one were shot.70 In 1949, 
the arrests of Jewish public figures were supplemented with a wide-ranging 
campaign against “cosmopolitanism.” Many Soviet Jews were arrested, 
fired from their jobs, and made targets of discrimination and contempt.
	 Newly available documents confirm what most historians have long 
believed: such campaigns could not have been conducted without Stalin’s 
support and involvement. This fact raises legitimate questions about the 
motives behind Stalin’s anti-Semitism. It is tempting to assume that in the 
final years of Stalin’s life he merely became more open about a Judophobia 
he had always held as a predictable aspect of his general misanthropy. The 
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evidence, however, suggests that his postwar anti-Semitism was primarily 
a product of domestic and foreign policy calculations. A complex set of his-
torical factors lay behind his turn toward anti-Semitism as a political tool.
	 Foremost among these factors was the evident growth in anti-Semitism 
in the USSR. In no small part because of Nazi propaganda, anti-Semitic 
feelings and beliefs had spread among certain segments of Soviet society. 
During the war, even highly placed Soviet functionaries did not hesitate 
to lace their reports with anti-Semitic comments. In January 1944 the dep-
uty commander of Soviet air forces, General Grigory Vorozheikin, wrote 
to Stalin and other Soviet leaders about the problem of having too many 
members of the military working in comfortable jobs at headquarters or 
in commissaries. Regarding those manning the commissaries that sold 
items to the troops—voentorgs—he wrote, “At the fronts they’re called not 
‘voentorgs’ but ‘abramtorgs.’ . . . All of these ‘abramtorgs’ should be sent 
to fight.”71 Among the letters Stalin placed in his personal archive during 
the postwar years we find some expressing anti-Semitic feelings and others 
complaining about the spread of anti-Semitism. One writer, who accused 
Jews of shirking physical labor, offered a proposal on how to “reeducate” 
them: “Separating Jews, as a worthy nation, into a separate republic . . . and 
making them work on a justly organized basis would be widely approved by 
all the other peoples of the Soviet Union.”72 Stalin undoubtedly was aware 
of the prevalence of such feelings and took them into consideration.
	 Like any totalitarian regime, the Stalinist dictatorship needed to keep 
society mobilized. This goal was achieved both by provoking anxiety about 
external threats and by using domestic groups as scapegoats, thereby 
channeling dissatisfaction away from the country’s leaders. The spread of 
anti-Semitism shows that Jews were the most convenient target for social 
stigmatization. In the immediate aftermath of the war, however, Stalin was 
not able to exploit popular anti-Semitism. The complicated games being 
played in the international arena and the fact that there were advantages 
still to be derived from his alliance with the West forced him to be circum-
spect. The ideological campaigns of the first postwar years, designed to 
combat the rather amorphous idea of “kowtowing to the West,” were in-
tended as “ideological education” for the intelligentsia and probably had 
little resonance among the general population.
	 The situation changed as tensions spiked with the West, as embodied 
by the United States with its strong Jewish community. As relations with 
the new Jewish state of Israel broke down and Israel became allied with 
the United States, Soviet Jews became more suitable targets. As Yuri Slez-
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kine put it, “The Jews as a Soviet nationality were now an ethnic diaspora 
potentially loyal to a hostile foreign state.”73 The new ideological paradigm 
that took shape in 1948–1949 brought Stalin’s campaign against kowtowing 
into line with his exploitation of anti-Semitism. The two coalesced in the 
campaign against “cosmopolitans,” appropriately understood by the Soviet 
masses as targeting Soviet Jews and their foreign patrons. A 1949 letter se-
lected to be shown to Stalin captures the essence of this campaign: “Just as 
the entire German people bear responsibility for Hitler’s aggression, so too 
the Jewish people must bear responsibility for the actions of the bourgeois 
cosmopolitans.”74 State anti-Semitism was transformed into a tool of social 
manipulation.
	 Stalin’s personal prejudice undoubtedly played an important role in 
this new twist in the political line. There are many signs that during the 
final years of his life, he viewed Jews as a “counterrevolutionary” nation, 
much as he had viewed Poles, Germans, and the peoples of the North Cau-
casus before and during the war. The repression of the 1930s, the Stalin-
ist regime’s failure to protect its citizens from the Holocaust, and postwar 
anti-Semitism had all dampened the revolutionary fervor many Soviet Jews 
felt during and after the revolution. Now, Stalin assumed, Jews had turned 
their gaze westward, toward the United States, and were prepared to serve 
the West with the enthusiasm they had once shown for the revolution. “Any 
Jew-nationalist is an agent of American intelligence,” Stalin told a meet-
ing of the party’s top leadership in late 1952. “Jew-nationalists believe that 
their nation was saved by the U.S.A. (there you can become rich, a bour-
geois, etc.). They feel they have an obligation to the Americans.”75 These 
suspicions were only intensified by the Jewish wives of some of his clos-
est associates and by his own daughter’s Jewish husband. Stalin’s political  
anti-Semitism, taking deep root during his final years, became a key factor 
in both domestic and foreign policy.

■	 Meeting with Mao
	 The setbacks Stalin faced in Europe were partly compensated by the 
advance of communism in Asia. On 1 October 1949, a Communist victory 
in the protracted Chinese civil war resulted in the proclamation of the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China (PRC) under the leadership of Mao Zedong. The So-
viet leadership immediately established diplomatic relations with the new  
government and severed all ties with the defeated Kuomintang.
	 The Communist victory in China no doubt strengthened the Soviet 
Union’s position in the Cold War, but it brought with it a new set of prob-
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lems associated with the building of Sino-Soviet relations. Despite its de-
pendence on the USSR, Communist China was too imposing a force to 
remain just another satellite. Stalin had reason to suspect that Mao might 
confront him with the same assertive intractability he had encountered in 
Yugoslavia. Considering China’s size and its importance within the Third 
World, such recalcitrance could have much more serious consequences. A 
major source of friction was economic problems. The need to provide aid 
to a war-torn friendly power was a heavy burden for the financially strained 
Soviet Union.
	 Even before the Chinese Communists had come to power, Stalin had re-
tained personal control over contacts with them. Through Soviet military 
intelligence he had set up radio communication with Mao, whose army was 
based in northeastern China. This line of communication was maintained 
through special Soviet emissaries, who also served as Mao’s physicians. 
Although Mao and Stalin kept up a continuous written correspondence, 
this was not enough for the Chinese revolutionary leader, who repeatedly 
expressed a desire to visit the Soviet Union. Probably he saw such a visit 
in symbolic as well as practical terms: he needed to confirm his status as 
the leader of the Chinese people and a partner (albeit junior) of Stalin. But 
Stalin kept finding ways to forestall a visit. At first he felt it inadvisable to 
demonstrate close ties with the Chinese Communists when they were not 
the country’s official government. The situation in China was extremely 
fluid, and a Communist victory seemed far from certain.
	 After several postponements by Moscow, Mao began to lose patience. 
On 4 July 1948 he informed Stalin that he intended to set out for Harbin 
and fly from there to Moscow. Ten days later he received the following re-
sponse: “In view of the commenced grain harvest work, the leading com-
rades will leave for the provinces in August, where they will remain until 
November. Therefore the party’s Central Committee is asking Com. Mao 
Zedong to time his visit to Moscow for the end of November so as to have 
an opportunity to see all the leading comrades.”76 Mao had no choice but to 
comply, but he made his annoyance plain. Stalin’s excuse sounded ridic-
ulous, and the Chinese leader did not try to pretend otherwise. The Soviet 
communications officer attached to Mao even felt compelled to inform 
Stalin of Mao’s reaction:

I have known Mao Zedong for more than 6 years and could tell that his 
smile and the words “hao, hao—good, good,” spoken as he was listening 
to the translation, did not mean that he was happy with the telegram.  
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. . . He was sure that he would be going immediately. Probably the trip 
became necessary for him. He waited for a reply with great eagerness. . . . 
Mao Zedong’s suitcases were being packed, and even leather shoes were 
bought (like everybody here, he wears cloth slippers), and a thick wool 
coat was tailored. . . . So now he is outwardly calm, polite and attentive, 
courteous in a purely Chinese manner. But it is hard to see his true soul.

	 This visit was becoming a serious headache. From August through De-
cember 1948, as the Communists achieved a string of decisive victories, 
Mao continued to insist on coming. In a telegram dated 28 September 1948 
he wrote, “On a series of questions it is necessary to report personally to the 
Central Committee and to the glavny khoziain [the boss or chief ].” In early 
January 1949 he again expressed his desire to come to Moscow to report 
to the “glavny khoziain.” Stalin stood firm. In January 1949 the Soviet side 
again canceled a scheduled visit. Anastas Mikoyan was sent to the Chinese 
instead. As Mikoyan later recalled, in discussing this matter Stalin had jus-
tified the refusal to receive Mao by saying that it would “be interpreted in 
the West as a visit to Moscow to receive instructions. . . . This would lead to 
a loss of prestige for the Chinese Communist Party and would be used by 
the imperialists and the Chiang Kai-shek clique against the Chinese Com-
munists.”77 This explanation fit nicely with Stalin’s policy of caution and de-
monstrative neutrality.
	 During Mikoyan’s visit in February 1949, the Communist march to vic-
tory entered a decisive phase. Negotiations were begun on the terms of 
military and economic assistance from the USSR and what to do about 
treaties between the Soviets and the Kuomintang. A friendship and co-
operation treaty, along with associated accords, had been signed with the 
Chiang Kai-shek government in August 1945. These documents stemmed 
from agreements reached with the Allies in Yalta: in exchange for Stalin’s 
promise to enter the war against Japan, the United States and Britain had 
agreed to give to the USSR lands that the Russian Empire had lost in the 
1905 Russo-Japanese War. The Kuomintang government had recognized 
the independence of the Outer Mongolian Soviet satellite, the People’s Re-
public of Mongolia; the Soviet Union’s rights to build a military base in Port 
Arthur; and its long-term lease of the port of Dalny. The Chinese-Chang-
chun Railway, which connected Port Arthur and Dalny with the USSR 
proper, had been brought under Soviet administration. There was lingering 
dissatisfaction over these forced concessions in China. With time, the So-
viet presence inside the country began to look increasingly like a politically 
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dangerous anachronism. Both Moscow and the Chinese Communist lead-
ership understood this. Mutual concessions were expected; it was only a 
question of degree.
	 After the Chinese Communists finally achieved victory, Stalin no longer 
had grounds to avoid Mao’s visit. Furthermore, given the new situation, a 
face-to-face meeting would be extremely helpful in resolving key questions 
regarding the Sino-Soviet relationship. Mao left Beijing on 6 December 
1949. After a ten-day trip he arrived at Moscow’s Yaroslavl Station on 16 De-
cember, exactly at noon. Mao’s interpreter recalled that the station clock 
struck twelve just as they pulled up, making the arrival all the more dra-
matic.78 A famous photograph capturing the meeting on the station plat-
form shows the head of the honor guard in the front row with his saber 
drawn, Bulganin in his marshal’s uniform, Molotov, and Mao. The Chinese 
Communist leader, tall and stout next to the slight Molotov and Bulganin, 
looked imposing in his large fur collar and high fur hat. Later that evening 
Stalin received Mao in his Kremlin office.
	 Did the Soviet and Chinese leaders like each other? They certainly had 
much in common. Both were born in remote provinces to families that were 
poor but not destitute. Both despised their fathers and loved their mothers. 
Despite material deprivations, each had obtained an education, joined the 
revolutionary underground in his youth, and overcome his modest social 
origins. Each had received much of his education through independent, 
unguided reading and showed a penchant for abstract, philosophical topics 
and radical ideas. Both wrote verse and enjoyed literature idealizing rebels 
and brigands with forceful personalities, physical strength, and indomita-
ble will. Neither had a talent for languages, knew a single foreign language, 
or even spoke his dominant language very well. Stalin’s accent was strongly 
Georgian, Mao’s Xiang (Hunanese).79 Both were ruthless and decisive. Mao 
fully shared Stalin’s views on attaining sole dictatorial powers and govern-
ing and largely borrowed the Soviet leader’s methods, carrying out purges, 
liquidating former comrades, embracing forced rapid industrialization, 
and presiding over a great famine. The characterization of Mao prepared 
for the Soviet leadership in 1949 by the doctor and radio communications 
specialist A. Ya. Orlov describes the Chinese leader as “Unhurried, even 
slow. . . . He moves steadily toward any goal he sets, but not always follow-
ing a straight path, often with detours. . . . Is a natural performer. Is able to 
hide his feelings and can play whatever role is needed.”80 This description 
greatly resembled Stalin. In December 1949, when Stalin was celebrating 
his seventieth birthday, Mao was about to turn fifty-six. Understandably, 
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Mao looked up to Stalin. Among the Chinese leadership, the Soviet leader 
was referred to as “the old man.”81

	 Mao showed his respect for Stalin during the 16 December meeting. He 
made no demands and did not insist on anything, instead asking for advice 
and listening to it attentively. Stalin approved of this form of interaction. 
On hearing Mao’s unwelcome but not unexpected question about the fate 
of the 1945 Sino-Soviet agreement, he launched into a lengthy explanation. 
The Soviet side wanted to “formally” preserve the existing agreement, he 
stressed, but was prepared to make certain changes that would be advanta-
geous to China. Spelling out the political drawbacks of scrapping the agree-
ment altogether, Stalin explained that it had been part of the Yalta agree-
ments with the United States and Great Britain. Annulling it would “give 
America and England the legal grounds to raise questions about modifying 
also the treaty’s provisions concerning the Kurile Islands and South Sakha-
lin.” It is unclear whether Mao immediately understood how spurious this 
argument was; he certainly grasped it later. In any event, he took an un-
derstanding tone, and the conversation moved on to pleasanter subjects. 
Stalin agreed to requests for aid. The talks ended on a high note. Stalin even 
paid Mao the compliment of proposing to collect and publish his works in 
Russian.82

	 Despite the atmosphere of goodwill and warmth, the meeting must have 
left Mao with mixed feelings. Of course the Chinese leader was given many 
promises and generous displays of respect. In the end, however, Stalin had 
refused to give him an item near the top of his wish list: an accord that 
would supersede the 1945 agreement. Politically, such an accord was a high 
priority for Mao. As subsequent events would show, he decided to bide his 
time.
	 The following days were a bustle of activity not conducive to the dis-
cussion of weighty matters. A number of foreign guests arrived for Stalin’s 
seventieth birthday. On 21 December a grand celebration was held at the 
Bolshoi Theater. Mao was seated in the first row of the presidium with Sta-
lin and was the first foreign guest to give a speech. “When Mao Zedong 
stepped up to the podium,” the Hungarian Communist Party leader Matyas 
Rakosi later recalled, “an ovation erupted the likes of which the Bolshoi 
Theater had probably never seen. I could see that this exultation and such 
a reception had an effect on Mao Zedong.”83

	 Despite this show of respect, when the fanfare subsided Mao found 
himself in an unenviable position. Stalin’s refusal to sign a new treaty left a 
major purpose of his visit unfulfilled. Most historians view the events that 
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unfolded over the rest of his stay in Moscow as a subtle war of nerves. Stalin 
was clearly showing Mao who was boss. Mao, in response, applied his own 
form of pressure. After Stalin’s death he claimed to have insisted on his de-
mands, but he was probably exaggerating. In fact, claiming illness (he was 
indeed in a poor physical state), he demonstratively went into seclusion, 
refusing to take part in various events on his schedule and announcing that 
he had decided to return to China a month earlier than planned.84 This tac-
tic was to bear fruit.
	 Scholars have offered a variety of explanations for Stalin’s change of po-
sition, but probably he had been prepared to strike a deal from the start. 
Skilled negotiator that he was, Stalin began the talks with a refusal because 
he was wary that China’s strongly nationalistic new leaders might make ex-
cessive demands. This was an effective ruse. Mao apparently sensed what 
Stalin was up to and proved himself a worthy sparring partner. After Stalin 
agreed to continue negotiations, Mao began to drag his feet. Negotiations 
were to begin after the arrival of a group of Chinese leaders, but Mao in-
structed them to take their time. At first they delayed their departure from 
China, and then they chose a slow means of transportation to the Soviet 
capital—train.
	 It was not until 22 January 1950 that talks resumed among Stalin, Mao, 
and Mao’s associates in Stalin’s office. Stalin and Mao both reaffirmed 
their intention of concluding new agreements and gave instructions on 
drafting them. After some tough negotiating, on 14 February the Treaty of 
Friendship, Alliance, and Mutual Assistance was signed in the Kremlin by 
the USSR and the PRC, along with a number of ancillary treaties. The So-
viet side lost almost all of the huge advantages it had gained through the 
Yalta compromises and the 1945 Sino-Soviet treaty. Under the 1945 agree-
ment, the Chinese-Changchun Railway and Port Arthur were given to the 
Soviet Union for thirty years, but under the 1950 agreement they were to 
be returned to China by the end of 1952. China was to take back property 
leased by the USSR in the port of Dalny almost immediately. As a result, the 
Soviet Union lost its ice-free port on the Pacific and material resources of 
significant value. Some authors have described these agreements as “gen-
erosity unprecedented in international treaties.”85 The new Chinese lead-
ers did, however, pay a price. They renounced all claims to Outer Mongolia 
and also signed a secret protocol banning citizens of third-party countries 
from being given concessions or conducting business in Manchuria and 
Xinjiang, thereby allowing the USSR to retain exclusive privileges in these 
border zones.
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	 It seemed at the time that the USSR, while relinquishing many tactical 
advantages, was gaining a critical global edge. The country with the plan-
et’s largest population now belonged to the Soviet bloc. China had become 
the gravitational center and a source of real assistance for the many move-
ments throughout Asia opposing Western influence in the region. The idea 
that the USSR was surrounded by capitalist countries—an enduring theme 
of Soviet propaganda—had been turned on its head. One could now talk 
about socialist encirclement of the Western world.
	 Immediately after signing the treaties, Stalin again showed his respect 
for the new Chinese leaders by attending a reception held by the Chinese 
embassy at the Metropol Hotel that same day, 14 February. According to 
Stalin’s interpreter, Nikolai Fedorenko, the choice of where to hold the re-
ception was a source of disagreement between Stalin and Mao. The Soviet 
leader proposed the Kremlin, but Mao preferred, as a matter of prestige, to 
hold it elsewhere. “The Kremlin,” he explained, “is a place for state recep-
tions by the Soviet government. Our country, a sovereign state, finds this 
unsuitable.” Stalin responded that he could not attend such a reception: “I 
never attend receptions at restaurants or foreign embassies. Never.” Mao 
insisted. After a conspicuous pause, throughout which Mao kept his intent 
gaze on the Soviet leader, Stalin relented: “Fine, Comrade Mao Zedong, I’ll 
come if you want me to so much.”86 A standard invitation in the name of 
the Chinese ambassador to the USSR, handwritten, arrived requesting the 
presence of Generalissimo Stalin and his wife (the invitation of whom may 
have reflected diplomatic protocol but more likely showed that the Chinese 
knew nothing about Stalin’s personal life). The attire: dress uniforms with 
medals.87

	 Stalin’s appearance was the highlight of the reception. He was late, and 
as Fedorenko describes it, an aura of anticipation hung over the banquet 
hall as everyone whispered the same question: Would he show up? He was 
greeted, Fedorenko wrote, “with loud applause and noisy exclamations of 
delight.” Stalin stopped, paused, and then headed toward Mao. A round of 
toasts began. “Everyone who spoke, and not only they, kept their eyes on 
the two figures standing side by side and occasionally engaging one an-
other in conversation.” After lengthy and tiresome toasts and ovations, Sta-
lin made a gesture. Once the room settled into silence, he pronounced a 
toast to Mao and the success of the People’s Republic of China. All drained 
their glasses in synchrony. “There was another burst of applause, enthusi-
astic exclamations, and general rejoicing.”88

	 On 16 February Stalin hosted a farewell luncheon in honor of the Chi-
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nese. The following day the delegation set off for Beijing by train. The hey-
day of “Sino-Soviet friendship” had begun. With the support of the USSR, 
China repaired its economy and built hundreds of new factories in its most 
important sectors. The Korean War, which began shortly after Mao Ze-
dong’s visit, strengthened the bond between the two regimes, especially 
its military component. Beneath the surface, however, was the tension that 
had already manifested itself during Mao’s visit. Proclamations of common 
ideological objectives and unity against a common enemy could not hide 
differences rooted in diverging national interests. The coming to power of 
the Chinese Communists was just the beginning of a complicated relation-
ship in which both states pretended to the role of leadership of the inter-
national Communist movement. The principles Stalin established to guide 
his relationship with his vast neighbor to the east would work only so long 
as the Chinese leadership felt dependent on Soviet aid and support. Like 
much else that Stalin left to his heirs, these principles would not be viable 
for long.

■	 The Threat of World War III
	 The Communist victory in China coincided with another important 
development. In late August 1949, having devoted tremendous resources to 
developing a nuclear capability, the Soviet Union conducted its first test of 
an atom bomb.89 With the success of this test, the Stalinist system showed 
that it was ready to do whatever it took to achieve high-priority military 
objectives. Lavrenty Beria was put in charge of the atom bomb project, a 
telling choice given his reputation for ruthlessness and decisiveness. He 
must have known that failure at this high-priority task could have brought 
his career—even his life—to a sudden end. Later, after Stalin’s death, he 
recalled that he left for the test site in Kazakhstan “in a dejected mood.”90 
Soon, however, he was able to breathe a sigh of relief.
	 Possession of an atom bomb, despite its tremendous significance for 
the Soviet Union’s stature as a military power, is unlikely to have gone to 
Stalin’s head. He probably took sober account of both the relatively lim-
ited options for using such a weapon and the real balance of power in the 
world. The Western powers had shown decisiveness in opposing the So-
viet bloc and building up their already impressive military potential. Stalin 
could not rely on force alone. In the realm of foreign policy (much more 
than domestic policy), he exercised caution and pragmatism. Over several 
years the situation in Korea, the site of the first “hot” war between the West-
ern and Communist blocs, offered examples of Stalin’s approach.
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	 After the defeat of Japan in 1945, Korea was partitioned along the 38th 
parallel. North of the parallel, the Japanese surrendered to Soviet troops, 
and in the south, to the United States. As in Europe, a pro-Soviet govern-
ment was established in the Soviet-occupied zone and a pro-Western one 
in the U.S.-occupied zone. The starting point for this process was the instal-
lation of puppet regimes by each side. The Americans put in power a sev-
enty-year-old professor named Syngman Rhee, who had spent thirty-three 
years in exile in the United States, where he received his education. In the 
North, Moscow installed a thirty-three-year-old Red Army officer, Kim Il 
Sung.
	 Several years after the capitulation of Japan, Korea was far from calm. 
Small military clashes and saber rattling were a part of everyday life. Both 
sides were coming to the conclusion that the only path to reuniting Korea 
was through war—a war kept at bay only by the presence of American and 
Soviet troops. Fearing a direct confrontation, Stalin and the American lead-
ers preferred to tread with caution. Stalin’s approach was summed up in 
instructions he gave to Soviet representatives in North Korea in May 1947: 
“We should not meddle too deeply in Korean affairs.”91 In late 1948 Soviet 
troops left the country, and the United States began to withdraw its contin-
gent the following summer.
	 The North Korean leaders saw the American departure as opening the 
door to military action, but in the fall of 1949 Stalin was still rejecting their 
insistent requests to sanction an armed offensive against the South. In 
early 1950, with the victory of Mao Zedong in China and the return home of 
North Korean units that had fought alongside the Chinese Communists, the 
situation began to change. Kim Il Sung hoped that the Chinese might offer 
the Korean Communists reciprocal assistance. He intensified pressure on 
Moscow, hinting at the possibility of a reorientation toward China.92 Stalin 
was confronted with a convoluted web of arguments for and against war 
that historians are still trying to sort out today.
	 The principles of realpolitik that often guided Stalin in the international 
arena called for caution. Continuing the policy of a divided Korea while 
strengthening the Communist North as a force to counteract the Ameri-
cans seemed like the best option. Kim Il Sung’s demands, or rather insis-
tent requests, to reunify the country by force were easy for him to continue 
to turn down. The China factor aside, the North Korean leaders were still 
Stalin’s puppets. Only the USSR could give the North Koreans arms and 
other vital resources needed for the government to survive. The Chinese 
themselves relied on Soviet assistance.
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	 Tilting the scales in the other direction was the great-power urge for ex-
pansion, the natural tendency to fill a void and capture territory that was 
not clearly spoken for. Many scholars believe that Stalin may have been 
emboldened by a statement the Americans made in January 1950 about 
the sphere of the United States’ national interests that included no men-
tion of Korea. It sounded like an admission of American weakness after 
defeat in China. Optimistic assurances by Kim Il Sung and a wager on a 
pro-Communist uprising in the South’s rear offered the prospect of a blitz-
krieg that would confront the United States with a fait accompli and leave 
no time for effective intervention. Also heavily weighing the scales on this 
side were the pretentions of the USSR, and Stalin personally, to the role of 
leader of the revolutionary movement in the Third World. Finally, Stalin 
may have wanted to compensate for setbacks in Europe.
	 Whatever his thinking was, in early 1950 Stalin decided in favor of ac-
tion and signaled Kim Il Sung that he could begin preparing an invasion. 
In April Kim came to Moscow to meet with Stalin and discuss the details.93 
Together they outlined a plan and timeline for the war, and with the help of 
the USSR, the North Koreans began urgent preparations. By the time com-
bat began, they had acquired a huge advantage over the South. On 25 June 
1950, Kim Il Sung’s troops began their offensive. Like many other attempts 
at blitzkrieg, this one met with defeat. The rapid response by the United 
States, which Stalin had worried about but chosen to discount, dramati-
cally changed the situation. The American leadership saw the aggression in 
Korea as the start of a broad Soviet offensive that would ultimately include 
Europe.94 Having decided to intervene, the Americans quickly outmaneu-
vered the Soviet bloc diplomatically. A session of the UN Security Council, 
convened the very day military operations began, condemned the North 
as the aggressor (Yugoslavia abstained and the Soviet ambassador was ab-
sent).95 Soon afterward, American troops landed in South Korea and were 
quickly joined by forces from fifteen other states, a fact that was of greater 
political than military significance.
	 Despite some initial successes by the North, this start to the war damp-
ened Kim Il Sung’s confidence. Stalin demanded that the war go on and 
encouraged the North Koreans with advice and new deliveries of military 
hardware. “In our opinion the attack absolutely must continue and the 
sooner South Korea is liberated the less chance there is for intervention,” 
Stalin wrote the Soviet ambassador in Pyongyang on 1 July 1950.96 But the 
wager on a victorious conclusion to the war before serious American forces 
could reach the peninsula failed. After capturing almost all of South Korea 
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by September, the North Koreans were not able to fully expel its govern-
ment. The Americans launched a powerful counterstrike. Under the UN 
flag, coalition forces advanced rapidly and by the end of October had cap-
tured most of North Korea and taken Pyongyang. The time had come for 
the Soviet side to play its final card: the Chinese “volunteers.”
	 Now began the confusing and still little-studied negotiations between 
Stalin and the Chinese leadership. At one point it appeared they had ended 
in failure. On 13 October Stalin sent the following directive to Kim Il Sung: 
“We feel that continuing resistance is pointless. The Chinese comrades are 
refusing to take part militarily. Under these circumstances you must pre-
pare to evacuate completely to China and/or the USSR. It is of the utmost 
importance to withdraw all troops and military hardware. Draw up a de-
tailed plan of action and follow it rigorously. The potential for fighting the 
enemy in the future must be preserved.”97

	 The Soviet ambassador urgently met with the North Korean leaders and 
read them Stalin’s telegram. As the ambassador reported, “Kim Il Sung 
stated that it was very hard for them [to accept Stalin’s recommendation], 
but since there is such advice they will fulfill it.”98 How serious was Stalin’s 
directive? Was he truly prepared to lose North Korea? Apparently he was. 
If the Chinese refused to send troops, Stalin had no other option since he 
categorically rejected the idea of bringing in Soviet troops. It is also pos-
sible, however, that Stalin believed the decision to evacuate forces might 
lead the Chinese to think twice. The American advance was more threaten-
ing to China than to the USSR. Furthermore, having announced his inten-
tion to withdraw, Stalin continued to try to engage the Chinese. He made 
concessions on the question of arms deliveries and offered more specific 
promises to deploy Soviet air cover. These efforts bore fruit. Mao agreed to 
enter the war. “The old man writes to us that we must step up,” is how he 
described Stalin’s demands to his comrades.99

	 Battered by the Chinese, the South Koreans and their allies withdrew 
from North Korea. In early 1951 they lost Seoul for the second time. Then 
came a counterstrike from the South. It was beginning to look like neither 
side could achieve a decisive victory. The Soviet Union tried to stay in the 
shadows, although Stalin did keep his promise to provide covert air sup-
port for Kim Il Sung’s and Mao Zedong’s forces. The main victims of this 
great-power standoff were the Korean people. Millions of lives were lost, 
and the Koreans were forced to live as a divided nation. Those in the North 
endured one of history’s most brutal dictatorships, a regime that largely 
followed the Stalinist model.



the generalissimo 297

	 The Korean War heightened international tensions and spurred the 
arms race. While the development of military industries had always been 
an unquestioned priority for the Soviet leadership, during the final years of 
Stalin’s life the buildup moved to a new level. In January 1951 a meeting was 
held between the Soviet leadership and top officials from the Eastern bloc. 
Archival documents relating to this meeting remain classified. The only 
reason historians know it even took place is that it is mentioned in various 
memoirs. The most detailed description of what happened there is given 
in the memoirs of Hungarian Communist Party leader Matyas Rakosi. Ac-
cording to his account, the Soviet side was represented by Stalin and sev-
eral members of the Politburo and military. The East European countries 
sent their first party secretaries and defense ministers (only the Polish 
party secretary was absent). Sergei Shtemenko, chief of the General Staff of 
the armed forces of the USSR, gave a speech about the growing threat from 
NATO and the need to counterbalance it with a military buildup by the so-
cialist countries. The Soviet leadership assigned the satellite countries the 
task of greatly increasing the size of their armies within three years and 
creating a military-industrial foundation to support this enhanced military 
might. Shtemenko provided specific numerical targets.
	 Rakosi states that Shtemenko’s numbers provoked debate. He quotes 
the Polish defense minister, Konstantin Rokossovsky, as saying that the 
army the Poles were being asked to assemble by 1953 was already being 
planned but would not be attainable until 1956. Other representatives also 
questioned their countries’ abilities to manage such a rapid buildup. The 
Soviets, however, were adamant. Stalin answered Rokossovsky that the 
timetable set forth by the Poles could remain in place only if Rokossovsky 
could guarantee no new wars before 1956. Absent such a guarantee, it was 
better to adopt Shtemenko’s proposal.100

	 We do not know what plans were on the drawing board for the Soviet 
military or to what extent they were realized. There is nevertheless suffi-
cient evidence to conclude that Stalin was aiming for a serious military 
buildup. According to official figures, the army, which had been reduced to 
2.9 million soldiers by 1949, had reached 5.8 million by 1953.101 Investment 
in the military and naval ministries, as well as production of military arms 
and hardware, grew by 60 percent in 1951 and 40 percent in 1952. As a com-
parison, government investment in the non-military sectors of the Soviet 
economy grew by 6 percent in 1951 and 7 percent in 1952.102

	 Development of nuclear weaponry and delivery systems remained the 
highest-priority and most expensive military program. In addition to the 
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nuclear project, significant resources were dedicated to rocket technology, 
jet-propelled aviation, and an air defense system for Moscow.103 During the 
final months of his life, Stalin showed his determination to outpace his ri-
vals in the arms race. In February 1953 he approved major programs in avi-
ation and naval ship construction. The first provided for the creation of 106 
bomber divisions by the end of 1955, up from 32 as of 1953. In order to outfit 
new divisions, the plan was to build 10,300 planes during 1953–1955 and 
increase the air and naval forces by 290,000 people. The second program 
allocated huge resources to the construction of heavy and medium cruis-
ers before 1959. Soviet military bases were established in the Far Eastern 
regions of Kamchatka and Chukotka, close to the maritime boundary with 
the United States.104

	 Did this buildup mean that Stalin was planning to launch a preemptive 
strike and unleash a new world war? There is no evidence to support this 
line of speculation. It is important to note that the massive arms buildup 
programs were planned to take place over several years. Historians of So-
viet foreign policy also note Stalin’s caution and pragmatism in the inter-
national arena. During the postwar years he behaved toward the West ap-
proximately as he had toward Nazi Germany before the war. He preferred 
behind-the-scenes maneuvering over direct confrontation. This approach 
had been on display in the Korean War. While encouraging its continua-
tion, Stalin had consistently avoided direct conflict with the Americans. He 
had intentionally dragged out the signing of an armistice, seeing the war as 
a way to let others get their hands dirty weakening the United States. In a 
private conversation with the Chinese leader Zhou Enlai a few months be-
fore his death, Stalin frankly and cynically explained: “This war is causing 
the Americans a lot of headaches. The North Koreans have lost nothing, 
except for the casualties they took during this war. . . . You have to have 
self-control, patience. Of course you have to understand the Koreans—
they’ve taken a lot of casualties, but you have to explain to them that this 
is something big. You have to have patience, you have to have great self-
control.”105

	 It took Stalin’s death to free the Koreans from the obligation of taking 
casualties to further another country’s interests. His heirs pursued a pol-
icy of relaxing international tensions and reducing the burden of the arms 
race. By July 1953 a decision was made to conclude a truce in Korea. Stalin’s 
death brought an end to the USSR’s ruinous military buildup, including the 
creation of armadas of bombers. The country could not endure the strains of 
the arms race and demanded the reforms that Stalin had refused to give it.



the generalissimo 299

■	 The Inveterate Conservative
	 Military spending was not the only reason for a ballooning govern-
ment budget during Stalin’s final years. There is copious evidence of the 
vozhd’s passion for large-scale, expensive projects toward the end of his 
life. These projects were often cast by official propaganda as “the Stalin-
ist building of communism.” They included huge hydroelectric power 
plants, canals, and rail lines into the nation’s inaccessible polar reaches. 
To strengthen communication with newly acquired Far Eastern territories, 
a ferry crossing and a 13.6-kilometer underwater tunnel to the island of 
Sakhalin were planned, along with a rail line connecting the tunnel with 
the country’s train network. As was usually the case with Stalinism, behind 
the appealing propagandistic façade lurked an unsavory reality: commu-
nism was largely being built on the backs of prisoners.106

	 Exorbitant spending on infrastructure once again plunged the Soviet 
economy into financial crisis. The chaotic proliferation of projects led to 
losses on uncompleted construction, which later had to be finished at 
far greater cost than initially projected. In 1951 and 1952 this extravagance 
reached its limit. Construction projects fell behind schedule and the launch 
of new ones was delayed. The picture was completed by stagnation in agri-
culture and consumer spending—the sectors that funded heavy industry. 
Undaunted, Stalin devised a plan for a new surge of capital investment in 
1953.107 At the end of his life he stubbornly repeated the mistakes of the First 
Five-Year Plan’s forced industrialization.
	 As far as can be determined from available documents, this unfolding 
crisis was not seriously discussed at the upper echelons of power. Until the 
very end Stalin demanded the expansion of heavy industry and military 
buildup at any cost. As in the past, he agreed to limited concessions and 
policy adjustments only when problems grew so severe that his hand was 
forced. Clearly unwilling to acknowledge the systemic crisis, he reluctantly 
addressed only its most obvious manifestations.
	 As often happened, the first signs of approaching calamity came from 
the most disadvantaged sector of the Soviet economy: agriculture. The So-
viet countryside bore the brunt of unbalanced economic policies and of 
the new obligations and taxes that supported growing government expen-
ditures. Under the inefficient kolkhoz system, agriculture was stagnant and 
incapable of feeding the country. The livestock situation was particularly 
bad. Even official Soviet statistics showed that there were no more head 
of cattle in the country in early 1953 than there had been in 1939, and that 
number was one-third less what it had been in 1928. The number of pigs in 
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1953 was the same as in 1928.108 The numerous complaints sent to Moscow 
from across the country painted a desperate picture. Some of these cries for 
help reached Stalin.
	 Among the letters received in October and November 1952 and selected 
to be shown to Stalin were a few complaints from various parts of the USSR 
about the hardships suffered on collective farms.109 A veterinarian from the 
Orekhovo-Zuevo District of Moscow Oblast, N. I. Kholodov, called for in-
centives for work by kolkhozniks, who were essentially forced to labor for 
no pay. Kholodov wrote:

According to our press, we have tremendous achievements in agricul-
ture. . . . Let us take a look at how matters stand in reality. The rye was 
poorly harvested, poorly because there is colossal waste in the harvest-
ing process. . . . The potatoes have been harvested somehow, but what 
kind of a harvest is this? They were dug up by workers mobilized from 
plants and factories who were drawing 50% of their salaries for this pe-
riod, and they do not try to gather all the potatoes because they do not 
have an interest in this; they try to finish up as quickly as possible and 
gather only what is on top. . . .
	 Now let us look at animal husbandry. Even talking about it is embar-
rassing: annual yield of milk from year to year does not exceed 1,200–
1,400 liters per forage-fed cow. This is ridiculous—it’s what you get from 
your average goat.110

	 Alongside these tales of dysfunction in the countryside, Stalin’s mail 
in late 1952 contained eloquent accounts of empty store shelves in cities. 
In early November the vozhd took notice of a letter from V. F. Deikina, the 
party secretary for a railway station in Riazan Oblast. She wrote:

It is now October, and here we have to wait in line for black bread, and 
sometimes you can’t get any at all, and workers are saying so many un-
pleasant words and they don’t believe what’s written [in newspapers] 
and say that we’re being deceived. . . . I’ll stick to the facts since there’s 
not enough paper to describe it all and send it in a letter.

	 1.	 You have to stand in line for black bread.
	 2.	 You can’t get white bread at all.
	 3.	 There’s neither butter nor vegetable oil.
	 4.	 There’s no meat in the stores.
	 5.	 There’s no sausage.
	6.	 There are no groats of any kind.
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	 7.	 There’s no macaroni or other flour products.
	 8.	 There’s no sugar.
	 9.	 There are no potatoes in the stores.
	10.	 There is no milk or other dairy products.
	11.	 There is no form of animal fat (lard, etc.). . . .

I’m not a slanderer and I’m not being spiteful; I’m writing the bitter truth, 
but that’s the way it is. . . . The local leadership gets everything illegally, 
under the table, so to speak; their underlings deliver everything to their 
apartments. For them the people can do as they please; that’s not their 
concern. . . . I am asking for a commission to be sent to bring the guilty to 
justice, to teach the right people how to plan for needs. Otherwise, those 
with full bellies don’t believe the hungry.111

	 Despite its critical tone, this letter was entirely politically “correct.” 
Deikina was trying to combat the deficiencies and abuses of local officials 
who did not know how to properly “plan for needs.” The letter did not delve 
into the causes of the lack of food in the country. This was the sort of letter 
Stalin could like. Averky Aristov, recently appointed as the Central Com-
mittee secretary in charge of local party organizations, was sent to investi- 
gate. On 17 November 1952 Stalin held a meeting of Central Committee sec-
retaries in his office. As Aristov recounted several years later, Stalin asked 
him to deliver his findings. Aristov reported that for a long time there had 
been shortages of bread, cooking oil, and other food items in Riazan Oblast. 
Stalin grew furious and ordered that the oblast party secretary be removed 
from his post. Aristov and others present tried to intercede on behalf of the 
officials from Riazan. Things were no different, they explained, in many 
other regions, including Ukraine, the country’s “bread basket.”112

	 Following the meeting, Riazan Oblast was allocated food from govern-
ment supplies. Such measures, of course, did not solve the problem. The 
country’s leadership was again faced with the task of salvaging the agri-
cultural sector. Under the pressure of circumstances, Stalin agreed to re-
view proposals to raise the price paid by the state for livestock produced 
by kolkhozes. At stake was the fundamental question of whether peasants 
deserved to be compensated for their labor. The exceptionally low “pur-
chase price” paid to kolkhozniks barely masked the fact that everything 
they produced for the state was basically being confiscated. Growing food 
was tremendously unprofitable, and those who grew it had no incentive to 
produce more.
	 In December 1952 a commission headed by Nikita Khrushchev was 
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established to draft a resolution raising livestock purchase prices.113 After 
working for several weeks, the commission wound up provoking Stalin’s 
displeasure. The vozhd was highly suspicious of attempts to change the ex-
isting system for pumping resources out of the countryside. To the dismay 
of his comrades, who had agreed on an increase in livestock prices, Stalin 
proposed significantly increasing taxes on the peasantry. Anastas Mikoyan 
later recalled Stalin’s reasoning: “What is a peasant? He’ll turn over his 
extra hen and that’s an end to it.”114 Khrushchev and his politically seasoned 
colleagues on the commission chose the safest course of action. They bided 
their time. The Soviet leaders would shield themselves from Stalin’s anger 
while they waited for his death. When it finally came, the overdue agricul-
tural reforms were put in place immediately and on a larger scale than ini-
tially planned. Stalin’s heirs raised procurement prices and lowered taxes 
on peasants. Although the deep-rooted flaws in the kolkhoz system were 
preserved, these measures had a positive effect. For the first time in many 
decades the peasants were given relief, and some improvement in agricul-
tural production was achieved.
	 Reducing the financial burden on the countryside inevitably came with 
a reduction in extravagant spending on major infrastructure projects. Just 
a few days after Stalin’s death, on 10 March 1953, the chairman of Gosplan 
presented the new head of the Soviet government, Georgy Malenkov, a re-
port on major construction projects that were “behind schedule for com-
pletion.”115 The report stated that it was being presented at Malenkov’s re-
quest. Members of the top leadership were apparently losing no time in 
implementing the changes they had been constrained from making while 
the vozhd was alive. They quickly halted many of Stalin’s ambitious proj-
ects, including the construction of canals, hydroelectrical systems, and 
rail lines through difficult terrain. Investment in the military was also re-
duced.116 The funds thus freed up could now be put toward dealing with 
the severe crises in agriculture and social welfare. The Stalinist industrial-
ization system, enabled by the population’s low living standard and by the 
exploitation of the countryside as if it were an internal colony, could now 
be gradually dismantled.
	 These decisions were adopted and realized with unprecedented speed in 
the months following Stalin’s death. The new leaders’ decisiveness clearly 
shows that it was specifically Stalin who was the main obstacle to transfor-
mation for long years. Until the very end, the dictator’s personal political and 
economic modus operandi remained extraordinarily conservative and pro-
tective. His death opened the door to innovations that were long overdue.
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■	 The Death Throes of the Dictatorship
	 At the end of his life, Stalin was at the pinnacle of his power. His 
authority was unassailable and not under threat from any source. But he 
did not feel that way. Like other dictators, he never stopped fighting for 
power and never quite trusted his subjects. The methods he used in his 
never-ending battle for power were universal and simple. They included the 
elimination of any potential threat from within his inner circle, unrelenting 
oversight of the secret police, the encouragement of competition and mutual 
control among the various components of government, and the mobilization 
of society against perceived enemies both internal and external.
	 After destroying the Leningraders, Stalin began adjusting the balance 
of power within the Politburo, creating counterweights to the growing in-
fluence of Malenkov and Beria. In 1949 he brought Ukrainian party chief 
Khrushchev to Moscow and made him a Central Committee secretary and 
head of Moscow’s party organization. Soon afterward he began to actively 
promote Bulganin, who had faithfully served him as defense minister. In 
April 1950, on Stalin’s suggestion, Bulganin was appointed first deputy 
chairman of the Council of Ministers. For a while this promotion gave Bul-
ganin privileged access to the vozhd. Soon, however, Stalin became disen-
chanted with his protégé and stripped him of his authority. This happened 
without particular acrimony. Bulganin remained a member of the top lead-
ership. A period of relative equilibrium among key Politburo members set 
in, but it was just the calm before the storm.
	 An important factor in Stalin’s last battle for power was his declining 
health. Lightening his workload by relinquishing certain duties or gradu-
ally handing over power to subordinates was out of the question. Instead, 
the weakening vozhd consolidated his dictatorship with enviable energy, 
compensating for reduced vigor with combativeness. Fierce blows were 
leveled against the most vulnerable points in the hierarchy of power. The 
first involved yet another wave of arrests at the Ministry of State Security, 
over which Stalin never ceased to keep tight control. In July 1951, based on 
the usual assortment of trumped-up charges and incriminating denuncia-
tions, Stalin ordered the arrest of state security minister Viktor Abakumov, 
who quite recently had been a favorite. The party functionary Semen Ig-
natiev was appointed in his place. Abakumov’s arrest predictably opened 
the door to a large-scale purge of the ministry.
	 Having terrified the chekists, Stalin left for a vacation of more than four 
months. While in the south, he continued to keep a close eye on state se-
curity. The inventory of materials sent to Stalin between 11 August and 21 
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December 1951 includes more than 160 Ministry of State Security memo-
randa and reports. He also received an indeterminable number of coded 
telegrams from the ministry, as well as Politburo and Council of Ministers 
resolutions having to do with state security.117 In October Stalin summoned 
Ignatiev to the south and ordered him to “kick all the Jews out” of the min-
istry. When Ignatiev naively asked, “Where to?” Stalin explained to the in-
experienced minister: “I’m not saying you should throw them out onto the 
street. Lock them up and let them stay in prison.”118 Ignatiev turned out to 
be a quick learner. Mortally terrified, he obediently launched a series of 
arrests and fabricated cases having to do with a “Zionist plot” within his 
ministry. For Stalin, extending his campaign of state anti-Semitism to state 
security was a perfectly logical step. Jews, members of a suspect nation and 
potential henchmen of world imperialism, could not be allowed to work in 
the regime’s most sacred realm. The next targets were just as logical. Im-
mediately after state security, Stalin initiated purges against highly placed 
functionaries in several branches of the party-state apparat.
	 The next round of repression was also orchestrated from his dacha in the 
south. In September 1951 he received a visit from Georgia’s minister for state 
security, Nikolai Rukhadze. As Rukhadze testified under interrogation after 
his arrest, Stalin made some general comments at the dinner table about 
the dominance of Mingrelians (Megrels) in Georgia; he noted that Beria 
was a Mingrelian and was giving patronage to this group.119 This comment 
was the first hint at the target of the next campaign: Georgian officials and 
their patron. Soon after Rukhadze’s visit, the head of Stalin’s security team, 
Nikolai Vlasik, reported to the vozhd that people were complaining about 
having to pay bribes to enter Georgian colleges and universities. That this 
information fit perfectly with Stalin’s new focus is hardly surprising. Vlasik, 
who had spent a good portion of his life by Stalin’s side, had developed a 
keen sense of his moods and a talent for telling him what he wanted to hear. 
He could tell that Stalin was thirsting for blood and sought out the compro-
mising materials that would help satisfy his boss’s craving. Rukhadze was 
assigned to look into Vlasik’s allegations.
	 On 29 October 1951, Rukhadze reported to Stalin that the bribery charges 
mostly could not be confirmed.120 This made no difference. Stalin had de-
cided on a purge in Georgia, and it was only a matter of time before he in-
vented a pretext for it. On 3 November he telephoned Rukhadze and asked 
him for information about patronage by Georgia’s second party secretary, 
Mikhail Baramiia, the former procurator of the city of Sukhumi, who had 
been accused of taking bribes. Rukhadze did as he was told, preparing a 



the generalissimo 305

document suggesting that Baramiia had protected Mingrelian officials 
guilty of crimes.121 The case was handled expeditiously. With Stalin’s active 
involvement, sweeping repression was unleashed in Georgia. Many of the 
republic’s leaders, including Baramiia, were arrested. More than eleven 
thousand people were deported to remote areas of the Soviet Union.122

	 The Mingrelian and Leningrad Affairs largely followed the same tem-
plate. Both started with accusations of abuse of power and political protec-
tionism (shefstvo), quickly followed by the arrest and torture of disgraced 
officials, leading to fabricated evidence of “anti-Soviet” and “espionage” or-
ganizations. As in Leningrad, here too Stalin targeted a specific clan of So-
viet officials with ties to influential members of the country’s leadership—
in this case Beria.123 Whether to make a mockery of him or simply teach him 
a lesson in humility, Stalin assigned Beria to hold a plenum of Georgia’s 
Central Committee in 1952, at which he was forced to expose his former 
clients and feign shock and anger at their behavior. Undoubtedly Beria saw 
the purge in Georgia as a personal threat. Immediately after Stalin’s death 
he managed to put a stop to the Mingrelian Affair and had its targets freed 
and returned to senior positions.124

	 Beria weathered the storm. Like many before him, however, he emerged 
with a renewed sense of the fragility of his political and physical existence. 
Stalin apparently had his sights on more important targets. The first shot 
was fired after the Nineteenth Party Congress, which convened in October 
1952 after a thirteen-year break. Instead of giving the keynote speech, Stalin 
limited his appearance at the congress to a brief closing statement. It was 
as if he was saving his diminishing strength for the main event: the plenum 
of the newly elected Central Committee, which immediately followed the 
congress. The plenum would determine the makeup of the party’s top gov-
erning bodies, most important the Politburo. The election was expected to 
be a mere formality. Members of the Central Committee usually voted for 
the candidates proposed from on high without wasting their breath on dis-
cussion. But in this case Stalin caught everyone by surprise and introduced 
some surprising changes.
	 His main innovation was the abolition of the Politburo and the creation 
of two new bodies. The first, which formally replaced the Politburo, was 
called the Presidium of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of 
the Soviet Union.125 Whereas the Politburo had included nine members 
with full voting rights and two candidate members, the new Presidium was 
much larger, comprising twenty-five full members and eleven candidate 
members. The expansion would add younger and relatively unknown party 



the generalissimo306

leaders, giving Stalin an even freer hand in regard to his older comrades. 
The political essence of the reorganization was summed up, probably cor-
rectly, by Anastas Mikoyan: “Since the makeup of the Presidium was so 
broad, if needed, the disappearance of Presidium members out of favor 
with Stalin would not be so noticeable. If between congresses five or six 
people disappeared out of twenty-five, that would look like an insignificant 
change. If, on the other hand, five or six people out of nine Politburo mem-
bers disappeared, that would be more noticeable.”126

	 This was exactly the sort of apprehension Stalin needed to keep the will of 
the old guard and potential heirs in check. Not satisfied with the threat im-
plicit in the expanded Central Committee Presidium, Stalin continued his 
psychological warfare. His next proposal—the creation of a nine-member 
bureau to serve as the Presidium leadership—was just as unexpected. In 
principle, the Presidium Bureau made sense. The unwieldy Presidium 
would hardly be capable of efficient decision making. But Stalin, as he had 
often done, could of course create a narrow leadership group without for-
mal approval by the Central Committee plenum. The true purpose of this 
toying with democracy became immediately clear once he disclosed his 
proposed candidates for the bureau. It turned out that he did not feel it 
was possible for him to nominate two of his oldest associates—Molotov 
and Mikoyan—for membership. To add insult to injury, he topped off this 
announcement by giving the two a public tongue-lashing.
	 These two men—Molotov in particular—were seen within the party and 
among the people as the vozhd’s natural heirs. This perception is specifi-
cally why Stalin chose to publicly discredit them by making it known that 
he did not consider them worthy leaders of the party and the country. Just 
what charges he brought against Molotov and Mikoyan we do not know, as 
there is no verbatim transcript of the plenum. Judging by the contradictory 
recollections of those who took part, Stalin concocted an amalgam of po-
litical smears, bending facts and quasi-facts to his purpose. He brought up 
Molotov’s supposed concessions to foreign correspondents and his mis-
takes at the 1945 foreign ministers’ conference and claimed that Molotov, 
with Mikoyan’s support, had proposed raising the procurement prices for 
grain in order to incentivize work by the peasants. These misdeeds were 
painted with the brush of “rightist opportunism.” Stalin may even have 
mentioned Molotov’s wife and his pro-Jewish sympathies.127 In the end,  
the content of the criticism mattered little. The main point was obvious: no-
body was worthy of succeeding Stalin. The only hope was that he would live 
on for many years. Molotov and Mikoyan came to the podium to express 
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their devotion to Stalin. This too only underscored his greatness. Stalin’s 
manner signaled to the gathering that Molotov’s and Mikoyan’s justifica-
tions were not worth listening to. Before Mikoyan could finish what he was 
saying, according to one eyewitness, Stalin gave a dismissive wave of the 
hand. “The hall immediately began to react very emotionally, and people 
started to yell: ‘Enough of your self-justification!’ . . . ‘Stop trying to fool  
the Central Committee!’ Mikoyan wanted to say something else, but the hall 
interrupted him and he sat back down.”128 This demonstration of devotion to 
the vozhd and disdain for apostates brought the plenum to a fitting end.
	 Despite being anathematized, Molotov and Mikoyan formally held onto 
most of their official powers—and, most important, their lives—but nei-
ther they nor any other member of Stalin’s inner circle could feel truly safe. 
There was also alarming news coming from the country’s socialist neigh-
bors. In November 1952, shortly after the conclusion of the Nineteenth 
Party Congress, the Czechoslovak party leader Rudolf Slansky was put on 
trial along with other senior party officials. The defendants were found 
guilty and executed. Recent research has shown that Stalin exercised close 
personal control over the Slansky trial.129 Slansky was a Jew, and his trial 
served as a prelude to Stalin’s next act of intimidation: the Doctors’ Plot.
	 The affair that has come to be known as the Doctors’ Plot, to which Stalin 
devoted a significant portion of his final months, unfolded within a general 
campaign of state anti-Semitism. The foundation of the case was informa-
tion “dug up” by state security about murderous doctors, mostly Jewish, 
working in government health care facilities serving the Soviet leadership. 
Accusations against “wrecker doctors” who supposedly killed or plotted to 
kill Soviet leaders was a leitmotif of the political trials of the 1930s. Toward 
the end of his life Stalin returned to this theme, possibly because of anxi-
ety about his own mortality or perhaps because he saw in the fabrication of 
a case against Kremlin doctors a way of putting pressure on their patients. 
Over many months, Stalin obsessively presided over the fabrication of evi-
dence against Jewish doctors and their supposed patrons within the Ministry 
of State Security. His eagerness to lash out at this group led him to spew foul 
threats at Ignatiev, calling state security agents obese “hippopotamuses” and 
promising to drive them “like sheep” and “give it to them in the mug.”130

	 During October and November 1952, when the curtain had closed on the 
first act of the drama taking place at the upper reaches of government, Sta-
lin approved the arrest of a number of doctors, including Petr Yegorov, head 
of the body that oversaw Kremlin health services; Vladimir Vinogradov, 
Stalin’s personal physician; and two professors, Miron Vovsi and Vladimir 
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Vasilenko. Stalin met with the heads of state security and instructed them 
to use torture on the arrestees.131 On 15 November 1952, Ignatiev reported to 
him that these instructions had been carried out: “Means of physical coer-
cion were used on Yegorov, Vinogradov, and Vasilenko and interrogation 
was intensified, especially in regard to foreign intelligence. . . . Two workers 
capable of carrying out special assignments (using physical punishment) 
in regard to particularly important and particularly dangerous criminals 
were selected and already used in this case.”132

	 Stalin soon put the “confessions” extracted through these brutal tech-
niques to use. On 1 December 1952, during a meeting of the Central Com-
mittee Presidium, questions tied to “wrecking within the field of medicine” 
and “information on the state of the USSR Ministry of State Security” were 
placed before the gathering. In keeping with his initial idea of collusion be-
tween “wrecker doctors” and state security “conspirators,” the main targets 
of Stalin’s attack were “Jewish nationalists” and chekists. At a subsequent 
Central Committee Presidium meeting on 4 December, a resolution titled 
“On the Situation in the Ministry of State Security” was adopted, calling 
for “active offensive actions” in intelligence work and intensified party 
control over the ministry. It defended the use of extreme methods in the 
fight against “enemies” with the idea that “Many chekists hide behind . . . 
rotten and harmful reasoning that the use of diversion and terror against 
class enemies is supposedly incompatible with Marxism-Leninism. These 
good-for-nothing chekists have descended from positions of revolutionary 
Marxism-Leninism to positions of bourgeois liberalism and pacifism.”133 
Stalin summed up this position more succinctly in a closed-door meet-
ing: “Communists who take a dim view of intelligence and the work of the 
cheka, who are afraid of getting their hands dirty, should be thrown down a 
well head first.”134

	 At some point Stalin decided that the Doctors’ Plot should be turned 
into a major campaign. In early January and with his active involvement, 
two press items were prepared: a TASS report about the arrest of a group 
of “wrecker doctors” and a lead article for Pravda on the same subject. The 
public was told of the discovery of “a terrorist group made up of doctors 
whose goal, using wrecking treatments, was to shorten the lives of the So-
viet Union’s prominent figures.” These alleged crimes were being commit-
ted on orders from an international Jewish bourgeois-nationalist organi-
zation and U.S. and British intelligence services.135 The Soviet people were 
urged to exercise vigilance toward enemies receiving support from the im-
perialist world.
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	 The publication of these items, on 13 January 1953, launched a large-
scale ideological campaign designed to inflame anti-Semitism and bring 
“vigilance” to a fevered pitch. There were widespread rumors of possible 
pogroms and the internal resettlement of Soviet Jews. In the decades that 
followed, these rumors evolved into assumptions that Stalin might have 
been planning show trials against the doctors and the removal of Jews from 
the European USSR to the Far East, as had been done to Caucasian peo-
ples during the war. Recently opened archives, despite thorough searches, 
have revealed no direct or indirect evidence to support either assumption. 
Given that either show trials or a roundup of an entire ethnic group would 
have required tremendous logistical effort, the absence of any trace of evi-
dence is persuasive.136

	 And even the maniacal Stalin, who by now was truly ill, saw no need 
for a resettlement program or large-scale arrests. The Doctors’ Plot cam-
paign was entirely sufficient to his purpose. Remaining within the realm 
of ideas rather than actions, it manipulated the public mood and fostered 
a psychology of war-readiness in the absence of any looming war, thereby 
distracting people from their daily hardships. The arrests of prominent 
doctors also forced Stalin’s comrades to live in a state of anxiety as they 
tried to guess what testimony would be beaten out of their physicians in the 
bowels of the Lubyanka. Like other similar acts of demonstrative violence, 
the Doctors’ Plot had a foreign-policy aspect. Some historians believe that 
Stalin viewed this new campaign of anti-Semitism as a means of putting 
pressure on his Western opponents, the United States in particular. He was 
using the implicit threat of anti-Semitic pogroms to extract concessions 
from Western leaders, who knew no other way to influence him.137

	 Historians can debate whether calculation or mania played the greater 
role in Stalin’s final campaigns. In either case, his actions attest to a relent-
less striving to hold onto power until he reached the ultimate impediment: 
death. The final leg of the journey toward this impediment began on Sat-
urday evening, 28 February 1953, when he invited his four currently closest 
comrades—Malenkov, Beria, Khrushchev, and Bulganin—to his dacha for 
the last dinner gathering of his life. The following day his bodyguards found 
him paralyzed, and the agonizing over whether or not to summon mem-
bers of the highly suspect medical profession began.
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The Dictatorship Collapses

A conference in the Kremlin, 2–5 March 1953, and the death of Stalin.
The arrival of the doctors on the morning of 2 March 1953 fundamentally 
changed the situation. The very fact that they had been summoned to Sta-
lin’s dacha meant that the seriousness of his condition was officially recog-
nized. The doctors confirmed the worst: a stroke had brought the vozhd to 
death’s door. For the first time in many decades, and completely unexpect-
edly, the USSR was faced with a transfer of power at the highest level.
	 Like Lenin, Stalin had not anointed a successor or created a legal 
mechanism for the orderly transfer of power. Instead he did everything 
he could to hinder the emergence of a successor and to instill a sense of 
political unworthiness in his associates. By concentrating high-level deci-
sion making in his own hands, he ensured that the other members of the 
Politburo were poorly informed and had little authority even over those 
areas for which they were immediately responsible. Driven by a thirst for 
power, political self-centeredness, and senile emotional instability, the 
Soviet dictator seemed to display an “Après moi le déluge” attitude toward 
the post-Stalinist future.
	 Thus one can only marvel at the ease with which Stalin’s heirs got 
through the critical period of the interregnum. There were a number of 
reasons why they could do so. One was that even during Stalin’s lifetime 
his comrades had developed a certain independence and the ability 
to work with one another. Each oversaw a particular component of the 
party-state apparat. It was not unusual for them to meet without Stalin 
to work on specific practical matters of government. One set of admin-
istrative entities that met quite regularly were the various executive and 
administrative bodies that came under the Council of Ministers. Officially, 
Stalin headed these bodies, but he never took part in their day-to-day 
work. Furthermore, during his lengthy southern vacations the Politburo 
grew accustomed to deliberating without him. Also, the members of the 
leadership were united by their common terror of the dictator. Although 
there was competition to get closer to him, Stalin’s comrades were careful 
not to provoke his fury, and they worked to maintain equilibrium within 
the leadership group. The Leningrad Affair had shown that no one was 
safe. There was an elaborate interplay among the instinct for self-preser-
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vation, institutional interests, and the need to fend off threats against the 
system. Dealing as they did with the day-to-day challenge of keeping the 
country afloat, Stalin’s colleagues were keenly aware of the urgent need 
for change to which he seemed willfully blind. This awareness led to an 
informal effort to conceive solutions, whose realization was blocked only 
by Stalin. Gradually and inexorably, under the shadow of dictatorship, the 
oligarchic system took embryonic form. It was only a matter of days from 
the first news of Stalin’s fatal illness that the oligarchy emerged as a force.
	 At 10:40 on the morning of 2 March, an official meeting of the Central 
Committee Presidium Bureau was convened. It was the first time in many 
years that a meeting took place in Stalin’s Kremlin office without him. In 
addition to all the members of the Bureau (except for Stalin), the attend-
ees were Molotov, Mikoyan, Nikolai Shvernik (the chairman of the Su-
preme Soviet), Matvei Shkiriatov (chairman of the Party Control Commis-
sion), I. I. Kuperin (head of the Kremlin’s health administration), and the 
neuropathologist R. A. Tkachev. For twenty minutes the group considered 
one matter: “The finding of the council of physicians concerning the cer-
ebral hemorrhage of Comrade I. V. Stalin that took place on 2 March and 
the resulting severe state of his health.”1 The Bureau approved the doctors’ 
diagnosis and established a schedule for members of the leadership to 
keep watch by the vozhd’s bedside. The presence of Molotov and Mikoyan, 
despite their being out of favor with Stalin and formally expelled from the 
Bureau, is of central importance. Their inclusion was an act of defiance 
against the vozhd and an effort to restore the old collective leadership, as 
well as a natural and sensible step aimed at maintaining unity in a time of 
crisis. The Soviet leaders, certain that Stalin would not recover, were un-
dertaking to change the system of supreme power that he had established.
	 At 8:25 that evening, the same assemblage of newly fledged oligarchs 
again convened in Stalin’s office to consider an official medical update: “On 
the state of health of Comrade I. V. Stalin as of the evening of 2 March.”2 With 
every passing hour it became clearer: Stalin had not long to live. The doctor 
Aleksandr Miasnikov later recalled: “On the morning of the third the council 
of physicians had to submit an answer to Malenkov’s question about the 
prognosis. The only answer we could give was a negative one: death was 
inevitable. Malenkov gave us to understand that he expected such a finding, 
but then stated that he hoped that medical measures could extend his life 
for a sufficient time, even if they could not save it. We understood that he 
was referring to the need to allow time to organize a new government and, 
at the same time, prepare public opinion.”3
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	 Records indicate that on the morning of 3 March the Soviet lead- 
ers were already assuming that Stalin would not recover and planning 
accordingly. At noon another meeting was held, this time without  
any doctors, at which a resolution was adopted to report Stalin’s illness 
in the press and to convene a Central Committee plenum.4 The decision 
to convene a plenum signaled preparations to transfer power, even while 
the exact configuration of the new leadership remained an open question. 
Malenkov and Beria took upon themselves the task of formulating specific 
proposals. They had plenty of time to do so. The members of the Presid-
ium kept vigil at Stalin’s dacha, two at a time. Malenkov and Beria were 
teamed for this duty, as were Khrushchev and Bulganin. The shifts lasted 
many hours, and there was time for far-ranging discussion.
	 The fourth of March marked a turning point. That day’s newspapers 
contained the first official announcement of Stalin’s illness. With no hope 
for a recovery, the only option was to accustom the country and world 
to the news. The same day, Beria and Malenkov prepared proposals for 
reorganizing the upper echelons of power that were later discussed by the 
leadership group, including Molotov and Mikoyan. The 4 March docu-
ment containing these proposals was confiscated from the safe of Malen-
kov’s assistant in 1956.5 For now we do not know what the initial draft 
contained, but we do know that it outlined the main decisions that were 
officially adopted the following day.6

	 Stalin’s heirs completely dismantled the governmental structure he  
had put together during his final months of life. The expanded Central 
Committee Presidium created on Stalin’s orders in October 1952 was 
abolished with the stroke of a pen. The Central Committee’s Presidium 
Bureau was proclaimed to have a new membership: Molotov and Mikoyan 
were added, and the young protégés whom Stalin had made part of the 
expanded Presidium were expelled from its ranks. In essence this upset 
meant a return, under a new name, to the collective leadership that had 
once existed as the Politburo. Stalin’s title of chairman of the Council of 
Ministers was given to Malenkov. This title did not mean, however, that 
Malenkov was recognized as Stalin’s heir or that he possessed Stalin’s 
powers. The new system was designed to include numerous counter-
poises that would protect against the appearance of a new tyrant. Malen-
kov, unlike Stalin, did not simultaneously hold the post of Central Com-
mittee secretary; that post was given to Khrushchev. The men designated 
as Malenkov’s first deputies—Beria, Molotov, Bulganin, and Kaganovich 
—were in no way his juniors within the nomenklatura system. This re-
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shuffling created a balance and satisfied the interests of all the members 
of the top leadership. Later, none of the participants in the reorganization 
recalled any controversy or rancor.
	 This new arrangement was formally approved by the oligarchs at a joint 
meeting of the Central Committee plenum, the Council of Ministers, and 
the Supreme Soviet Presidium on 5 March 1953. Soviet dignitaries gath-
ered in a hall of the Grand Kremlin Palace. One participant, the writer 
Konstantin Simonov, left the following description of the ceremony’s 
atmosphere:

I arrived long before the appointed time, about forty minutes early, 
but more than half of the participants had already gathered in the 
hall, and ten minutes later everyone was there. Maybe two or three 
people arrived less than a half hour before the start. There were several 
hundred people there, almost all acquainted with one another . . . 
sitting in total silence and waiting for the start. We were sitting side by 
side, shoulder to shoulder; we saw one another, but nobody said a word 
to anyone else. . . . Until the very start it was so quiet in the hall that if I 
had not sat in that silence for forty minutes myself, I would never have 
believed that three hundred people sitting so tightly packed could keep 
quiet like that.7

	 Finally the members of the presidium that was about to be voted into 
existence appeared. The entire event lasted forty minutes, from 8:00 to 
8:40 p.m. The resolutions that the top leadership had already agreed on 
were, as usual, obediently approved. The Stalin factor was dealt with 
simply and elegantly. He was deprived of the top posts of chairman of the 
government and secretary of the Central Committee and then formally 
included in the Central Committee Presidium. From now on, whatever his 
physical fate, Stalin’s political future and his comrades’ liberation from his 
tyrannical powers were faits accomplis. As Simonov remarked, “There was 
a sense that right there, in the Presidium, people were freed from some-
thing that had been weighing them down, that had bound them.”8

	 Stalin endured this formal deprivation of power for only one hour. At 
9:50 p.m. he died. His death was agonizing, as if in confirmation of the folk 
wisdom that only the righteous are granted an easy death. His daughter 
Svetlana, who spent her father’s final days by his side, recalled:

The death agony was horrible. He literally choked to death as we 
watched. At what seemed like the very last moment he suddenly 



the dictat orship coll apses314

opened his eyes and cast a glance over everyone in the room. It was a 
terrible glance, insane or perhaps angry and full of the fear of death  
and the unfamiliar faces of the doctors bent over him. The glance  
swept over everyone in a second. Then something incomprehensible 
and awesome happened that to this day I can’t forget and don’t  
understand. He suddenly lifted his left hand as though he were pointing  
to something above and bringing down a curse on us all. The gesture 
was incomprehensible and full of menace, and no one could say to 
whom or at what it might be directed. The next moment, after a final 
effort, the spirit wrenched itself free of the flesh.9

	 Stalin’s comrades did not linger at his bedside. A half-hour later, at 
10:25 p.m., they were already back in his Kremlin office, several kilometers 
away.10 All the main matters of state had been resolved. What remained 
were the funeral arrangements. The new leaders created a commission to 
handle these arrangements and appointed Khrushchev to head it. They 
also adopted a decision to place the sarcophagus with Stalin’s embalmed 
body in Lenin’s mausoleum. State security and the propaganda apparat 
were given their orders. The editor-in-chief of Pravda, Dmitry Shepilov, 
spent ten minutes at this meeting. One deeply symbolic detail impressed 
him the most: “The chair Stalin had occupied as chairman for thirty years 
was empty; nobody sat in it.”11

	 For a while, the Soviet leaders were genuinely equal and united in their 
determination to prevent the emergence of another tyrant. After what they 
had endured under Stalin, they were ready to do away with the system of 
terror, even if that entailed some undesirable political consequences. By 
3 April 1953, after the appropriate preparations, the Central Committee 
Presidium resolved to “fully rehabilitate and release from custody the 
doctors and members of their families arrested in association with the 
so-called Case of the Wrecker-Doctors.” Thirty-seven people were freed. 
The state security officers who “particularly applied themselves in the 
fabrication of this provocational case” were to be brought to justice.12 The 
next day this resolution was announced in the newspapers, occasioning a 
variety of responses and a certain consternation among the vozhd’s most 
ardent supporters. Other political cases in which the collective leadership 
had a personal interest were quietly subjected to a quick review. Molotov’s 
wife was released from prison. Kaganovich’s brother, who had taken his 
own life on the eve of the war after charges of wrecking, was pronounced 
innocent. The Mingrelian Affair, which had cast a shadow on Beria’s 
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reputation, was also reviewed. Many other prominent victims of political 
repression were set free or posthumously rehabilitated. After taking care 
of their own, Stalin’s heirs began to grant relative freedom to the rest of 
the country. They were driven in this direction not only by conscience, but 
also by the growing crisis that had already been apparent under Stalin. 
The death of the man who had been unwilling to entertain any talk of 
change opened the door to reforms to be implemented with amazing 
speed and decisiveness.
	 Two pillars of the dictatorship—state security and the Gulag—were 
significantly reformed. One symbol of this reform was a Ministry of In-
ternal Affairs order, dated 4 April 1953, banning the use of torture against 
arrestees. The order recognized the problem of “arrests of innocent Soviet 
citizens” and “the widespread use of various means of torture: the brutal 
beating of arrestees; the round-the-clock use of handcuffs behind the 
back, in isolated cases for several months; long-term sleep deprivation; 
and locking up unclothed arrestees in cold punishment cells, etc.” Threat-
ening harsh punishment of anyone who violated the order, the ministry’s 
leadership demanded that torture chambers be closed in prisons and that 
the implements of torture be destroyed.13 When the order was read out 
loud to all state security operatives, it must have made quite an impres-
sion. These reforms continued into the spring and summer of 1953, bring-
ing major changes to the camp system. A mass amnesty announced for 
those convicted of non-political crimes cut the inmate population in half. 
Many factories and construction projects that were still using a prisoner 
work force and being overseen by the ministry were shut down or trans-
ferred to the economic ministries.14 A large-scale effort to rehabilitate the 
victims of Stalinist terror lay in the near future.
	 Significant changes to economic policy were made within weeks. 
Unwieldy construction projects were scaled down, and the rush to “build 
communism” and expand Soviet military capabilities that was putting 
such a strain on the economy was brought to a halt. The resources thus 
freed up were directed toward alleviating the crisis in agriculture and 
meeting the needs of ordinary citizens. The prices paid for agricultural 
products were raised, and the tax burden on peasants was reduced. A 
marked improvement in output, especially in the area of livestock, came 
with amazing speed.15 Soon there would be ambitious programs to ease 
the plight of ordinary citizens, including a massive effort to expand 
housing.
	 Domestic reforms were accompanied by a moderation of foreign pol-



the dictat orship coll apses316

icy. On 19 March 1953 the Council of Ministers passed a resolution calling 
for “an end to the war in Korea as soon as possible.”16 After tense nego-
tiations, an armistice treaty was signed on 27 July 1953. Moscow gave its 
blessing to a liberalization of Communist regimes in Eastern Europe. On 
2 June 1953 a Council of Ministers directive spelled out Soviet objections 
to the policies of the East German government and called for measures to 
improve the republic’s political situation.17

	 In short, Stalin’s “ungrateful” heirs had little trouble eliminating many 
of the excesses for which the vozhd bore sole responsibility. Their reforms 
fundamentally changed the Soviet regime. It was no longer “Stalinist”; it 
was less brutal and more predictable and flexible. Dictatorship, as a form 
of government in the Soviet Union, had been dealt a blow from which it 
never recovered. Internal struggles at the upper reaches of government 
would more than once lead to power changing hands, but never again 
would a Soviet leader wield the sole power exercised by Stalin.
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The Funeral
The Vozhd, the System, and the People

For three days beginning on 6 March 1953, the Soviet Union said its 
ceremonial farewells to Joseph Stalin. His coffin was put on display in 
the very center of Moscow, in the House of Unions’ Hall of Columns, 
the traditional site for public mourning of Soviet leaders that had earlier 
served as the House of Receptions for Moscow’s nobility. At four o’clock 
on the afternoon of the sixth, the public was let in to pay its final respects. 
The viewing of the body was poorly organized, and the provisions made 
for the crush of people who headed toward the House of Unions were not 
conducive to public safety. Those trying to get one last look at the dictator 
streamed into narrow streets filled with police and trucks meant to serve 
as barriers. In the chaos and panic many suffered disabling injuries or 
were crushed to death. The files of investigations into these events have 
yet to be made accessible to historians. In remarks made to a small gath-
ering in 1962, Khrushchev said that 109 people in the crowd died that day.1

	 No information about this addition to the long series of Soviet tragedies 
appeared in newspapers, which were filled with grandiloquent expres-
sions of sorrow and grief for the late vozhd. People’s true feelings came 
out in a flood of letters, as eyewitnesses to the tragedy registered their 
complaints with various government offices:

This is not the first time that during the movement of a large crowd the 
police were transformed into a helpless organization, or rather into 
violators of order. How distressing it was when—in front of a crowd of 
hundreds and foreigners darting about with their cameras—they began 
to retrieve the injured and crushed and send them off in ambulances. A 
simply shocking scene.2

For five hours people were herded all over Moscow, and none of 
the police knew where the line was! The police were running into 
columns made up of many thousands of people, with their cars causing 
casualties, cries, and groans. Hundreds of thousands of people were 
walking around the blocked-off streets leading to the Hall of Columns 
and could not find the way in! . . . Only a wrecker could announce that 
access would begin at four but announce the route at nine.3
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In many ways these letters captured the essence of the Stalin era, both in 
their lexicon—with references to foreigners “darting about with their cam-
eras” and “wreckers”—and in the events they describe: the police turning 
into violators of public order. Relying on brute force, the dictatorship 
had attained its goals at the expense of countless victims. The boundary 
between rational order and destructive chaos was blurred. Those charged 
with maintaining order wound up wreaking havoc.
	 Perhaps the tragedy in Moscow forced Stalin’s heirs to ponder the 
police state’s shortcomings, but for now they had no option but to rely on 
the institutions and methods bequeathed to them. Stalin’s funeral, set for 
9 March, was prepared much as the viewing in state had been, but possi-
bly with a bit more care. The top priority was security, ensured by 22,600 
secret police agents, policemen, and soldiers. Thirty-five hundred vehicles 
were commissioned to block streets.4 The government approved a minute- 
by-minute schedule of funeral events: the carrying of the coffin from  
the House of Unions, its placement in front of the Lenin Mausoleum in 
Red Square, a mourning gathering for the public, the carrying of the coffin 
into the mausoleum. Several hours before the ceremony, six thousand 
soldiers and fifteen thousand members of a “delegation of workers” were 
brought to Red Square.5 This time everything went according to plan.
	 Although incompetent officials bear much responsibility for the casu-
alties in Moscow, another cause of the tragedy was the sheer number of 
people wanting to catch one last glimpse of the vozhd. What drove them? 
Was it love, curiosity, mass psychosis, or a rare opportunity for a sponta-
neous display of emotion? Apparently all these elements were present, 
along with many others. The few available documents that shed light on 
the public mood reveal a complex range of responses to the vozhd’s illness 
and death. On 5 March 1953, State Security Minister Ignatiev presented 
the Soviet leadership with a report on soldiers’ reactions to the news that 
Stalin was ill. The document described a certain pattern in the reaction of 
the “faithful.” One common thread was sympathy toward Stalin the man, 
who, according to Soviet propaganda, was the embodiment of goodness 
and benevolence: “My family takes this news as a terrible sorrow befalling 
our country”; “He worked very hard, and that took a toll on his health.” 
“Positive” responses often involved expressions of concern over the future 
of the country and the responder’s own future. Two points long empha-
sized by Soviet propaganda played a part in such positive responses: 
Stalin was irreplaceable and war was looming: “It’s kind of scary. Who will 
take his place after his death?”; “Maybe this will speed up the onset of a 
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Third World War.” The chekists also reported on “negative” and “hostile” 
statements: “Serves him right”; “That’s just fine”; “Stalin won’t hang on 
for long, and that’s even better. You’ll see that everything will immediately 
change.”6 All such letters led to arrests or at least an investigation.
	 March 1953 saw a surge in arrests and convictions of people charged 
with “anti-Soviet agitation” for expressing satisfaction with Stalin’s death 
or otherwise denigrating him. A forty-four-year-old Muscovite named S. 
M. Telenkov, who worked at a scientific institute, drunkenly proclaimed 
in a commuter train, “What a fine day it is today; today we buried Stalin. 
There’ll be one less scoundrel around and now we can get back to living.” 
R. S. Rybalko, a twenty-eight-year-old working-class woman from Rostov 
Oblast, was convicted of using profanity in regard to Stalin. Ya. I. Peit, who 
had been forcibly resettled in Kazakhstan, was sentenced for destroying 
and stomping on a portrait of Stalin after an official mourning ceremony. 
Upon hearing of Stalin’s death, P. K. Karpets, a thirty-two-year-old railroad 
worker from the Ukrainian city of Rovno, swore and exclaimed, “Smell 
that? The corpse is already stinking.” Ye. G. Gridneva, a forty-eight-year-
old female railroad worker from Transcaucasia, was not able to contain 
herself and commented to a coworker, “A dog dies a dog’s death. It’s good 
that he died. There won’t be any kolkhozes and life will be a little easier.”7

	 The expressions of anti-Stalin sentiment that came to secret police 
attention were just the tip of the iceberg. Most people had been trained 
to keep their opinions to themselves. The ubiquity of informants and the 
habit of fear kept free expression to a minimum, to say nothing of more 
demonstrative forms of protest. The choice was simple: either accept—or 
pretend to accept—official values or find yourself in a camp or face to 
face with an executioner. This circumstance diminishes the value of such 
normally candid sources as diaries. One must assume that even in the 
privacy of their own homes, Soviet citizens exercised self-censorship and 
used their diaries more as potential alibis than vehicles for frankness. 
Newspaper reports on mass demonstrations, summaries prepared by 
state security on the public mood, and letters written to the authorities by 
ordinary citizens provide only part of the picture. Furthermore, many of 
these documents are still hidden in closed archives. Historians attempt- 
ing to fathom the public mood during the Stalin era still face major  
obstacles.
	 The 190 million people living in Stalin’s Soviet Union on the eve of his 
death constituted an exceptionally complex community that bore little 
resemblance to the “New Man” featured on the covers of Soviet maga-
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zines.8 Many factors worked to give cohesion to Soviet society and pro-
mote support for the regime, and the motives for this support could vary 
from sincere enthusiasm to reconciliation with the inevitable to ordinary 
submission in the face of overwhelming power. The huge scale of vio-
lence and terror made fear and compulsion the backbone of the Stalinist 
system, albeit hidden behind a façade of enthusiasm. At the same time, 
loyalty and belief in the system and the man were not always feigned. The 
perpetual fear that was the primary instrument for unifying the people 
and suppressing independent thought was used alongside “positive” 
mechanisms of social manipulation. Both the carrot and the stick were 
applied to keep Soviet society moving in the desired direction.
	 One by-product of the regime’s policies was the creation of a large priv-
ileged class of officials. Those holding all but the most junior government 
or party posts enjoyed many benefits, including high social status and 
significant material perquisites. After the mass purges of the second half 
of the 1930s, the ranks of the Soviet nomenklatura stabilized. Repression 
against officials during the postwar period was more the exception than 
the rule. Furthermore, there is evidence that on the eve of Stalin’s death, 
officials and their relatives were essentially immune from prosecution. 
The requirement that any arrest or prosecution of a party member be 
approved by the leadership of party committees led to a bifurcation of the 
judicial system. In many cases members of the nomenklatura and their 
relatives avoided prosecution for administrative or criminal offenses that 
would bring severe punishment to an ordinary citizen.9

	 Another category—“the country’s best people”—approached the status 
of officials within the huge party-state apparat. These “best people” could 
be found in every social segment and professional group, including work-
ers, peasants, writers, artists, and scientists. The best known examples 
were the so-called Stakhanovites, real or imagined shock workers at the 
forefront of production who were held up for admiration as “beacons” of 
the Soviet spirit. Enjoying a stature somewhere between ordinary citi-
zens and officials, the Stakhanovites quickly assimilated the latter’s value 
system, although in theory they kept working away as before. They served 
as spokespeople, lobbying for the interests of enterprises and regions and 
enjoying significant material privileges. A typical representative of this 
category of beneficiary of the Stalinist system was the eponymous miner 
Aleksei Stakhanov, who earned celebrity and Stalin’s favor through his 
record-breaking productivity. He quickly developed a taste for the no-
menklatura lifestyle and bombarded Stalin with requests:
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Joseph Vissarionovich! Give me a nice car and I will justify your trust. 
Soon the Stakhanovite movement will be ten years old, and I’m going 
to Donbas and will again show people how to work. I keep asking 
and they keep giving me some broken down war trophy clunker, but 
if just once I got something nice, I’d stop asking. . . . Also, about the 
apartment. . . . I can’t get anywhere with my requests to fix it up. The 
walls are dirty, the furniture is frayed and broken . . . , while other 
people get their walls papered with silk twice a month and get all sorts 
of furniture. This isn’t correct, so I’m asking for a renovation and new 
furniture so I won’t be ashamed to invite people to my apartment.10

	 Another consequence of the channeling of benefits to the upper crust 
of Soviet society was the policy of disproportionately allotting resources 
to cities, especially major ones. Forced industrialization and militariza-
tion widened the gulf in living standards and social status between the 
rural majority and urban minority.11 Many urbanites, especially in the 
capitals and major industrial centers, belonged to a relatively privileged 
and well-remunerated class. During years of famine they may have been 
hungry, but since they received a government ration, they were not dying 
of starvation like the peasantry. They had internal passports, unlike the 
peasants, and relative freedom of movement. Urban populations also 
enjoyed better health care and a well-developed cultural and educational 
infrastructure. In the stores of Moscow and Leningrad, where most food 
and consumer goods were sent, shoppers could find what they needed 
and even had a degree of choice.12 The relative accessibility of educational 
institutions and high-paying jobs gave urbanites much better economic 
prospects. The monetary reform, which reduced prices in state stores 
while increasing taxes on peasant production, disproportionately favored 
the residents of capitals and industrial centers. These measures forced 
peasants to sell the products of their private plots at lower prices in urban 
markets. The consequences of these policies apparently escaped Stalin’s 
awareness. Mikoyan, whose duties placed him in charge of certain com-
mercial matters, offers the following account:

I told him [Stalin] that we could not lower the prices on meat and 
butter, on white bread, first of all because they were in short supply and 
second because it would affect the procurement prices, which would 
have a negative effect on the production of these products, and when 
these goods are in short supply and with this reduction in prices there 
would be huge lines, which would lead to profiteering; after all, workers 
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cannot go to the store during the day, so the profiteers would buy up all 
the goods. . . . But Stalin insisted, saying that this was necessary in the 
interests of the intelligentsia.13

Mikoyan here nicely sums up the predictable effect of the politically mo-
tivated price reduction: shortages, lines, and a shadow market. But these 
were of little concern to Stalin. His focus was on the regime’s bulwark, the 
privileged segment of society in major cities. The government’s preferen-
tial distribution of resources made even the average urbanite many times 
better off than the rural population. One symptom of this inequality was 
the number of young rural women streaming into cities to work as house-
keepers for urban families for no more than bread and shelter. Clearly, the 
urban minority and the rural majority had starkly divergent perceptions 
of reality. It was the urbanite viewpoint that found voice in memoirs and 
diaries and has disproportionately influenced contemporary understand-
ings of day-to-day life under Stalin.
	 Another factor that led Soviet society to tolerate and even support the 
dictatorship was war. Memories of the horrors of the world and civil wars, 
the victory over the Nazis (paid for with 27 million lives), and the fear of 
a third world war all had a huge impact on perceptions—and not only in 
the Soviet Union. Stalin enjoyed the image of a savior who had delivered 
the world from a terrible evil. For decades afterward, the 1945 victory lent 
legitimacy to the Stalinist regime and those of his successors.14

	 The list of historical circumstances that enabled the Stalinist system to 
endure could be continued, but even in conjunction with an ever-vigilant 
apparatus of repression they could not completely hide the contradic-
tions inherent in Soviet society or suppress widespread dissatisfaction. 
From the moment they came to power as a radical revolutionary party, 
the Bolsheviks relied on a strategy of dividing society and suppressing the 
fraction that, for reasons of class origin or societal role, was considered 
hostile to socialism. This strategy included killing off the members of the 
hostile groups.15 The Stalinist revolution devoted tremendous resources to 
purging society of these “elements.” Furthermore, along with the nobil-
ity, bourgeoisie, tsarist officers and officials, and anyone else proclaimed 
persona non grata after 1917, the largest segment of the population was 
stigmatized: the peasantry. During collectivization, many peasants were 
branded kulaks and shot, exiled, or driven out of their native villages. Mil-
lions of people from every sector were persecuted on a variety of pretexts 
and put into the camp system or simply killed. Aware that these measures 
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had earned the dictatorship true enemies, Stalin intensified his preemp-
tive purges, most notably during the Great Terror of 1937–1938. Repression 
begat repression. By the end of his rule a significant proportion, if not 
the majority, of Soviet citizens had at one time or another been arrested, 
imprisoned in a camp, forcibly relocated, or subjected to some softer form 
of mistreatment.
	 The regime’s victims did not necessarily turn into conscious opponents. 
Terror often had the opposite effect. Intimidation made people more 
governable and submissive and forced them to demonstrate their loyalty. 
But it would be wrong to assume that submission was the only possible 
reaction. The historical record attests to the existence of widespread anti- 
government feelings or even active forms of resistance. For understanda-
ble reasons resistance was most common when the dictatorship was first 
being consolidated—most notably peasant revolts during collectivization 
in 1930 and its aftermath.16 The Terror and the stabilization of the system 
sharply curtailed opportunities for overt action, especially on a large scale. 
But it is important to note that access to secret police archives, which 
would reflect the true state of affairs in the late Stalin era, is extremely 
limited. We may learn that our image of the 1940s generation as silent and 
submissive is misinformed.
	 A root cause of widespread dissatisfaction was the Soviet Union’s low 
standard of living.17 Agriculture, its productivity severely undermined by 
collectivization, lurched between crisis and stagnation. Almost every year, 
the Stalinist government acknowledged that famine or “food difficulties” 
affected either a large swath of the country, as in 1931–1933 and 1946–1947, 
or some particular regions. Even in the best years the average diet was 
meager. Most people lived primarily on grains and potatoes. Budget-
ary studies conducted on the eve of Stalin’s death, during the relatively 
prosperous year 1952, established the following daily nutritional intake in 
worker and peasant families: the average Soviet citizen consumed approx-
imately 500 grams of flour products (primarily bread), a small amount of 
cereals, 400–600 grams of potato, and approximately 200–400 grams of 
milk or milk products. These items accounted for the bulk of the typical 
diet. Anything else, especially meat, was a special occasion. The figure 
for per capita consumption of meat and meat products averaged 40–70 
grams per day and 15–20 grams of fat (animal or plant oils, margarine, or 
fatback). A few teaspoons of sugar and a bit of fish completed the picture. 
Average citizens could permit themselves an average of one egg every six 
days. These rations are approximately equal to the dietary norm for prison 



the funeral324

camps.18 The figures were produced by the Central Statistical Directorate, 
which was under constant political pressure and probably painted an 
overly rosy picture. Averages could be inflated, for example, by selecting 
workers at the high end of the pay spectrum or peasants from relatively 
prosperous kolkhozes in the study. Also, the budgetary studies did not 
factor in the often poor quality of the food. A resident of Chernigov Oblast 
wrote to Stalin in November 1952, “Now they are baking black bread, and 
even that is of poor quality. It is impossible to eat such bread, especially 
for people in poor health.”19

	 The supply of manufactured goods was just as bad. Prices of factory- 
made items were traditionally kept exceptionally high. People had to set-
tle for simple, relatively cheap products, but few could afford even these. 
For example, in 1952 only one out of every four peasants could afford 
leather footwear.20 Some lacked even the simplest footwear and clothing. 
As one resident of a village in Tambov Oblast wrote to Stalin in December 
1952, “In our kolkhoz the kolkhozniks have one article of winter clothing 
for 3–4 family members, and children in 60 percent of the population can-
not go to school since they don’t have the clothing.”21

	 For the majority of the population the housing situation was no better. 
Under Stalin, housing was the chronically underfunded stepchild that 
received whatever resources were left after priority items had been taken 
care of. For years the housing shortage grew continually worse—and then 
came the devastation of war. As of the beginning of 1953 there was an 
average of 4.5 square meters of residential housing per urban resident.22 
When temporary residents and those without official registration were 
taken into account, this ratio grew even worse. The quality of housing was 
also low. Only 46 percent of state-owned residential space came equipped 
with running water, 41 percent with sewage hookups, 26 percent with 
central heating, 3 percent with hot water, and 13 percent with a bathtub.23 
Even these figures reflected the higher standards found in major cities, 
chiefly the two capitals. A striking indicator of the housing crisis was the 
prevalence of urban “barracks”—flimsy temporary communal housing 
without plumbing—and the increasing number of people registering such 
barracks as their residences. In 1945 approximately 2.8 million people 
lived in urban barracks, but by 1952 the number had grown to 3.8 million. 
More than 337,000 people in Moscow lived in barracks.24

	 Another source of hardship for the Soviet people was the exception-
ally difficult working conditions in industry and agriculture. The poorly 
developed system of material incentives led to widespread coercion in 
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the workplace. The use of slave labor was of course most blatant within 
the Gulag system, but supposedly free industrial and agricultural workers 
also often toiled under compulsion. The workforce for certain industries, 
especially the most poorly paid and dangerous, was assembled by press-
ing young people into service through compulsory mobilization. Evasion 
was punishable by a term in a labor camp. Beginning in 1940, emergency 
labor laws were used to bind workers to their places of employment. 
Peasants, who were essentially not paid for their work in kolkhozes, were 
prosecuted for failure to fulfill their work quotas. Between 1940 and 1952 
approximately 17 million people were convicted of tardiness, leaving their 
place of employment without permission, or evading mobilization.25 This 
huge number, which fails to capture the extent of violations of workplace 
discipline, belies the propagandists’ exultation of Soviet workers’ selfless 
enthusiasm.
	 Between the two extremes of devotion and opposition to the regime, 
the vast majority made empty shows of loyalty but were largely indifferent 
to politics. Only marginally influenced by propaganda and trying their 
best to evade the grip of repression, most took comfort in tradition and 
ritual. Despite state repression of priests and active church members, es-
pecially in the 1930s, most Soviet citizens held onto their faith. During the 
census of January 1937, 57 percent of respondents over the age of sixteen 
identified themselves as religious—more than 55 million people. Surely 
many others hid their faith out of fear of persecution.26

	 In the area of inter-ethnic relations, Stalin left a problematic legacy. 
The relative liberalism of the early Bolshevik regime, which built what 
historian Terry Martin calls an “affirmative action empire,” came to an end 
in the early 1930s.27 Under Stalin, nationalities policy grew increasingly 
brutal. Mass arrests and executions based on nationality, the internal 
exile of entire peoples, and the effort to use russification to create a single 
Soviet nationality laid a minefield under the country’s future.28 Explosions 
started to go off while Stalin was still alive, when guerrilla wars roiled 
western Ukraine and the Baltic states. Although a degree of inter-ethnic 
unity was actually achieved, behind the propaganda façade extolling the 
“friendship of peoples” seethed many inter-ethnic conflicts.29 The “Rus-
sian question” that grew out of the contradictory position of the Russian 
majority—simultaneously the bulwark of the Soviet empire and one of its 
chief victims—promoted instability and ultimately destroyed the Soviet 
Union, an interpretation advanced by Geoffrey Hosking.30

	 What did Stalin know about the real life of “his” people? The Albanian 
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Communist leader Enver Hoxha visited Moscow in 1947 and later recalled 
Stalin saying, “To govern, you have to know the masses, and in order to 
know them, you have to walk among them.”31 Stalin could hardly claim to 
adhere to his own wisdom. After his famous visit to Siberia in 1928, most 
of which was spent meeting with functionaries, he almost never walked 
“among the masses.” Official meetings with representatives of the workers 
were carefully orchestrated propaganda spectacles. During better days, 
Stalin would occasionally indulge his taste for theatrics and suddenly 
appear in public. But even these spontaneous meetings inevitably took on 
the aura of “Christ appearing to the people.” In September 1935, accom-
panied by several Soviet leaders, he toured the outskirts of Sochi and 
encountered small groups of vacationers. On Stalin’s initiative a spontane-
ous “fraternization” was allowed. One vacationer left a striking account of 
the event:

Comrade Stalin . . . stopped us with the following words: “Why are you 
leaving comrades? Why are you so proud that you shun our company? 
Come here. Where are you from?” We walked up to him. . . . “Well, 
let’s get acquainted,” Comrade Stalin said, and he introduced us to 
each of his companions in turn and introduced himself as well. “This 
is Comrade Kalinin, this is the wife of Comrade Molotov . . . and this 
is I, Stalin,” he said, shaking everyone’s hand. “Now we’ll all have 
our pictures taken together,” and Comrade Stalin invited us to stand 
next to him. . . . While the photographers were working, Comrade 
Stalin kept making fun of them: he said they were “mortal enemies” 
and were always trying to interfere with one another. He asked that 
they photograph not only him but “all the people.” . . . Then Comrade 
Stalin began to invite the woman selling apples from a kiosk . . . and a 
salesman from the food stand to come have their pictures taken. It took 
a long time before the disconcerted saleswoman could be persuaded 
to leave her store. Comrade Stalin told her that “it’s not good to be so 
proud” and told the photographers not to take the picture until she 
came. “The saleswoman,” Stalin proclaimed, “should become the most 
respected woman in our country.” Finally she came and the photo 
shoot continued. An empty bus drove up, and Comrade Stalin invited 
the driver and conductor to have their pictures taken.32

Obviously such “walks among the people” did little to enhance Stalin’s 
understanding of them, and even these mostly stopped after the 1930s. 
The vozhd never took an interest in seeing the conditions in which the 
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Soviet people were living, what they bought and where, what sort of health 
care or education they received. His knowledge of “the masses” came 
mostly from what he read in his office. So far we know of two main sources 
from which he gleaned knowledge of daily life: summary reports from 
state security about the public mood and letters and complaints from 
ordinary citizens. A steady stream of such letters arrived in government 
offices, including some addressed to him personally.
	 As far as can be determined from archival studies, state security sum-
maries were a major source of information for the Soviet leadership in 
the 1920s and 1930s. These reports contained rather candid assessments 
of the situation in the country, albeit from a chekist perspective, which 
saw almost all crises and difficulties as the work of enemies. There were 
a number of types of reports, some providing an overview of sociopolit-
ical processes, others devoted to matters of economics or politics. One 
problematic aspect of these reports was their length. The leaders for 
whom they were prepared had to spend hours poring over them. In recent 
years historians have published a number of informational state security 
summaries dating to the prewar period.33 These publications, however, are 
based on copies found in state security archives—not in Stalin’s personal 
archive. We do not currently know the extent to which, or in what form, 
they are contained in the Politburo archive, which is part of the Archive 
of the President of the Russian Federation. Historians therefore cannot be 
sure to what extent the leadership in general or Stalin in particular read 
these secret police summaries. There is evidence to suggest that they were 
mostly unaware of these reports’ contents.
	 We know more about Stalin’s familiarity with letters from Soviet citi-
zens. It would not be an exaggeration to say that most of the country sent 
complaints, requests, and petitions on a wide array of topics to all sorts 
of government offices. Such letter writing was an extremely common 
practice and was even encouraged by the authorities. Within the highly 
centralized system, letters to the government were one of the few ways of 
solving everyday problems. The government was virtually the only em-
ployer. It also had authority over the allocation or construction of hous-
ing. Government stores supplied (or were supposed to supply) all basic 
needs. Government hospitals were the only places to obtain treatment for 
serious illnesses. The government determined the rather narrow category 
of people eligible for pensions or benefits and the size of the payments. 
Given the flaws of the Soviet judicial system, citizens turned to bureau-
crats to resolve conflicts and disputes. Abuses by officials within the huge 
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bureaucratic apparat occasioned countless grievances. Arrests, forcible 
relocations, imprisonments in camps, or death sentences against tens of 
millions of people generated millions of complaints and pleas for relief. 
Arrestees themselves wrote, as did their relatives, and even unrelated 
people sometimes worked up the courage to intercede on behalf of an 
acquaintance or colleague. This pursuit of justice was encouraged by the 
state since it created the illusion of impartial leadership.
	 Another practice that was encouraged was denouncing abuses or 
“enemy activity.” Stalin made it no secret that he held denouncers and 
informers in high regard. All denunciations, including anonymous ones, 
were investigated. The government’s attitude is eloquently illustrated by 
the fact that even prisoners who were deprived of all other rights had the 
right to submit denunciations. In February 1936 the NKVD chief signed an 
order calling for the installation of boxes in all camps, prisons, and penal 
colonies into which inmates could insert statements addressed to him 
personally or the head of the Gulag directorate. “The boxes shall be sealed 
with the seal of the Directorate of Camps,” the order read, “and only the 
head of the camp or his deputy (in camps) and the head of the Depart-
ment of Detention Centers or his deputy (in prisons and penal colonies) 
shall open them.” All correspondence was to be sent to the NKVD chief 
personally and “under no circumstance concealed.” Inmates were to be 
informed of “the purpose of these boxes.”34

	 Taking advantage of the regime’s eagerness to uncover enemies and the 
almost total impunity enjoyed by slanderers, many Soviet citizens used 
denunciations to game the system. Informers used the government to 
attain their own mercenary objectives—to settle scores, get rid of annoy-
ing neighbors sharing the same communal apartment, or eliminate those 
competing for the same job. For the hapless multitudes at the bottom 
of the societal hierarchy, denunciations were the only means of taking 
revenge against powerful officials. The state implicitly encouraged people 
to use this disgraceful means of fighting for their rights.
	 In addition to complaints and denunciations, the archives abound 
with “helpful” letters. Some offered ideas for reorganizing government 
agencies or for various socioeconomic innovations; some offered ideas for 
renaming cities or creating new holidays or ceremonies; others sought to 
correct “errors” in the press. Writing such letters was one of the few outlets 
for activism available to ordinary citizens. These letters may have con-
tained an element of self-promotion as their authors tried to draw the top 
leadership’s attention to themselves.



the funeral 329

	 As the supreme authority, Stalin, of course, was all these correspond-
ents’ prime addressee. It is hard to know the precise number of letters 
addressed to him personally, but it apparently exceeded several hundred 
thousand per year.35 Obviously not all of them reached his desk; he was 
shown a selected sample. The nature of this sample is of interest from a 
number of perspectives. Primarily, it shows how well informed Stalin was 
about people’s lives and tells us what he expressed an interest in seeing. 
No doubt the apparat was given criteria for selecting the letters he would 
be shown.
	 Handling letters addressed to Stalin was a complicated bureaucratic 
process. Within the Central Committee’s Special Sector, which served 
as Stalin’s personal secretariat, was a division dedicated to processing 
his mail. After the war this division was called the Special Sector’s “Fifth 
Section.” In early 1950 it had a staff of twenty.36 They received and logged 
letters addressed to Stalin and immediately forwarded a significant 
portion of them to various agencies for review. The heads of the Special 
Sector, especially Stalin’s personal assistant, Aleksandr Poskrebyshev, 
were shown the most important and interesting letters.37 Poskrebyshev 
further filtered them, leaving just a few of the most interesting for his boss. 
As a result of this tiered system, Stalin saw just a tiny percentage of the 
hundreds of thousands of letters sent to him, and over time this number 
shrank. In early 1946 Stalin saw about ten letters per month, but by 1952 he 
was shown just one or two.38

	 This small sample revealed little about real life in the Soviet Union. 
Most of the letters reaching Stalin’s desk belonged to one of three catego-
ries: queries on matters of theory, letters from old acquaintances, and a 
large number of letters of support. On extremely rare occasions he might 
be shown correspondence that tiptoed around some unsavory aspect of 
Soviet reality. Overall, the letters he saw reflected the vozhd’s growing 
desire to live in the past or savor hopes for the future. Pressing matters of 
real consequence likely to provoke negative emotions were avoided.
	 As ignorant of the life of the people as the vozhd was, the people knew 
even less what kind of a man he was. Partly due to his personality and 
partly out of calculation, Stalin, unlike many other dictators, rarely spoke 
before large audiences. He preferred to express himself in writing. The ag-
gressive propaganda of Stalin’s articles, interviews, and theoretical works 
created the impression that the invisible vozhd was ever-present and 
all-knowing. His cryptic sententiousness gave him a certain charisma.
	 Tight control over the alchemy of official “Staliniana” has created false 
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and doubly majestic images of Stalin and his accomplishments.39 These 
images outlive the man himself and have an appeal even in contemporary 
Russia. The collapse of the Soviet Union, the stresses of the transitional 
period, corruption, poverty, and glaring social inequality all feed the 
longing for a social utopia. A significant portion of Russian society seeks 
recipes for the present by looking to the Stalinist past. Popular images 
of the greatness of the Stalinist empire—of equality and the fight against 
corruption, of the joy and purity of this distant life undone by “enemies”—
are exploited by unscrupulous commentators and politicians. How great 
is the danger that a blend of historical ignorance, bitterness, and social 
discontent will provide fertile ground for pro-Stalinist lies and distortions 
to take root?
	 Could it really be that Russia in the twenty-first century is in danger of 
repeating the mistakes of the twentieth?
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ter of Czechoslovakia, Alexeje Čepička; Voprosy istorii, no. 10 (1999): 85–86.

	101. 	Zaleski, Stalinist Planning for Economic Growth, pp. 668–669.
	102. 	Russian State Archive of the Economy (RGAE), f. 4372, op. 11, d. 677, ll. 9–10. Fig-

ures for military expenditures are for four ministries created after Stalin’s death: 
defense (which brought together the former defense and naval ministries), de-
fense industry (an updated version of the former armaments ministry), the avi-
ation industry, and medium-machine building. These ministries accounted for 
the lion’s share (although not all) of military spending.

	103. 	N. S. Simonov, Voenno-promyshlennyi kompleks SSSR v 1920–1950-e gody (Mos-
cow, 1996), pp. 210–266.

	104. 	Council of Ministers resolutions dated 9 and 19 February 1953; A. A. Danilov and 
A. V. Pryzhikov, Rozhdenie sverkhderzhavy. SSSR v pervye poslevoennye gody 
(Moscow, 2001), pp. 92–93.

	105. 	RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 329, ll. 66; Ledovskii, SSSR i Stalin v sud'bakh Kitaia, p. 160.
	106. 	A. I. Kokurin and Iu. N. Morukov, Stalinskie stroiki GULAGA. 1930–1953 (Moscow, 

2005).
	107. 	RGAE, f. 4372, op. 11, d. 282, l. 66.
	108. 	Narodnoe khoziastvo SSSR. Statisticheskii sbornik (Moscow, 1956), p. 118.
	109. 	RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 882, ll. 57–58.
	110. 	Letter dated 1 November 1952; RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 903, ll. 42–46.
	 111. 	This undated letter was sent from Stalin’s secretariat for Malenkov to deal with on 

4 November 1952; RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 901, ll. 39–40.



373Notes t o Pages 301–309

	112. 	Chernobaev, Na prieme u Stalina, p. 551; N. Kovaleva et al., comps., Molotov, 
Malenkov, Kaganovich. 1957. Stenogramma iiun'skogo plenuma TsK KPSS i drugie 
dokumenty (Moscow, 1998), pp. 193–194.

	113. 	On the works of this commission and Stalin’s position on the subject, see Gorlizki 
and Khlevniuk, Cold Peace, pp. 139–140.

	114. 	A. I. Mikoian, Tak bylo. Razmyshleniia o minuvshem (Moscow, 1999), p. 578.
	115. 	RGAE, f. 4372, op. 11, d. 459, ll. 164–170.
	116. 	Kokurin and Petrov, GULAG. 1917–1960, pp. 788–791; RGAE, f. 4372, op. 11, d. 677, l. 9.
	117. 	The inventories did not specify the agency originating the coded telegrams. 

RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 117, ll. 1–173.
	118. 	Ignatiev told this story in testimony given 27 March 1953; N. V. Petrov, Palachi 

(Moscow, 2011), p. 307.
	119. 	K. A. Stoliarov, Palachi i zhertvy (Moscow, 1998), p. 163.
	120. 	Ibid., pp. 225–226.
	121. 	Ibid., pp. 167–168.
	122. 	Naumov and Sigachev, Lavrentii Beriia, pp. 34–35.
	123. 	For more details, see Timothy Blauvelt, “Abkhazia: Patronage and Power in the 

Stalin Era,” Nationalities Papers 35, no. 2 (2007): 220, 222–223.
	124. 	Naumov and Sigachev, Lavrentii Beriia, pp. 29–40.
	125. 	It was at the Nineteenth Party Congress that the party’s name was officially 

changed from the All-Union Communist Party of Bolsheviks, commonly referred 
to by the acronym VKP(b), to simply the Communist Party of the Soviet Union or 
KPSS. This name endured until the party and country were abolished in 1991.

	126. 	Mikoian, Tak bylo, p. 573.
	127. 	Ibid., pp. 574–576; Chuev, Sto sorok besed s Molotovym, p. 469; L. N. Efremov, 

Dorogami bor'by i truda (Stavropol, 1998), pp. 12–16.
	128. 	N. Mukhitdinov, Reka vremeni. Ot Stalina do Gorbacheva. Vospominaniia (Mos-

cow, 1995), pp. 88–89.
	129. 	Volokitina et al., Moskva i Vostochnaia Evropa, pp. 558–566.
	130. 	Explanatory memorandum from Ignatiev to Beria dated 27 March 1953; cited in 

Petrov, Palachi, p. 297.
	131. 	Ibid., pp. 287, 299–300.
	132. 	Cited in V. N. Khaustov et al., comps. Lubianka. Stalin i MGB SSSR. Mart 1946–

mart 1953 (Moscow, 2007), pp. 522–523.
	133. 	Cited in N. V. Petrov, Pervyi predsedatel' KGB Ivan Serov (Moscow, 2005), p. 124.
	134. 	From a transcript of remarks by Stalin to a commission on reorganizing the Min-

istry of State Security’s intelligence service, November–December 1952; cited in 
Istochnik, no. 5 (2001): 132.

	135. 	These press items were edited by Stalin. RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 157, ll. 9–14, 29–
33; Khlevniuk et al., Politbiuro TsK VKP(b) i Sovet Ministrov SSSR, pp. 392–397.

	136. 	For a detailed examination of this theory about the deportation of Jews, see  
G. V. Kostyrchenko, Stalin protiv “kosmopolitov”. Vlast' i evreiskaia intelligentsiia 
v SSSR (Moscow, 2009), pp. 329–380.

	137. 	B. S. Klein, “Politika SShA i ‘delo vrachei,’” Voprosy istorii, no. 6 (2006): 35–47.



374 Notes t o Pages 311–17

	 The Dictatorship Collapses
	 1. 	A. A. Chernobaev, ed., Na prieme u Stalina. Tetradi (zhurnaly) zapisei lits, prini-

atykh I. V. Stalinym (1924–1953 gg.) (Moscow, 2008), p. 553; O. V. Khlevniuk et al., 
comps., Politbiuro TsK VKP(b) i Sovet Ministrov SSSR. 1945–1953 (Moscow, 2002), 
p. 436. When the log of visitors to Stalin’s office was published, Tkachev’s name 
was mistakenly given as Tolkachev.

	 2. 	Chernobaev, Na prieme u Stalina, p. 553; Khlevniuk et al., Politbiuro TsK VKP(b) i 
Sovet Ministrov SSSR, p. 436.

	 3. 	A. L. Miasnikov, Ia lechil Stalina (Moscow, 2011), p. 295.
	 4. 	Khlevniuk et al., TsK VKP(b) i Sovet Ministrov SSSR, pp. 436–437.
	 5. 	N. Kovaleva et al., comps., Molotov, Malenkov, Kaganovich. 1957. Stenogramma 

iiun'skogo plenuma TsK KPSS i drugie dokumenty (Moscow, 1998), pp. 42, 45. The 
papers were removed when Malenkov’s assistant was arrested.

	 6. 	The decisions were recorded in the minutes of the 5 March 1953 joint meeting of 
the Central Committee plenum, the Council of Ministers, and the Presidium of the 
Supreme Soviet. Istochnik, no. 1 (1994): 107–111.

	 7. 	K. M. Simonov, Glazami cheloveka moego pokoleniia (Moscow, 1989), pp. 257–258.
	 8. 	Ibid., p. 260.
	 9. 	Svetlana Alliluyeva, Twenty Letters to a Friend, trans. Priscilla Johnson McMillan 

(New York, 1967), p. 10.
	10. 	Chernobaev, Na prieme u Stalina, p. 553.
	 11. 	From Shepilov’s memoirs; cited in Voprosy istorii, no. 3 (1998): 15.
	12. 	A. N. Artizov et al., comps., Reabilitatsiia: Kak eto bylo, vol. 1 (Moscow, 2000), p. 19.
	13. 	V. Naumov and Iu. Sigachev, comps., Lavrentii Beriia. 1953. Stenogramma iul'skogo 

plenuma TsK KPSS i drugie dokumenty (Moscow, 1999), pp. 28–29.
	14. 	Oleg Khlevniuk, “The Economy of the OGPU, NKVD and MVD of the USSR, 1930–

1953: The Scale, Structure and Trends of Development,” in The Economics of Forced 
Labor: The Soviet Gulag, ed. Paul R. Gregory and Valery Lazarev (Stanford, CA, 
2003), pp. 54–55.

	15. 	According to official statistics, between 1 January and 1 October 1953 the number 
of cows increased from 24.3 million to 26 million, and almost 1 million of that 
increase took place outside of the collective and state farm system. During that 
same period the number of pigs increased from 28.5 to 47.6 million, including an 
increase of 12 million in private herds; Narodnoe khoziastvo SSSR. Statisticheskii 
sbornik (Moscow, 1956), pp. 119–120. Even with the consideration of possible sea-
sonal fluctuations, these numbers are significant and surely attributable to lower 
taxes and higher procurement prices.

	16. 	A. V. Torkunov, Zagadochnaia voina: Koreiskii konflikt 1950–1953 (Moscow, 2000), 
pp. 272–279.

	17. 	This directive was largely in response to the large number of defections from East 
Germany to the West. See Naumov and Sigachev, Lavrentii Beriia, pp. 55–59.

	 The Funeral
	 1. 	Speech by Khrushchev at a dinner in the Bulgarian city of Varna during an official 

visit on 16 May 1962; cited in Istochnik, no. 6 (2003): 130.



375Notes t o Pages 317–23

	 2. 	Letter dated 10 March 1953 from a group of citizens to the Central Committee and 
the Supreme Soviet; GARF, f. R-7523, op. 52, d. 18, ll. 94–95.

	 3. 	Anonymous letter addressed to Georgy Malenkov, dated 6 March 1953; RGASPI, f. 
558, op. 11, d. 1486, l. 157.

	 4. 	Ibid., d. 1487, l. 55.
	 5. 	Ibid., ll. 66–71.
	 6. 	Cited in V. A. Kozlov, Neizvestnaia Rossiia XX vek, vol. 2 (Moscow, 1992), pp. 254–

258.
	 7. 	Cited in V. A. Kozlov and S. V. Mironenko, 58–10. Nadzornye proizvodstva Prokura-

tury SSSR po delam ob antisovetskoi agitatsii i propagande. Annotirovannyi kata-
log. Mart 1953–1991 (Moscow, 1999), pp. 13, 21, 23, 32.

	 8. 	There is a long list of published documents and studies on the public mood and 
mechanisms used to shape it and on social adaptation and the particular mindset 
that Stalinism strove to shape. Studies vary in terms of their authors’ viewpoints 
and the aspect of reality they emphasize. See, for example, the following: Sheila 
Fitzpatrick: The Cultural Front: Power and Culture in Revolutionary Russia (Ithaca, 
NY, 1992), and Tear off the Masks! Identity and Imposture in Twentieth-Century 
Russia (Princeton, 2005); Stephen Kotkin, Magnetic Mountain: Stalinism as a Civ-
ilization (Berkeley and Los Angeles, 1995); Sarah Davies, Popular Opinion in Sta-
lin’s Russia: Terror, Propaganda and Dissent, 1934–1941 (Cambridge, 1997); Elena 
Zubkova, Russia after the War: Hopes, Illusions, and Disappointments, 1945–1957 
(New York, 1998); Jochen Hellbeck, Revolution on My Mind: Writing a Diary under 
Stalin (Cambridge, MA, 2006).

	 9. 	Yoram Gorlizki, “Political Reform and Local Party Interventions under Khrush-
chev,” in Reforming Justice in Russia, 1864–1996, ed. Peter H. Solomon (New York 
and London, 1997), pp. 259–260.

	10. 	Letter from Stakhanov to Stalin in May 1945; RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 891, l. 128. For 
a similar letter sent to Molotov before the war, see GARF, f. R-5446, op. 82, d. 108, l. 
145; d. 120, l. 74.

	 11. 	According to official statistics, at the start of 1953 more than 40 percent of the 
country’s population lived in cities. It should be kept in mind, however, that this 
figure included residents of small cities and settlements where the standard of 
living was close to that of the peasants.

	12. 	In 1952, out of the 443,000 tons of meat sold through state and cooperative outlets 
across the USSR, 110,000 were sent to Moscow and 57,400 were sent to Leningrad; 
GARF, f. R-5446, op. 87, d. 1162, l. 171.

	13. 	A. I. Mikoian, Tak bylo. Razmyshleniia o minuvshem (Moscow, 1999), p. 355.
	14. 	Amir Weiner, Making Sense of War: The Second World War and the Fate of the Bol-

shevik Revolution (Princeton, 2000).
	15. 	Golfo Alexopoulos, Stalin’s Outcasts: Aliens, Citizens, and the Soviet State, 1926–

1936 (Ithaca, NY, and London, 2003).
	16. 	Lynne Viola, Peasant Rebels under Stalin: Collectivization and the Culture of Peas-

ant Resistance (New York and Oxford, 1996); Lynne Viola, ed., Contending with 
Stalinism: Soviet Power and Popular Resistance in the 1930s (Ithaca, NY, 2002); Jef-



376 Notes t o Pages 323–27

frey J. Rossman, Worker Resistance under Stalin: Class and Revolution on the Shop 
Floor (Cambridge, MA, and London, 2005).

	17. 	In recent years historians have produced several valuable studies on this prob-
lem. See, for example, the following: Sheila Fitzpatrick, Everyday Stalinism: Or-
dinary Life in Extraordinary Times: Soviet Russia in the 1930s (New York, 1999); 
Elena Osokina, Our Daily Bread: Socialist Distribution and the Art of Survival in 
Stalin’s Russia, 1927–1941 (New York and London, 2001); Donald Filtzer, The Haz-
ards of Urban Life in Late Stalinist Russia: Health, Hygiene, and Living Standards, 
1943–1953 (Cambridge, 2010).

	18. 	Calculations based on E. Iu. Zubkova et al., comps., Sovetskaia zhizn'. 1945–1953 
(Moscow, 2003), pp. 102–103; O. V. Khlevniuk et al., comps., Politbiuro TsK VKP(b) 
i Sovet Ministrov SSSR, 1945–1953 (Moscow, 2002), pp. 388–389. For comparison, 
see A. I. Kokurin and N. V. Petrov, GULAG. 1917–1960 (Moscow, 2000), pp. 543–551.

	19. 	This letter was given to Malenkov to read; RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 901, l. 37.
	20. 	Zubkova et al., Sovetskaia zhizn', p. 107.
	21. 	Cited in ibid., p. 263.
	22. 	Figures for state and private urban housing are from RGAE, f. 1562, op. 41, d. 56, ll. 

30–33. Figures for the urban population as of early 1953 are from V. P. Popov, Eko-
nomicheskaia politika Sovetskogo gosudarstva. 1946–1953 gg. (Moscow and Tam-
bov, 2000), p. 16.

	23. 	RGAE, f. 1562, op. 41, d. 56, ll. 30–33. The inventory of publicly owned residen-
tial buildings included the best-built ones, which belonged to local government 
councils (soviets) and agencies. A significant proportion of urban housing was in 
private hands. These buildings were in much worse shape.

	24. 	Zubkova et al., Sovetskaia zhizn', p. 179.
	25. 	N. Vert and S. V. Mironenko, eds., Istoriia stalinskogo Gulaga. Konets 1920-kh–per-

vaia polovina 1950-kh godov, vol. 1: Massovye repressii v SSSR (Moscow, 2004), pp. 
623–624.

	26. 	B. V. Zhiromskaia, I. N. Kiselev, and Iu. A. Poliakov, Polveka pod grifom “sekretno”: 
Vsesoiuznaia perepis' naseleniia 1937 goda (Moscow, 1996), pp. 98, 100.

	27. 	Terry Martin, The Affirmative Action Empire: Nations and Nationalism in the So-
viet Union, 1923–1939 (Ithaca, NY, and London, 2001).

	28. 	See one recent study: Timothy Snyder, Bloodlands: Europe between Hitler and Sta-
lin (New York, 2010).

	29. 	For documents and letters characterizing inter-ethnic conflicts during the final 
period of Stalin’s rule, see L. P. Kosheleva et al., comps., Sovetskaia natsional'naia 
politika. Ideologiia i praktiki realizatsii (Moscow, 2013).

	30. 	Geoffrey Hosking, Rulers and Victims: The Russians in the Soviet Union (Cam-
bridge, MA, and London, 2006).

	31. 	E. Khodzha [Enver Hoxha], So Stalinym. Vospominaniia (Tirana, 1984), p. 90.
	32. 	RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, d. 1479, ll. 14–18.
	33. 	A. Berelovich and V. Danilov, eds., Sovetskaia derevnia glazami VChK-OGPU-NKVD: 

1918–1939 gg., vols. 1–4 (Moscow, 1998–2012); G. N. Sevost'ianov et al., eds., “Sover-
shenno sekretno”: Lubianka–Stalinu o polozhenii v strane (1922–1934), vols. 1–9 
(Moscow, 2001–2013).



377Notes t o Pages 328–30

	34. 	GARF, f. R-9401, op. 12, d. 100, ll. 91–92.
	35. 	When the apparat of the Special Sector was being reorganized in 1939, provisions 

were made for the creation of fifteen staff positions for people reading letters ad-
dressed to Stalin. Their duties included familiarizing themselves with the letters 
and sorting them (APRF, f. 3, op. 22, d. 65, l. 37). If we assume that each reader 
spent an average of ten minutes per letter, in working an eight-hour day, all fifteen 
readers would be able to review 720 letters per day or approximately 260,000 per 
year. Probably the number was higher. Experienced readers would process letters 
quickly, especially as many letters were short. Furthermore, using a shift system, 
the apparat worked essentially around the clock, and shifts were not strictly lim-
ited to eight hours.

	36. 	APRF, f. 3, op. 22, d. 65, l. 51. The Special Sector’s Fifth Section also took care of 
Stalin’s library.

	37. 	The letters shown to the Special Sector leadership during 1945–1953 have been 
preserved. See RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, dd. 888–904.

	38. 	Letters selected to be shown to Stalin were accompanied by a list entitled “Let-
ters and Petitions Received Addressed to Com. Stalin.” In addition to the letters 
presented to Stalin, this list included certain letters sent for review by other So-
viet leaders. Apparently these were letters it was felt Stalin did not need to see but 
about which he would be interested in knowing. Stalin’s personal archive contains 
a rather complete set of such lists of letters only for 1945–1952 (but lacks those re-
ceived while he was vacationing in the south); RGASPI, f. 558, op. 11, dd. 862–882.

	39. 	Jan Plamper, The Stalin Cult: A Study in the Alchemy of Power (New Haven, 2012).


	Cover
	Contents
	Preface
	The Seats of Stalin’s Power
	1. BEFORE THE REVOLUTION
	The Bulwarks of Stalin’s Power

	2. IN LENIN’S SHADOW
	A World of Reading and Contemplation

	3. HIS REVOLUTION
	Trepidation in the Inner Circle

	4. TERROR AND IMPENDING WAR
	Patient Number 1

	5. STALIN AT WAR
	Family

	6. THE GENERALISSIMO
	The Dictatorship Collapses

	THE FUNERAL: THE VOZHD, THE SYSTEM, AND THE PEOPLE
	Notes
	Acknowledgments
	Index
	A
	B
	C
	D
	E
	F
	G
	H
	I
	J
	K
	L
	M
	N
	O
	P
	R
	S
	T
	U
	V
	W
	Y
	Z




